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Introduction to the Public Accounts of Canada

Nature of the Public Accounts of Canada

The Public Accounts of Canada is the report of the Government of Canada prepared annually by the Receiver General, as
required by section 64 of the Financial Administration Act. It covers the fiscal year of the Government, which ends on
March 31.

The information contained in the report originates from two sources of data:
o the summarized financial transactions presented in the accounts of Canada, maintained by the Receiver General
o the detailed records, maintained by departments and agencies

Each department and agency is responsible for reconciling its accounts to the control accounts of the Receiver General, and
for maintaining detailed records of the transactions in their accounts.

The report covers the financial transactions of the Government during the year. In certain cases, parliamentary authority to
undertake transactions was provided by legislation approved in earlier years.

Format of the Public Accounts of Canada

The Public Accounts of Canada is produced in 3 volumes:

e Volume I presents the audited consolidated financial statements of the Government, as well as additional financial
information and analyses

e Volume Il presents the financial operations of the Government, segregated by ministry

e Volume 111 presents supplementary information and analyses
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Note to reader

An overview of the financial operations of the Government of Canada is
provided in the Annual Financial Report prepared by the Department of
Finance Canada. This report also includes condensed consolidated
financial statements.

Accompanying this report are historical fiscal reference tables and related
fiscal indicators for the federal government and the provinces.

The Annual Financial Report is available on the web at
www.fin.gc.ca/purl/afr-eng.asp.
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Financial statements discussion and analysis

Introduction

The Public Accounts of Canada is a major accountability report of the Government of Canada. This section, together with the other
sections in this volume and in Volumes Il and 111 of the Public Accounts of Canada, provides detailed supplementary information in
respect of matters reported in the audited consolidated financial statements in Section 2 of this volume. Supplementary discussion
and analysis of the Government’s financial results can be found in the Annual Financial Report of the Government of Canada—
Fiscal Year 2018-2019, available on the Department of Finance Canada’s website.

The consolidated financial statements and financial statements discussion and analysis have been prepared under the joint direction of the
Minister of Finance, the President of the Treasury Board and the Receiver General for Canada. Responsibility for the integrity and
objectivity of the consolidated financial statements and financial statements discussion and analysis rests with the Government. A glossary
of terms used in this financial statements discussion and analysis is provided at the end of this section.

2019 financial highlights

— The Government posted a budgetary deficit of $14.0 billion for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2019, compared to a budgetary
deficit of $19.0 billion in 2018.

— Revenues increased by $21.0 billion, or 6.7%, from 2018. Program expenses increased by $14.6 billion, or 4.7%, reflecting
increases in all major categories of expenses. Public debt charges were up $1.4 billion, or 6.3%.

— The accumulated deficit (the difference between total liabilities and total assets) stood at $685.5 billion at March 31, 2019. The
accumulated deficit-to-GDP (gross domestic product) ratio was 30.9%, down from 31.3% in the previous year.

— Asreported by the International Monetary Fund (IMF), Canada’s total government net debt-to-GDP ratio, which includes the net
debt of the federal, provincial/territorial and local governments, as well as the net assets held in the Canada Pension Plan and
Quebec Pension Plan, stood at 26.8% in 2018. This is the lowest level among Group of Seven (G7) countries, which the IMF
expects will record an average net debt of 86.0% of GDP for the same year.

8 | Section 1—Financial statements discussion and analysis
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Discussion and analysis

Economic developmentst!

The global economic expansion moderated in 2018 after two years of strong growth, which was broad-based across most regions of the
world. Towards the end of the year, increased trade tensions, notably between the U.S. and China, and lower expectations for growth
translated into increased financial market volatility, lower commodity prices, and a decline in government bond yields.

Against the backdrop of easing global growth, the Canadian economy moderated to a more sustainable pace in line with underlying
fundamentals. Real GDP grew 1.9% in 2018 after the strong growth of 2017 (3.0%). Throughout the year the labour market continued to
be strong. Since the fall of 2015, the economy has generated close to 1 million jobs with the unemployment rate reaching its lowest level
in more than 40 years.

Supported by accommodative monetary and fiscal policy, consumer spending and business investment led Canadian economic growth in
2018, while lower global oil prices over the second half of the year and slower housing market activity weighed on the economy.

There was continued volatility in commodity markets over the year with the price of West Texas Intermediate crude oil increasing to
nearly US$70 per barrel in October, its highest level since before the oil shock, before retreating again to below US$50 per barrel toward
the end of 2018.

Canada's nominal GDP, the broadest measure of the tax base, grew 3.6% in 2018, down from 5.6% in 2017. Lower nominal growth was
due to more moderate real GDP growth as well as lower GDP inflation, the latter reflecting a decrease in global and Canadian oil prices
at the end of the year. Both real and nominal GDP growth in 2018 were in line with the Budget 2019 forecast.

Both short- and long-term interest rates in Canada continued to increase over most of 2018 as a result of increases in the Bank of Canada's
policy target rate. However, interest rates across the yield curve remained historically low in 2018, and long-term interest rates began to
subside towards the end of the year in response to expectations for easing monetary policy in the U.S., and overall economic uncertainty.

Going forward, there remain important uncertainties and risks in the global and domestic economies. The Government regularly surveys
private sector economists on their views on the economy to assess and manage risk. The survey of private sector economists has been
used as the basis for economic and fiscal planning since 1994 and introduces an element of independence into the Government's forecasts.
This practice has been supported by international organizations, such as the IMF.

1 This section incorporates data available up to and including August 10, 2019. The annual results are on calendar year basis.
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Average private sector forecasts
(in percentage)

Real GDP growth
Budget 2018......
Budget 2019.

3-month Treasury bill rate
Budget 2018
Budget 2019.

10-year government bond rate
Budget 2018
Budget 2019.

Unemployment rate
Budget 2018
Budget 2019.
Actual....

Consumer price index inflation

2017 2018 2019 2020
3.0 2.1 1.6 17
3.0 1.9 1.8 1.6
3.0 1.9 - -
5.6 4.1 3.5 3.8
5.6 3.8 3.4 35
5.6 3.6 - -
0.7 1.4 2.0 2.3
0.7 1.4 1.9 2.2
0.7 1.4 - -
1.8 2.3 2.8 3.1
1.8 2.3 2.4 2.7
1.8 2.3 - -
6.4 6.0 6.0 6.1
6.3 5.8 5.7 5.9
6.3 5.8 - -
1.6 1.9 2.0 1.9
1.6 2.3 1.9 2.0
1.6 2.3 - -

Figures have been restated to reflect the historical revisions in the Canadian System of National Accounts as of the first quarter of 2019 released on May 31, 2019.

The budgetary balance

The budgetary balance is the difference between the Government’s revenues and expenses over a fiscal year. It is one of the key measures
of the Government’s annual financial performance. The Government posted an annual deficit of $14.0 billion in 2019, compared to a

deficit of $19.0 billion in 2018.

The following graph shows the Government’s budgetary balance since 1995. To enhance the comparability of results over time and across
jurisdictions, the budgetary balance and its components are presented as a percentage of GDP. In 2019, the budgetary deficit was 0.6% of

GDP, compared to a deficit of 0.9% of GDP a year earlier.

Annual surplus/deficit
(percentage of GDP)
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Revenues were up $21.0 billion, or 6.7%, from the prior year, reflecting increases in all streams, driven primarily by income tax revenues,

other taxes and duties and other revenues.

Expenses were up $16.0 billion, or 4.8%, from the prior year. Program expenses increased by $14.6 billion, or 4.7%, primarily reflecting
an increase in transfer payments. Public debt charges increased by $1.4 billion, or 6.3%, from the prior year.

2019 financial highlights

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Restated*
Consolidated Statement of Operations
Revenues 332,218 311,216
Expenses
PrOGIAM EXPENSES ...ttt sttt b bt ae bbbt s et b e s e e st e h e bt e e s e st e b e e bt e e e e bt e st e Rt e bt e n et et a et n e nen 322,916 308,288
Public debt charges 23,266 21,889
Total expenses 346,182 330,177
ANNUAT GETICIE ...ttt bbb b e b s b b s £t E e b e b £ e b e b e e b s b e b s £ e b s bbbt et e bt b et et (13,964) (18,961)
PEICENTAGE OF GDIP ... bbb bbb E ettt (0.6)% (0.9)%
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities.... 159,707 147,799
Interest-bearing debt 1,025,464 1,002,578
TOUAL THADTTITIES ... bbb bbb bbb bbb s e bt b bttt b s b e st eb e b enen 1,185,171 1,150,377
Financial assets.... 413,047 397,490
Net debt (772,124) (752,887)
Non-financial assets .... 86,674 81,633
ACCUMUIBLEA GETICIT ...ttt (685,450) (671,254)
PEICENTAGE OF GDIP ...ttt bbb bt b s bbb bt a b e b £ b b e b e R e e b s e b bRt b e btk bbb n et eben 30.9% 31.3%

1 Certain comparative figures have been restated. Information regarding this restatement can be found in Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements.

Revenues

Federal revenues can be broken down into four main categories: income tax revenues, other taxes and duties, Employment Insurance (EI)
premium revenues and other revenues.

Within the income tax category, personal income tax revenues are the largest source of federal revenues, and accounted for 49.3% of total
revenues in 2019 (down from 49.4% in 2018). Corporate income tax revenues are the second largest source of revenues, and accounted
for 15.2% of total revenues in 2019 (down from 15.4% in 2018). Non-resident income tax revenues are a comparatively smaller source of
revenues, accounting for only 2.8% of total revenues in 2019 (up from 2.5% in 2018).

Other taxes and duties consist of revenues from the Goods and Services Tax (GST), energy taxes, customs import duties and other excise
taxes and duties. The largest component of this category—GST revenues—accounted for 11.5% of all federal revenues in 2019 (down
from 11.8% in 2018). The share of the remaining components of other taxes and duties stood at 5.7% of total federal revenues (up from
5.5% in 2018).

El premium revenues accounted for 6.7% of total federal revenues in 2019 (down slightly from 2018).

Other revenues are made up of three broad components: net income from enterprise Crown corporations and other government business
enterprises; other program revenues from returns on investments, proceeds from the sales of goods and services, and other miscellaneous
revenues; and foreign exchange revenues. Other revenues accounted for 8.8% of total federal revenues in 2019 (up slightly from 2018).
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Composition of revenues for 2019

Other revenues

Employment 8.8%
insurance premiums
6.7%

Other taxes and
duties (GST

excluded)
5.7% :

GST

11.5%

Non-resident
income tax
2.8%

Personal income tax
49.3%

Corporate income tax
15.2%

Numbers may not add to 100% due to rounding.

The revenue ratio—revenues as a percentage of GDP—compares the total of all federal revenues to the size of the economy. This ratio is
influenced by changes in statutory tax rates and by economic developments. The ratio stood at 15.0% in 2019 (up from 14.5% in 2018).
This increase primarily reflects growth in personal and corporate income tax revenues and other taxes and duties.

Revenue ratio

(revenues as a percentage of GDP)
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2001
2002
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2016
2017
2018
2019

The percentages of GDP from 2010 to 2018 have been restated to reflect the impact of a retroactive change in accounting treatment. Additional information regarding this
restatement can be found in Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements.
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Revenues compared to 2018

Total revenues amounted to $332.2 billion in 2019, up $21.0 billion, or 6.7%, from 2018. The following table compares revenues for 2019
to 2018.

Revenues
(in millions of dollars)
Change
2019 2018 $ %
Restated*
Income tax revenues
Personal 163,881 153,619 10,262 6.7
Corporate... 50,368 47,805 2,563 5.4
Non-resident. 9,370 7,845 1,525 19.4
223,619 209,269 14,350 6.9
Other taxes and duties
Goods and services tax 38,221 36,751 1,470 4.0
Energy taxes..... 5,802 5,739 63 11
Customs import duties.... 6,881 5,416 1,465 27.0
6,323 5,913 410 6.9
0] - LSOO SRRt 57,227 53,819 3,408 6.3
Employment iNSUFanCe PreMIUMS ........c.eiuiueiirieieniiteisiet ettt 22,295 21,140 1,155 55
Other revenues 29,077 26,988 2,089 7.7
Total revenues.. 332,218 311,216 21,002 6.7

1 Certain comparative figures have been restated. Information regarding this restatement can be found in Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements.

— Personal income tax revenues increased by $10.3 billion in 2019, or 6.7%, driven by high employment and a strong labour market.

— Corporate income tax revenues increased by $2.6 billion, or 5.4%, reflecting growth in corporate earnings in a number of sectors
including finance, manufacturing and wholesale trade.

— Non-resident income tax revenues are paid by non-residents on Canadian-sourced income. These revenues increased by
$1.5 billion, or 19.4%, largely reflecting growth in corporate earnings and dividends.

— Other taxes and duties increased by $3.4 billion, or 6.3%. GST revenues grew by $1.5 billion in 2019, or 4.0%, reflecting growth
in retail sales. Energy taxes grew by $0.1 billion, or 1.1%, primarily due to higher aviation fuel consumption in 2019. Customs
import duties increased by $1.5 billion, or 27.0%, largely due to the application of steel and aluminum retaliatory tariffs. Excluding
the retaliatory tariffs, customs import duties grew by 5.6%. Other excise taxes and duties were up $0.4 billion, or 6.9%, driven
primarily by an increase in tobacco excise duties.

— EI premium revenues increased by $1.2 billion, or 5.5%. This was due to an increase in insurable earnings and in the premium
rate for 2018.

— Other revenues increased by $2.1 billion, or 7.7%, largely reflecting an increase in interest and penalties revenues and a greater
return on investments, both largely due to higher interest rates.

Section 1—Financial statements discussion and analysis | 13
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Expenses

Federal expenses can be broken down into three main categories: transfer payments, which account for roughly two-thirds of all federal
spending, other expenses and public debt charges.

Transfer payments are classified under four categories:

Major transfers to persons, which made up 27.8% of total expenses (down from 28.4% in 2018). This category consists of elderly,
El and children’s benefits.

Major transfers to other levels of government—which include the Canada Health Transfer, the Canada Social Transfer, the home
care and mental health transfers, fiscal arrangements (Equalization, transfers to the territories, a number of smaller transfer
programs and the Quebec Abatement), and Gas Tax Fund transfers—made up 21.9% of total expenses in 2019 (up from 21.4%
in 2018).

Fuel charge proceeds returned, consisting of payments under the new federal carbon pollution pricing system, made up 0.2% of
expenses.

Other transfer payments, which include transfers to Aboriginal peoples, assistance to farmers, students and businesses, support for
research and development, and international assistance, made up 14.9% of expenses (up from 14.3% in 2018).

Other expenses, which represent the operating expenses of the Government’s 130 departments, agencies, and consolidated Crown
corporations and other entities, accounted for 28.4% of total expenses in 2019 (down from 29.3% in 2018).

Public debt charges made up the remaining 6.7% of total expenses in 2019 (up slightly from 2018).

Composition of expenses for 2019

Public debt charges
6.7%

Other expenses
28.4%

Major transfers
to persons
27.8%

Other transfer

payments
Major transfers to other

14.9%
Fuel charge
proceeds returned / levels of government
0.2% 21.9%

Numbers may not add to 100% due to rounding.
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Pricing carbon pollution while delivering Climate Action Incentive payments

The federal carbon pollution pricing system is composed of a fuel charge and an output-based pricing system. All direct proceeds from
the federal fuel charge are returned to the jurisdiction of origin. In Ontario, New Brunswick, Manitoba and Saskatchewan, the bulk of
proceeds are returned through Climate Action Incentive payments. Eligible individuals residing in these provinces can claim the
payments through their personal income tax returns. A number of individuals have claimed the Climate Action Incentive payment
before the fuel charge came into effect on April 1, 2019 by filing their tax returns before the end of the fiscal year (March 31, 2019).
These payments, totaling $0.7 billion, are expensed in the 2019 fiscal year. The corresponding proceeds will be collected in the
2020 fiscal year, offsetting this expense.

Expenses compared to 2018

Total expenses amounted to $346.2 billion in 2019, up $16.0 billion, or 4.8%, from 2018. The following table compares total expenses

for 2019 to 2018.
Expenses
(in millions of dollars)
Change
2019 2018 $ %
Restated*
Transfer payments
Major transfers to persons
EIderly DENEFItS ..o 53,366 50,644 2,722 5.4
Employment insurance... 18,888 19,715 (827) 4.2)
ChHiIldren's DENETILS ......c.civiiiiiiiiiii s 23,882 23,432 450 1.9
TOTAL s 96,136 93,791 2,345 25
Major transfers to other levels of government
Federal transfer support for health and other social programs 52,729 50,872 1,857 3.7
Fiscal arrangements and other transfers .............ccccoceeenncenne 23,196 19,647 3,549 18.1
TIOTALL ettt 75,925 70,519 5,406 7.7
Fuel charge proceeds retUrNEM ... 664 - 664 100.0
Other transfer payments 51,753 47,138 4,615 9.8
Total transfer PAYMENTS ..ottt 224,478 211,448 13,030 6.2
OLNEE BXPENSES .....veeetteietetee ettt ettt b etk b sttt b b b st b et b ettt e b et et b e b st 98,438 96,840 1,598 1.7
TOtal PrOgram EXPENSES. ... .veuiieteieieteiireet ettt et bbb bttt s et sbeananene 322,916 308,288 14,628 4.7
PUDBIIC BT ChAIGES ...t 23,266 21,889 1,377 6.3
TOLAI EXPEINSES ...ttt bbb bbbttt beaen 346,182 330,177 16,005 4.8

1

Certain comparative figures have been restated. Information regarding this restatement can be found in Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements.

— Major transfers to persons increased by $2.3 billion in 2019, reflecting increases in elderly and children’s benefits. Elderly benefits
increased by $2.7 billion, or 5.4%, reflecting growth in the elderly population and changes in consumer prices, to which benefits
are fully indexed. EI benefits decreased by $0.8 billion, or 4.2%, reflecting stronger labour market conditions. Children’s benefits
increased by $0.5 billion, or 1.9%, reflecting the indexation of the Canada Child Benefit, which took effect in July 2018.

— Major transfers to other levels of government increased by $5.4 billion in 2019, primarily reflecting $2.7 billion in legislated
growth in the Canada Health Transfer, the Canada Social Transfer, Equalization transfers and transfers to the territories, as well
as a one-time $2.2-billion increase in transfers under the Gas Tax Fund.

— Other transfer payments increased by $4.6 billion, or 9.8%, in 2019, reflecting increases across a number of departments and
agencies, including higher transfers relating to infrastructure, $1.0 billion in funding for the Green Municipal Fund announced in
Budget 2019, and increased transfers to First Nations and assistance for students.

— Fuel charge proceeds returned began in 2019 and amounted to $0.7 billion.

— Other expenses of departments, agencies, and consolidated Crown corporations and other entities increased by $1.6 billion, or
1.7%.

— Public debt charges increased by $1.4 billion, or 6.3%, reflecting a higher average effective interest rate on the stock of interest-
bearing debt in 2019.

Section 1—Financial statements discussion and analysis | 15
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There has been a large shift in the composition of total expenses since the mid-1990s. Public debt charges were the largest component for
most of the 1990s, given the large and increasing stock of interest-bearing debt and high average effective interest rates on that stock of
debt. Since reaching a high of nearly 30% of total expenses in 1997, the share of public debt charges in total expenses has fallen by more
than three-quarters.

The interest ratio (public debt charges as a percentage of revenues) shows the proportion of every dollar of revenue that is needed to pay
interest and is therefore not available to pay for program initiatives. The lower the ratio, the more flexibility the Government has to address
the key priorities of Canadians. The interest ratio has been decreasing in recent years, falling from a peak of 37.6% in 1991 to 7.0% in
2019. This means that, in 2019, the Government spent approximately 7 cents of every revenue dollar on interest on public debt.

Interest ratio

(public debt charges as a percentage of revenues)

40

The percentages of revenues from 2010 to 2018 have been restated to reflect the impact of a retroactive change in accounting treatment. Additional information regarding this
restatement can be found in Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements.

= = N
o o o
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2016
2017
2018
2019

Comparison of actual results to budget projections
Comparison to March 2019 budget plan

The $14.0-billion deficit recorded in 2019 represents a $0.9-billion improvement over the $14.9-billion deficit projected in the March 2019
Budget.

— Overall, revenues were about equal to the March 2019 budget projections.
— Program expenses were $0.6 billion lower than expected.

— Public debt charges were $0.3 billion lower than forecast, reflecting a lower-than-expected average effective interest rate on the
stock of interest-bearing debt.

Comparison of 2019 outcomes to March 2019 budget

(in millions of dollars)

Projection Actual Difference
REVENUES ...t 332,209 332,218 9
Expenses
PrOGIAM EXPEINSES. ...ttt £ttt 323,502 322,916 (586)
Public debt charges 23,557 23,266 (291)
TOMAI XPENSES ..t 347,059 346,182 (877)
ANNUAD GEFICIE ... b bbb bbb b st b e b bbbt e b st b eb et bbbttt (14,850) (13,964) 886
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Comparison to February 2018 budget plan

The 2019 budgetary deficit of $14.0 billion represents a $1.8-billion improvement relative to the $15.8-billion deficit projected for 2019
in the February 2018 Budget. This improvement is due to higher-than-forecast revenues, offset in part by higher-than-forecast expenses.

Revenues were $11.5 billion, or 3.6%, higher than forecast in the February 2018 Budget, driven by stronger-than-expected growth
in income tax revenues, reflecting high employment and stronger-than-expected corporate profits.

Total expenses were $9.6 billion, or 2.9%, higher than projected in the February 2018 Budget, with program expenses $11.1 billion
higher than forecast and public debt charges $1.4 billion lower than forecast.

Major transfers to persons were $1.9 billion lower than forecast. This is largely as a result of lower-than-expected El benefits
reflecting a significant reduction in unemployment.

Major transfers to other levels of government were $2.3 billion higher than projected, due to a one-time $2.2-billion increase in
transfers under the Gas Tax Fund announced in Budget 2019.

Direct program expenses, which are comprised of other transfer payments, other expenses, and fuel charge proceeds returned,
were $10.7 billion higher than projected in the February 2018 Budget. The variance from forecast was largely attributable to:
higher-than-projected pension and other employee future benefit expenses, reflecting lower-than-expected discount rates used in
valuing the associated benefit obligations under the Government’s new discount rate approach adopted in 2018; higher-than-
expected impacts from claims and litigation; and measures announced after Budget 2018, including fuel charge proceeds returned,
funding for the Green Municipal Fund, and the forgiveness of loans for comprehensive claims and negotiations.

Public debt charges were $1.4 billion lower than forecast in the February 2018 Budget, largely reflecting a lower-than-expected
average effective interest rate on the stock of interest-bearing debt.

Comparison of 2019 outcomes to February 2018 budget

(in millions of dollars)

Budget! Actual Difference
Revenues
INCOME TAX TEVENUES ...ttt 216,966 223,619 6,653
Other taxes and duties .. 55,366 57,227 1,861
EmMPloyment iNSUFANCE PrEMIUMIS...........uiiiiiiiisi ittt 21,716 22,295 579
OBNEE TEVENUES ...ttt h bbbt h b st e b b bt E b b eh ek e e b e s e e eb et b e b ettt n b enes 26,711 29,077 2,366
TOLAI FEVEIUES ...ttt bt bt h b b€ £ b8 bbb e bt b e b b e b e bt e kst b eb et et b et b bbb nes 320,759 332,218 11,459
Expenses
Program expenses
MO rANSTEIS 10 PEISONS . .....euttiuiieteiet ettt ettt b et b bbb bbb sttt s bttt n bt e 98,059 96,136 (1,923)
Major transfers to other levels of government.... . 73,616 75,925 2,309
Fuel charge proceeds returned ............ccc....... . - 664 664
Other transfer payments.......... . 47,462 51,753 4,291
OFNET EXPENSES. ... evtesieeteseetete et sese et bttt bbb e e bt e e b e st e bRt bbb e bR e b s e s e e E e R e b e bt bbb b e bt e bbb n bt e b 92,714 98,438 5,724
TOLAl PrOGIAM EXPENSES .......vvooveeoeeessseeesessessssesssessssessssesessesssssesssesssssessssesssessssessssssssssssesesssesssesssenssessseeseaseses 311,851 322,916 11,065
PUDIIC ABDE ChAIGES ...t b bbbt e bbbt n bbbt en et 24,707 23,266 (1,441)
TOLAI EXPEINSES ...ttt bttt b h ekt bttt h bbb h ek E £ E bR £ EeE R E b £ bR £ bR b bt e bt beh e 336,558 346,182 9,624
ANNUAEEFICIE......ooovvoeeeee e ee s e en e e en e ne e ens e (15,799) (13,964) 1,835

1 To enhance comparability with actual 2019 results, Budget 2018 projections have been adjusted. Information regarding this adjustment can be found in Note 3(d) of the
consolidated financial statements.
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Accumulated deficit

The accumulated deficit is the difference between the Government’s total liabilities and total assets. The annual change in the accumulated
deficit is equal to the annual budgetary balance plus other comprehensive income or loss. Other comprehensive income or loss represents
certain unrealized gains and losses on financial instruments and certain actuarial gains and losses related to pensions and other employee
future benefits reported by enterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises. Based on Canadian public sector
accounting standards, other comprehensive income or loss is not included in the Government’s annual budgetary balance, but is instead
recorded directly to the Government’s Consolidated Statement of Accumulated Deficit and Consolidated Statement of Change in
Net Debt.

Accumulated deficit

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018 Difference
Accumulated deficit at BeginnING OF YEAT ...t (671,254) (651,540) (19,714)
Annual defiCit ........cocoorriiiiiiicccs (13,964) (18,961) 4,997
Other comprehensive 10ss ................ (232) (753) 521
Accumulated defiCit at N OF YEAT .........ciiiiiiiie bbbttt ettt (685,450) (671,254) (14,196)

The accumulated deficit increased by $14.2 billion in 2019, reflecting the $14.0-billion budgetary deficit and a $0.2-billion other
comprehensive loss.

The accumulated deficit was 30.9% of GDP at March 31, 2019, compared to a post-World War |1 peak of 66.8% at March 31, 1996.

Accumulated deficit
(as a percentage of GDP)
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Measures of Government debt

The consolidated financial statements of the Government of Canada are presented on an accrual basis of accounting. On this basis, there
are several generally accepted definitions of government debt.

Total liabilities of the Government consist of unmatured debt, or debt issued on the credit markets, pension and other future benefit
liabilities, other interest-bearing liabilities, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

Net debt represents the total liabilities of the Government less its financial assets. Financial assets include cash and cash equivalents,
accounts receivable, foreign exchange accounts, loans, investments and advances, and public sector pension assets.

The accumulated deficit is equal to total liabilities less total assets—both financial and non-financial. Non-financial assets include tangible
capital assets, such as land and buildings, inventories, and prepaid expenses and other. The accumulated deficit is the federal government’s
main measure of debt.

Unmatured debt

Market debt $721.1 billion

Market debt value Pension and other Accounts payable and
(marketable bonds, adjustments and non- liabilities aCCfUEd[;i;;Dilities
treasury bills, retail debt s L=
market debt $15.8 billion $282.6 billion $159.7 billion

and foreign currency debt)

A

Total liabilities
$1,185.2 billion

Less financial assets
$413.0 billion

A 4

Net debt
$772.1 billion

\ 4

Less non-financial assets
$86.7 billion

v

Accumulated deficit
$685.5 billion
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The Government’s total liabilities include interest-bearing debt and accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Total assets include both
financial and non-financial assets, the latter consisting primarily of tangible capital assets. The following sections provide more details on
each of these components.

Statement of financial position
(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018 Difference
Restated*
Liabilities
Accounts payable and acCrued HaDITITIES ............coiiiiiiiie e 159,707 147,799 11,908
Interest-bearing debt
Unmatured debt 736,915 721,201 15,714
Pensions and other future benefits 282,644 275,707 6,937
Other liabilities 5,905 5,670 235
TIOAL -t h et h bbb R £ R R £ bR £ E R R bR b bR bRttt h bbbt enen 1,025,464 1,002,578 22,886
TOTAI TIADIITIES ...ttt bbb b bbb bbb 1,185,171 1,150,377 34,794
Financial assets
Cash and accounts receivable ... 177,041 172,057 4,984
Foreign exchange accounts 99,688 96,938 2,750
Loans, investments and advances .... 133,912 126,371 7,541
Public sector pension assets 2,406 2,124 282
Total financial assets..... 413,047 397,490 15,557
Net debt ... (772,124) (752,887) (19,237)
Non-financial assets .... 86,674 81,633 5,041
ACCUMUIBLEA BEFICIL..........voovveoeeeeee s eeeseesse s s sess e esss e esss e s ee s en s ess s en s anssseees (685,450) (671,254) (14,196)

1 Certain comparative figures have been restated. Information regarding this restatement can be found in Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements.

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
The following chart shows accounts payable and accrued liabilities by category for 2019.

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities by category for 2019
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The Government’s accounts payable and accrued liabilities consist of amounts payable related to tax based on assessments and estimates
of refunds owing for tax assessments not completed by year-end; provisions for contingent liabilities, including guarantees provided by
the Government and claims and pending and threatened litigation; environmental liabilities and asset retirement obligations, which include
estimated costs related to the remediation of contaminated sites and the future restoration of certain tangible capital assets; deferred
revenue; interest and matured debt, as well as accrued interest at year-end; and other accounts payable and accrued liabilities. Other
accounts payable and accrued liabilities include items such as accrued salaries and benefits; amounts payable to provinces, territories and
Aboriginal governments for taxes collected and administered on their behalf in accordance with tax collection agreements; and amounts
owing at year-end pursuant to contractual arrangements or for work performed or goods received.

At March 31, 2019, accounts payable and accrued liabilities totalled $159.7 billion, up $11.9 billion from March 31, 2018. This increase
reflects growth in amounts payable related to tax, provisions for contingent liabilities, other accounts payable and accrued liabilities,
environmental liabilities and asset retirement obligations, and interest and matured debt, partially offset by a decrease in deferred revenue.

— Amounts payable related to tax increased by $3.3 billion in 2019, from $61.9 billion at March 31, 2018, to $65.2 billion at
March 31, 2019. This increase reflects in part the Climate Action Incentive payments that were accrued at the end of the year.

— Provisions for contingent liabilities increased by $3.4 billion, largely reflecting an increase in the Government’s estimates of
amounts required to settle various specific claims and pending and threatened litigation.

— Environmental liabilities and asset retirement obligations increased by $0.9 billion in 2019, reflecting revisions to previously
estimated provisions, net of remediation activities undertaken.

— Deferred revenue decreased by $0.7 billion in 2019, primarily reflecting the recognition of previously deferred revenue related to
spectrum licence auctions.

— Liabilities for interest and matured debt increased by $4 million from the prior year.

— Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities increased by $5.0 billion in 2019. Within this component, accounts payable
increased by $5.2 billion. This increase was attributable in large part to the accrual of $3.2 billion in spending measures announced
in Budget 2019, including a one-time $2.2-billion top-up to the Gas Tax Fund and $1.0 billion in funding for the Green Municipal
Fund. Miscellaneous paylist deductions and other accounts payable increased by $0.1 billion and $21 million, respectively.
Accrued salaries and benefits increased by $0.1 billion, due mainly to an increase in allowances for vacation pay. These increases
were somewhat offset by a $0.4-billion decrease in liabilities under tax collection agreements, reflecting timing differences in
payments to provinces, territories and Aboriginal governments, and a $44-million decrease in notes payable to international
organizations.

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

(in billions of dollars)
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Amounts for 2010 to 2018 have been restated to reflect the impact of a retroactive change in accounting treatment. Additional information regarding this restatement can be
found in Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements.
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Interest-bearing debt

Interest-bearing debt includes unmatured debt, or debt issued on the credit markets, pension and other future benefit liabilities, and other
liabilities.

— Unmatured debt, which includes fixed-coupon marketable bonds, Real Return Bonds, treasury bills, retail debt (Canada Savings
Bonds and Canada Premium Bonds), foreign-currency-denominated debt, and obligations related to capital leases and public-
private partnerships, amounted to 71.9% of interest-bearing debt at March 31, 2019.

— Pension and other future benefit liabilities include obligations for: federal public sector pensions sponsored by the Government;
disability and associated benefits available to war veterans, current and retired members of the Canadian Forces and the Royal
Canadian Mounted Police, their survivors and dependants; health care and dental benefits available to retired employees and their
dependants; accumulated sick leave entitlements; severance benefits; workers’ compensation benefits; and other future benefits
sponsored by some consolidated Crown corporations and other entities. Liabilities for public sector pensions made up 16.5% of
interest-bearing debt and other employee and veteran future benefits accounted for an additional 11.1% of interest-bearing debt.

— The remaining 0.6% of interest-bearing debt represents other interest-bearing liabilities of the Government, which include deposit
and trust accounts and other specified purpose accounts.

The share of total interest-bearing debt represented by unmatured debt had been declining since the mid-1990s, as the Government was
able to retire some of this debt. This trend reversed in 2009 due to the increase in financial requirements stemming from the recession and
stimulus measures introduced to mitigate its impacts, as well as an increase in borrowings under the consolidated borrowing framework
introduced in 2008. Under the consolidated borrowing framework, the Government finances all of the borrowing needs of Canada
Mortgage and Housing Corporation, the Business Development Bank of Canada and Farm Credit Canada through direct lending in order
to reduce overall borrowing costs and improve the liquidity of the government securities market.

Interest-bearing debt by category for 2019
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At March 31, 2019, interest-bearing debt totalled $1,025.5 billion, up $22.9 billion from March 31, 2018. Within interest-bearing debt,
unmatured debt increased by $15.7 billion, liabilities for pensions decreased by $2.1 billion, liabilities for other employee and veteran
future benefits increased by $9.1 billion, and other liabilities increased by $0.2 billion.

The $15.7-billion increase in unmatured debt is largely attributable to a $16.8-billion increase in market debt, reflecting increased
borrowings to meet the financial needs of the Government. This increase was partially offset by a $1.3-billion decrease in unamortized
discounts and premiums on market debt.

The Bank of Canada and the Department of Finance Canada manage the Government’s unmatured debt and associated risks. The
fundamental objective of the debt management strategy is to provide stable, low-cost funding to meet the Government’s financial
obligations and liquidity needs. Details on the Government’s debt management objectives and principles are tabled annually in Parliament
through the Department of Finance Canada’s Debt Management Strategy.

Foreign holdings of the Government’s unmatured debt are estimated at $215.6 billion, representing approximately 29.3% of the
Government’s total unmatured debt.

Foreign holdings of Government of Canada unmatured debt
(as a percentage of unmatured debt)
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The Government’s liabilities for pensions and other future benefits stood at $282.6 billion at March 31, 2019, up $6.9 billion from the
prior year. These liabilities represent the estimated present value of pensions and other future benefits earned to March 31, 2019, by current
and former employees, as measured annually on an actuarial basis, net of the value of assets set aside for funding purposes. Liabilities for
pensions and other future benefits do not include benefits payable under the Canada Pension Plan (CPP). The CPP is not consolidated in
the Government’s financial statements because changes to the CPP require the agreement of two-thirds of participating provinces and it
is therefore not controlled by the Government. Further information regarding the CPP can be found in Section 6 of this volume.

Accounting for pensions and other employee and veteran future benefits

The Government’s $282.6-billion liability for pensions and other employee and veteran future benefits results from its promise to
provide certain benefits to employees during or after employment, or in retirement, in return for their service.

For benefits that accumulate over time as employees work, such as pensions, an annual expense and liability are recorded for the
estimated cost of benefits earned by employees during the year. The Government uses an actuarial cost method (the projected accrued
benefit method prorated on service) to estimate this expense and liability. Under this method, the Government estimates the total
expected future benefit payments for current employees. This total is then pro-rated over employees’ period of employment. This
means that an equal portion of the estimate is expensed as current service cost in each year of an employee’s service, on a present value
basis. Several actuarial assumptions are used in calculating current service cost, including future inflation, interest rates, return on
pension investments, general wage increases, workforce composition, retirement rates and mortality rates.

For post-employment benefits or compensated absences that do not vest or accumulate, a liability and expense for the expected cost of
providing future benefits is recognized immediately in the period when the obligating event occurs. For example, benefits provided to
employees in the event of an accident or injury would be recorded when the accident or injury occurs.

Since April 1, 2000, amounts equal to contributions less payments and other charges related to the public service, Canadian Forces—
Regular Force and Royal Canadian Mounted Police pension plans, and since 2007 for the Canadian Forces—Reserve Force pension
plan, that fall within the Income Tax Act limits are transferred to the Public Sector Pension Investment Board (PSPIB) for investment.
Pension assets held by the PSPIB are valued at a market-related value. The Government’s accrued benefit obligations for pensions and
other employee and veteran future benefits are presented net of pension assets, as well as unrecognized net actuarial gains and losses
(discussed below) and amounts related to the plans of some consolidated Crown corporations and other entities, in arriving at the
liability for pensions and other future benefits shown on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

Since the Government’s obligations for pensions and other future benefits are recorded on a present value basis, interest expense is
recorded each year and added to the obligations to reflect the passage of time, as these liabilities are one year closer to settlement.
Interest expense is recorded net of the expected return on investments for funded pension benefits, and reported as part of public debt
charges. Current service cost is recorded as part of other expenses on the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated
Deficit.

When an employee ceases employment with the Government, the Government stops recording current service cost in respect of that
employee. Benefits subsequently provided to the employee are recorded as reductions in the Government’s benefit obligation.

The Government’s obligations for pensions and other future benefits are re-estimated on an annual basis to reflect actual experience
and updated actuarial assumptions. Increases or decreases in the estimated value of the obligations are referred to as actuarial gains
and losses. Under Canadian public sector accounting standards, actuarial gains and losses are not recognized in the Government’s
liabilities immediately due to their tentative nature and because further adjustments may be required in the future. Instead, these
amounts are amortized to expense and to the Government’s liabilities over the expected average remaining service life of employees,
which represents periods ranging from 4 to 23 years according to the plan in question, or the average remaining life expectancy of
benefit recipients under wartime veteran plans, which represents periods ranging from 6 to 8 years.

For plan amendments, curtailments and settlements that affect accrued benefit obligations for services already rendered by employees,
the change in the Government’s obligations is reflected in the period of the amendment, curtailment or settlement and recorded as part
of other expenses.
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The following table illustrates the change in the Government’s liabilities for pensions and other future benefits, net of public sector pension
assets, in 2019.

Net pensions and other future benefit liabilities

(in millions of dollars)

Other future
Pensions benefits Total
Net future benefit liabilities at beginning Of YEAI ..o 168,790 104,793 273,583
Add:
Benefits earned during the year 7,305 6,807 14,112
Interest on accrued benefit obligations, net of the expected return on investments 3,509 3,272 6,781
Net actuarial losses recognized during the year 3,678 4,778 8,456
Plan amendments, curtailments, settlements and valuation allowance?... 76 (12) 64
14,568 14,845 29,413
Deduct:
Benefits paid during the year 12,223 5,694 17,917
Transfers to the PSPIB and funds held in external trusts? 3,930 - 3,930
Transfers to other plans and administrative expenses 829 82 911
16,982 5,776 22,758
NET (ABCTEASE) INMCTEASE .......eevveueteuieeteteeet sttt ettt b sttt s et h st e b et b e b e e b e s e ek e h e b e b et e b e b e e b e bt e et bt b b et st eb et et eb e e abene (2,414) 9,069 6,655
Net future benefit liabilities at €N OF YEAT .........cciiiiiiie et 166,376 113,862 280,238

Presented on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as:

Public sector pension liabilities 168,782
Other employee and veteran future benefit liabilities 113,862
Total pension and other future benefit liabilities 282,644
Public sector pension assets 2,406
Net pensions and other future benefit liabilities... 280,238

1 Amounts shown include actuarial gains and losses recognized immediately upon plan amendments, settlements and curtailments.

2 With respect to the Government’s funded pension plans, amounts equal to employer and employee contributions or Government and member contributions less benefits and
other payments are transferred to the Public Sector Pension Investment Board (PSPIB) for investment. Funds related to pension and other future benefit plans of consolidated
Crown corporations and other entities are held in legally separate external trusts.

The increase in net liabilities for pensions and other future benefits in 2019 reflects the addition of $14.1 billion in future benefits earned
by employees during the year, as well as $6.8 billion in net interest charges on the liabilities. The discount rates used in the measurement
of unfunded pension and benefit obligations and in calculating interest charges on the obligations are based on the actual zero-coupon
yield curve for Government of Canada bonds at fiscal year-end. The discount rate used to value the Government’s obligations for funded
pension benefits, which relate to post-March 2000 service under its three main pension plans—the public service, Canadian Forces—
Regular Force, and Royal Canadian Mounted Police pension plans—as well as benefits under the Canadian Forces—Reserve Force pension
plan is based on the streamed expected rates of return on invested funds.

The Government’s liabilities for pensions and other future benefits increased by an additional $8.5 billion in 2019 due to the amortization
of actuarial gains and losses. As of March 31, 2019, the Government had net unamortized losses of $83.3 billion. These losses will be
amortized over time and recorded as part of other expenses and as an increase in the Government’s liabilities.

The Government also recorded a $0.1-billion increase in liabilities for pensions and other future benefits to reflect the net impact of plan
amendments, curtailments, settlements and valuation allowance during the year.

These increases were offset in part by reductions in the liabilities for benefits paid during the year ($17.9 billion) and for net transfers to
the PSPIB and funds held in external trusts for investment ($3.9 billion).

Further details on the federal public sector pension plans and other employee and veteran future benefits are contained in Section 6 of this
volume.
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Interest-bearing debt stood at 46.2% of GDP in 2019, down from 46.8% in 2018. This ratio is down over 28 percentage points from its
high of 74.4% in 1996.

Interest-bearing debt
(as a percentage of GDP)
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The average effective interest rate on the Government’s interest-bearing debt in 2019 was 2.3%, up from 2.2% in 2018. The average
effective interest rate on unmatured debt in 2019 was 2.2%, while the average effective interest rate on pension and other liabilities was
2.5%, reflecting the longer average duration of these obligations.

Average effective interest rate on interest-bearing debt
(in percentage)
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Financial assets

Financial assets include cash on deposit with the Bank of Canada, chartered banks and other financial institutions, accounts receivable,
foreign exchange accounts, loans, investments and advances, and public sector pension assets of consolidated Crown corporations and
other entities. The Government’s foreign exchange accounts include foreign currency deposits, investments in marketable securities, and
subscriptions and loans to the IMF. Proceeds of the Government’s foreign currency borrowings are held in the Exchange Fund Account
to provide foreign currency liquidity and provide funds needed to promote orderly conditions for the Canadian dollar in foreign exchange
markets. Further details on the management of international reserves are available in the annual Report on the Management of Canada’s
Official International Reserves. The Government’s loans, investments and advances include its investments in and loans to enterprise
Crown corporations, loans to national governments mainly for financial assistance and development of export trade, and loans under the
Canada Student Loans Program.

Financial assets by category for 2019
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Numbers may not add to 100% due to rounding.

At March 31, 2019, financial assets amounted to $413.0 billion, up $15.6 billion from March 31, 2018. The increase in financial assets
reflects increases in cash and accounts receivable, foreign exchange accounts, loans, investments and advances, and public sector pension
assets.

At March 31, 2019, cash and accounts receivable totalled $177.0 billion, up $5.0 billion from March 31, 2018. Within this component,
cash and cash equivalents increased by $3.0 billion. The balance of cash and cash equivalents includes $20 billion which has been
designated as a deposit held with respect to prudential liquidity management. The Government’s overall liquidity is maintained at a level
sufficient to cover at least one month of net projected cash flows, including coupon payments and debt refinancing needs. Taxes receivable
increased by $4.5 billion during 2019 to $127.6 billion, reflecting growth in tax revenues and higher disputed arrears. Other accounts
receivable decreased by $2.5 billion, largely due to a $1.6-billion decrease in cash collateral under International Swaps and Derivatives
Association agreements in respect of outstanding cross-currency swap agreements and a $1.0-billion decrease in dividends receivable
from Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation at year-end.

Loans, investments and advances in enterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises increased by $7.4 billion
in 2019. Investments in enterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises decreased by $0.6 billion, as the
$5.9 billion in net profits recorded by these entities during 2019 were more than offset by $0.2 billion in other comprehensive losses and
$6.4 billion in dividends paid to the Government. Net loans and advances were up $8.0 billion, primarily reflecting a $3.2-billion increase
in loans to Crown corporations under the consolidated borrowing framework, and $4.8-billion in financing to the Canada Development
Investment Corporation (CDEV) from the Canada Account to fund the acquisition of the Trans Mountain entities, to finance construction
activities for the expansion project, and to fund other corporate purposes.
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Details of the Trans Mountain Pipeline Acquisition

On August 31, 2018, the Government of Canada purchased the entities that control the existing Trans Mountain Pipeline, its Expansion
Project and related assets for $4.4 billion.

The Trans Mountain entities are controlled by the Trans Mountain Corporation (TMC), which is a subsidiary of CDEV, an enterprise
Crown corporation reporting to Parliament through the Minister of Finance. The consolidated equity of CDEV, which includes the
Trans Mountain entities under TMC, is recorded as a government asset and reported under Loans, investments and advances on the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

The purchase of the Trans Mountain entities was financed through a loan to CDEV from the Canada Account, which is also reported
under Loans, investments and advances. The balance of this loan amounted to $4.8 billion as at March 31, 2019. Funding for this loan
was provided through an increase in Government of Canada unmatured debt.

The Trans Mountain entities currently provide transportation and logistical services to shippers from the Western Canadian sedimentary
basin and generate cash flows from tolls charged to these shippers. The Expansion Project is a capital project, which will significantly
increase the capacity of the Trans Mountain pipeline system.

The Trans Mountain entities have significant commercial value and generate returns from existing operational assets. The net results
attributable to Canada’s holdings in the Trans Mountain entities are consolidated in CDEV’s net income, which is included in Other
revenues—Enterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises on the Consolidated Statement of Operations and
Accumulated Deficit.

Construction and other associated expenditures related to the construction of the Expansion Project prior to its in-service date will be
recorded as additions to the book value of the Project.

It is not the intention of the Government of Canada to be a long-term owner of the Trans Mountain entities.

Other loans, investments and advances, and public sector pension assets increased by $0.1 billion and $0.3 billion, respectively.

Foreign exchange accounts increased by $2.8 billion in 2019, totalling $99.7 billion at March 31, 2019. The increase in foreign exchange
accounts largely reflects a $1.8-billion increase in foreign exchange reserves held in the Exchange Fund Account, due mainly to net
revenues earned on investments in the Fund during the year, and a $1.3-billion decrease in notes payable to the IMF.

Since the accumulated deficit reached its post-World War 11 peak of 66.8% of GDP at March 31, 1996, financial assets have increased by
$320.4 billion, mainly reflecting higher levels of cash and cash equivalents and accounts receivable (up $124.5 billion), an increase in the
foreign exchange accounts (up $80.6 billion), and an increase in loans, investments and advances (up $112.9 billion). The increase in cash
and cash equivalents and accounts receivable is largely attributable to growth in taxes receivable, broadly in line with the growth in the
applicable tax bases. The increase in the foreign exchange accounts reflects a decision by the Government in the late 1990s and more
recently in the 2012 Debt Management Strategy to increase liquidity in these accounts. The increase in loans, investments and advances
is attributable to several factors including the accumulation of net profits from enterprise Crown corporations, the Government taking over
the financing of the Canada Student Loans Program from the chartered banks in 2000, and the issuance of direct loans to Crown
corporations under the Government’s consolidated borrowing framework implemented in 2008.
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Financial assets

(in billions of dollars)
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Cash and accounts receivable amounts for 2010 to 2018 have been restated to reflect the impact of a retroactive change in accounting treatment. Additional information regarding
this restatement can be found in Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements.

Net debt

The Government’s net debt—its total liabilities less financial assets—stood at $772.1 billion at March 31, 2019. Net debt was 34.8% of
GDP, down 0.4 percentage points from a year earlier, and 37.4 percentage points below its peak of 72.2% at March 31, 1996.

This ratio measures debt relative to the ability of the country’s taxpayers to finance it. Total liabilities are reduced only by financial assets
as non-financial assets cannot normally be converted to cash to pay off the debt without disrupting government operations.
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The percentages of GDP from 2015 to 2018 have been restated to reflect the impact of the retroactive change in accounting treatment. Additional information regarding this
restatement can be found in Note 2 of the consolidated financial statements.
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International comparisons of net debt

Jurisdictional responsibility (between central, state and local levels of government) for government programs differs among countries. As
a result, international comparisons of government fiscal positions are undertaken on a total government, National Accounts, basis. For
Canada, total government net debt includes that of the federal, provincial/territorial and local governments, as well as the net assets held
in the Canada Pension Plan and Quebec Pension Plan.

Canada has the lowest total government net debt burden among G7 countries

G7 total government net debt, 2018
(as a percentage of GDP)
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Source: IMF
1 Weighted by nominal GDP converted to U.S. dollars at average market exchange rates.

Canada’s total government net debt-to-GDP ratio stood at 26.8% in 2018, according to the IMF. This is the lowest level among G7
countries, which the IMF estimates will record an average net debt of 86.0% of GDP in that same year.

The following table provides a reconciliation between the Government of Canada’s accumulated deficit-to-GDP ratio and Canada’s total
government net debt-to-GDP ratio. Importantly, Canada’s total government net debt-to-GDP ratio includes the net debt of the federal,
provincial, territorial and local governments, as well as the net assets held by the Canada Pension Plan and Quebec Pension Plan, while
excluding liabilities for public sector pensions and other employee future benefits.

Reconciliation of 2019 accumulated deficit-to-GDP ratio to calendar 2018 total government net debt-to-GDP ratio
(as a percentage of GDP)

(% of GDP)
Accumulated deficit 30.9
Add: Non-financial assets .... 3.9
Net debt (PUDIC ACCOUNTS DASIS) ...ttt bt h et h e b e b e b E b b s £ e bR £ E e b e £ e b e bt £ et e b b e b e s £ b e b e Rt b e bt et et e et e bt abenenas 34.8
Less:
Liabilities for public sector pensions ... (7.6)
Liabilities for other future benefits (5.1)
National accounts/Public Accounts methodological differences and timing adjustments? ... (2.8)
Total federal net debt (National Accounts basis) 19.3
Add: Net debt of provincial/territorial and local governments.... 20.6
Less: Net assets of the CPP/QPP (13.1)
TOtAl GOVEINIMENT NEE AEDT ...ttt b bt b st e bR b e bt £ E b st b e h £ £ e b e h £ b e b e R e e £ e b e A £ b e b e R e b bt £ et e b e b e b e s e b e b e s et eb e e st e b et et ebenaben 26.8

Numbers may not add due to rounding.
Source: Statistics Canada

1 Includes timing differences (National Accounts data are as of December 31), differences in the universe covered by each accounting system, and differences in accounting
treatments of various transactions such as capital gains.
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Non-financial assets

Non-financial assets include the net book value of the Government’s tangible capital assets, which include land, buildings, works and
infrastructure such as roads and bridges, machinery and equipment, ships, aircraft and other vehicles. Non-financial assets also include
inventories and prepaid expenses and other non-financial assets.

Non-financial assets by category for 2019

Other capital assets Prepaid expenses and other
4.2% 1.3%

Assets under
construction
23.3%

Inventories
7.6%

Land
2.4%

Buildings
20.1%
Vehicles
17.1%

Works and infrastructure

10.3%

Machinery and equipment
13.6%

Numbers may not add to 100% due to rounding.

At March 31, 2019, non-financial assets stood at $86.7 billion, up $5.0 billion from a year earlier. Of this growth, $5.1 billion relates to
an increase in tangible capital assets, offset in part by a $0.1-billion decrease in inventories.

At March 31, 2019, 60.5% of the original cost of the Government’s depreciable tangible capital assets had been amortized, a decrease
of 0.2% from a year earlier. Depreciable tangible capital assets exclude land, and assets under construction, which are not yet available
for use.
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Tangible capital asset cost
(in billions of dollars)
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mCost = Net book value

The federal government has entered into a number of public-private partnerships (P3s) to design, build, finance and/or operate and maintain
large infrastructure projects. Assets under construction totalled $20.2 billion at March 31, 2019, some of which are being built using P3s
in which the private sector finances the assets during construction. The Government’s liability for these long-term financing arrangements
is included in obligations under public-private partnerships reported in Note 9 of the consolidated financial statements.
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The Government has a robust policy framework for the management of assets and acquired services. The framework sets the direction for
management of assets to ensure the conduct of activities provides value for money and demonstrates sound stewardship in program
delivery.

Cash flow

The annual surplus or deficit is presented on an accrual basis of accounting, recognizing revenue in the period it is earned and expenses
when incurred, regardless of when the associated cash is received or paid. In contrast, the Government’s net cash flow measures the
difference between cash coming in to the Government and cash going out.

In 2019, the Government had a total cash requirement of $9.1 billion before financing activities, compared to a total cash requirement of
$7.8 billion before financing activities in 2018. Operating activities resulted in a net cash source of $4.1 billion in 2019, compared to a
net cash requirement of $3.8 billion in 2018. Cash used by capital investment activities resulted in a net cash requirement of $9.5 billion
in 2019, compared to a net cash requirement of $9.0 billion in 2018. Cash used by investing activities totalled $3.7 billion in 2019,
compared to a net cash source of $5.0 billion in 2018.

Cash flow
(in millions of dollars)
2019 2018

Cash provided (used) DY OPErating ACHIVITIES .........viiiiiiiiei ettt 4,129 (3,777)
Cash used by capital INVESIMENT ACLIVITIES .......c.eviveuiieiiiiiite ettt e bttt n e (9,545) (8,954)
Cash (used) provided by investing activities . (3,693) 4,978
Total cash used before financing activities.... (9,109) (7,753)
Cash provided by financing activities .............cc....... . 12,102 5,895
Net increase (decrease) in cash and Cash EQUIVAIENLS ...........ccoiuiiiiiiiiiii ettt 2,993 (1,858)
Cash and cash equivalents at BeginMINgG OF YEAI............coiiiiiiiiii s 34,642 36,500
Cash and cash equIVAIENTS @t ENT OF YEAT ..........iiiiiiii bbb 37,635 34,642

Financing activities generated a $12.1-billion source of cash in 2019, resulting in an overall net increase in cash of $3.0 billion. The level
of cash and cash equivalents stood at $37.6 billion at March 31, 2019.
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Contractual obligations and contractual rights

The nature of the Government’s operations results in large multi-year contracts and agreements that will generate expenses, liabilities and
cash outflows in future years. Major contractual obligations of the Government relate to transfer payments, capital assets and purchases,
operating leases, public-private partnership arrangements, and payments to international organizations. As of March 31, 2019, future
payments under contractual obligations totalled $162.5 billion ($137.9 billion as of March 31, 2018).

Similarly, the activities of government can also involve the negotiation of contracts or agreements with third parties that result in the
government having rights to both assets and revenues in the future. These arrangements typically relate to sales of goods and services,
leases of property, and royalties and profit-sharing arrangements. The terms of these contracts and agreements may not always allow for
a reasonable estimate of revenues in the future. For contracts and agreements that do allow for a reasonable estimate, total revenues to be
received in the future under major contractual rights are estimated at $40.4 billion at March 31, 2019 ($54.6 billion as of March 31, 2018).

Further details regarding the Government’s contractual obligations and contractual rights are provided in Section 11, Contractual
obligations, contractual rights and contingent liabilities, of this volume.

Risks and uncertainties

The Government’s financial results are subject to risks and uncertainties inherent in the nature of certain financial statement elements and
government operations, including:

— outcomes from litigation, arbitration and negotiations with third parties, and the resolution of taxes under objection;
— identification and quantification of environmental liabilities;

— ageing tangible capital assets, including information technology infrastructure;

— costs associated with dismantling capital assets at the end of their useful lives;

— credit risk and foreign currency risk associated with the Government’s financial assets, including loans, investments and advances
and foreign exchange accounts;

— demand for public services and changes in other expenses, including pension expense, that reflect actual experience that is
significantly different from forecast;

— delays and unexpected cost increases associated with large-scale investment projects; and,
— unforeseen situations such as natural catastrophes.

The Government’s financial statements incorporate a number of significant estimates and assumptions related to risks and uncertainties
that are used in valuing its assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. One of the most significant areas of measurement uncertainty relates
to public sector pensions and other employee future benefits, for which payments are made many years into the future and are dependent
upon the evolution of factors such as wage increases, workforce composition, retirement rates and mortality rates. In developing its best
estimates and assumptions, the Government takes into consideration historical experience, current facts and circumstances, and expected
future developments. The Government’s financial results are also subject to volatility as a result of year-over-year changes in the discount
rates used to value its pension and benefit obligations. Changes in these discount rates result in unrealized gains and losses that are
amortized to expenses.

Another significant area of measurement uncertainty relates to contingent liabilities. Contingent liabilities represent possible obligations
that may result in future payments when one or more events occur or fail to occur. Examples of contingent liabilities include loan
guarantees; insurance programs, including the Deposit Insurance Fund operated by the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation and the
Mortgage Insurance Fund operated by Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation; callable share capital in international financial
institutions; and claims and pending and threatened litigation. As of March 31, 2019, the Government’s contingent liabilities totalled
roughly $2 trillion. However, the vast majority of this amount represents situations where the probability of a future payment is assessed
as unlikely or not determinable. The Government records a provision for contingent liabilities only in cases where the probability of future
payment is considered likely. As of March 31, 2019, this provision totalled $26.4 billion.

The Government’s assumptions related to risks and uncertainties used in determining its financial results are reassessed at each fiscal year-
end and updated as necessary. Exposure to measurement uncertainty from the use of accounting and other estimates in recording certain
transactions is discussed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. Further details with respect to the measurement of the
Government’s contingent liabilities and environmental liabilities are included in Note 7 and Note 8, respectively, of the consolidated
financial statements of the Government of Canada. Note 18 of the consolidated financial statements provides information on instruments
and strategies used by the Government to manage financial risks associated with its financial assets and liabilities.

As noted in the Budget and related documents, and in the discussion on Economic Developments earlier in this section, the Government’s
revenues and expenses are highly sensitive to changes in economic conditions—particularly to changes in economic growth, inflation and
interest rates.
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To illustrate the impact of changes in economic conditions, the Department of Finance Canada publishes, on a regular basis, sensitivity
impacts on the budgetary balance. These are “rules of thumb” as the actual impact will depend on many other factors as well. As published
in the March 19, 2019 Budget, these show, for example, that:

— A one-year, 1-percentage-point increase/decrease in real GDP growth would raise/lower the budgetary balance by $4.9 billion in
the first year, $4.9 billion in the second year, and $5.1 billion in the fifth year.

— A one-year, 1-percentage-point increase/decrease in GDP inflation would raise/lower the budgetary balance by $2.5 billion in the
first year, $2.0 billion in the second year, and $1.1 billion in the fifth year.

— Asustained 100-basis-point decrease/increase in interest rates would raise/lower the budgetary balance by $0.6 billion in the first
year, $1.4 billion in the second year, and $2.7 billion in the fifth year.

While these generalized rules of thumb provide good estimates of the sensitivity of the budgetary balance to small economic changes, it
is important to note that some of the estimated relationships would change in response to large economic changes.

The Government manages risks to its fiscal projections due to changes in economic conditions by regularly surveying private sector
economists on their views on the outlook for the Canadian economy and by monitoring its financial results on an ongoing basis to assess
potential risks and guide its financial decisions.

The Government also prepares long-term economic and fiscal projections, which provide a broad analysis of its fiscal position, allowing
the Government to respond more effectively to upcoming challenges and protect the long-term sustainability of public finances. The most
recent version of these projections is available on the Department of Finance Canada’s website.

34 | Section 1—Financial statements discussion and analysis



Public Accounts of Canada 2018-2019

Ten-year comparative financial information

The following tables provide a ten-year comparison of financial information based on the accounting policies explained in Note 1 to the
audited consolidated financial statements in Section 2 of this volume.

Table 1.1

Government of Canada

Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit—detailed
(in millions of dollars)

Year ended March 3123

2010 2011 20125 2013* 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Revenues
Tax revenues
Income tax revenues
Personal 105,040 114,661 120,537 125,728 130,811 135,743 144,897 143,680 153,619 163,881
Corporate 32,247 31,953 33,641 34,986 36,587 39,447 41,444 42,216 47,805 50,368
Non-resident 5,293 5,137 5,300 5,073 6,404 6,216 6,505 7,071 7,845 9,370

142,580 151,751 159,478 165,787 173,802 181,406 192,846 192,967 209,269 223,619
Other taxes and duties

G00ds and SErvices taX...........c.oeucvruriurierienanes 26,947 28,379 28,370 28,821 30,998 31,349 32,952 34,368 36,751 38,221
Energy taxes 5178 5,342 5,328 5,381 5,486 5,528 5,565 5,634 5,739 5,802
Customs import duties 3,490 3,520 3,862 3,979 4,239 4,581 5,372 5,478 5416 6,881
Other excise taxes and duties .. 4,958 5,662 5,546 5,370 5,413 5,724 5,916 5,868 5,913 6,323
40,573 42,903 43,106 43,551 46,136 47,182 49,805 51,348 53,819 57,227
Total tax revenues 183,153 194,654 202,584 209,338 219,938 228,588 242,651 244,315 263,088 280,846
Employment insurance premiums ............cococeveveeeeenenns 16,761 17,501 18,556 20,395 21,766 22,564 23,070 22,125 21,140 22,295
Other revenues
Enterprise Crown corporations and
other government business enterprises............... 4,552 9,590 7,983 7,543 7,966 9,306 7,916 5,655 7,731 7,101
Other 14,498 15,701 15,890 15,632 18,660 18,092 16,649 16,640 17,784 20,309
Net foreign exchange 1,647 1,809 1,669 1,502 1,682 1,355 2,322 2,133 1,473 1,667
Total other revenues 20,697 27,100 25,542 24,677 28,308 28,753 26,887 24,428 26,988 29,077
Total reVENUES .........cccocucuiiniiciriniisisiei 220,611 239,255 246,682 254,410 270,012 279,905 292,608 290,868 311,216 332,218
Expenses
Program expenses
Transfer payments
Old age security benefits, guaranteed income
supplement and spouse's allowance ............. 34,653 35,629 38,045 40,255 41,786 44,103 45,461 48,162 50,644 53,366
Major transfer payments to other levels
of government
Canada health transfer ...............cccccccoeuncnne. 24,820 26,031 27,174 28,912 30,543 32,114 34,025 36,057 37,124 38,568
Canada social transfer. 10,858 11,179 11,514 11,860 12,215 12,582 12,959 13,348 13,748 14,161
Fiscal arrangements... 13,490 13,826 15,259 15,595 15,610 16,271 16,893 17,145 17,575 17,929
Other major transfers. 7,772 1,751 2,847 2,003 2,107 2,142 1,973 2,102 2,072 5,267
56,940 52,787 56,794 58,370 60,475 63,109 65,850 68,652 70,519 75,925
Employment insurance.. 21,586 19,850 17,647 17,099 17,300 18,052 19,419 20,711 19,715 18,888
Children's benefits ... 12,340 12,656 12,726 12,975 13,136 14,303 18,025 22,065 23,432 23,882
Fuel charge proceeds returned. - - - - - - - - - 664
Other transfer payments . 45,949 43,155 37,720 34,862 36,698 35,126 34,874 41,580 47,138 51,753
Total transfer payments.............cccocevvviniecicniinienns 171,468 164,077 162,932 163,561 169,395 174,693 183,629 201,170 211,448 224,478
Other expenses 78,949 81,521 82,745 86,609 83,938 81,555 90,003 87,423 96,840 98,438
Total program expenses....................... 250,417 245,598 245,677 250,170 253,333 256,248 273,632 288,593 308,288 322,916
Public debt charge: 26,562 28,610 29,038 25,533 24,729 24,207 21,837 21,232 21,889 23,266
Total expense: 276,979 274,208 274,715 275,703 278,062 280,455 295,469 309,825 330,177 346,182
Annual deficit (56,368) (34,953) (28,033) (21,293) (8,050) (550) (2,861) (18,957) (18,961) (13,964)
Accumulated deficit at
beginning of year—as previously reported.................. (463,710)  (519,097)  (551,668)  (591,040)  (609,391)  (611,881)  (612,330)  (615,986)  (631,899)  (671,254)
Accounting change and
restatement—Public sector pensions .............c.cccceeene (4,236) (5,006) (6,587) (8,341) (11,219) (14,119) (16,580) (18,454) (19,641) -
International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) transition adjustment. . - - (3,337) - - - - - - -
Other comprehensive (loss) income .. 211 2,142 (2,292) 64 2,660 (2,360) (2,669) 1,857 (753) (232)
Accumulated deficit at end of year...........cc.ccoevvvininnne. (524,103)  (556,914)  (591,917)  (620,610)  (626,000)  (628,910)  (634,440)  (651,540)  (671,254)  (685,450)

The figures up to 2018 have been restated to reflect the change in revenue recognition criteria for consolidated Crown corporations. Other than the 2018 restated figures, the
restatements in the prior years have not been audited.

Certain other comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

The figures up to 2017 have been restated in the fiscal year 2018 to reflect the impact of the change in methodology for the determination of the discount rate for unfunded
pension benefits. Other than the 2017 restated figures, the restatements in the prior years have not been audited.

4 The 2013 accumulated deficit at beginning of year has been adjusted to include the restatement amount of $5,669 million and $1,795 million for the buy-back of bonds and
the loans expected to be repaid from future appropriations done in the course of the fiscal year 2014.

The 2012 accumulated deficit at beginning of year has been adjusted to include the restatement amount of $1,341 million for accumulated sick leave entitlements that was
done in the course of the fiscal year 2013.
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Table 1.2

Government of Canada
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position—detailed

(in millions of dollars)

As at March 31%2

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Amounts payable related to tax 48,251 48,648 50,952 54,877 52,600 56,198 53,697 55,077 61,876 65,200
Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 39,881 37,677 41,358 30,369 26,170 26,986 29,979 29,034 37,692 42,674

Provision for contingent liabilities
Environmental liabilities and asset retirement

13,214 12,900 12,804 12,262 11,135 11,757 12,562 16,511 23,030 26,447

obligations 6,602 7,745 8,362 10,600 11,143 12,296 13,282 12,599 12,291 13,192
Deferred revenue 5,294 4,788 4,164 3,570 4,147 8,161 9,684 9,066 8,220 7,500
Interest and matured debt .............cccooociiiiiiiicinns 6,853 6,733 6,379 5,955 5,585 5,240 4,922 4,663 4,690 4,694

Total accounts payable
and accrued liabilities..................... 120,095 118,491 124,019 117,633 110,780 120,638 124,126 126,950 147,799 159,707

Interest-bearing debt
Unmatured debt
Payable in Canadian currency

Marketable bonds............cccocoeiiniiniicininnns 367,962 416,080 448,140 469,039 473,319 487,881 504,068 536,280 574,968 569,526
Treasury bills 175,849 162,980 163,221 180,689 152,990 135,692 138,100 136,700 110,700 134,300
Retail debt 11,855 10,141 8,922 7,481 6,327 5,660 5,076 4,533 2,586 1,237
Bonds for Canada Pension Plan.................... 452 27 11 - - - - - - -
556,118 589,228 620,294 657,209 632,636 629,233 647,244 677,513 688,254 705,063
Payable in foreign currencies .. 8,243 7,628 10,715 10,802 16,030 20,267 22,482 17,609 16,049 16,011
Cross-currency swap revaluation. (4,233) (5,091) (4,448) (3,419) 2,326 6,669 8,391 7,764 7,835 7,274
Unamortized discounts and premiums on
market debt. (5,092) (4,485) (4,295) 3,231 3,184 4,296 5,047 5,322 3,467 2,163
Obligation related to capital leases.............c.c...... 4,090 3,685 3,633 3,647 3,603 3,710 3,477 3,226 3,203 2,893
Obligation under public-private partnership . - 190 453 917 1,179 1,005 1,570 2,199 2,393 3,511

Total unmatured debt
Pensions and other future benefits

559,126 591,155 626,352 672,387 658,958 665,180 688,211 713,633 721,201 736,915

Public sector pensions................cccocvcevniriicinnnns 147,849 152,722 157,252 162,886 167,281 169,244 170,681 171,447 170,914 168,782
Other employee and veteran future benefits ........ 54,227 58,206 61,915 67,301 71,959 76,140 85,681 93,568 104,793 113,862

Total pensions and other future
benefits 202,076 210,928 219,167 230,187 239,240 245,384 256,362 265,015 275,707 282,644
Canada Pension Plan Account 175 23 138 68 140 212 35 106 32 163
Other liabilities 6,412 6,292 6,795 5,978 5774 5,790 5,567 5,583 5,638 5,742
Total interest-bearing debt .................... 767,789 808,398 852,452 908,620 904,112 916,566 950,175 984,337 1,002,578 1,025,464
Total liabilities ..........ccccevviiiiiiiiics 887,884 926,889 976,471 1,026,253 1,014,892 1,037,204 1,074,301 1,111,287 1,150,377 1,185,171

Financial assets
Cash and accounts receivable

Cash and cash equivalents..............c.ccccocviviciininnnnns 28,450 14,323 17,143 27,341 31,429 34,999 38,570 36,500 34,642 37,635
Taxes receivable 69,063 78,626 86,006 92,115 92,489 98,499 105,848 110,514 123,035 127,561
Other accounts receivable.... 3,262 3,389 3,529 3,587 3,706 3,031 10,139 10,316 14,380 11,845

Total cash and accounts receivable

Foreign exchange accounts
International reserves held in the Exchange Fund

100,775 96,338 106,678 123,043 127,624 136,529 154,557 157,330 172,057 177,041

Account 53,701 54,041 62,141 63,381 77,365 91,961 101,379 106,668 105,430 107,200
International Monetary Fund—Subscriptions ............ 9,823 9,792 9,842 9,694 10,883 11,129 20,170 19,892 20,647 20,449
International Monetary Fund—Loans...........cccccccoun. 337 1,139 1,325 1,457 1,665 1,353 1,278 1,125 775 546

Less: International Monetary Fund—Notes payable

and special drawing rights allocations 16,911 16,465 16,311 15,773 17,651 19,425 29,288 28,888 29,914 28,507

Total foreign exchange accounts.... 46,950 48,507 56,997 58,759 72,262 85,018 93,539 98,797 96,938 99,688
Loans, investments and advances
Enterprise Crown corporations and other
government business enterprises ..............coeoeoeens 129,523 135,673 130,662 131,785 94,815 89,375 91,116 99,427 100,775 108,169
Other loans, investments and advances..................... 23,158 22,876 22,258 23,134 22,820 24,306 24,841 24,579 25,596 25,743
Total loans, investments and advances.. 152,681 158,549 152,920 154,919 117,635 113,681 115,957 124,006 126,371 133,912
Public sector pension assets.. - - - - 938 1,263 1,639 1,900 2,124 2,406
Total financial assets ... 300,406 303,394 316,595 336,721 318,459 336,491 365,692 382,033 397,490 413,047
Net Debt (587,478)  (623,495)  (659,876)  (689,532)  (696,433)  (700,713)  (708,609)  (729,254)  (752,887)  (772,124)
Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets 55,054 57,668 59,047 60,241 61,942 63,347 65,838 69,676 73,835 78,942
Inventorie 6,192 6,830 6,996 7,453 7,316 7,250 7,221 6,842 6,679 6,601
Prepaid expenses and other 2,129 2,083 1,916 1,228 1,175 1,206 1,110 1,196 1,119 1,131
Total non-financial assets 63,375 66,581 67,959 68,922 70,433 71,803 74,169 77,714 81,633 86,674
Accumulated deficit (524,103)  (556,914)  (591,917) (620,610)  (626,000)  (628,910)  (634,440)  (651,540)  (671,254)  (685,450)

1 The figures up to 2018 have been restated to reflect the change in revenue recognition criteria for consolidated Crown corporations. Other than the 2018 restated figures, the
restatements in the prior years have not been audited.

2 The figures up to 2017 have been restated in the fiscal year 2018 to reflect the impact of the change in methodology for the determination of the discount rate for unfunded
pension benefits. Other than the 2017 restated figures, the restatements in the prior years have not been audited.
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Table 1.3

Government of Canada
Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Debt—detailed
(in millions of dollars)

Year ended March 31%2
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Net debt at beginning of year—as

previously reported (525,213) (582,472) (616,908) (650,135) (671,363) (682,314) (686,959) (693,751) (714,457) (752,887)
Accounting changes and restatement
Accumulated sick leave entitlements .............ccccovvricnniiennnns - - (1,341) (1,400) - - - - - -
Unamortized premiums and discounts on the
buy-back of bonds - - - (5,669) (5,387) - - - - -

Loans expected to be repaid

from future appropriation: - - - (1,795) (1,563) - - - - -
Public sector pension: (4,236) (5,006) (6,587) (8,341)  (11,219)  (14,119) (16,580)  (18,454)  (19,641) -
Change in revenue recognition criteria.. - - - - - - 2,826 3,596 4,844 -

Net debt at beginning of year—as restated ...............occcccoorrecocone (529,449) (587,478) (624,836) (667,340) (689,532) (696,433) (700,713) (708,609) (729,254) (752,887)

International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) transition adjustment .............ccccovcvricernnae - - (3,337) - - - - - - -

Change in net debt during the year

Annual deficit (56,368)  (34,953)  (28,033)  (21,293)  (8,050) (550)  (2.861) (18957)  (18,961)  (13,964)

Change due to tangible capital assets

Acquisition of tangible capital assets.. (7,136)  (8061)  (6976)  (7.175)  (7.129)  (7.204)  (8015)  (8,547)  (9,793)  (11,134)

Amortization of tangible capital assets ... 4,418 4,756 4,859 5,184 4,865 5,090 5,049 5,168 5,261 5,643
Proceeds from disposal of tangible capital assets.. 297 447 664 407 875 954 632 421 266 465

Net loss (gain) on disposal of tangible
capital assets, including adjustments ..............cocvvvveicinns 693 244 74 390 (312) (245) (157) (880) 107 (81)

Total change due to tangible
capital assets (1,728) (2,614) (1,379) (1,194) (1,701) (1,405) (2,491) (3,838) (4,159) (5,107)
Change due to inventorie 156 (638) (166) (457) 137 66 29 379 163 78
Change due to prepaid expense: (300) 46 167 688 53 (31) 96 (86) 7 (12)
Net increase in net debt

due to operations (58,240)  (38,159)  (29,411)  (22,256) (9,561) (1,920) (5,227)  (22,502)  (22,880)  (19,005)
Other comprehensive (loss) income 211 2,142 (2,292) 64 2,660 (2,360) (2,669) 1,857 (753) (232)
Net increase in net debt (58,029)  (36,017)  (31,703)  (22,192) (6,901) (4,280) (7,896)  (20,645)  (23,633)  (19,237)
Net debt at end of year (587,478)  (623,495) (659,876) (689,532) (696,433) (700,713) (708,609) (729,254) (752,887) (772,124)

1 The figures up to 2018 have been restated to reflect the change in revenue recognition criteria for consolidated Crown corporations. Other than the 2018 restated figures, the
restatements in the prior years have not been audited.

2 The figures up to 2017 have been restated in the fiscal year 2018 to reflect the impact of the change in methodology for the determination of the discount rate for unfunded
pension benefits. Other than the 2017 restated figures, the restatements in the prior years have not been audited.
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Table 1.4

Government of Canada
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow—detailed

(in millions of dollars)

Year ended March 3123
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Operating activities
Annual deficit (56,368)  (34,953)  (28,033)  (21,293) (8,050) (550) (2,861)  (18,957)  (18,961)  (13,964)
Non-cash items
Share of annual profit in enterprise Crown
corporations and other government
business enterprises (2,306) (6,992) (5,350) (4,995) (5,945) (8,365) (7,316) (4,920) (6,959) (5,920)
Amortization of tangible capital assets.............cc.couveerae 4,418 4,756 4,859 5,184 4,865 5,090 5,049 5,168 5,261 5,643
Net loss (gain) on disposal of tangible capital

assets, including adjustments... 693 244 74 390 (312) (245) (157) (880) 107 (81)
Cross-currency swap revaluation ... (7,923) (858) 643 1,029 5,745 4,343 1,722 (627) 71 (561)
Pensions and other future benefit and
interest expense: 22,339 23,131 22,668 25,737 24,549 21,817 26,491 25,884 29,588 25,662
Change in taxes receivable 2,848 (9,563) (7,380) (6,109) (374) (6,010) (7,349) (4,666)  (12,521) (4,526)
Change in pensions and other future benefits..............c.cccceo.. (14,719)  (14,279)  (15,770) (14,717)  (16,434)  (15,998)  (15,889) (17,492)  (19,120)  (19,007)
Change in foreign exchange accounts 4,759 (1,557) (8,490) (1,762)  (13,503)  (12,756) (8,521) (5,258) 1,859 (2,750)
Change in accounts payable and accrued liabilities. 6,096 (1,604) 5,528 (6,386) (6,853) 9,858 3,488 2,824 20,849 11,908
Change in cash collateral pledged to counterparties... .. - - - - - - (6,557) (349) (1,841) 1,622
Net change in other account: 2,711 10 2,259 1,302 1,792 2,713 768 1,464 (2,110) 6,103
Cash used by operating
activities (37,452)  (41,665)  (28,992)  (21,620)  (14,520) (103)  (11,132)  (17,809) (3,777) 4,129

Capital investment activities

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (7,136) (8,061) (6,976) (7,175) (7,129) (6,804) (7,379) (7,834) (9,220)  (10,010)

Proceeds from disposal of tangible capital assets 297 447 664 407 875 954 632 421 266 465
Cash used by capital investment
activities (6,839) (7,614) (6,312) (6,768) (6,254) (5,850) (6,747) (7,413) (8,954) (9,545)

Investing activities
Enterprise Crown corporations and other government
business enterprises
Equity transactions (3,226) 2,818 2,684 1,445 5,165 3514 4,975 2,195 7,993 6,302
Issuance of loans and advances .. (119,755)  (76,579)  (63,389)  (65,183)  (70,328)  (79,905)  (54,542)  (52,213)  (42,756)  (48,889)
Repayment of loans and advances . 99,921 76,677 65,286 66,156 110,259 88,168 52,699 48,703 39,884 41,086
Issuance of other loans, investments and advances. (21,174) (5,858) (7,679) (5,533) (5,525) (8,124) (7,749) (6,104) (7,500) (7,546)

Repayment of other loans, investments and advances 16,620 5,814 6,858 4,221 4,418 5,503 6,145 5,510 7,357 5,354
Cash provided (used) by investing
activities (27,614) 2,872 3,760 1,106 43,989 9,156 1,528 (1,909) 4,978 (3,693)

Total cash (used) generated before
financing activities (71,905)  (46,407)  (31,544)  (27,282) 23,215 3,203 (16,351)  (27,131) (7,753) (9,109)
Financing activities
Issuance of Canadian currency borrowings .
Repayment of Canadian currency borrowings.
Issuance of foreign currency borrowings..
Repayment of foreign currency borrowings

554,892 553,464 567,707 579456 512,009 468,021 452,850 507,483 441,307 437,135
(499,383) (520,569) (536,430) (542,063) (536,364) (471,891) (435,143) (477,549) (433,801) (424,926)
22,212 8195 12,743 7782 12011 16961 26,817 21,702 15847 19,631
(24351)  (8,810)  (9.656)  (7,695)  (6,783) (12,724)  (24,602) (26575)  (17,458)  (19,738)

Cash provided (used) by financing

activities 53,370 32,280 34,364 37,480 (19,127) 367 19,922 25,061 5,895 12,102
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents...................... (18,535) (14,127) 2,820 10,198 4,088 3,570 3,571 (2,070) (1,858) 2,993
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year .............ccccccoecvunne. 46,985 28,450 14,323 17,143 27,341 31,429 34,999 38,570 36,500 34,642
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year............ccccoovvrrnivccnns 28,450 14,323 17,143 27,341 31,429 34,999 38,570 36,500 34,642 37,635

1 The figures up to 2018 have been restated to reflect the change in revenue recognition criteria for consolidated Crown corporations. Other than the 2018 restated figures, the
restatements in the prior years have not been audited.

2 The figures up to 2017 have been restated in the fiscal year 2018 to reflect the impact of the change in methodology for the determination of the discount rate for unfunded
pension benefits. Other than the 2017 restated figures, the restatements in the prior years have not been audited.

8 Certain other comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.
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Table 1.5

Government of Canada
Consolidated Statement of Non-Budgetary Transactions and of Non-Financial Assets—detailed

(in millions of dollars)

Year ended March 31*2
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Loans, investments and advances
Enterprise Crown corporations and other government
business enterprises
Loans and advances

Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation. (10,399) 2,693 2,974 3,472 41,951 10,465 177 720 1,124 592
Business Development Bank of Canada.... . (4,961) (978) 662 (653) (1,106) (1,356) (1,266) (1,869) (1,659) (1,765)
Farm Credit Canada (4,481) (1,627) (1,768) (1,848) (855) (662) (747) (2,246) (2,324) (1,854)
Canadian Development Investment Corporation............... - - - - - - - - - (4,790)
Other 7 10 29 2 (59) (185) @) (115) (13) 14
(19,834) 98 1,897 973 39,931 8,262 (1,843) (3,510) (2,872) (7,803)
Investments
Share of annual profit (2,306) (6,992) (5,350) (4,995) (5,945) (8,365) (7,316) (4,920) (6,959) (5,920)
Other comprehensive 10ss (iNCOME) ...........ccccucruriunirinenns (211) (2,142) 2,292 (64) (2,660) 2,360 2,669 (1,857) 753 232
Dividends 1,391 2,818 2,028 1,445 5,215 2,341 4,002 2,320 8,058 6,427
Capital (4,617) - 656 - (50) 1,030 973 (125) (65) (125)
Transition adjustment and Other .............ccoovvrrvivncens - - 3,337 - - 143 - - - -
(5,743) (6,316) 2,963 (3,614) (3,440) (2,491) 328 (4,582) 1,787 614
Total (25,577) (6,218) 4,860 (2,641) 36,491 5771 (1,515) (8,092) (1,085) (7,189)
Less:
Loans expected to be repaid from future
appropriations (103) (64) (119) (1,519) (480) 353 221 218 264 204
Unamortized discounts and premiums.............cccovveernnae - (4) (32) - 1 (22) 5 1 1) 1
Total (25,474) (6,150) 5,011 (1,122) 36,970 5,440 (1,741) (8,311) (1,348) (7,394)
Other loans, investments and advances
Portfolio investments 2 - 12 5 - 10 5 - 5 -
National governments, including developing
countries 235 69 40 18 (@] (606) 22 (49) 78 55
International organizations (454) (826) (704) (885) (900) (1,039) 972) (703) (888) (989)
Provincial and territorial governments..............ccoeevevevneenenns 590 257 (849) 803 849 765 693 126 (98) (16)
Other loans, investments and advances..............ccccoevrieeinnae (4,926) 456 680 (1,254) (1,049) (1,751) (1,352) 32 760 (1,242)
Total (4,553) (44) (821) (1,313) (1,107) (2,621) (1,604) (594) (143) (2,192)
Less: allowance for valuation (2,440) (326) (1,439) (436) (1,421) (1,135) (1,069) (856) 874 (2,045)
Total (2,113) 282 618 (877) 314 (1,486) (535) 262 (1,017) (147)
Total loans, investments and advances................... (27,587) (5,868) 5,629 (1,999) 37,284 3,954 (2,276) (8,049) (2,365) (7,541)
Pensions and other future benefits
Public sector pension 3,704 4,873 4,530 5,635 3,457 1,638 1,061 505 (757) (2,414)
Other employee and veteran future benefits............cccoveevicnnne 3,916 3,979 3,707 5,386 4,658 4,181 9,541 7,887 11,225 9,069
Total pensions and other future
benefits 7,620 8,852 8,237 11,021 8,115 5,819 10,602 8,392 10,468 6,655
Other liabilities
Canada Pension Plan Account 85 (152) 115 (70) 72 72 177) 71 (74) 131
Other liabilities 579 (120) 503 (817) (204) 16 (223) 16 55 104
Total other liabilities 664 (272) 618 (887) (132) 88 (400) 87 (19) 235
Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (1,728) (2,614) (1,379) (1,194) (1,701) (1,405) (2,491) (3,838) (4,159) (5,107)
Inventorie! 156 (638) (166) (458) 137 66 29 379 163 78
Prepaid expenses and other (300) 46 167 688 53 (31) 96 (86) 77 (12)
Total non-financial assets (1,872) (3,206) (1,378) (964) (1,511) (1,370) (2,366) (3,545) (3,919) (5,041)
Other transactions
Taxes receivable 2,848 (9,563) (7,380) (6,109) (374) (6,010) (7,349) (4,666)  (12,521) (4,526)
Other accounts receivable (11) (127) (140) (58) (119) 675 (7,108) 77 (4,064) 2,535
Provincial, Territorial and Aboriginal
Tax Agreements Account 1,438 241 2,688 (7,130) (1,584) 951 2,780 (1,942) 5,034 (351)
Amounts payable related to tax (2,594) 397 2,304 3,925 (2,277) 3,598 (2,501) 1,380 6,799 3,324
Other liabilities 7,252 (2,242) 536 (3,181) (2,992) 5,309 3,208 3,386 9,016 8,936
Total other transactions..............cccocoovveieiicniiienne 8,933 (11,294) (1,992)  (12,553) (7,346) 4,523 (10,970) (2,019) 4,264 9,918
Total non-budgetary transactions and
non-financial assets (12,242)  (11,788) 11,114 (5,382) 36,410 13,014 (5,410) (5,134) 8,429 4,226

1 The figures up to 2018 have been restated to reflect the change in revenue recognition criteria for consolidated Crown corporations. Other than the 2018 restated figures, the
restatements in the prior years have not been audited.

2 The figures up to 2017 have been restated in the fiscal year 2018 to reflect the impact of the change in methodology for the determination of the discount rate for unfunded
pension benefits. Other than the 2017 restated figures, the restatements in the prior years have not been audited.
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Table 1.6
Government of Canada

Consolidated Statement of Foreign Exchange, Unmatured Debt and Cash Transactions—detailed

(in millions of dollars)

Year ended March 31

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
Foreign exchange accounts
International reserves held in the Exchange Fund
Account (2,507) (340) (8,100) (1,240)  (13,984)  (14,596) (9,418) (5,289) 1,238 (1,770)
International Monetary Fund—Subscriptions.............c.ccoveenninne 2,188 31 (50) 148 (1,189) (246) (9,041) 278 (755) 198
International Monetary FUNd—Lo0ans ...........ccccevereiininininnnns (337) (802) (186) (132) (208) 312 75 153 350 229
(656) (1,111) (8,336) (1,224)  (15,381)  (14,530)  (18,384) (4,858) 833 (1,343)
Less: International Monetary Fund
Special drawing rights allocations ..............c.cccocernininicnnce (7,766) 30 (48) 139 (1,118) (231) (493) 150 (409) 107
Notes payable 2,351 416 202 398 (760) (1,543) (9,370) 250 (617) 1,300
(5,415) 446 154 537 (1,878) (1,774) (9,863) 400 (1,026) 1,407
Total foreign exchange accounts...........c..ccccccucruenae 4,759 (1,557) (8,490) (1,761)  (13,503)  (12,756) (8,521) (5,258) 1,859 (2,750)
Unmatured debt
Payable in Canadian currency
Marketable bonds 72,776 48,118 32,060 20,899 4,280 14,562 16,187 32,212 38,688 (5,442)
Treasury bills (16,426)  (12,869) 241 17,468 (27,699)  (17,298) 2,408 (1,400)  (26,000) 23,600
Retail debt (677) (1,714) (1,219) (1,441) (1,154) (667) (584) (543) (1,947) (1,349)
Bonds for Canada Pension Plan (71) (425) (16) (11) - - - - - -
55,602 33,110 31,066 36,915 (24,573) (3,403) 18,011 30,269 10,741 16,809
Payable in foreign currencies (2,138) (615) 3,087 87 5,228 4,237 2,215 (4,873) (1,560) (38)
Cross-currency swap revaluation (7,923) (858) 643 1,029 5,745 4,343 1,722 (627) 71 (561)
Unamortized discounts and premiums on
market debt (341) 607 190 7,526 (47) 1,112 751 275 (1,855) (1,304)
Obligation related to capital leases (94) (405) (52) 13 (44) 107 (233) (251) (23) (310)
Obligation under public-private partnership............ccccovecvierenene - 190 263 464 262 (174) 565 629 194 1,118
Total unmatured debt ............cccoiininiciccininiis 45,106 32,029 35,197 46,034 (13,429) 6,222 23,031 25,422 7,568 15,714
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
In Canadian currency 28,124 13,902 16,493 27,130 31,415 34,716 36,022 35,353 34,110 36,840
In foreign currencies 326 421 650 211 14 283 2,548 1,147 532 795
Total cash and cash equivalents...............ccccoceuene 28,450 14,323 17,143 27,341 31,429 34,999 38,570 36,500 34,642 37,635
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Glossary of terms

The following terms are used in this section and throughout the consolidated financial statements in Section 2 of this volume. The
definitions are taken from the following primary sources:

—  TERMIUM at www.btb.termiumplus.gc.ca

— The CPA Canada Public Sector Accounting Handbook
— Glossary of frequently-used terms, Finance Canada

Accounts of Canada
The centralized record of the financial transactions of the Government of Canada, maintained by the Receiver General. The accounts
of Canada summarize revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities transactions.

Accrued benefit obligation
The value of future benefits attributed to services rendered by employees and former employees to the accounting date.

Accumulated deficit
The accumulated net total of all past federal deficits and surpluses since Confederation plus accumulated other comprehensive income.
The accumulated deficit is also equal to total liabilities less total assets — both financial and non-financial.

Actuarial valuation for accounting purposes
An assessment of the financial status of a benefit plan. It consists of the valuation of assets held to discharge the benefit liability and
calculation of the actuarial present value of benefits to be paid under the plan. The valuation measures the obligations and attributes
the costs of the benefits to the period; it also determines any gains or losses since the last valuation.

Allowance
Estimated potential losses on the realization of government financial claims or estimated financial obligations that would not otherwise
be recorded in the financial statements.

Appropriation
Any authority of Parliament to pay money out of the Consolidated Revenue Fund.

Canada Account
Pursuant to Section 23 of the Export Development Act, the Minister for International Trade, with the concurrence of the Minister of
Finance, may authorize Export Development Canada (EDC) to enter into certain transactions or class of transactions where the
Minister is of the opinion it is in the national interest and where EDC has advised the Minister that it will not enter into such transactions
without such authorization. Funding for such transactions is provided by the Minister of Finance out of the Consolidated Revenue
Fund and the transactions are administered by EDC on behalf of the Government of Canada. Collectively these transactions are known
as the Canada Account.

Capital lease
A lease that, from the point of view of the lessee, transfers substantially all the benefits and risks incident to ownership of property to
the lessee.

Consolidated Revenue Fund
The aggregate of all public moneys that are on deposit at the credit of the Receiver General for Canada.

Consumer Price Index (CPI)
A measure of price changes produced by Statistics Canada on a monthly basis. The CPI measures the retail prices of a “shopping
basket” of about 300 goods and services including food, housing, transportation, clothing and recreation. The index is “weighted”,
meaning that it gives greater importance to price changes for some products than others — more to housing, for example, than to
entertainment — in an effort to reflect typical spending patterns. Increases in the CPI are also referred to as increases in the cost of living.

Contingent liability
A potential debt which may become an actual financial obligation if certain events occur or fail to occur.

Contractual obligation
A written obligation to outside organizations or individuals as a result of a contract.

Deficit
The amount by which government expenses exceed revenue in any given year.

Defined benefit pension plan
A plan that specifies either the benefits to be received by employees after retirement or the method for determining those benefits.
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Enterprise Crown corporation
A corporation which is not dependent on parliamentary appropriations and whose principal activity and source of revenues are the
sale of goods or services to outside parties. An enterprise Crown corporation is ultimately accountable to Parliament, through a minister
of the Crown, for the conduct of its affairs.

Financial assets
An asset on hand at the end of the accounting period, which could provide resources to discharge existing liabilities or finance future
operations. Financial assets include cash and assets that are convertible into cash and are not intended for consumption in the normal
course of activities.

Full accrual accounting
The method of recording transactions by which revenues and expenses are reflected in the determination of results for the period in
which they are considered to have been earned and incurred, respectively, whether or not such transactions have been settled finally
by the receipt or payment of cash or its equivalent.

G7 (Group of Seven)
The G7 consists of the world’s seven largest industrial market economies: the United States, Japan, Germany, France, Great Britain,
Italy and Canada. The leaders of these countries meet annually to discuss political and economic issues of mutual concern. In addition,
G7 finance ministers meet several times a year to discuss economic policy. Their work is supported by regular, functional meetings
of officials, including the G7 Finance Depulties.

Gross domestic product (GDP)
The total value of all goods and services produced within Canada during a given year. It is a measure of the income generated by
production within Canada. Also referred to as annual economic output or, more simply, output. To avoid counting the same output
more than once, GDP includes only final goods and services — not those that are used to make another product. GDP would not include
the wheat used to make bread, but would include the bread itself. Real GDP values reflect adjustments for the impact of inflation,
while nominal GDP values do not.

National Accounts
Refers to Canada’s National Economic Accounts (NEA), a set of accounts (or economic statistical statements), compiled by Statistics
Canada, providing an aggregated portrait of economic activity during a given period. NEA are compiled using the “System of National
Accounts 2008” (SNA2008) as the organizing framework. The SNA2008 provides the internationally recommended concepts,
classifications and methods to measure wealth, production, income, saving, investment and financial transactions. The use of the
SNA2008 ensures that the Canadian National Economic Accounts are comparable with those of other countries.

Net book value of tangible capital assets
The cost of tangible capital assets less both accumulated amortization and the amount of any write-downs.

Net debt
The total liabilities of the government less its financial assets.

Non-financial assets
An asset on hand at the end of the accounting period, which could not normally be converted to cash to pay off the debt, without
disrupting government operations.

Operating lease
A lease in which the lessor retains substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership.

Other comprehensive income
Other comprehensive income holds any unrealized gains and losses resulting from the change in market value on assets that are
classified as available-for-sale, derivative instruments used in hedging activities or actuarial gains and losses on pensions and other
employee future benefits.

Public money
All money belonging to Canada received or collected by the Receiver General or any other public officer in his official capacity or
any person authorized to receive or collect such money.

Real return bonds
These Government of Canada bonds pay semi-annual interest based upon a real interest rate. Unlike standard fixed-coupon marketable
bonds, interest payments on real return bonds are adjusted for changes in the Consumer Price Index.

Retail debt
Canada Savings Bonds and Canada Premium Bonds.

Surplus
The amount by which government revenue exceeds expenses in any given year.
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Swap
An agreement that exchanges one type of return or financial instrument for another (e.g. a fixed for a floating rate of interest).

Tangible capital asset
A non-financial asset having physical substance that: (a) is held for use in the production or supply of goods and services; (b) has a
useful economic life extending beyond an accounting period; and (c) has been acquired to be used on a continuing basis.

Transfer payments
A transfer of money from a government to an individual, an organization or another government for which the government making
the transfer does not: (a) receive any goods or services directly in return as would occur in a purchase/sales transaction; (b) expect to
be repaid in the future, as would be expected in a loan; or (c) expect a financial return, as would be expected in an investment.
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Public Accounts of Canada 2018-2019

Preface to the consolidated financial statements of the Government of Canada

The fundamental purpose of these consolidated financial statements is to provide information to Parliament, and thus to the public, to
facilitate an understanding and evaluation of the full nature and extent of the financial affairs and resources for which the Government is
responsible. These consolidated financial statements reflect the financial position of the Government at the reporting date, as well as its
results of operations, accumulated deficit, change in net debt and cash flow for the year then ended.

The two fundamental concepts underlying the Government’s accounting system are found in the Constitution Acts: first, that all duties
and revenues received, other than those reserved to the provinces, “shall form One Consolidated Revenue Fund” (CRF); second, that the
balance of the CRF, after certain prior charges, “shall be appropriated by the Parliament of Canada”.

The right of Canada to raise taxes and revenues is contained in the Constitution Acts, and is given specific form in various Acts passed by
Parliament. Revenues can be raised and moneys can be spent or borrowed by the Government only with the authority of Parliament. All
receipts of money by departments and agencies must be deposited into the CRF. All disbursements from the CRF for spending on
operations, for loans, investments and advances, and for the redemption of matured debt, must be authorized by Parliament, through annual
appropriation acts and other statutes.

Wholly-owned Crown corporations that are agents of Her Majesty may only borrow as authorized by Acts of Parliament. Such Acts usually
place a ceiling on the amount of borrowings that can be outstanding at any one time. Non-agent Crown corporations and other government
business enterprises can borrow without specific parliamentary authority, although such borrowings are sometimes guaranteed by the
Government with the authority of Parliament.

The consolidated financial statements of the Government of Canada consist of four statements and accompanying notes.

The first is the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit, which presents the Government’s revenues, expenses,
deficit or surplus, and other comprehensive loss or income for the year, and the net accumulation of the annual surpluses and deficits
since Confederation.

The second is the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, which discloses the Government’s cash balance and investments,
amounts owing to and by the Government at the end of the year, and the Government’s non-financial assets such as its tangible capital
assets and inventories. It also presents both the accumulated deficit of the Government and its net debt which is the difference between
the Government’s total liabilities and its financial assets.

The third is the Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Debt, which explains the difference between the Government’s annual deficit
or surplus and the change in the net debt for the year. It reports the extent to which revenues recognized in the year were sufficient, or not
sufficient, to offset expenditures, as opposed to the expenses recognized in the annual deficit or surplus.

The fourth is the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow, which provides information on the Government’s cash provided by or used for
operating, capital investment, investing and financing activities.

Other sections in this volume together with Volume Il and Volume Il of the Public Accounts of Canada, provide more detailed
supplementary information in respect of matters reported in the consolidated financial statements. The Independent Auditor’s Report on the
consolidated financial statements does not extend to this supplementary information.
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Statement of responsibility

The Government is responsible for preparing these consolidated financial statements in accordance with the accounting policies referred
to in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, which are based on Canadian public sector accounting standards, and on a basis
consistent with that of the preceding year.

Responsibility for the integrity and objectivity of these consolidated financial statements rests with the Government. These consolidated
financial statements are prepared under the joint direction of the President of the Treasury Board, the Minister of Finance, and the
Receiver General for Canada in compliance with governing legislation. These consolidated financial statements are prepared on a full
accrual basis of accounting. The information included in these consolidated financial statements is based on the management’s best
estimates and judgment, with due consideration given to materiality.

To fulfill its accounting and reporting responsibilities, the Government maintains systems of financial management and internal control
which give due consideration to costs, benefits and risks. These systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
properly authorized by Parliament, are executed in accordance with prescribed regulations, and are properly recorded so as to maintain
accountability of public money and safeguard the assets and properties of Canada under Government administration. The Receiver General
for Canada maintains the accounts of Canada, a centralized summary record of the Government’s financial transactions. Additional
information is obtained as required, from departments, agencies, Crown corporations, other government business enterprises, and other
entities to meet accounting and reporting requirements.

The Government presents these consolidated financial statements to the Auditor General of Canada, who audits them and provides
an independent audit opinion to the House of Commons. The duties of the Auditor General of Canada in that respect are contained in Section 6
of the Auditor General Act.

Annually, the consolidated financial statements are tabled in the House of Commons as part of the Public Accounts of Canada, and are
referred to the Standing Committee on Public Accounts, which reports to Parliament on the results of its examination together with any
recommendations it may have with respect to the consolidated financial statements and accompanying independent audit opinion.

On behalf of the Government of Canada.

7/
By bvttee [N N

Peter Wallace Paul Rochon Bill Matthews
Secretary of the Treasury Deputy Minister of Finance Deputy Receiver General for Canada
Board of Canada

\

Roch Huppé
Comptroller General of Canada

September 4, 2019
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Office of the Bureau du
Auditor General  vérificateur général
of Canada du Canada

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the House of Commons

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Government of Canada and its controlled entities (the Group), which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, and the consolidated statement of operations and
accumulated deficit, consolidated statement of change in net debt and consolidated statement of cash flow for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 March 2019, and the consolidated results of its operations, consolidated changes in its net debt, and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the stated accounting policies of the Government of Canada set out in
Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, which conform with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements
in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the Public Accounts
of Canada - 2019 - Volume 1, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the stated
accounting policies of the Government of Canada set out in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, which are based on Canadian
public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless an intention
exists to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report—concluded

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by management.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

— Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the
Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision, and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Opinion

As required by Section 6 of the Auditor General Act, we report that, in our opinion, the stated accounting policies of the Government of
Canada have been applied, after giving retroactive effect to the change in the method of accounting for revenues as explained in Note 2(a)
to the consolidated financial statements, on a basis consistent with that of the preceding year.

TP e

Sylvain Ricard, CPA, CA
Interim Auditor General of Canada

Ottawa, Canada
4 September 2019
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Government of Canada

Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit
for the year ended March 31, 2019

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Budget Actual Actual
(Note 3d) Restated
(Note 2a)
Revenues (Note 4 and Note 20)
Tax revenues
Income tax revenues
Personal 161,353 163,881 153,619
Corporate .. 47,348 50,368 47,805
Non-resident 8,265 9,370 7,845
Total income tax revenues.... 216,966 223,619 209,269
Other taxes and duties 55,366 57,227 53,819
TOUAI EX FEVEINUES ...tttk b et bbb b b bttt b et bt ettt b et eb s 272,332 280,846 263,088
Employment INSUFANCE PIrEMIUMIS. ......c.viueuiiiiteeiteatrieteie sttt ettt bbb e et s b bt ee et et e bttt e b s et ene s 21,716 22,295 21,140
Other revenues
Enterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises .. 6,650 7,101 7,731
17,918 20,309 17,784
Net foreign exchange . 2,143 1,667 1,473
Total other revenues .... 26,711 29,077 26,988
TOTAI FRVENMUES. ..ot bbb bbb bbb 320,759 332,218 311,216
Expenses (Note 5 and Note 20)
Program expenses
Transfer payments
Old age security benefits, guaranteed income supplement and spouse’s allowance...............ccccovovviiriinnns 53,637 53,366 50,644
Major transfer payments to other levels of government... 73,616 75,925 70,519
Employment insurance 20,714 18,888 19,715
Children's benefits 23,708 23,882 23,432
Fuel charge proceeds returned... - 664 -
Other transfer payments 47,462 51,753 47,138
Total transfer payments. 219,137 224,478 211,448
Other expenses 92,714 98,438 96,840
TOLAl PrOGIAM EXPENSES .....euveverieetesetetee sttt eeet st ete et et e b es et ee e b et b ehe s e eb e st eebes e e b e b et et e b e b e bt b et b e b b st e eb e es 311,851 322,916 308,288
PUDIIC BB CRAIGES. ......cviieie et bbbt b bttt bbbt n bbb s 24,707 23,266 21,889
TOTAL EXPEIISES ...ttt etttk b bbb bbb e bbb st b bbbt e e bbbt bRttt b et b 336,558 346,182 330,177
ANNUATAETICIT ... (15,799) (13,964) (18,961)
Accumulated deficit at Beginning O YEAT .........ccciiiiiiiiiiii s (671,254) (671,254) (651,540)
Other comprehensive 10sS (NOte 6 @and NOTE 15)...........cuiriiiiiiiiiii e - (232) (753)
Accumulated deficit at end of YEAr (NOTE 6) .........cviiiriiiiiiiiiiiet ettt (687,053) (685,450) (671,254)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
Details can be found in other sections (unaudited) of this volume.
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Government of Canada

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at March 31, 2019

(in millions of dollars)

Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Amounts payable related to tax
Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities.
Provision for contingent liabilities (Note 7) .....
Environmental liabilities and asset retirement obligations (Note 8).
Deferred revenue .......
Interest and matured debt..
Total accounts payable and acCrued lHabilitIes ............coiiiiiiiiii s
Interest-bearing debt
UNMAtUred deDt (NOTE ) ......eueeiuiiieeieist ettt bbbt b bbb bbbttt e bbbt n bt ebeneas
Pensions and other future benefits
Public sector pensions (Note 10)
Other employee and veteran future benefits (Note 10)
Total pensions and other future benefits.....
Other liabilities (Note 11)
Total iINtereSt-DEArING AEDT..........o. ittt b ettt eb e nanen

TOTAL TIADTIITIES ...ttt h bbb h et b bt e bbb R e e bt b bt e bbb b en e e et et b et e b e

Financial assets
Cash and accounts receivable
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 12)..
Taxes receivable (Note 13) .............
Other accounts receivable (Note 13) ..
Total cash and aCCOUNES FECEIVADIE ...........c.iiiiuiiieiieiee bbbttt

Foreign exchange aCCOUNES (NOLE 14)........iuiiiiieiiiiteiiiet ettt ettt ettt bbb et e bttt bbbt e bbb n b

Loans, investments and advances
Enterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises (NOte 15) ...........cocorirrrrrnnninnnnnenees
Other loans, investments and advances (Note 16)

Total loans, investments and advances

Public sector pension aSSEts (NOTE 10) ..........cuiiiiiiiiiit ettt b bbb

TOTAI FINANCIAL BSSELS ...ttt h bbb bbb st h bbb h b E b h b st b bbb bbb

Net debt ...

Non-financial assets
Tangible capital assets (Note 17)...
Inventories (Note 17).......
Prepaid expenses and other

TOtaAl NON-TINANCIAL BSSELS. .. ...vevvetitiietittieiti ettt e bbb bbb e st h s s et eb bbb eh b b et eb bbb bbb

ACCUMUIALEA AETFICTE (INOTE B) ...ttt b bbbtk s bt bbbt b b st b e bt ettt et nes

Contractual obligations and contractual rights (Note 19)

2019 2018
Restated
(Note 2a)
65,200 61,876
42,674 37,692
26,447 23,030
13,192 12,291
7,500 8,220
4,694 4,690
159,707 147,799
736,915 721,201
168,782 170,914
113,862 104,793
282,644 275,707
5,905 5,670
1,025,464 1,002,578
1,185,171 1,150,377
37,635 34,642
127,561 123,035
11,845 14,380
177,041 172,057
99,688 96,938
108,169 100,775
25,743 25,596
133,912 126,371
2,406 2,124
413,047 397,490
(772,124) (752,887)
78,942 73,835
6,601 6,679
1,131 1,119
86,674 81,633
(685,450) (671,254)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
Details can be found in other sections (unaudited) of this volume.
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Government of Canada

Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Debt
for the year ended March 31, 2019

(in millions of dollars)

Net debt at DEGINNING OF YEAK .........ciiiiiiiiii ettt

Change in net debt during the year

ANNUAD AETICIT ... bbbt b bbbt b sttt en et b s

Changes due to tangible capital assets
Acquisition of tangible capital assets
Amortization of tangible capital assets...
Proceeds from disposal of tangible capital assets ....
Net (gain) loss on disposal of tangible capital assets, including adjustments....

Total change due to tangible CapItal ASSELS.........couvririiiiiieee s

Change dUE £ INVENTOTIES ........cutuiiiiiiiiiiieiiii ittt

Change dUE 0 PrePait EXPENSES. ......cueui.erteueeiterereeteseatetetstesesesteseasebese st eseseasesestseeseseabebe b st ese st et ese s ebeneseebeseananens

Net increase in net debt dUe t0 OPEIALIONS ............oviiiiiiii s

Other comprehensive loss (Note 6 and Note 15)....

NET INCTEASE IN NET AEDT .........iiiiii bbb

Net debt at end of year....

2019 2018
Budget Actual Actual
(Note 3d) Restated
(Note 2a)
(752,887) (752,887) (729,254)
(15,799) (13,964) (18,961)
(9,045) (11,134) (9,793)
5,599 5,643 5,261
449 465 266
- (81) 107
(2,997) (5,107) (4,159)
- 78 163
- (12) 77
(18,796) (19,005) (22,880)
- (232) (753)
(18,796) (19,237) (23,633)
(771,683) (772,124) (752,887)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
Details can be found in other sections (unaudited) of this volume.
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Government of Canada

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow
for the year ended March 31, 2019

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Restated
(Note 2a)
Operating activities
Annual deficit (13,964) (18,961)
Non-cash items
Share of annual profit in enterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises .. (5,920) (6,959)
Amortization of tangible capital assets 5,643 5,261
Net (gain) loss on disposal of tangible capital assets, including adjustments. (81) 107
Cross-currency swap revaluation ............coceceoeeverirnniene (561) 71
Pensions and other future benefit and interest expenses.... 25,662 29,588
Change in taxes receivable (4,526) (12,521)
Pensions and other future benefit payments.... (19,007) (19,120)
Change in foreign exchange accounts (2,750) 1,859
Change in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 11,908 20,849
Net change in cash collateral 1,622 (1,841)
Net change in other accounts 6,103 (2,110)
Cash provided (used) by OPerating aCtVItIES ...........cccociiiiiiiii i 4,129 (3,777)
Capital investment activities
Acquisition of tangible CAPITAl ASSELS............ciiriiir (10,010) (9,220)
Proceeds from disposal of tangible capital assets 465 266
Cash used by capital investment activities (9,545) (8,954)
Investing activities
Enterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises
EQUITY TrANSACTIONS. ...ttt 6,302 7,993
Issuance of loans and advances (48,889) (42,756)
Repayment of loans and advances... 41,086 39,884
Issuance of other loans, investments and advances (7,546) (7,500)
Repayment of other loans, investments and advances 5,354 7,357
Cash (used) provided by INVESTING ACHIVITIES ..........c.eiriiiiiiieieeie ettt bbbt (3,693) 4,978
Financing activities
Issuance of Canadian CUITENCY DOITOWINGS. ........ouitiiiitiiiieteieiteiei ettt b et b bbbttt b et eb s 437,135 441,307
Repayment of Canadian currency borrowings ... (424,926) (433,801)
Issuance of foreign currency borrowings 19,631 15,847
Repayment of foreign currency borrowings.... (19,738) (17,458)
Cash provided by financing activities 12,102 5,895
Net increase (decrease) in cash and Cash EQUIVAIBNTS. ...........ccuiiriiiiiiiiiieie ettt 2,993 (1,858)
Cash and cash equivalents at DEGINNING OF YEAT...........ciiiiuiiiii bbbttt b et ebeeas 34,642 36,500
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 12) 37,635 34,642
Supplementary information
[0TSRV E=To I () g 101 (=] (=T AT 14,747 13,411

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
Details can be found in other sections (unaudited) of this volume.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements of the Government of Canada

1. Summary of significant accounting policies
Reporting entity

The reporting entity of the Government of Canada includes all of the government organizations which comprise the legal entity of the
Government as well as other government organizations, including Crown corporations, which are separate legal entities but are controlled by
the Government. For financial reporting purposes, control is defined as the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an
organization with benefits from the organization’s activities being expected, or the risk of loss being assumed by the Government. All
organizations defined as departments and as Crown corporations in the Financial Administration Act are included in the reporting entity.
Other organizations not listed in the Financial Administration Act may also meet the definition of control and are included in the
Government’s reporting entity if their revenues, expenses, assets or liabilities are significant.

Some Crown corporations and not-for-profit organizations rely on the Government for a portion of their financing. The consolidated
Crown corporations that receive significant funding from the Government include Atomic Energy of Canada Limited, Canada
Infrastructure Bank, Canadian Air Transport Security Authority, Canadian Broadcasting Corporation and VIA Rail Canada Inc. The
consolidated not-for-profit organizations that receive significant funding are the Canada Foundation for Innovation and the Canada
Foundation for Sustainable Development Technology. The financial activities of all of these entities are consolidated in these financial
statements on a line-by-line and uniform basis of accounting after eliminating significant inter-governmental balances and transactions.
Detailed information on the consolidated entities is included in Section 4 (unaudited) of this volume.

Enterprise Crown corporations are government business enterprises able to raise substantial portions of their revenues through commercial
business activity and are therefore considered self-sustaining. The major enterprise Crown corporations include the Bank of Canada,
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation, Canada Post Corporation and Export Development Canada. In addition, there are a number
of self-sustaining government business enterprises that are not Crown corporations but which are controlled by the Government. These
include various Canada Port Authorities. Investments in government business enterprises are recorded under the modified equity method.
Detailed information on the enterprise Crown corporations is included in Section 9 (unaudited) of this volume.

The Canada Pension Plan (CPP), which includes the assets of CPP under the administration of the Canada Pension Plan Investment Board,
is excluded from the reporting entity because changes to CPP require the agreement of two thirds of participating provinces and it is
therefore not controlled by the Government.

Basis of accounting

These consolidated financial statements are prepared using the Government’s accounting policies stated below, which are based on
Canadian public sector accounting standards. The presentation and results using the stated accounting policies do not result in any
significant differences from Canadian public sector accounting standards.

The Government has adopted a new presentation format for its notes to the consolidated financial statements to enhance the readers
understanding of the Government of Canada’s consolidated financial statements. The Government has moved the significant accounting
policy and measurement uncertainty disclosures from Note 1 to the related financial statement note in order for readers to be able to find
all relevant information associated to the financial statement line item or class of transaction in one place.

Foreign currency translation

Transactions involving foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollar equivalents using rates in effect at the time of the transactions.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated using rates at March 31. Gains and losses resulting from
foreign currency translation are reported on the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit according to the activities
to which they relate. Net gains and losses relating to the foreign exchange accounts, foreign debt, swap and foreign exchange forward
agreement revaluations are presented with investment revenues from foreign exchange accounts under net foreign exchange revenues. Net
gains and losses relating to loans, investments and advances are presented with the return on investments from these loans, investments
and advances under other revenues. Net foreign exchange gains and losses relating to transfer payments are reported in the transfer
payment expenses under other transfer payments. Net foreign exchange gains and losses relating to departmental sale or purchase of goods
or services in foreign currency are reported under other expenses.
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Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires the Government to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
and disclosed amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes at
March 31. The estimates are based on facts and circumstances, historical experience, general economic conditions and reflect
management’s best estimate of the related amount at the end of the reporting period. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
annually at March 31. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which estimates are revised if revisions affect
only that period or in the period of revision and future periods if revisions affect both current and future periods.

A material measurement uncertainty exists when it is reasonably possible that a material variance could occur in the reported or disclosed
amount in the near term. Near term is defined as a period of time not to exceed one year from March 31. The Government has determined
that a material measurement uncertainty exists with respect to the reported amounts for public sector pensions and other employee and
veteran future benefits (Note 10). Measurement uncertainty due to estimates and assumptions also exists in the provision for contingent
liabilities (Note 7); the accrual of tax revenues and the related amounts receivable and payable and the allowance for doubtful accounts
(Note 4 and Note 13); environmental liabilities and asset retirement obligations (Note 8); enterprise Crown corporations and other
government business enterprises (Note 15); other loans, investments and advances (Note 16); the expected useful life of tangible capital
assets (Note 17); and, contractual rights (Note 19b). It is reasonably possible that the Government’s reassessments of these estimates and
assumptions could require a material change in reported amounts or disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Refer to the
specific note disclosures for more information on measurement uncertainty.

Additional significant accounting policies

To facilitate the understanding of these consolidated financial statements, the significant accounting policies related to the following
financial statement line items are detailed in the referenced note.

— revenues (Note 4)

— expenses (Note 5)

— contingent liabilities (Note 7)

— environmental liabilities and asset retirement obligations (Note 8)

— unmatured debt (Note 9)

— public sector pensions and other employee and veteran future benefits (Note 10)
— taxes and other accounts receivable (Note 13)

— foreign exchange accounts (Note 14)

— enterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises (Note 15)
— other loans, investments and advances (Note 16)

— tangible capital assets and inventories (Note 17)

— contractual obligations and contractual rights (Note 19)

— segmented information (Note 20)
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2. Restatement and reclassification of comparative information
(a) Change in revenue recognition criteria for the Crown corporations

As the result of the introduction of a new standard, the Government reviewed its accounting policy, which required a reassessment of how
the consolidated Crown corporations recognize revenue. This new standard established comprehensive guidance to determine if
transactions should be accounted for as an agent or a principal.

This had a significant impact on the Canadian Commercial Corporation for its commercial contracting activities. Based on a review of the
new standard, it was concluded that, given that the Canadian Commercial Corporation’s contracting activities involve arranging for goods
or services to be transferred to foreign buyers, it does not control the underlying goods or services provided by Canadian exporters.
Therefore, the method in which these activities are reported was changed from the Corporation acting as a principal to an agent as it results
in a more appropriate presentation of these transactions in the consolidated financial statements.

As an agent, the Canadian Commercial Corporation recognizes revenue for the services it provides to Canadian exporters. However, with
respect to the commercial trading transactions, it no longer recognizes gross revenue from foreign buyers and related costs in the Statement
of Operations and Accumulated Deficit. Associated accounts payable, deferred revenue, accounts receivable and prepaid expenses related
with these transactions are also no longer recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

The Government applied this change on a retroactive basis with a restatement of prior year balances. There were no changes to the
accumulated deficit. A reconciliation of the restatement for the significant consolidated financial statement line items is as follows:

(in millions of dollars)

2018
Effect of
As change in
previously accounting As
reported policy restated

Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit

Other revenues—other 20,174 (2,390) 17,784

Total revenues 313,606 (2,390) 311,216

Other expenses.... 99,230 (2,390) 96,840

Total expenses 332,567 (2,390) 330,177
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities 44,576 (6,884) 37,692

Deferred revenue 8,361 (141) 8,220

Total liabilities .... 1,157,402 (7,025) 1,150,377

Other accounts receivable... 15,529 (1,149) 14,380

Total financial assets ... 398,639 (1,149) 397,490

Net debt..... (758,763) 5,876 (752,887)

Prepaid expenses and other. 6,995 (5,876) 1,119

Total non-financial assets 87,509 (5,876) 81,633
Consolidated Statement of Change in Net Debt

Net debt at DEGINNING OF YEAI........iviiieiiiii e (734,098) 4,844 (729,254)

Change due to prepaid expense (955) 1,032 77

Net increase in net debt due to operations.... (23,912) 1,032 (22,880)

Net increase in net debt (24,665) 1,032 (23,633)

Net debt at end of year (758,763) 5,876 (752,887)
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

Change in accounts payable and accrued liabilities ... 21,241 (392) 20,849

Net change in other accounts (2,502) 392 (2,110)

(b) Comparative information

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation. In particular, the Government has changed
the presentation of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow to segregate cash from non-cash items related to pensions and other future
benefits which were presented on a net basis in previous years and disclosed as a change in pensions and other future benefits. In addition,
the presentation of other taxes and duties were condensed to streamline the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated
Deficit. The details of other taxes and duties can now be found in Note 4(a) which results in no loss of information.
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3. Spending and borrowing authorities
(a) Spending authorities

The authority of Parliament is required before moneys can be spent by the Government. Approvals are given in the form of annually
approved limits through appropriation acts or through legislation in the form of statutory spending authority for specific purposes. The
Government uses the full accrual method of accounting to prepare its Budget and present its current consolidated financial statements.
However, the spending authorities voted by Parliament are on an expenditure basis, which uses only a partial accrual method of accounting.
During the year, expenditures were made under the authorities indicated in the following table:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018

Restated!

(Note 2a)
Annual spending limits VOted DY PArlIAMENT...........ciiiriiiiiiiieicieii bbb 123,595 115,035
Expenditures permitted under other legislation 169,463 160,209
Total budgetary eXpenditures QUENOTIZEA................coiiiiiiee ettt 293,058 275,244
Less: amounts available for use in subsequent years and amounts that have 18pSed ... 16,217 13,841
Total Net DUAGETANY EXPENAITUIES ..........ciiiiiiiet ettt 276,841 261,403
Effect of consolidation and full aCCTUal BCCOUNTING.........cviviviviiiiiiiiet ittt 69,341 68,774
Total expenses® 346,182 330,177

1 Details on the restatement are provided in Note 2a of this section.

The use of budgetary expenditure authorities reported in the preceding table differs from the total expenses reported in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit. The difference is due to various factors. The transactions of consolidated specified
purpose accounts and of certain Crown corporations and other controlled entities are consolidated in the financial statements but are not
included in the budgetary expenditure authorities available for use. Transfer payments to organizations within the Government reporting
entity are recorded against a budgetary expenditure authority in the year they are disbursed to the organization, but they are recorded as a
consolidated expense only when the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met by the ultimate recipient outside of the
Government reporting entity. Provisions for valuation of assets and liabilities are also not included in spending authorities.

In addition to the authorities for budgetary expenditures, non-budgetary spending of $231,653 million ($213,557 million in 2018) was
authorized for loans, investments and advances. A net amount of $50,784 million ($41,332 million in 2018) was used, an amount of
$375 million ($1,070 million in 2018) lapsed and an amount of $180,494 million ($171,155 million in 2018) is available for use in
subsequent years.

Details about the source and disposition of authorities (unaudited) and the details of ministerial expenditures are provided in Volume I1 of the
Public Accounts of Canada.

(b) Over-expenditure of spending authorities

There were no over-expenditures of spending authorities in 2019.
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(c) Borrowing authorities
Authority to borrow is granted through Part IV of the Financial Administration Act (FAA) and the Borrowing Authority Act (BAA).

Under the FAA and the BAA, the Minister of Finance (the Minister) may borrow money on behalf of Her Majesty in Right of Canada
with the authorization of the Governor in Council (GIC). Subject to limited exceptions, borrowings undertaken by the Minister — together
with amounts borrowed by agent Crown corporations and Canada Mortgage Bonds guaranteed by the Canada Mortgage and Housing
Corporation — may not exceed the maximum amount of $1,168,000 million specified in the BAA. As at March 31, 2019, these borrowings
totalled $1,015,813 million ($996,625 million in 2018).

Additionally, Part IV of the FAA gives the Minister, with the approval of the GIC, the power to carry out borrowings that have been
authorized by Parliament, and empowers the GIC to authorize the Minister to borrow for the specific purposes of refinancing outstanding
debt, extinguishing or reducing liabilities, and making payments in extraordinary circumstances, such as natural disasters.

The GIC specifies a maximum amount of borrowing for the given fiscal year. In 2019, the GIC specified $300,000 million
($335,000 million in 2018) to be the maximum aggregate amount of principal that may be borrowed by the Minister during that fiscal
year. The maximum aggregate amount of principal is the sum of i) the maximum stock of treasury bills anticipated to be outstanding
during the year, ii) the total value of refinanced and anticipated new issuances of marketable bonds and retail debt and iii) an amount
to facilitate intra-year management of the debt and foreign exchange accounts. During the year, $240,708 million was borrowed
($254,269 million in 2018).

(d) Source of budget amounts

The budget amounts included in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit and the Consolidated Statement of
Change in Net Debt are derived from the amounts that were budgeted for 2019 in the February 2018 Budget Plan (Budget 2018). To
enhance comparability with actual 2019 results, Budget 2018 amounts have been adjusted to reflect the change in the discount rate
methodology used in determining the present value of the Government’s unfunded pension obligations introduced in the Public Accounts
of Canada 2018. This adjustment has resulted in a $2,311 million increase in projected other expenses, a $1,615 million decrease in
projected public debt charges, and a $696 million net increase in the projected 2019 annual deficit. Budget 2018 amounts have also been
adjusted to reflect a change in the accounting for commercial trading transactions by the Canadian Commercial Corporation in 2019. This
adjustment has resulted in a $2,655 million decrease in projected other expenses and a $2,655 million decrease in projected other revenues,
with no net impact on the projected 2019 annual deficit.

Since actual opening balances of the accumulated deficit and net debt were not available at the time of preparation of Budget 2018, the
corresponding amounts in the budget column have been adjusted to the actual closing balances of the previous year.
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4, Revenues

The Government has three major types of revenues: tax revenues, employment insurance premiums, and other revenues. Tax revenues is
comprised of income tax revenues from personal, corporate and non-resident taxes, and other taxes and duties. Other revenues are mainly
comprised of consolidated Crown corporation revenues, other program revenues from returns on investments and proceeds from sales of
goods and services, as well as other miscellaneous revenues.

Significant accounting policies

Revenues

Tax revenues are recognized in the period in which the taxable event occurs and when they are authorized by legislation or the ability to assess and collect
the tax has been provided through legislative convention. The policy is applied in the following manner for the below tax revenue streams:

— Income tax revenue is recognized when the taxpayer has earned the income subject to the tax.

— Domestic goods and services tax (GST) revenue is recognized at the time of the sale of goods or the provision of services. These revenues are
reported net of input tax credits, GST rebates, and the GST quarterly tax credits. The GST quarterly tax credit for low-income individuals and
families is recorded in the period the event giving rise to the GST quarterly credit occurred.

— Customs duties and goods and services tax revenue on imports are recognized when goods are authorized to enter Canada.
—  Excise tax revenue is recognized when a taxpayer sells goods taxable under the Excise Tax Act.
—  Excise duties revenue is recognized when the taxpayer manufactures goods taxable under the Excise Act and the Excise Act, 2001.

Tax revenues are measured from amounts assessed/reassessed and from estimates of amounts not yet assessed/reassessed based on cash received that
relates to the fiscal year ended March 31. Annual revenues also include adjustments between the estimated revenues of previous years and actual amounts, as
well as revenues from reassessments relating to prior years. Revenues do not include estimates of unreported taxes, or the impact of future reassessments
that cannot yet be reliably determined.

Taxes under objection are assessed taxes for which the taxpayer filed a notice of objection. An amount for federal taxes under objection is recognized as
a reduction of tax revenues for cases where it has been determined that the government had little or no discretion to avoid settlement. The amounts in
objection are disclosed in Note 4b to the consolidated financial statements.

Tax expenditures that reduce taxes paid or payable are considered tax concessions and are netted against the applicable tax revenue. Tax expenditures
that provide a financial benefit through the tax system, and are not related to the relief of taxes paid or payable, are shown as other transfer payments
and are not netted against tax revenue.

Tax revenues that were not collected at year end and refunds that were not yet disbursed are reported respectively as taxes receivable (Note 13) and
amounts payable related to tax on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. These amounts also include other receivables and payables for
amounts collected through the tax system such as provincial and territorial taxes, as well as Employment Insurance premiums and Canada Pension Plan
contributions receivable from individuals and employers as applicable.

Tax collected on behalf of the provincial/territorial governments is not included in tax revenues. It is recorded as payable to the provincial/territorial
governments included within other accounts payable and accrued liabilities and distributed by the Department of Finance in accordance with associated
agreements.

The following policies are applied for non-tax revenue streams:

— Employment Insurance premiums are recognized as revenue in the period the insurable earnings are earned.
—  Other revenues are recognized in the period the transactions or events giving rise to the respective revenues occurred.

—  Spectrum licence fees are recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the licence. Deferred revenue consists of spectrum
licence fees and other amounts received in advance for the delivery of goods and rendering of services that will be recognized as revenue in a
subsequent fiscal year as it is earned.

Measurement uncertainty

Tax revenues are subject to measurement uncertainty due to the use of estimates of amounts not yet assessed/reassessed based on cash received as well
as taxpayer objections to assessed federal tax. Key assumptions used in estimating tax revenues are tax instalments, historical information on refund
rates, payments received on filing tax returns, and amounts receivable assessed. These are also indicators of tax revenue earned to March 31 that has not
yet been assessed. The estimates are reviewed in subsequent years and compared to actual results to assess if refinements to the estimation methodology
are required.
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(a) Other taxes and duties:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
GOOUS ANA SEIVICES TAX. .. veetveeeeietreeteeeteeteeeteeeeeteeeteesteeteeeteeeseesseeseessesseesesesseasseasseseeseeeseesesaseessenseessesseeaseansanseentessseseeeseenseassensenneeies 38,221 36,751
Energy taxes 5,802 5,739
Customs import duties ... 6,881 5,416
Other excise taxes and duties 6,323 5,913
TOtal Other TAXES ANA AULIES. ... b bbbttt 57,227 53,819

(b) Federal tax objections:

As of March 31, 2019, $16,068 million of federal taxes were under objection ($14,065 million for 2018).

5. Expenses
The Government has three major types of expenses: transfer payments, other expenses and public debt charges.

Transfer payments are monetary payments, or transfers of goods, services, or assets to third parties. These transfers do not result in the
acquisition by the Government of any goods, services, or assets.

Other expenses include personnel, professional and special services, repair and maintenance, utilities, materials and supplies, as well as
amortization of tangible capital assets. Provisions to reflect changes in the value of assets or liabilities, such as provisions for bad debts,
loans, investments and advances and inventory obsolescence, as well as utilization of inventories and prepaid expenses, and other are also
included in other expenses. Public sector pensions and other employee and veteran future benefits are included in personnel expenses.

Public debt charges include interest, servicing costs, costs of issuing new borrowings, amortization of premiums and discounts on market
debt including amounts arising on the extinguishment of debt, as well as interest on public sector pensions and other employee and veteran
future benefits.

Significant accounting policies

Transfer payments are recorded as an expense in the year the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met by the recipient.

Other expenses are generally recorded when goods are received or services are rendered. Public sector pensions and other employee and veteran future
benefits are recorded as employees render services using the projected benefit method prorated on service, except for: veteran future benefits and
workers’ compensation where benefits are accrued on an event driven basis; and accumulated sick leave entitlements where benefits are recognized
using an accrued benefit method. Past service costs or cost reductions related to plan amendments, curtailments and settlements are recorded when
approved or paid.

Public debt charges are recorded when incurred.

Measurement uncertainty

Measurement uncertainties that impact expenses are described in the following consolidated financial statement notes: contingent liabilities (Note 7),
environmental liabilities and asset retirement obligations (Note 8), public sector pensions and other employee and veteran future benefits (Note 10), and
tangible capital assets and inventories (Note 17).
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Expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit include:
(a) Major transfer payments to other levels of government

Major transfer payments to other levels of government include the Canada health transfer, the Canada social transfer and fiscal
arrangements pursuant to the Federal-Provincial Fiscal Arrangements Act. Other major transfers include contributions under the federal
Gas Tax Fund program and the Home Care and Mental Health Transfer.

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Canada NEAIN TTANSTEN...........iii ettt 38,568 37,124
CANAAA SOCIAI LFANSTEE ... .ottt e ettt e et e et e et e et e et e e st e eaeeteeseeseeseeeseeaseesseeseeereeaseansenseentesssesaeenseenseassensenseeies 14,161 13,748
Fiscal arrangements ... 17,929 17,575
Other major transfers 5,267 2,072
Total major transfer payments to other levels 0f QOVEIMMENL..........coiiiiiii e 75,925 70,519

Details can be found in Section 3 (unaudited) of this volume and in Section 1 (unaudited) of Volume Il of the Public Accounts of Canada.

(b) Employment insurance

Pursuant to the Employment Insurance Act, employment insurance includes income benefits and support measures paid to individuals of
$16,717 million ($17,666 million in 2018) and payments to provinces and territories related to Labour Market Development Agreements
of $2,171 million ($2,049 million in 2018).

(c) Fuel charge proceeds returned

As part of the federal carbon pollution pricing system, the Government will return all direct proceeds from the fuel charge to the jurisdiction
of origin in the following manner:

— For jurisdictions that voluntarily adopt the federal carbon pollution pricing system, directly to the governments of those
jurisdictions beginning in 2020; and

— For other jurisdictions that do not meet the federal benchmark requirements:

i. Directly to individuals and families through Climate Action Incentive (CAI) payments starting with the 2018 taxation year.
These payments are provided for under the Income Tax Act and are delivered through the personal income tax system. In 2019,
$664 million of CAl payments were made by the Government, and;

ii. To particularly affected sectors including schools, hospitals, small and medium-sized enterprises, colleges and universities,
municipalities, non-profit organizations, and Indigenous communities beginning in 2020.

(d) Other transfer payments

Other transfer payments totalling $51,753 million ($47,138 million in 2018) include various amounts paid through federal programs which
stabilize market prices for commodities, develop new technologies, conduct research, provide international development assistance,
support health care and infrastructure of First Nations and Inuit communities, support social housing and families and promote educational
and cultural activities. Also included are expenses of other consolidated entities and other miscellaneous payments. The various types of
transfer payments are being delivered by departments according to their departmental legislative mandates. Details can be found in
Table 3.6 of Section 3 (unaudited) of this volume.
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(e) Public debt charges

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018

Public debt charges related to unmatured debt
INEreSt ON UNMALUIEH GEDL .........cueiieeeiee ettt et e ettt e bt e be et e eteeeteeteeaeeeaeesseetaesaeeneeanseessessesseeseeaneesssenseensenreee 13,017 12,499

Amortization of discounts on Canada and Treasury bills 1,958 1,029
Amortization of premiums and discounts on all other debts ... 1,086 969
Cross currency swap revaluation (133) (282)
Servicing costs and costs of issuing new borrowings 8 13
Interest on capital lease obligations .. 175 186
Interest on obligations under public-private partnerships 80 81
16,191 14,495

Interest expense related to pensions and other employee and veteran future benefits 6,781 7,138
Other liabilities 294 256
Total public debt charges 23,266 21,889

Details can be found in Section 3 (unaudited) of this volume.

(f) Total expenses by segment

The Government has defined segments as Ministries which groups the activities of departments, agencies and consolidated Crown
corporations and other entities for which a Minister is responsible to Parliament. Additional segmented information is provided in Note 20.
The following table presents the total expenses by segment after the elimination of internal transactions:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Restated*
(Note 2a)
Ministries

Agriculture and Agri-Food 2,572 2,425
Canadian Heritage and Multiculturalism? 4,275 4,437
Crown-Indigenous Relations .. 7,900 9,709
Democratic Institutions?......... 179 125
Environment and Climate Change..... 2,375 2,030
Families, Children and Social Development... 84,306 82,692

Finance 95,297 91,008

Fisheries, Oceans and the Canadian Coast Guard 2,584 2,081
Global Affairs® 7,085 6,450
5,048 3,854

Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship 2,889 2,634
Indigenous Services..... 11,547 10,646
Infrastructure and Communities .... 8,210 4,148
Innovation, Science and Economic Development? 5,268 5,391
Justice 1,825 1,733
National Defence 31,997 32,311
National Revenue 36,795 34,839
Natural Resources ... 3,733 2,559
Office of the Governor General's Secretary .................. 22 24
Parliament................ . 731 725
Privy Council? 355 342
Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness 13,128 12,237
Public Services and Procurement? 4,863 5,056
Science? 2,199 2,000
Transport.... 3,186 2,970
Treasury Board 6,721 3,882
Veterans Affairs........ 1,141 984
Women and Gender Equality? ... 71 43
Provision for valuation and other items.. (120) 2,842
TOUAI EXPENSES ...ttt ettt h et h e b st b s bbb e bt £ b h e e b e R £ e E R £ E bR £ AEeE e bR £ bR £ bR R bRt bR e bbb b et enan 346,182 330,177

Details providing total expenses by segment and type can be found in Section 3 (unaudited) of this volume.
1 Details on the restatement are provided in Note 2a of this section.
2 Comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.
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(g) Total expenses by type of resource used in operations

The following table presents the total expenses by main objects of expense:

(in millions of dollars)

Objects of expense 2019 2018
Restated*
(Note 2a)
TEANSTEI PAYIMIENLS ... bbb bbb bbb bbb E e E e E e E e E e E e H e E e h A A A h Attt ettt bttt 224,478 211,448
Other expenses
Personnel.... " 57,682 60,294
Transportation and communications. 3,046 2,800
Information 371 299
Professional and special services... 11,036 10,404
Rentals 2,717 2,298
Repair and maintenance 3,527 3,277
Utilities, materials and supplies 3,312 3,228
Other subsidies and expenses* 10,929 8,868
Amortization of tangible capital assets . 5,643 5,261
Net loss on disposal of assets.. 175 111
Total other expenses 98,438 96,840
TOLAL PrOGIAM EXPENSES .. .ceeeeeeeceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee ettt et et et e eeee e et et et eeeeeeeeeeee e e e s e e e e eseeebeseEeEeEeEeEeEeEeEeEeEeEeE e R e R e R es e R eseR e At s e st s e e s ettt et sttt s ennas 322,916 308,288
PUDTIC GEDE CRAIGES ...ttt bbbt b et e b s bbb bbb st e b bbb e b e bttt b et e b e bt et bt b e b et st eb e e s eben 23,266 21,889
TOLAL EXPEINSES ...ttt ettt ettt e et bbb e e e b e e e e e e e e e e b e b e e e b e b e b e R e b eE e R e R e R SR e R SR e R LR LR SR SR LR £ A SRS A SRS e A £ £ LA £ £ttt £ttt ettt en et et annan 346,182 330,177

Details reconciling objects of expense to objects of expenditure can be found in Section 3 (unaudited) of this volume and details on ministerial expenditures by object can be
found in Section 1 (unaudited) of VVolume I1 of the Public Accounts of Canada.
1 Details on the restatement are provided in Note 2a of this section.
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6. Accumulated deficit

The Government includes in its revenues and expenses certain accounts established for specified purposes. Legislation requires that
revenues received for purposes specified in the legislation be credited to these accounts and that related payments be charged to these
accounts. Any deficiency of revenues over payments must be met through future revenues or transfers credited to these accounts. The
following table shows the balance of these consolidated accounts and accumulated other comprehensive income included in the
accumulated deficit:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018

Accumulated deficit, excluding consolidated specified purpose accounts and

accumulated other comprehensive income* (692,171) (675,848)
Consolidated specified purpose accounts

Employment INSUrance OPErating ACCOUNT ...........iuiuiuiuirititeretetetitatet sttt b et bbb bbb 4,916 2,951

Other insurance accounts 756 735

Other consolidated accounts.. 380 357

(686,119) (671,805)

Accumulated other COMPrENENSIVE TNCOME .........c.iiriiiiiiiiiirieietr ettt b bttt h ettt b bt et bbb ebeneas 669 551
ACCUMUIBIEA GETICIT. ...ttt b b hehE e E e h e h e h e h bbb bbb bbb bbb (685,450) (671,254)

" Included in this amount are actuarial gains and losses on pensions and other employee future benefits of enterprise Crown corporations and other government business
enterprises which are a part of other comprehensive income but recorded directly to accumulated deficit and therefore are not a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income.

Accumulated other comprehensive income

Forenterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises recorded under the modified equity method, certain unrealized
gains and losses on financial instruments and certain actuarial gains and losses related to pensions and other employee future benefits are
recorded in other comprehensive loss or income in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The unrealized
gains and losses on financial instruments reflect changes in the fair value of financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income, or derivative instruments used in hedging activities and are excluded from the calculation of profit or loss until
realized. Actuarial gains and losses related to pensions and other employee future benefits reflect differences between the actual and
expected returns on plan assets as well as the difference between actual and expected experience and changes in actuarial assumptions
used to determine the present value of the benefit obligations. These actuarial gains and losses are recorded directly to retained earnings
without reclassification to profit or loss in a subsequent period.

Other comprehensive loss or income is excluded from the calculation of the Government’s annual deficit. Itis instead recorded directly to
the Government’s accumulated deficit. Upon realization of the gains and losses on financial instruments, the associated amounts are
reclassified to the profit or loss of enterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises and then reflected in the
Government’s annual deficit. The actuarial gains and losses related to pensions and other employee future benefits are not reclassified.

The following table presents the different components of other comprehensive income as well as accumulated other comprehensive income
included in the Government’s accumulated deficit:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Accumulated other comprehensive income at beginning Of YEAI ..........coiviiiiiiiiiiieie s 551 1,294
Other comprehensive loss
Net change in unrealized gains (losses) on financial instruments measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income 137 (721)
Net change in fair value of derivatives designated as hedges.... (19) (22)
Actuarial losses on pensions and other employee future benefits .... (350) (10)
TOTAL. bbb (232) (753)
Less: Actuarial losses on pensions and other employee future benefits recorded directly to accumulated deficit...........c.ccccoveenene (350) (10)
Accumulated other comprehensive iNCOME @t NG OF YEAI..........cuiiiiiiiiiiiiii s 669 551

64 | Section 2—Consolidated financial statements of the Government of Canada



Public Accounts of Canada 2018-2019

7. Contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities arise in the normal course of operations and their ultimate disposition is unknown. Contingent liabilities are potential
liabilities which may become actual liabilities when one or more future events not wholly within the Government’s control occur or fail
to occur.

Significant accounting policies

For claims, if the future event is likely to occur or fail to occur, and a reasonable estimate of the loss can be made, a provision is accrued and an expense
recorded to other expenses. If the likelihood is not determinable or is likely but an amount cannot be reasonably estimated, the contingency is disclosed
below.

For guarantees, an allowance is recorded when it is determined that a loss is likely and the amount of the allowance can be estimated. The allowance is
reviewed on an ongoing basis and changes in the allowance are recorded as other expenses in the year they become known.

Measurement uncertainty

Contingent liabilities are subject to measurement uncertainty due to the use of estimates relating to both the outcome of the future event as well as the
value of the potential loss. The estimate of the provision for claims is continuously reviewed and refined in light of several factors, including ongoing
negotiations, recent settlements and decisions made by the courts and administrative tribunals. Rulings by the judiciary that contain elements applicable
to other claims filed against Canada could also result in significant changes to the contingent liability recorded.

For guarantees, the estimate considers the nature of the guarantee, loss experience, assessments of individual companies, particular fields or markets as
well as the broader Canadian and global economies which can result in changes to the contingent liability recorded.

The following table presents the different components of the provision for contingent liabilities:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Claims
Pending and threatened litigation and other claims 11,192 9,181
Specific claims 9,099 8,151
Comprehensive land claims 5,879 5,420
Provision for guarantees provided by the Government 277 278
Total provision recorded 26,447 23,030

(a) Claims

The Government’s estimated provision for claims is determined using relevant historical experience, facts and circumstances. In situations
where the estimate of loss is based on a range of amounts, the amount accrued within the range is management’s best estimate of the
potential loss which may be at an amount lesser than the maximum of the range. Significant exposure to a liability could exist in excess
of what has been accrued. Claims for which the outcome is not determinable and for which an amount has not been accrued are estimated
at approximately $8,528 million ($10,053 million in 2018).

Pending and threatened litigation and other claims: There are thousands of pending and threatened litigation cases as well as claims
outstanding against the Government. These claims include items with pleading amounts and items where an amount is not specified. While
the total amount claimed in these actions is significant, their outcomes are not known in all cases. As a result, provisions are recorded
based on management’s best estimate of the potential loss.

Specific claims: Specific claims deal with the past grievances of First Nations related to Canada’s obligations under historic treaties or the
way it managed First Nations’ funds or other assets. The past grievances may be proceeding via the legal system or via the specific claims
program. The Government of Canada will pursue a settlement agreement with the First Nation when a claim demonstrates an outstanding
lawful obligation. There are currently 567 (545 in 2018) specific claims under negotiation, accepted for negotiation or under review. A
liability is estimated and recorded for claims that have progressed to a point where quantification is possible. This estimate also includes
projections based on historical rates and costs of settlement for similar claims and includes an estimate for claims which have been filed
but not yet assessed.

Comprehensive land claims: Comprehensive land claims arise in areas of the country where Aboriginal rights and title have not been
resolved by treaty or by other legal means. There are currently 74 (73 in 2018) comprehensive land claims under negotiation, accepted for
negotiation or under review. A liability is estimated and recorded for claims that have progressed to a point where quantification is possible.
This estimate also includes projections based on historical rates and costs of settlement for similar claims.
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(b) Guarantees provided by the Government

Guarantees provided by the Government include guarantees on the borrowings of enterprise Crown corporations and other government
business enterprises, loan guarantees, insurance programs managed by the Government or agent enterprise Crown corporations, and other
explicit guarantees. At March 31, guarantees provided by the Government include:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018

Principal Principal

amount amount
outstanding outstanding
Guarantees with an authorized limit (2019 limit: $409,125; 2018 limit: $407,498)........cccoriririiiiiiiiti s 256,602 261,664

Guarantees with no authorized limit (including borrowings of agent enterprise Crown corporations and other

QOVEINMENT DUSINESS ENEEIPIISES) ...ttt 294,734 291,469
TOtal ..o 551,336 553,133
LESS: PrOVISION FOF QUATANTEES. ......iteueteuiieteietet ettt b bbbt bbbt e h b b s b bbb st e e e bt bbb en et bbb bt ere s 277 278
INEt EXPOSUIE UNAET GUATANTEES ...ttt eb bbb ettt 551,059 552,855

Details can be found in Section 11 (unaudited) of this volume.

The authorized limit represents the aggregate total of various types of authorities of Government bodies as stipulated in legislation, legal
agreements or other documents that may be in force at any one time. The principal amount outstanding represents the total amount of
guarantees provided as at the end of the fiscal year.

(c) Other

Assessed taxes under appeal: Contingent liabilities include previously assessed federal taxes where amounts are being appealed to the Tax
Court of Canada, the Federal Court of Canada, or the Supreme Court of Canada. As of March 31, 2019, $4,467 million ($5,404 million in
2018) was being appealed to the courts. The Government has recorded, in the amounts payable related to tax or in reduction of the amounts
receivable from taxpayers, as applicable, the estimated amount of appeals that are considered likely to be lost and that can be reasonably
estimated.

International organizations: The Government has callable share capital whereby certain international organizations have the ability to
require payments. As at March 31, 2019, the callable share capital amounts to $34,750 million ($32,030 million in 2018). No payments
(nil in 2018) have been requested by international organizations or paid by the Government in the year related to the callable share capital.

Insurance programs of agent enterprise Crown corporations: Four agent enterprise Crown corporations operate insurance programs for
the Government. In the event that the corporations have insufficient funds, the Government will have to provide financing. The Canada
Deposit Insurance Corporation operates the Deposit Insurance Fund which provides basic protection coverage to depositors for up to
$100,000 deposited with each member bank, trust or loan company; the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation operates the Mortgage
Insurance Fund which provides insurance for mortgage lending on Canadian housing by private institutions and the Mortgage-Backed
Securities Guarantee Fund which guarantees the timely payment of the principal and interest for investors of securities based on the
National Housing Act through the Mortgage-Backed Securities program and the bonds issued by the Canada Housing Trust through the
Canada Mortgage Bond program; Export Development Canada provides export and foreign investment insurance to help with export
trade; and Farm Credit Canada sells group creditor life and accident insurance to its customers through a program administered by a major
insurance provider. At March 31, 2019, total insurance in force amounts to $1,772,785 million ($1,754,457 million in 2018). The
Government expects that all four corporations will cover the cost of both current claims and possible future claims.
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8. Environmental liabilities and asset retirement obligations
Environmental liabilities represent the amount required to remediate contaminated sites to current minimum environmental standards.

Asset retirement obligations represent the amount required to retire tangible capital assets at the end of their useful lives.

Significant accounting policies

An environmental liability for the remediation of contaminated sites is recognized when all of the following criteria are satisfied: an environmental
standard exists, contamination exceeds the environmental standard, the Government is directly responsible or accepts responsibility, it is expected that
future economic benefits will be given up and a reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. The liability reflects management’s best estimate of
the amount required to remediate the sites to the current minimum environmental standard for its use prior to contamination. When the future cash flows
required to settle or otherwise extinguish a liability are estimable, predictable and expected to occur over extended future periods, a present value
technique is used. The discount rate used reflects the Government’s cost of borrowing, associated with the estimated number of years to complete
remediation.

A liability for unexploded explosive ordnance (UXO) affected legacy sites is recognized when there is an appropriate basis for measurement and a
reasonable estimate can be made. These liabilities are present obligations arising from past transactions or events, the settlement of which is expected
to result in the future sacrifice of economic benefits.

An asset retirement obligation is recognized when all of the following criteria are satisfied: there is an agreement, contract, legislation, or a constructive
or equitable obligation for the Government to incur retirement costs for a tangible capital asset; the past event or transaction giving rise to the retirement
liability has occurred,; it is expected that the Government will give up future economic benefits to retire the asset; and, a reasonable estimate of the
amount can be made. The costs to retire an asset are normally capitalized and amortized over the asset’s estimated remaining useful life. If the asset is
fully amortized, its retirement costs are expensed. The Asset retirement obligation is the present value of estimated future cash flows required to retire
the assets where amounts can be reasonably estimated and is expected to be settled as the related sites, facilities or assets are removed from service. The
estimated future cash flows are adjusted for inflation using the Consensus forecasts and Bank of Canada historical and target inflation rates. The discount
rate is a weighted average rate of the Government’s cost of borrowing for the period to settlement of the obligation calculated at the date of the initial
recognition of the obligation and on subsequent changes to expected cash flows.

The recorded liabilities are adjusted each year, as required, for present value adjustments, inflation, new obligations, and changes in management
estimates and actual costs incurred.

If the likelihood of the Government’s responsibility is not determinable, a contingent liability is disclosed in the notes to the consolidated statements.

Measurement uncertainty

Environmental liabilities and asset retirement obligations are subject to measurement uncertainty due to the evolving technologies used in remediation
activities of contaminated sites or asset retirements, the use of discounted present value of future estimated costs, and the fact that not all sites have had
a complete assessment of the extent and nature of remediation or asset retirement costs. Changes to underlying assumptions, the timing of the
expenditures, the technology employed, the revisions to environmental standards or changes in regulatory requirements could result in significant
changes to the environmental liabilities recorded.

Environmental liabilities and asset retirement obligations include:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Gross remediation liability for contaminated sites.... 6,478 5,710
Less expected recoveries (23) (23)
Net remediation liability for contaminated sites..... 6,455 5,687
Other environmental liabilities 115 122
Asset retirement obligations 6,622 6,482
Total environmental liabilities and asset retirement obligations 13,192 12,291
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(a) Remediation of contaminated sites

The Government’s “Federal Approach to Contaminated Sites” sets out a framework for management of contaminated sites using a risk-
based approach. Under this approach the Government has inventoried the contaminated sites identified on federal lands or on lands where
the Government has assumed responsibility for the clean-up, allowing them to be classified, managed and recorded in a consistent manner.
This systematic approach aids in the identification of the high risk sites in order to allocate limited resources to those sites which pose the
highest risk to human health and the environment.

The Government has identified 7,011 sites (7,242 sites in 2018) where contamination may exist and assessment, remediation and
monitoring may be required. Of these, the Government has identified 2,433 sites (2,326 sites in 2018), where action is required and for
which a gross liability of $6,230 million ($5,447 million in 2018) has been recorded. This liability estimate has been determined based on
site assessments performed by environmental experts. In addition, a statistical model based upon a projection of the number of sites that
will proceed to remediation and upon which current and historical costs are applied is used to estimate the liability for a group of unassessed
sites. This group includes 3,673 unassessed sites (3,944 sites in 2018), of which 1,478 sites (2,088 sites in 2018) are projected to proceed
to remediation and for which an estimated liability of $248 million ($263 million in 2018) has been recorded. These two estimates
combined, totalling $6,478 million ($5,710 million in 2018), represents management’s best estimate of the costs required to remediate
sites to the current minimum environmental standard for its use prior to contamination, based on information available on March 31.

For the remaining 905 sites (972 sites in 2018), no liability for remediation has been recognized. Some of these sites are at various stages
of testing and evaluation and if remediation is required, liabilities will be reported as soon as a reasonable estimate can be determined. For
other sites, the Government does not expect to give up any future economic benefits (there is likely no significant environmental impact
or human health threats). These sites will be re-examined and a liability for remediation will be recognized if future economic benefits
will be given up.

When the liability estimate is based on a future cash requirement, the amount is adjusted for inflation using a forecast CPI rate of 2.2%
(1.9% in 2018). Inflation is included in the undiscounted amount. The Government of Canada’s cost of borrowing by reference to the
actual zero-coupon yield curve for Government of Canada bonds has been used to discount the estimated future expenditures. March 2019
discount rates range from 1.55% (1.79% in 2018) for 2-year term to 1.92% (2.24% in 2018) for a 30 or greater year term.

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Total ~ Number Estimated Total ~ Number Estimated
number  of sites total number  of sites total
of witha  Estimated undiscounted Estimated of witha  Estimated undiscounted  Estimated
sites liability  liability expenditures  recoveries sites liability  liability expenditures  recoveries
Former mineral exploration sites? ..... 129 109 3,325 6,168 23 140 102 2,909 5,469 23
Radioactive material®.........c.c.c.c........ 9 7 1,059 1,172 - 9 8 994 1,113 -
Military and former military sites®.... 449 210 437 539 - 411 211 446 533 -
Fuel related practices* . 1,769 1,186 387 377 - 1,787 1,178 355 370 -
Marine facilities/aquatic sites® .......... 2,453 1,118 525 548 - 2,730 1,565 354 353 -
Landfill/waste sites® 1,063 715 252 212 - 1,077 810 264 221 -
1,139 566 493 511 - 1,088 540 388 433 -
TOal e 7,011 3911 6,478 9,527 23 7,242 4414 5,710 8,492 23

1 Contamination associated with former mine activities, e.g. heavy metals, petroleum hydrocarbons, etc. Sites often have multiple sources of contamination.

2 Contamination associated with former nuclear operations, e.g. low-level radioactive waste, radioactive isotopes.

3 Contamination associated with the operations of military and former military sites where activities such as fuel handling and storage activities, waste sites, metals/PCB-based
paint used on buildings resulted in former or accidental contamination, e.g. petroleum hydrocarbons, PCBs, heavy metals. Sites often have multiple sources of contamination.

4 Contamination primarily associated with fuel storage and handling, e.g., accidental spills related to fuel storage tanks or former fuel handling practices, e.g. petroleum
hydrocarbons, polyaromatic hydrocarbons and BTEX (benzene, toluene, ethylbenzene and xylenes).

5 Contamination associated with the operations of marine assets, e.g., port facilities, harbours, navigation systems, light stations, hydrometric stations, where activities such as
fuel storage/handling, use of metal based paint on light stations resulted in former or accidental contamination, e.g. metals, petroleum hydrocarbons, polyaromatic
hydrocarbons and other organic contaminants. Sites often have multiple sources of contamination.

6 Contamination associated with former landfill/waste site or leaching from materials deposited in the landfill/waste site, e.g. metals, petroleum hydrocarbons, BTEX, other
organic contaminants, etc.

7 Contamination from other sources, e.g. use of pesticides, herbicides, fertilizers at agricultural sites; use of PCBs, firefighting training areas, firing ranges and training facilities,
the operations of assets such as airports, railways and roads where activities such as, fuel storage/handling, waste sites, and chemical storage areas resulted in former or
accidental contamination, e.g. metals, petroleum hydrocarbons, polyaromatic hydrocarbons, BTEX and other organic contaminants.

Also, during the year, 589 sites (600 sites in 2018) were closed as they were either remediated or assessed to confirm that they no longer
meet all the criteria required to record a liability for contaminated sites.
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(b) Other environmental liabilities

The Government has identified approximately 532 unexploded explosive ordnance (UXO) suspected sites (643 in 2018) for which
clearance action may be necessary. Of these sites, 43 (43 in 2018) are confirmed UXO affected sites. Based on management’s best
estimates, a liability of $115 million ($122 million in 2018) has been recorded for clearance action on 9 of the confirmed UXO sites (10 in
2018). Remediation has been done on 7 of the sites (7 in 2018) and they will be closed in the next fiscal year. The remaining 523 suspect
sites (633 in 2018) are currently in the assessment stage and a reasonable estimate cannot yet be determined. Of these sites, the obligation

for clearance action is likely for 31 of them, indeterminable for 54 and unlikely for the 438 remaining.

(c) Asset retirement obligations

The asset retirement obligation is $6,622 million ($6,482 million in 2018) of which Atomic Energy of Canada Ltd. has recorded

$6,614 million ($6,473 million in 2018) for nuclear facility decommissioning.

The changes in the asset retirement obligations during the year are as follows:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Opening balance 6,482 6,498
Liabilities settled (353) (310)
Liabilities incurred during the year. - 3
Revision in estimate ....................... 242 39
Accretion expenset.... 251 252
Closing balance 6,622 6,482

' Accretion expense is the increase in the carrying amount of an asset retirement obligation due to the passage of time.

The undiscounted future expenditures, adjusted for inflation, for the plan projects comprising the liability are $15,901 million

($15,933 million at March 31, 2018).

Key assumptions used in determining the provision are as follows:

2019 2018
Weighted average discount rate ... 3.84% 3.88%
Discount period...........cccceeninae 145 years 146 years
LONG-term rate OF INFIALION .....c.oiiiiiiiiee bbb bbb b st b bbbt e bttt e b bt be s 1.70% 1.70%
The Government’s ongoing efforts to assess contaminated sites, UXO affected sites and asset retirement obligations may result in

additional environmental liabilities.
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9. Unmatured debt

Unmatured debt consists of market debt, cross currency swap revaluations, capital lease obligations and the obligation under public-
private partnerships.

Significant accounting policies

Market debt is recorded at face value and is adjusted by discounts and premiums which are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term to maturity
of the respective debt instrument.

When a marketable bond is exchanged or repurchased, and the transaction results in an extinguishment of the debt, the difference between the carrying
amount of the debt instrument and the net consideration paid is recognized as a gain or loss in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and
Accumulated Deficit, and the debt instrument is derecognized. An extinguishment occurs on the repurchase of bonds, or when there is an exchange of
bonds with an existing bond holder and the terms of the original debt and the replacement debt are substantially different. Exchanged bonds are
considered to have substantially different terms when the discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any amounts paid
on the exchange, and discounted using the average effective interest rate of the original debt, is at least 10% different from the discounted present
value of the remaining cash flows of the original debt. If an exchange of bonds with an existing bond holder does not result in an extinguishment, the
carrying amount of the debt is adjusted for any amounts paid on the exchange, and the unamortized premiums or discounts relating to the original debt
and arising on the exchange transaction are amortized over the remaining term to maturity of the replacement debt on a straight-line basis. The
Government’s holdings of its own securities, if any, are deducted from market debt to report unmatured debt owed to external parties.

Cross currency swap revaluations consist of unrealized gains or losses due to fluctuations in the foreign exchange value of the cross currency swaps entered
into by the Government.

Capital lease obligations are the present value of the remaining minimum lease payments under capital lease agreements.

Obligations under public-private partnerships (P3s) result from the Government’s agreements with private sector partners to design, build, finance
and/or operate and maintain certain tangible capital assets. The obligation represents the Government’s liability for the tangible capital asset component
of these long term financing arrangements. These liabilities are recognized on a percentage-of-completion basis over the period of construction of the
P3 asset and reduced by progress payments and capital payments made to the P3 partner.

Measurement uncertainty

There are no significant measurement uncertainties related to unmatured debt.

Unmatured debt includes:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018

Market debt
Payable iN CANAGIAN CUITEINCY ..........euiuiiiiiiriiietiiitet ettt bt ettt bbbt h b bt b bbb e b b e b e b e st e bR b e bt eb e bttt e bt et en b ens 705,063 688,254
Payable in foreign currencies 16,011 16,049
721,074 704,303
Unamortized discounts and premiums on market debt 2,163 3,467
Market debt including unamortized discounts and premiums 723,237 707,770
Cross currency swap revaluations 7,274 7,835
Obligation related to capital leases..... 2,893 3,203
Obligation under public-private partnerships . 3,511 2,393
Total unmatured debt 736,915 721,201

Unamortized discounts result from Treasury bills and Canada bills which are issued at a discount in lieu of interest. Discounts or premiums
also result from the Government’s bond buyback program and from issuance of market debt when the face value of the instrument issued
differs from the proceeds received. The unamortized portion represents the amount of premium and discount that has not yet been recorded
to public debt charges.

At March 31, 2019, the fair value of market debt including unamortized discounts and premiums is $757,260 million ($730,732 million
in 2018). For marketable bonds denominated in Canadian dollars and foreign currencies, treasury bills issued in Canadian dollars, retail
debt, Canada bills and medium-term notes issued in US dollars and Euros, fair values are established using market quotes or the discounted
cash flow calculated using year-end market interest and exchange rates.

The Government has entered into individual cross-currency swap contracts with various counterparties. Terms and conditions associated
with these outstanding contracts are established using International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) master agreements, which
are in place with each counterparty. Cross-currency swaps are used primarily to fund foreign-denominated asset levels in the foreign
exchange accounts.
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Included in Cross-currency swap revaluations is $988 million ($947 million at March 31, 2018) related to individual cross-currency swap
contracts that have a net foreign-exchange asset value to the Government upon revaluation and $8,262 million ($8,782 million at
March 31, 2018) relating to individual cross-currency swap contracts that have a net foreign-exchange liability value, resulting in an
overall cross-currency swap net liability revaluation of $7,274 million ($7,835 million at March 31, 2018).

(a) Market debt

The following table presents the contractual maturity of debt issues and interest rates by currency and type of instrument at gross value
(in Canadian dollars) and the effective average annual interest rates as at March 31, 2019:

(in millions of dollars)

Canada
Marketable bonds bills Medium-term notes
Treasury Retail
Maturing year CAD usD Euro bills debt? usbD usbD Euro Total
77,743 4 2,998 134,300 698 2,699 1,236 - 219,678
110,637 - - - 207 - 768 225 111,837
67,308 4,009 - - 332 - 67 - 71,716
43,506 4,009 - - - - - - 47,515
40,559 - - - - - - - 40,559
229,416 — - - - - - — 229,416
569,169 8,022 2,998 134,300 1,237 2,699 2,071 225 720,721
Less: Government holdings of unmatured
debt and consolidation adjustment? ........ (357) 4 - — - — — — (353)
Total market debt..........c.cccocriiviiiniiicnn 569,526 8,018 2,998 134,300 1,237 2,699 2,071 225 721,074
Fixed and
Nature of interest rate® Fixed* Fixed Fixed Variable Variable Variable variable Fixed
Effective weighted average
annual interest rates ...........ooeovvvveinnns 2.27 2.32 3.50 1.79 0.71 2.44 2.46 0.15
Range of interest rates...........c.ccceevvevirreenenn. 0.50 - 10.50 2.00 - 8.80 3.50 1.63-2.17 050-125 237-257 1.28-2.80 0.15

Details can be found in Section 6 (unaudited) of this volume.

' Includes $749 million of Canada savings bonds having fixed dates of maturity which are redeemable on demand.

Includes $4 million of securities held for the retirement of unmatured debt, $3 million of securities held by consolidated Crown corporations and other entities and $360 million
of borrowings by consolidated agent Crown corporations.

Debt with terms to maturity of less than one year is considered to have a variable interest rate. For marketable bonds and foreign currency notes, some of the fixed interest
rates were converted into variable interest rates through swap agreements.

Includes real return bonds which have a variable component based on the consumer price index.

2
3

4

(b) Obligation related to capital leases

The total obligation related to capital leases as at March 31, 2019, is $2,893 million ($3,203 million in 2018). Interest on this obligation
of $175 million ($185 million in 2018) is reported in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit as part of public
debt charges. At March 31, future minimum lease payments are summarized as follows:

(in millions of dollars)

Year 2019

425

369

339

321

317
2,641
Total minimum lease payments 4,412
Less: imputed interest at the average discount rate of 5.27% 1,519
ODbIigation related t0 CAPIAI IBASES...........iiiiiiei bbb bbb bbb E e E e E e h 88 h £ h 8 h 8211ttt 2,893

Details can be found in Section 6 (unaudited) of this volume.

A significant number of leases have a duration from inception that falls within the range of 10 to 25 years.
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10. Public sector pensions and other employee and veteran future benefits

The accrued benefit obligations in respect of public sector pension and other employee and veteran future benefit plans are presented net
of pension assets and unrecognized net actuarial gain or loss, as well as contributions and benefits paid by some of the consolidated Crown
corporations and other entities after their measurement date of December 31 up to March 31, in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position.

Significant accounting policies

Public sector pensions and other employee and veteran future benefits are measured on an actuarial basis. The actuarial valuations estimate the current
value of benefits earned and use various actuarial assumptions in the process. When actual experience of the plans varies from estimates or when
actuarial assumptions change, actuarial gains or losses arise. Actuarial gains and losses are not recognized immediately but rather over the expected
average remaining service life (EARSL) of the employees, which varies across plans, or the average remaining life expectancy (ARLE) of the benefit
recipients under wartime veteran plans. Recognition commences in the year following the determination of the actuarial gains and losses. In addition,
an unrecognized net actuarial loss is recognized immediately upon a plan amendment, up to a maximum of the related decrease in the accrued benefit
obligation; similarly, an unrecognized net actuarial gain is recognized immediately, up to a maximum of the related increase in the accrued benefit
obligation. The unrecognized net actuarial loss or gain, relating to the obligation that is curtailed or settled, is recognized immediately upon a plan
curtailment or settlement.

Pension assets include investments held by the Public Sector Pension Investment Board (PSPIB) which are valued at market-related value. Under this
valuation methodology, the expected return on investments is recorded immediately while the difference between the expected and the actual return on
investments is recorded over a five-year period through actuarial gains and losses. The market-related value of investments is adjusted, if necessary, to
ensure that it does not fall outside a limit of plus or minus 10% of the market value of investments at year end; any amount outside this limit is recorded
immediately through actuarial gains and losses. Pension assets also include investments held in external trusts by consolidated Crown corporations and
other entities.

Contributions receivable from employees for past service buyback elections are discounted to approximate their fair value.

Measurement uncertainty

As the accrued benefit obligations for public sector pensions and other employee and veteran future benefits are actuarially determined, the actual
experience may differ significantly from the assumptions used in the calculation of the accrued benefits. The actuarial assumptions used in measuring
the accrued benefit obligations are outlined in Section (g) below and a sensitivity analysis showing how the accrued benefit obligations would have
been affected by changes in the principal actuarial assumptions is found in Section (h) below.

(a) Overview of benefit plans
i. Pension benefits

The Government sponsors a number of defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all the employees of the federal public service,
as well as certain Public Service corporations as defined in the Public Service Superannuation Act, territorial governments, members of
the Canadian Forces (including the Reserve Force), members of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police, federally appointed judges and
Members of Parliament, including Senators. The public service, Canadian Forces—Regular Force and Royal Canadian Mounted Police
pension plans represent the three main public sector pension plans sponsored by the Government. In addition, some of the consolidated
Crown corporations and other entities maintain their own defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all of their employees. In
this note, the term “employees” is used in a general manner to apply to plan members of the different groups.

The defined benefit pension plans are designed to provide employees with a retirement income during their lifetime and, in the case of
Government-sponsored plans, are indexed to inflation. The indexation for Crown corporations and other entities pension plans varies
depending on the specific plan. In the event of death, the pension plans also provide an income for a plan member’s eligible survivors and
dependants.
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Pension benefits generally accrue as follows:

For the three main public sector pension plans, pension benefits generally accrue based on a member’s average earnings during the
best five consecutive years of earnings and years of pensionable service. Plan members can accrue up to a maximum of 35 years at a
rate of 2% per year of pensionable service. Pension benefits are coordinated with the Canada and the Quebec Pension Plan benefits at
age 65.

For the Canadian Forces—Reserve Force pension plan, pension benefits accrue at a rate of 1.5% per year up to a maximum of 35 years
based on total pensionable service and pensionable earnings over the service period, and are coordinated with the Canada and the
Quebec Pension Plan benefits at age 65.

For the Members of Parliament retiring allowance plan, basic allowances accrue at a rate of 3% per year of pensionable service
multiplied by the average of the best five consecutive years of sessional indemnity and/or pensionable earnings up to a maximum of
75% of the plan member’s average sessional indemnity and/or pensionable earnings as applicable. For service after
December 31, 2015, retiring allowance benefits are coordinated with the Canada and the Quebec Pension Plan benefits at age 60.
Members of Parliament are entitled to benefits after they have contributed to the plan for at least six years.

For federally appointed judges, pension benefits do not have an explicit accrual rate. Instead, federally appointed judges may retire
with a pension equivalent to two thirds of the salary annexed to their office, once the member has completed 15 years of pensionable
service and the sum of the member’s age and years of service equals 80 or more.

For the consolidated Crown corporations and other entities pension plans, pension benefits accrue depending on the terms of the plans;
generally based on a combination of an accrual rate per years of pensionable service and pensionable earnings average as per plan
terms. Some plans are closed to new entrants.

ii. Other future benefits

In addition to pension plans, the Government and the consolidated Crown corporations and other entities sponsor different types of future
benefit plans, with varying terms and conditions. The benefits are available to employees during or after employment or upon retirement.
Other future benefits include disability and associated benefits available to war veterans, current and retired members of the Canadian
Forces and the Royal Canadian Mounted Police, their survivors and dependants, health care and dental benefits available to retired
employees and their dependants, accumulated sick leave entitlements, severance benefits and workers’ compensation benefits.

(b) Financing arrangements

The Government has a statutory obligation to pay the pension benefits it sponsors. Pursuant to pension legislation, the transactions for
funded and unfunded pension benefits are tracked in the pension accounts within the accounts of Canada. The details (unaudited) of the
pension accounts can be found in Section 6 of this volume.

i. Funded pension benefits

The pension plans are generally financed from employee and employer contributions, as well as investment earnings. Pension benefits
funded by the Government relate to post March 2000 service that falls within the Income Tax Act limits for the three main public sector
pension plans and all service for the Canadian Forces—Reserve Force pension plan. An amount equal to contributions less benefit
payments and other charges is invested by the PSPIB. Funded pension benefits also relate to consolidated Crown corporations and other
entities where pension plans’ funds are held in external trusts that are legally separate from Crown corporations and other entities.

ii. Unfunded pension benefits

For unfunded pension benefits, separate invested funds are not maintained. These relate to all pre April 2000 service, and only to post
March 2000 service that falls above the Income Tax Act limits for the three main public sector pension plans, all service periods for the
pension plans of the federally appointed judges and Members of Parliament, and some of the consolidated Crown corporations and other
entities” pension plans. Employee and employer contributions for unfunded pension benefits sponsored by the Government are part of
general government funds. Contributions amounted to $3,254 million ($1,942 million in 2018) of which $86 million ($146 million in
2018) represents regular employer contributions, $3,107 million ($1,735 million in 2018) represents special employer contributions, and
$61 million ($61 million in 2018) represents employee contributions.

iii. Other future benefits

Other employee and veteran future benefit plans sponsored by the Government and almost all of the other employee future benefits
sponsored by the consolidated Crown corporations and other entities are unfunded. The health care and dental plans for retired employees
are contributory plans, whereby contributions by retired plan members are made to obtain coverage. These contributions amounted
to $456 million ($395 million in 2018). The cost of benefits earned and benefits paid are presented net of these contributions. Additional
details can be found in Section 6 (unaudited) of this volume.
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(c) Actuarial valuations
i. For funding purposes

Pursuant to the Public Pensions Reporting Act, actuarial valuations of the pension plans sponsored by the Government are performed at
least every three years to determine the state of the pension plans, as well as to assist in making informed decisions regarding the financing
of the Government’s pension benefit obligations. The actuarial assumptions underlying the valuations are based on the actuary’s best
estimates.

The most recent triennial actuarial valuations were conducted as at March 31, 2016, for the Canadian Forces—Regular Force, Canadian
Forces—Reserve Force, the Members of Parliament and the federally appointed judges pension plans; as at March 31, 2017, for the public
service pension plan; and as at March 31, 2018, for the Royal Canadian Mounted Police pension plan for, which the valuation is currently
in progress.

Federally regulated private pension plans sponsored by consolidated Crown corporations and other entities are governed by the provisions
of the Pension Benefits Standards Act, 1985 and are required to adhere to the directives of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions.
The actuarial valuations are conducted at least every three years, or more often depending on the financial situation of the plan.

ii. For accounting purposes

Actuarial valuations of the public sector pension and other employee and veteran future benefit plans are performed every year to measure
and report the obligations and to attribute the costs of the benefits to the period. Actuarial valuations are conducted as at March 31, except
for some of the consolidated Crown corporations and other entities for which the actuarial valuations are conducted as at December 31.
The actuarial valuations are based on the most recent or any in-progress actuarial valuation for funding purposes, as applicable, in regards
to the majority of the demographic assumptions. The other assumptions underlying the valuations are based on best estimates of the
Government or of the management of the consolidated Crown corporations and other entities.

(d) Changes to benefit plans
i. Plan amendments
No amendments occurred this year.

In 2018, amendments to veteran future benefits resulted in a one-time past service cost reduction of $1,625 million plus a one-time past
service cost of $4,305 million, for a net one-time past service cost of $2,680 million, and the immediate recognition of a previously
unrecognized net actuarial loss of $1,625 million.

ii. Plan curtailments

In 2019, former employees of Atomic Energy of Canada Limited working at Canadian Nuclear Laboratories ceased active participation
in the public service pension plan. The impact of this curtailment was a one-time past service cost reduction of $124 million and the
immediate recognition of a previously unrecognized net actuarial gain of $111 million for the public service pension plan. As well, there
was a one-time past service cost reduction of $28 million and the immediate recognition of a previously unrecognized net actuarial loss
of $16 million in regards to retirement benefits under the public service health care plan.

In 2018, the curtailment of veteran Supplementary Retirement Benefit resulted in a one-time past service cost reduction of $162 million
and the immediate recognition of a previously unrecognized net actuarial loss of $14 million.

iii. Plan settlements

In 2019, payments of $5 million ($275 million in 2018) were made to employees affected by the curtailments of severance benefits in
prior years who opted to cash out the full or partial value of their accumulated benefits. The settlements had no impact on settlement costs
in 2019 (one-time past service cost reduction of $60 million and immediate recognition of a previously unrecognized net actuarial gain of
$2 million in 2018).
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(e) Net future benefit liabilities and assets

The net future benefit liabilities and assets are comprised of different components. The details are as follows:

i. Accrued benefit obligations

The changes in the accrued benefit obligations during the year were as follows:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Pension benefits Pension benefits
Other Other
future future
Funded  Unfunded Total benefits Funded  Unfunded Total benefits

Accrued benefit obligations at beginning of year 138,495 198,000 336,495 147,283 130,356 200,950 331,306 129,880

Benefits earned.... 6,872 433 7,305 6,807 6,835 340 7,175 5,968
Interest on average accrued benefit obligations .. 7,040 4,248 11,288 3,272 6,398 4,335 10,733 3,116
Benefits paid (3,680) (9,037) (12,717) (5,695) (3,293) (8,930) (12,223) (6,045)
Administrative expenses (W) (66) (143) (82) (71) 7 (148) (80)
Net transfers to other plans. (619) (64) (683) - (496) 77) (573) -
Plan amendments . - - - - - - - 2,680
Plan curtailments. . (108) (16) (124) (28) - - - (162)
Plan settlements - - - - - - - (60)
Actuarial (gains) losses 1,144 10,657 11,801 27,437 (1,234) 1,459 225 11,986

Accrued benefit obligations at end of year ... 149,067 204,155 353,222 178,994 138,495 198,000 336,495 147,283

Details can be found in Section 6 (unaudited) of this volume.

ii. Pension and other future benefit assets

Pension and other future benefit assets include investments held by the PSPIB and external trusts of consolidated Crown corporations and
other entities and contributions receivable from employees for past service buyback elections.

The changes in pension and other future benefit assets during the year were as follows:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Funded Other Funded Other
pension future pension future
benefits benefits benefits benefits
Investments at beginning of year 152,306 1 135,943 2
Expected return on average value of investments 7,779 - 6,712 -

Contributions
EMPIOYEES ... 3,499 - 3,328 -
Public Service corporations, territorial governments and Crown

corporations and other entities... 294 - 306 -

Government 3,633 - 3,815 -
Benefits paid, transfers and others..... (3,982) - (3,810) (1)
Actuarial gains 4,860 - 6,012 -

Investments at end of year 168,389 1 152,306 1
Contributions receivable from employees for past service 632 - 528 -
Total pension and other future benefit assets at end Of Year ..o 169,021 1 152,834 1

Details can be found in Section 6 (unaudited) of this volume.

At March 31, 2019, the market value of the investments is $179,263 million ($164,027 million in 2018). In 2019, the actual return on

investments is $11,794 million ($14,340 million in 2018) and the actual rate of return on investments calculated on a time-weighted basis
was 7.5% (10.1% in 2018) during the year.
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iii. Net future benefit liabilities and assets

A reconciliation of the accrued benefit obligations to the amounts of net future benefit liabilities and assets follows:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Pension benefits Pension benefits
Other Other
future future
Funded  Unfunded Total benefits Funded  Unfunded Total benefits
Accrued benefit 0bligations ..o 149,067 204,155 353,222 178,994 138,495 198,000 336,495 147,283
Less: Pension assets 169,021 - 169,021 1 152,834 — 152,834 1
Subtotal (19,954) 204,155 184,201 178,993 (14,339) 198,000 183,661 147,282
Plus: Unrecognized net actuarial gain (1ess 10SS)............ccccccevennnne 17,914 (36,128)  (18,214) (65,129) 15,261 (30,205)  (14,944) (42,486)
Less:
Contributions after measurement date up to March 31 .... 10 - 10 - 15 - 15 -
Benefits paid after measurement date up to March 31 - - - 2 - - - 3
SUDLOLAL ... (2,050) 168,027 165,977 113,862 907 167,795 168,702 104,793
Plus: Valuation allowance 399 - 399 - 88 - 88 -
Net future benefit liabilities (assets).... (1,651) 168,027 166,376 113,862 995 167,795 168,790 104,793
The net future benefit liabilities and assets were recognized and presented in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as follows:
Public sector pension liabilities* 755 168,027 168,782 - 3,119 167,795 170,914 -
Other employee and veteran future benefit liabilities - - - 113,862 - - - 104,793
Less: Public sector pension assets* 2,406 - 2,406 - 2,124 - 2,124 -
Net future benefit liabilities (assets).... (1,651) 168,027 166,376 113,862 995 167,795 168,790 104,793

Details can be found in Section 6 (unaudited) of this volume.

1 Public sector pension liabilities represent pension plans that were in a net liability position as at the date of the Statement of Financial Position, whereas public sector pension
assets represent pension plans that were in a net asset position as at the date of the Statement of Financial Position.

(f) Benefit and interest expenses

The cost of public sector pension and other employee and veteran future benefit plans is comprised of benefit and interest expenses. The

components are as follows:

(in millions of dollars)

Benefit expense
Benefits earned, net of employee contributions
Actuarial (gains) losses recognized during the year ..
Plan amendments..
Plan curtailments..
Plan settlements
Actuarial (gains) losses recognized following pla

amendments, curtailments and settlements......................
Valuation allowance.....

Total....

Interest expense
Interest on average accrued benefit obligations .....................
Expected return on average market-related value of
INVESEMENTS ...

2019 2018
Pension benefits Pension benefits

Other Other

future future
Funded  Unfunded Total benefits Funded  Unfunded Total benefits
3,178 376 3,554 6,807 3,311 274 3,585 5,968
(1,056) 4,734 3,678 4,778 (552) 5,096 4,544 4,171
- - - - - - - 2,680
(108) (16) (124) (28) - - - (162)
- - - - - - - (60)
(111) - (111) 16 - - - 1,637
311 — 311 — 88 - 88 -
2,214 5,094 7,308 11,573 2,847 5,370 8,217 14,234
7,040 4,248 11,288 3,272 6,398 4,335 10,733 3,116
(7,779) - (1,779) - (6,712) - (6,712) -
(739) 4,248 3,509 3,272 (314) 4,335 4,021 3,116

Details can be found in Section 6 (unaudited) of this volume.
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(9) Actuarial assumptions

The assumptions used in the actuarial valuations for accounting purposes are based on the Government’s or the consolidated Crown
corporations and other entities management’s best estimates of expected long-term experience and short-term forecasts, as well as the
majority of the demographic assumptions underlying the most recent or any in-progress actuarial valuations for funding purposes. The
assumptions include estimates of discount rates, future inflation, returns on investments, general wage increases, workforce composition,
retirement rates and mortality rates.

The discount rates used to measure the present value of the accrued obligations for public sector pensions and other employee and veteran
future benefits sponsored by the Government are as follows:

— For funded pension benefits, the streamed expected rates of return on invested funds.

— For unfunded pension and other future benefits, the Government’s cost of borrowing derived from the yields on the actual zero-
coupon yield curve for Government of Canada bonds which reflect the timing of the expected future cash flows.

The principal actuarial assumptions used in measuring the accrued benefit obligations as at March 31 for Government-sponsored plans, as
well as the related benefit and interest expenses for the year, were as follows:

2019 2018
Accrued Benefit and Accrued Benefit and
benefit interest benefit interest
obligations expenses obligations expenses
Discount rates
Funded pension benefits! 5.8% 5.0% 5.8% 4.8%
Unfunded pension benefits?... 1.9% 2.2% 2.2% 2.2%
Other employee and veteran future benefits? ... 1.9% 2.2% 2.2% 2.4%
Expected rate of return on investments ...... - 5.0% - 4.8%
Long-term rate of inflation....... 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%
Long-term general wage increase.... 2.6% 2.6% 2.6% 2.6%
Assumed health care cost trend rates
Initial health care cost trend rate 5.5% 5.9% 5.9% 5.4%
Cost trend rate is expected to stabilize at. 4.8% 4.8% 4.8% 4.8%
Year that the rate is expected to stabilize 2029 2028 2028 2027

1 Inregards to funded pensions benefits, the streamed discount rates used to measure the accrued benefit obligations are equivalent to the flat discount rates presented in the table;
the initial discount rates used to measure the benefit and interest expenses are presented in the table whereas the ultimate discount rates are expected to reach 6.0% by 2030
(6.0% by 2028 in 2018).

2 Inregards to unfunded pension and other future benefits, the discount rates disclosed in the table reflect weighted average discount rates derived from the computation of the
equivalent flat discount rate of each benefit plan. The equivalent flat discount rates are used to measure the costs of benefits earned, plan amendments, plan curtailments, plan
settlements and the interest expense.

The discount rates used to measure the significant classes of pensions and other employee future benefits sponsored by the consolidated
Crown corporations and other entities are based on a variety of methodologies. To measure the present value of their accrued benefit
obligations, these consolidated Crown corporations and other entities used expected rates of return on invested funds ranging from 5.3%
t0 6.3% (5.3% to 6.4% in 2018) for the funded pension benefits, discount rates ranging from 2.2% to 3.3% (2.2% to 3.5% in 2018) for the
unfunded pension benefits and discount rates ranging from 2.1% to 3.5% (2.2% to 3.5% in 2018) for the other employee future benefits.
The long-term general wage increase ranged from 2.8% to 3.8% (2.8% to 3.8% in 2018). The long-term inflation rate has remained
consistent at 2.0% (2.0% in 2018).

The expected average remaining service life (EARSL) of the employees represent periods ranging from 4 to 23 years (4 to 23 years in
2018) according to the plan in question; more specifically, from 12 to 15 years (12 to 15 years in 2018) for the three main public sector
pension plans. The average remaining life expectancy (ARLE) of the benefit recipients under wartime veteran plans represent periods
ranging from 6 to 7 years (6 to 8 years in 2018).
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(h) Sensitivity analysis

Changes in assumptions can result in significantly higher or lower estimates of the accrued benefit obligations. The table below illustrates
the possible impact of a 1% change in the principal actuarial assumptions.

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Pension benefits Pension benefits
Other Other
future future
Funded  Unfunded benefits Funded  Unfunded benefits
Possible impact on the accrued benefit obligations due to:
Increase 0f 1% iN dISCOUNE TALES .......curuiviviriririririiiiieieieiei e (22,400) (25,900) (32,500) (21,100) (24,900) (25,800)
Decrease of 1% in discount rates 29,100 32,600 45,100 27,500 31,300 36,300
Increase of 1% in rate of inflation. 19,700 29,600 41,000 18,400 28,300 32,600
Decrease of 1% in rate of inflation ... (16,200) (24,200) (30,000) (15,000) (23,200) (23,400)
Increase of 1% in general wage increase . 7,000 1,000 300 6,700 1,100 300
Decrease of 1% in general wage increase................. (6,200) (1,000) (300) (5,900) (1,100) (300)
Increase of 1% in assumed health care cost trend rates - - 10,100 - - 9,100
Decrease of 1% in assumed health care cost trend rates - - (7,300) - - (6,300)
11. Other liabilities
Other liabilities include:
(in millions of dollars)
2019 2018
Canada PENSION PIAN ACCOUNLS ..........cuiiiteiiieteieieteie ettt et sttt bbb bt e b b e st e bbb b e st e b s b e b e st eeeb e s et eb et et eh e et eae b ebe st nnas 163 32
Others
Government Annuities Account 123 135
Deposit and trust accounts............ . 1,356 1,326
Other specified purpose accounts 4,263 4,177
5,742 5,638
TOtAL OTNEE HADTIEIES .....c.veeee ettt ettt et e e et eeae et e et e e st e ete et e eseeebeeabeesseeseesaeenseanteesseeseessesseeaseenteensesteesreenseaneas 5,905 5,670

Details and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Canada Pension Plan can be found in Section 6 (unaudited) of this volume.

(a) Canada Pension Plan Accounts

As explained in Note 1, the financial activities of the Canada Pension Plan (CPP) are not included in these consolidated financial
statements.

The CPP is a federal/provincial social insurance program established by an Act of Parliament. It is compulsory and in operation in all
parts of Canada, except for the Province of Quebec. The objective of the program is to provide a measure of protection to workers and
their families against the loss of earnings due to retirement, disability or death. The CPP is financed from employees, employers and self-
employed workers contributions, as well as investments earnings. The CPP’s investments are held and managed by the Canada Pension
Plan Investment Board (CPPIB). As administrator of the CPP, the Government’s authority to provide benefits is limited to the consolidated
net assets of the CPP. At March 31, 2019, the fair value of the CPP’s consolidated net assets is $396,480 million ($360,997 million in 2018)
for the CPP Account and $536 million (nil in 2018) for the Additional CPP Account.

Pursuant to the Canada Pension Plan Act, the transactions of the CPP are recorded in the Canada Pension Plan Accounts (the Accounts)
within the accounts of Canada. The Accounts also record the amounts transferred to or received from the CPPIB. The $163 million
($32 million in 2018) balance in the Accounts represents the CPP’s deposit with the Receiver General for Canada and, therefore, is
reported as a liability. The CPP’s deposit with the Receiver General for Canada is comprised of the CPP Account balance of $152 million
(%32 million in 2018) and the Additional CPP Account balance of $11 million (nil in 2018).

78 | Section 2—Consolidated financial statements of the Government of Canada



Public Accounts of Canada 2018-2019

(b) Others

Deposit and trust accounts are a group of liabilities representing the Government’s financial obligations in its role as administrator of
certain funds that it has received or collected for specified purposes and that it will pay out accordingly. To the extent that the funds
received are represented by negotiable securities, these are deducted from the corresponding accounts to show the Government’s net
liability. Certain accounts earn interest which is charged to interest on the public debt. One of the largest deposit and trust accounts is the
Indian band funds account in the amount of $580 million ($591 million in 2018). This account was established to record funds belonging
to Indian bands throughout Canada pursuant to the Indian Act.

Other specified purpose accounts are liability accounts that are used to record transactions made under authorities obtained from
Parliament through either the Financial Administration Act or other specific legislation. Certain accounts earn interest which is
charged to interest on the public debt. The largest other specified purpose account is the Public Service Death Benefit Account totalling
$3,800 million ($3,715 million in 2018). This account was established under the Public Service Superannuation Act to provide life
insurance to contributing members of the public service.

12. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash consists of public moneys on deposit and cash in transit less outstanding cheques and warrants. Cash equivalents consist mainly of
term deposits usually not exceeding 31 days.

Cash and cash equivalents are as follows:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
29,190 28,096
8,445 6,546
37,635 34,642

Details can be found in Section 7 (unaudited) of this volume.
1 Included in cash is $20,000 million ($20,000 million in 2018) which has been designated as a deposit held at the Bank of Canada with respect to prudential liquidity
management undertaken by the Government.

13. Taxes and other accounts receivable

Taxes receivable include taxes, interest, penalties, and other revenues assessed or estimated but not yet collected as at March 31. These
accrued receivables are not due until the next fiscal year. They also include other receivables for amounts collectible through the tax
system such as provincial and territorial taxes, Employment Insurance premiums and Canada Pension Plan contributions receivable from
individuals and employers as applicable.

Other accounts receivable represent billed or accrued financial claims arising from amounts owed to the Government at year end, and cash
collateral pledged to counterparties.

Significant accounting policies

Tax revenues that were not collected at year end are reported as taxes receivable on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.
Taxes and other accounts receivables are measured at amortized cost.

The allowance for doubtful accounts is management’s best estimate of the uncollectible amounts that have been assessed, including the related interest
and penalties. The annual provision for the allowance for doubtful accounts is reported as a bad debt expense which is charged against other expenses.

The allowance for doubtful accounts has two components. A general allowance is calculated based on the age and type of tax accounts using rates based
on historical collection experience. A specific allowance is calculated based on an annual review of all accounts over $10 million. The allowance for
doubtful accounts is adjusted every year through a provision for doubtful accounts and is reduced by amounts written off as uncollectible during the
year.

Measurement uncertainty

Tax receivable, and the allowance for doubtful accounts are subject to measurement uncertainty due to the use of estimates of amounts not yet
assessed/reassessed based on cash received as well as taxpayer objections to assessed federal tax.

Key assumptions used in estimating tax revenues are tax instalments, historical information on refund rates, payments received on filing tax returns,
and amounts receivable assessed.
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The Government has established an allowance for doubtful accounts of $14,559 million ($14,345 million in 2018) and has recorded a bad
debt expense of $3,766 million ($3,325 million in 2018).
The details of the taxes receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts are as follows:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Total Allowance Total Allowance
taxes for doubtful taxes for doubtful
receivable accounts Net receivable accounts Net
Income taxes receivable
Individuals.... 70,466 7,561 62,905 67,172 7,242 59,930
Employers . 21,993 1,152 20,841 21,449 1,101 20,348
Corporations. 20,297 2,976 17,321 20,175 3,066 17,109
Non-residents ... 2,027 97 1,930 2,019 137 1,882
Goods and services tax receivable 24,595 2,492 22,103 23,881 2,441 21,440
Customs import duties receivable ... 809 80 729 636 59 577
Other excise taxes and duties receivable .... 1,933 201 1,732 2,048 299 1,749
TOMAD o 142,120 14,559 127,561 137,380 14,345 123,035

Details can be found in Section 7 (unaudited) of this volume.

Billed or accrued financial claims arising from amounts owed to the Government total $6,136 million ($6,959 million in 2018-restated
refer to note 2a) and are presented net of an allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,454 million ($1,295 million in 2018). Further details
can be found in Section 7 (unaudited) of this volume.

Cash collateral pledged to counterparties of $7,163 million ($8,716 million in 2018) represents collateral support under International
Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) master agreements in respect of outstanding cross-currency swap arrangements. Further details
can be found in Note 18.

14. Foreign exchange accounts

Foreign exchange accounts represent financial claims and obligations of the Government as a result of Canada’s foreign exchange
operations. The investments held in the Exchange Fund Account are to provide general liquidity and to promote orderly conditions in the
foreign exchange market for the Canadian dollar.

Significant accounting policies

Short-term deposits, marketable securities and special drawing rights held in the foreign exchange accounts are recorded at cost. Marketable securities
are adjusted for amortization of purchase discounts and premiums. Purchases and sales of securities are recorded at the settlement date. Transaction costs
are expensed as incurred for all classes of financial instruments.

The Government assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there has been a loss in the value of the investments held in the foreign exchange
accounts. When conditions indicate a loss in value that is other than a temporary decline, the carrying value of the investment is written down to reflect
its recoverable amount. A loss in value of a portfolio investment that is other than a temporary decline occurs when the actual value of the investment to
the government becomes lower than the carrying value and the impairment is expected to remain for a prolonged period.

Investment income earned with respect to foreign exchange accounts, as well as write-downs to reflect other-than-temporary declines in the value of
securities, are included in net foreign exchange revenues.

Canada’s subscriptions to the capital of the International Monetary Fund and loans to the International Monetary Fund are recorded at cost.

Measurement uncertainty

There are no significant measurement uncertainties related to foreign exchange accounts.
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As at March 31, 2019, the fair value of the marketable securities held in the Exchange Fund Account is $91,051 million ($92,837 million
in 2018), established using market quotes or other available market information. Further details on these investments are provided in the

unaudited financial statements of the Exchange Fund Account in Section 8 of this volume.

Subscriptions and loans to the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and special drawing rights allocations are denominated in special
drawing rights (SDR). The SDR serves as the unit of account for the IMF and its value is based on a basket of key international currencies
(US dollar, Euro, Japanese yen, British pound sterling and Chinese renminbi). Canada participates in two lending arrangements with the
IMF along with a group of other member countries. Collectively, maximum direct lending under these arrangements is limited to no more

than the equivalent of SDR 12,074 million ($22,397 million) at March 31, 2019.

The following table presents the balances of the foreign exchange accounts:

(in millions of dollars)

International reserves held in the Exchange Fund Account
Cash and cash equivalents
US OHIAE ..ottt

British pound sterling
Japanese yen
Short-term deposits—US dollar

Marketable securities!
US AOHTAK <.ttt bbb s e bbb b E e h bR £ h e b R e bRt b bRt et b e b bt enene e

British pound sterling

Japanese yen

SPECIAL AFAWING FIGNTS ...ttt E bbb bbb bbb bbb bbb

Total international reserves held in the EXChange FUNG ACCOUNT..........cuiiiiiiiiiiiiiitt et
International Monetary Fund

Subscriptions....

Loans

Less: International Monetary Fund
Special drawing rights allocations ....
Notes payable

2019 2018
4,904 878
250 114
450 140
6 143
268 -
5,878 1,275
59,234 61,336
17,646 20,620
9,775 10,433
3,678 1,216
90,333 93,605
10,989 10,550
107,200 105,430
20,449 20,647
546 775
128,195 126,852
11,108 11,215
17,399 18,699
28,507 29,914
99,688 96,938

Details can be found in Section 8 (unaudited) of this volume.
1 Interest earned on marketable securities was $1,492 million ($1,107 million in 2018).
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15. Enterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises

The net assets and liabilities of enterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises are recognized as an investment
by the Government. In addition, the Government has loans and advances receivable from these entities.

Significant accounting policies

Investments in enterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises are recorded under the modified equity method whereby the
cost of the Government’s equity is reduced by dividends received and adjusted to include the annual profits and losses of these corporations, after
elimination of unrealized inter-organizational gains and losses. All of these corporations follow International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
Under the modified equity method, the corporations’ accounts are not adjusted to the Government’s basis of accounting and other comprehensive
income or loss is recorded directly to the Government’s accumulated deficit and net debt.

Some enterprise Crown corporations provide loans to borrowers outside the reporting entity of the Government. Some of these loans will be repaid
through future appropriations of the Government under various subsidy programs which provide funds directly related to the repayment of the loan. For
these loans receivable, the amount expected to be repaid from future appropriations is recorded to reduce the carrying value of the loan to an amount
that approximates the amount to be recovered from sources outside the reporting entity of the Government.

Measurement uncertainty

Each enterprise Crown corporation and other government business enterprise has measurement uncertainties which are inherent to their organization
such as those relating to pension and employee future benefits and other liabilities. Measurement uncertainty exists with regards to the estimate of the
amount of loans that are expected to be repaid through future appropriation which is based upon the amount qualified borrowers are expected to receive
under various Government subsidy programs and the percentage of the subsidy expected to be applied to the outstanding loan balance.

(a) Enterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises

The following table presents the Government’s recorded loans, investments and advances in significant enterprise Crown corporations and
other government business enterprises:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Investments
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation 14,952 16,894
Export Development Canada..... 9,449 9,773
Farm Credit Canada. 6,429 6,060
Business Development Bank of Canada 7,714 6,717
Canada Port Authorities ..........c..ccoc...... 3,499 3,255
Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation 2,985 2,322
Canada Development Investment Corporation 320 464
(972) (338)
1,285 1,128
Total investments ... 45,661 46,275
Loans and advances
Farm Credit Canada 29,862 28,008
Business Development Bank of Canada .. 22,235 20,470
Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation.... 8,095 8,687
Canada Development Investment Corporation ... 4,790 -
454 468
Total [0aNS ANA AAVANCES ..........uiiiiiiiiiciicc bbb 65,436 57,633
Less:
Loans expected to be repaid from future @pProPriatioNS ............cuiiriiiriiieiiieieei ettt 2,885 3,089
Unamortized diSCOUNES AN PIEMIUMS .........c.viiiiiiiieisitt ettt 43 44
2,928 3,133
Total loans, investments and advances to enterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises.............c....... 108,169 100,775

Details can be found in Section 9 (unaudited) of this volume.
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The following table presents the summary financial position and results of enterprise Crown corporations and other government business
enterprises:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Government, Government,
Crown Crown
corporations corporations
Third and other Third and other
Parties entities Total Parties entities Total
Restated!
Assets
FINANCIAl @SSBLS.......cueiveiirieeeiieere e 415,876 116,038 531,914 409,717 111,399 521,116
Non-financial assets .... 17,537 17,537 9,799 - 9,799
Total assets....... . 433,413 116,038 549,451 419,516 111,399 530,915
Liabilities............ccc.e.... . 412,800 90,492 503,292 402,501 81,650 484,151
Equity of Canada as reported 46,159 46,764
Elimination adjustments (498) (489)
Equity Of CaNAdA .......ccveviviieiiiicicc e 45,661 46,275
Revenues .... 26,997 4,542 31,539 24,701 4,845 29,546
Expenses 23,551 2,298 25,849 21,666 1,748 23,414
Profit as reported.... 5,690 6,132
Adjustments and others 230 827
Profit 5,920 6,959
Other changes in equity
Other comprehensive income (10SS).........couviiiiiiiiiciiceens (232) (753)
Dividends?.... (6,427) (8,058)
Capital® 125 65
(614) (1,787)
Equity of Canada at beginning of year 46,275 48,062
Equity of Canada at end of year 45,661 46,275
Contractual obligations?.... 50,950 50,366
Contingent liabilities 3,877 2,983

Details can be found in Section 9 (unaudited) of this volume.

" In 2019, the Government identified that the disclosure for contractual obligations for enterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises was incorrectly
reported. The 2018 comparative figure for contractual obligations has been corrected from $64,994 million to $50,366 million.

2 Amounts reported as dividends include $3,680 million ($5,675 million in 2018) from Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation, $1,010 million ($969 million in 2018)
from Export Development Canada, $1,169 million ($951 million in 2018) from the Bank of Canada and $364 million ($308 million in 2018) from Farm Credit Canada.
Amounts reported as capital include a purchase of common shares of $125 million ($65 million in 2018) from Business Development Bank of Canada.

(b) Non-public property

Non-public property (NPP), as defined under the National Defence Act, consists of money and property contributed to or by Canadian
Forces members and is administered for their benefit and welfare by the Canadian Forces Morale and Welfare Services (CFMWS). The
CFMWS is responsible for delivering selected morale and welfare programs, services and activities through three operational divisions,
Canadian Forces Exchange System (CANEX), Personnel Support Programs and Service Income Security Insurance Plan (SISIP) Financial
Services. Under the National Defence Act, NPP is explicitly excluded from the Financial Administration Act. The Government provides
some services related to NPP activities such as accommodation and security for which no amount is charged. The cost of providing these
services is included in the consolidated financial statements of the Government of Canada. In 2019, CFMWS administered estimated
revenues and expenses of $410 million ($440 million in 2018) and $405 million ($436 million in 2018) respectively and had net equity of
$784 million at March 31, 2019 ($777 million at March 31, 2018). These amounts are excluded from the consolidated financial statements
of the Government of Canada.

Section 2—Consolidated financial statements of the Government of Canada | 83



Public Accounts of Canada 2018-2019

16. Other loans, investments and advances

Other loans, investments and advances are financial claims to debt instruments held by others that are owing to the Government and
ownership interests acquired through the use of parliamentary appropriations, excluding investment in enterprise Crown corporations and
other government business enterprises.

Significant accounting policies

Other loans, investments and advances are initially recorded at cost and are discounted to reflect their concessionary terms or their net recoverable value.
Concessionary terms include cases where loans are made on a long-term, low interest or interest-free basis.

When necessary, an allowance for valuation is recorded to reduce the carrying value of other loans, investments and advances to amounts that
approximate their net recoverable value. The allowance for valuation for other loans, investments and advances, reflects the possibility of losses
associated with potential default. The determination of the valuation allowance considers the credit risk of borrowers, collateral provided as well as
previous repayment history. When they are determined to be uncollectible, other loans, investments and advances are written off. Subsequent recoveries
are recorded as revenue when received.

Measurement uncertainty

Other loans, investments and advances are subject to measurement uncertainty due to the use of estimates relating to the allowance for valuation that
reflects the possibility of losses associated with potential defaults, as well as for determining whether investments are concessionary in nature and the
valuation of the concession.

The estimate of the provision for other loans, investments and advances is regularly reviewed and refined in light of several factors, including: historical
loan loss rates, residual values, expert judgment, management assumptions, and model-based approaches that consider current economic conditions.
Similarly, any changes to the terms of Canada’s investments (such as changes to the discount rate, the expected return on investment, and how much of
the initial capital is expected to be returned) would result in a review of the estimates used to determine any associated concessions.

The following table presents a summary of the balances of other loans, investments and advances by category:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
National governments, including developing countries and international organizations
National governments including developing countries 882 937
International organizations 23,741 22,752
TOTAL ... 24,623 23,689

Other loans, investments and advances
Loans for the development OF @XPOIT EFAAE .........c.euiriiteiietieeece ettt bbbttt eb s 446 739

Provincial and territorial governments 407 391
Unconditionally repayable contributions . 3,732 3,516
Other loans, investments and advances. 25,939 24,619
30,524 29,265
55,147 52,954
29,404 27,358
25,743 25,596

Details can be found in Section 9 (unaudited) of this volume.
Interest earned on other loans, investments and advances was $1,010 million ($838 million in 2018).
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The following table presents a summary of the balances of other loans, investments and advances by currency:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Loans, investments Foreign Loans, investments Loans, investments
and advances in exchange and advances in and advances in
base currency rate CAD CAD
[0 13 (o =g 1o [o] | F- T U RR 51,235 51,235 49,075
USdollar................. 2,715 1.3362 3,628 3,603
Special drawing rights 144 1.8550 267 257
Various other currencies . . 17 19
TOAL 1o 55,147 52,954

Loans to national governments consist mainly of loans for financial assistance totalling $400 million ($400 million in 2018), international
development assistance to developing countries totalling $85 million ($109 million in 2018), and development of export trade totalling
$397 million ($527 million in 2018) which are administered by Export Development Canada. Certain loans are non-interest bearing and
others bear interest at rates varying from 0.1% to 10.3%. These loans are repayable over 1 to 28 years, with final instalments due in 2045.

Loans, investments and advances to international organizations include subscriptions to the share capital of international banks totalling
$15,098 million ($14,360 million in 2018) as well as loans and advances to associations and other international organizations totalling
$8,644 million ($8,392 million in 2018). These subscriptions are composed of both paid-in and callable capital. The majority of these
investments are treated as concessionary as they do not provide a return on investment, but are repayable on termination of the organization
or withdrawal from it. Most loans and advances to international organizations are made to banks and associations that use these funds to
make loans to developing countries at significantly concessionary terms.

Loans for the development of export trade are either non-interest bearing or bear interest at rates varying from 1.0% to 9.0% and are
administered by Export Development Canada. Collateral of $189 million ($228 million in 2018) is held on these loans and they are
repayable over 1 to 4 years with final instalments due in 2022.

Loans to provinces and territories include loans made under relief acts and other legislation. Loans totalling $403 million ($388 million
in 2018) are non-interest bearing and will be repaid by reducing transfer payments over 1 to 8 years.

Unconditionally repayable contributions are in substance loans aimed at stimulating economic development or for assistance. They bear
various interest rates, some of which have concessional terms, and are repayable at various due dates with final instalments due within
4 to 25 years of initial disbursement.

Other loans, investments and advances include loans under the Canada Student Loans Program, and other investments in bonds, market
funds and fixed income securities. Loans under the Canada Student Loans Program of $21,164 million ($19,960 million in 2018) are
provided interest-free to full-time students and afterward bear interest at either a variable prime rate plus 2.5% or a fixed prime rate
plus 5.0%. The repayment period is generally 10 years. Other investments were $2,289 million ($2,121 million in 2018).
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17. Tangible capital assets and inventories

Tangible capital assets consist of acquired, built, developed or improved tangible assets whose useful lives extend beyond the fiscal year and
which are intended to be used on an ongoing basis for producing goods or delivering services, including military activities. Tangible capital
assets include: land; buildings; works and infrastructure; machinery and equipment including computer hardware and software; vehicles
including ships, aircraft and others; leasehold improvements; and assets under construction. Tangible capital assets also include assets under
capital lease. Renewal options for assets under capital leases are typically for periods of 3 to 5 years and are exercisable at the discretion
of the lessee. Detailed information on tangible capital assets is provided in Section 10 (unaudited) of this volume.

Inventories are comprised of spare parts and supplies held for future program delivery and are not primarily intended for resale.

Significant accounting policies

The costs of acquiring land, buildings, equipment and other capital property are capitalized as tangible capital assets and, except for land, are amortized
to expense over the estimated useful lives of the assets. For certain tangible capital assets where the costs were not readily available, such as older
buildings, estimated current costs have been extrapolated retrospectively in a systematic and rational manner to approximate original costs. When
significant parts of a tangible capital asset have different useful lives, they may be accounted for as separate items (major components) of capital assets
with amortization being recognized over the useful life of each major component. Estimated useful lives of assets are included in the table below.

Assets acquired under capital leases are recorded at the present value of the minimum lease payments using the appropriate discount rate, which is
generally the lower of the interest rate implicit in the lease and government’s rate of incremental borrowing at the inception of the lease. These assets
are amortized over the lease term or the estimated useful life of the asset in accordance with the asset type when terms allow ownership to pass to the
Government. The corresponding lease obligations are recorded under unmatured debt on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.

When conditions indicate that a tangible capital asset no longer contributes to the Government’s ability to provide goods and services, or that the value
of future economic benefits associated with the tangible capital asset is less than its net book value, the cost of the tangible capital asset is reduced to
reflect the decline in the asset’s value.

Tangible capital assets do not include immovable assets located on reserves as defined in the Indian Act; works of art, museum collections and Crown land
to which no acquisition cost is attributable; and intangible assets. Acquisitions of works of art and museum collections consisting mainly of paintings,
sculptures, drawings, prints, photographs, monuments, films and videos are expensed in the fiscal year in which they are acquired.

Inventories are valued at cost. Inventories that no longer have service potential are valued at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Items for which
the costs are not readily available are valued using management’s best estimate of original cost, based on available information.

Measurement uncertainty

Tangible capital assets are subject to measurement uncertainty due to the estimation of the expected useful lives of the assets. In determining the expected
useful lives, factors taken into account include experience, industry trends, changing technologies and expectations for the in-service period of these
assets.

The appropriateness of useful lives of assets and amortization methods is assessed periodically, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for
on a prospective basis. Changes to useful life estimates would affect future amortization expenses and future carrying values of tangible capital assets.

Judgment is used in determining the appropriate level of componentization when a tangible capital asset comprises individual components for which
different amortization rates are appropriate.

Inventory is subject to measurement uncertainty due to the estimation of allowances for pricing errors and the value of dormant inventory.
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Except for land, the cost of tangible capital assets used in Government operations is generally amortized on a straight-line basis over the

estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

Buildings® 10 to 60 years
Works and infrastructure? 10 to 80 years
Machinery and equipment 2 to 30 years
Vehicles......ccooviiiinnnn 2 to 40 years

Leasehold improvements ..
Assets under construction .
Assets under capital leases....

lesser of useful life of improvement or lease term
once in service, in accordance with asset type
in accordance with asset type or over the lease term

' Except for some building components, which are amortized up to 125 years.

> Except for the Confederation Bridge, which is amortized over 100 years.

The following table presents a summary of the transactions and balances for the main categories of tangible capital assets:

(in millions of dollars)

Cost Accumulated amortization
Amorti- Net book  Net book
Opening  Acqui- Dispo-  Adjust-  Closing Opening zation Dispo-  Adjust- Closing value value
balance sitions sals ments!  balance balance expense sals ments balance 20192 2018
1,814 286 (14) 14 2,100 - - - - - 2,100 1,814
Buildings .. 32,811 84 (178) 2,448 35,165 16,987 920 (154) (30) 17,723 17,442 15,824
Works and
infrastructure.......... 17,710 291 (104) 975 18,872 9,458 519 (84) 13 9,906 8,966 8,252
Machinery and
equipment............... 37,168 925 (1,073) 1,494 38,514 26,069 1,948 (940) (308) 26,769 11,745 11,099
Vehicles.........ccouvunen. 42,257 254 (484) 863 42,890 26,999 1,854 (457) (331) 28,065 14,825 15,258
Leasehold
improvements......... 3,298 27 (31) 183 3,477 2,171 173 (28) 23 2,339 1,138 1,127
Assets under
construction... 17,760 9,200 ° (74)  (6,698) 20,188 - - - - - 20,188 17,760
Assets under
capital leases .......... 4,902 67 ° (309) 8 4,668 2,201 229 (299) (1) 2,130 2,538 2,701
Total oo 157,720 11,134 (2,267) (713) 165,874 83,885 5643  (1,962)  (634) 86,932 78,942 73,835

Adjustments include assets under construction of $6,472 million ($4,374 million in 2018) that were transferred to other categories upon completion of the assets.

2 The Government has $83 million ($20 million in 2018) in net book value of capital assets with an original acquisition cost of $1,743 million ($2,005 million in 2018) that

have been declared surplus. Upon physical disposal, the government’s investment in the tangible capital asset will be removed.

3 Acquisitions of $1,115 million ($206 million in 2018) in assets under construction through public-private partnership arrangements, including $85 million ($70 million
in 2018) in interest, and $8 million ($367 million in 2018) in assets under capital leases do not involve the use of cash and are therefore excluded from the Consolidated

Statement of Cash Flow.
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18. Financial instruments

The Government uses various financial instruments to manage financial risks associated with its financial assets and liabilities. The
Government does not hold or use derivative instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

(a) Derivative financial instruments
i. Swap agreements

Government debt is issued at both fixed and variable interest rates and is denominated in Canadian dollars, US dollars and Euros. The
Government has entered into cross currency swap agreements to facilitate management of its debt structure. Using cross currency swap
agreements, Canadian dollar and other foreign currency debt has been converted into US dollars or other foreign currencies with either fixed
interest rates or variable interest rates. As a normal practice, the Government’sswap positions are held to maturity.

The interest paid or payable and the interest received or receivable on all swap transactions are recorded as part of public debt charges.
Unrealized gains or losses due to fluctuations in the foreign exchange value of the swaps are presented in the cross currency swap
revaluation account and are recognized as part of net foreign exchange revenues in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and
Accumulated Deficit.

The Government enters into two-way Credit Support Annex agreements for cross currency swaps with certain counterparties pursuant to
International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) master agreements. Under the terms of those agreements, the Government may
be required to pledge and/or receive eligible collateral relating to obligations to the counterparties. In the normal course of business, these
pledged collateral amounts (which may include cash and/or securities) will be returned to the pledgor when there are no longer any
outstanding obligations. At March 31, 2019, cash collateral pledged of $7,163 million ($8,716 million in 2018) is recorded in other
accounts receivable, and cash collateral received of $165 million ($96 million in 2018) is recorded in other liabilities. In addition, the
Government holds collateral in securities from counterparties with a nominal amount of $2,207 million and fair value of $2,602 million
(nominal amount of $2,086 million and fair value of $2,456 million in 2018), which has not been recognized in the statement of financial
position as the Government does not obtain economic ownership unless the pledgor defaults.

Cross currency swaps with contractual principal amounts outstanding at March 31, stated in Canadian dollars, are as follows:

(in millions of dollars)

Maturing year 2019

6,881
11,340
7,281
7,351
10,312
39,979

83,144

ii. Foreign-exchange forward agreements

The Government’s lending arrangements with the International Monetary Fund (IMF), included in the foreign exchange accounts, are
denominated in special drawing rights (SDR). However, the Government typically funds these loans with US dollars. Consequently, since
the value of the SDR is based upon a basket of key international currencies (US dollar, Euro, Japanese yen, British pound sterling and
Chinese renminbi), a currency mismatch results, whereby fluctuations in the value of the loan asset are not equally offset by fluctuations
in the value of the related funding liability. Therefore, the Government enters into forward agreements to hedge this foreign exchange
risk.

Unrealized gains or losses due to fluctuations in the foreign exchange value of these agreements are recorded in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities and are recognized as part of the net foreign exchange revenues in the Consolidated Statement of Operations and
Accumulated Deficit.

The notional principal amount of a foreign-exchange forward agreement refers to the principal amount used to calculate contractual cash
flows. This amount does not represent an asset or liability, and is not included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.
Foreign-exchange forward agreements outstanding at March 31, with notional principal amounts in Canadian dollars of $2,065 million
(%$1,291 million at March 31, 2018), mature during the next fiscal year.

iii. Credit risk related to swap and foreign-exchange forward agreements

The Government manages its exposure to credit risk by dealing principally with financial institutions having acceptable credit ratings,
based on external credit ratings and internal credit analysis, in accordance with the Statement of Investment Policy for the Government
of Canada.
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Credit risk is also managed through collateral provisions in swap and foreign-exchange forward agreements. Collateral pledged by
counterparties to the Government may be liquidated in the event of default to mitigate credit losses.

The Government does not have a significant concentration of credit risk with any individual institution and does not anticipate any
counterparty credit loss with respect to its swap and foreign-exchange forward agreements.

The following table presents the contractual or notional principal amounts of the swap and foreign-exchange forward agreements organized
by credit ratings based on published Standard & Poor’s credit ratings and stand-alone credit profiles at year end:

(in millions of dollars)

Credit ratings 2019 2018
28,050 27,390
37,966 21,628
19,193 32,285
85,209 81,303

(b) Managing foreign currency and interest rate risks and sensitivity analysis to foreign currency exposures

Foreign currency and interest rate risks are managed using a strategy of matching the duration and the currency of the foreign exchange
accounts assets and the related foreign currency borrowings of the Government. At March 31, 2019, assets within the foreign exchange
accounts and their related foreign currency borrowings substantially offset each other on a market value basis. Accordingly, the impact of
price changes affecting these assets and the liabilities funding these assets naturally offset each other, resulting in no significant impact to the
Government’s net debt.

Assets related to the IMF are only partially matched by related foreign currency borrowings as they are denominated in SDRs, however,
foreign-exchange risks relating to loans to the IMF have been managed through entering into various foreign-exchange forward agreements.

The majority of the government foreign currency assets and related liabilities are held in four currency portfolios: the US dollar, the Euro, the
British pound sterling and the Japanese yen. At March 31, 2019, a 1% appreciation in the Canadian dollar as compared to the US dollar,
the Euro, the British pound sterling and the Japanese yen would result in a foreign exchange loss of $2 million due to the exposure of the Euro
portfolio. There is no significant exposure related to the US Dollar, the British pound sterling and the Japanese yen portfolios.

The net foreign exchange gain included in net foreign exchange revenues, other revenues and other expenses on the Consolidated
Statement of Operations and Accumulated Deficit amounts to $31 million (net foreign exchange gain of $54 million in 2018).

(c) Fair value information

The carrying values of other accounts payable and accrued liabilities, interest and matured debt, cash and cash equivalents, other accounts
receivable and other loans, investments and advances are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short-term to maturity or
allowances recorded to reduce their carrying values to amounts that approximate their estimated realizable values.

The following table presents the fair value of derivative financial instruments with contractual or notional principal amounts outstanding
at March 31:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Principal Fair Principal Fair
amount value amount value
CTOSS CUITENCY SWAPS. ...+ttt 83,144 (7,033) 80,012 (8,391)
Foreign-exchange forward agreements .... 2,065 11 1,291 -
TOTAL oo s 85,209 (7,022) 81,303 (8,391)

Fair values of the swap and foreign-exchange forward agreements are the estimated amount that the Government would receive or pay, based
on market factors, if the agreements were terminated on March 31. They are established by discounting the expected cash flows of the swap
and foreign-exchange forward agreements, calculated from the contractual or notional principal amounts, using year-end market interest and
exchange rates. A positive (negative) fair value indicates that the Government would receive (make) a payment if the agreements were
terminated on March 31.
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19. Contractual obligations and contractual rights

(a) Contractual obligations

The nature of Government activities results in large multi-year contracts and agreements, including international treaties, protocols and
agreements of various size and importance. Detailed information on contractual obligations is provided in Section 11 (unaudited) of this
volume.

Significant accounting policies

Contractual obligations are financial obligations of the Government to others that will become liabilities when the terms of those contracts or agreements
for the acquisition of goods and services or the provision of transfer payments are met. Major outstanding contractual obligations are disclosed when
terms allow for a reasonable estimate. Contractual obligations do not include the Government's obligations related to ongoing programs such as health,
welfare, education and major transfers to provinces and persons. In these cases, the Government does not have a contractual obligation to others and
maintains complete discretion as to whether to modify the delivery of these programs.

Measurement uncertainty

While there are no significant measurement uncertainties related to contractual obligations, some measurement uncertainty is inherent in all estimates.
Contractual obligations for transfer payment agreements and international organizations are subject to some measurement uncertainty due to the terms
and conditions of certain agreements resulting in contractual obligations. Certain obligations are dependent upon a future activity of the other party to
the agreement, requiring the use of estimates in the disclosure of future expenses. These estimates also include factors such as experience or general
economic conditions.

Major contractual obligations that will generate expenditures in future years and that can be reasonably estimated are summarized as
follows:

(in millions of dollars)

Transfer
payment Capital assets Operating International
Minimum payments to be made in: agreements and purchases leases organizations® Total
31,018 12,413 477 1,755 45,663
19,144 9,096 495 1,185 29,920
14,698 7,236 446 391 22,771
10,457 3,585 378 188 14,608
6,627 2,243 305 103 9,278
23,232 13,721 2,181 1,123 40,257
Total .... 105,176 48,294 4,282 4,745 162,497

" Includes transfer payments, undisbursed loans and advances to international organizations as well as loans for the development of export trade (administered by Export
Development Canada), if any, which Canada has agreed to disburse in the future. Future paid-in share capital commitments made by Canada for future purchases of non-
budgetary share capital in international organizations are also included.

(b) Contractual rights

The activities of Government sometimes involve the negotiation of contracts or agreements with outside parties that result in the
Government having rights to both assets and revenues in the future. They principally involve sales of goods and services, leases of
property, and royalties and revenue/profit-sharing arrangements while all other contractual rights are combined for reporting purposes.
The Government has agreements that provide contractual rights to future revenue based on a percentage of revenue or profits of the other
party to the agreement, or based on receiving an amount for each unit of goods sold. The terms of these contracts or agreements may not
allow for a reasonable estimate of future revenues.

Significant accounting policies

Major contractual rights to economic resources arising from contracts and agreements that will result in both an asset and revenue in the future are
disclosed when terms allow for a reasonable estimate.

Measurement uncertainty

Contractual rights are subject to measurement uncertainty due to the terms and conditions of certain agreements resulting in contractual rights. Certain
rights are dependent on the sales or other future activity of the other party to the agreement, requiring the use of estimates in the disclosure of future
revenue. Estimates may be based on factors such as experience or general economic conditions.
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Where the terms of contracts and agreements allow for a reasonable estimate, the major contractual rights are summarized in the table
presented below. Detailed information on contractual rights is provided in Section 11 (unaudited) of this volume.

(in millions of dollars)

Royalties and

Sales of goods Leases of revenue/profit-sharing
Revenue to be received in: and services property arrangements Other Total
2,365 447 2 423 3,237
2,429 481 3 55 2,968
2,494 498 2 52 3,046
2,555 507 2 49 3,113
2,621 523 1 41 3,186
23,852 611 10 425 24,898
36,316 3,067 20 1,045 40,448

In addition, the Government is entitled to future interest revenues on investments, loans and advances. Additional information is disclosed in Note 14 and Note 16.

20. Segmented information

The Government segmented information is based on the ministry structure, which groups the activities of departments, agencies and
consolidated Crown corporations and other entities for which a Minister is responsible, and the enterprise Crown corporations and other
government business enterprises as described in Note 1 and Note 15.

Significant accounting policies

The presentation by segment is prepared in accordance with the accounting policies adopted for preparing and presenting the consolidated financial
statements of the government. Inter-segment transfers are measured at the exchange amount.

Measurement uncertainty

There are no significant measurement uncertainties related to segmented information.
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The five main ministries are reported separately and the others are grouped together with the provision for valuation and other items. The
following tables present the segmented information by Ministry and enterprise Crown corporations and other government business
enterprises before the elimination of internal transactions that are eliminated in the adjustments column before arriving at the total for the
year ended March 31:

(in millions of dollars)

2019
Enterprise
Crown
corporations
Families, Public and other
Children Safety and government
and Social National ~ National Emergency Other business Adjust-
Development  Finance Defence Revenue  Preparedness  ministries enterprises ments? Total
Revenues
Tax revenues
Income tax revenues - - - 223,619 - - - - 223,619
Other taxes and duties... - - - 21,879 35,348 - - - 57,227
Total tax revenues...........ccocvvveeenns - - — 245,498 35,348 - - - 280,846
Employment insurance premiums......... 22,698 - - - - - - (403) 22,295
Other revenues
Enterprise Crown corporations and
other government business
- - - - - - 7,101 - 7,101
3,091 1,284 422 6,695 2,649 20,382 - (14,214) 20,309
Net foreign exchange..... — 1,667 - — — - - - 1,667
Total other revenues .... 3,091 2,951 422 6,695 2,649 20,382 7,101 (14,214) 29,077
Total reVeNUES .........covveiiiriiiiienns 25,789 2,951 422 252,193 37,997 20,382 7,101 (14,617) 332,218

Expenses
Program expenses
Transfer payments

Old age security benefits,
guaranteed income
supplement and spouse's
allowance.............cccovviiiiinnen 53,366 - - - - - - - 53,366

Major transfer payments to other

levels of government - 70,734 - - - 5,191 - - 75,925
Employment insurance 18,888 - - - - - - - 18,888
Children's benefits 17 - - 23,865 - - - - 23,882
Fuel charge proceeds

TetUrNed .....c.ovvvvieeiiiiiinns - - - 664 - - - - 664
Other transfer payments .............. 8,899 1,012 209 3,737 1,132 37,182 - (418) 51,753
Total transfer payments.............. 81,170 71,746 209 28,266 1,132 42,373 - (418) 224,478

Other eXpenses .........oceeerveerireenenns 4,956 1,095 31,923 8,963 12,247 53,445 = (14,191) 98,438
Total program expenses................... 86,126 72,841 32,132 37,229 13,379 95,818 - (14,609) 322,916
Public debt charges - 23,020 74 - 1 179 - (8) 23,266
Total EXPENSES ..c.oveviiieieriieerieieeeieins 86,126 95,861 32,206 37,229 13,380 95,997 - (14,617) 346,182

Details providing total expenses by segment and type can be found in Section 3 (unaudited) of this volume.
' Represents consolidation adjustments to eliminate internal transactions.
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(in millions of dollars)

2018
Enterprise
Crown
corporations
Families, Public and other
Children Safety and government
and Social National ~ National Emergency Other business Adjust-
Development Finance Defence Revenue  Preparedness — ministries enterprises ments? Total
Restated? Restated?
(Note 2a) (Note 2a)
Revenues
Tax revenues
Income tax revenues - - - 209,269 - - - - 209,269
Other taxes and duties... - - - 21,798 32,021 - - - 53,819
Total tax revenues - - - 231,067 32,021 - - - 263,088
Employment insurance premiums......... 21,533 - - - - - - (393) 21,140
Other revenues
Enterprise Crown corporations and
other government business
ENEEIPIISES ...vvvieieieieirieieeieine - - - - - - 7,731 - 7,731
Other? 3,002 932 430 4,906 2,757 19,521 - (13,764) 17,784
Net foreign exchange..... - 1,473 - - - - - - 1,473
Total other revenues .............c.coc..... 3,002 2,405 430 4,906 2,757 19,521 7,731 (13,764) 26,988
Total revenues ..........ccovvveeiniiiisiinnns 24,535 2,405 430 235,973 34,778 19,521 7,731 (14,157) 311,216
Expenses
Program expenses
Transfer payments
Old age security benefits,
guaranteed income
supplement and spouse's
allowance.........cccccevveevveveennnne 50,644 - - - - - - - 50,644
Major transfer payments to other
levels of government............. - 68,447 - - - 2,072 - - 70,519
Employment insurance... 19,715 - - - - - - - 19,715
Children's benefits 13 - - 23,419 - - - - 23,432
Fuel charge proceeds
returned - - - - - - - - -
Other transfer payments 9,088 411 155 3,622 918 33,296 — (352) 47,138
Total transfer payments.............. 79,460 68,858 155 27,041 918 35,368 - (352) 211,448
Other expenses?.........cooeererernnen: 5117 531 32,297 8,075 11,586 53,033 - (13,799) 96,840
Total program expenses................... 84,577 69,389 32,452 35,116 12,504 88,401 - (14,151) 308,288
Public debt charges .........c.cccccviiininne. - 21,629 79 - 1 186 - (6) 21,889
Total EXPENSES ...c.vveviieeieiciei e 84,577 91,018 32,531 35,116 12,505 88,587 - (14,157) 330,177

Details providing total expenses by segment and type can be found in Section 3 (unaudited) of this volume.
1 Represents consolidation adjustments to eliminate internal transactions.
2 Details on the restatement are provided in Note 2a of this section.
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Revenues, expenses and accumulated deficit

Table 3.1
Revenues, expenses and accumulated deficit
(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018

Restated *

Revenues
TaX TEVENUES, TADIE 3.2 ...t s 280,846 263,088
Employment insurance premiums 22,295 21,140
Other revenues!, Table 3.4............... 29,077 26,988
TOTAI FBVEIUES ...ttt bbbt bbb bbb £ bR b b £ bbb bbb e bt e b e bt e b et et eb et b et et 332,218 311,216

Expenses
Transfer payments.... 224,478 211,448
Other expenses!... 98,438 96,840
Total program expenses 322,916 308,288
Public debt charges, Table 3.8................. 23,266 21,889
Total expenses, Table 3.6...... 346,182 330,177
ANNUAD GETICHT ...ttt bbb bbb bbb bbb bbb bbb bbbt b s (13,964) (18,961)
Accumulated deficit at DegiNNING O YEAT .........ciiiiiiiiiii e (671,254) (651,540)
Other cOMPrehensive (I0SS) INCOME ...........uiiiiiiii et b bbb bbb bbbttt (232) (753)
Accumulated defiCit @t NG OF YEAT .......c.iiiiiiiiii bbb (685,450) (671,254)

1 Details on the restatement are provided in Note 2 in Section 2 of this volume.

Revenues

Revenues consist of all tax and other amounts which enter into the calculation of the annual surplus or deficit of the Government.
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Tax revenues

Table 3.2
Tax revenues

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Tax revenues
Income tax revenues
PEISONAL ...ttt 163,881 153,619
Corporate 50,368 47,805
Non-resident .. 9,370 7,845
TOLAl INCOME TAX FEVENUES ......c.veeeveeevectie et et et e et e eteeete e eeteeteesteeteesteeaseesseeseeseeseeaseeseanseessesesesseanseasseseesseaseseseensesnsesteesreans 223,619 209,269
Other taxes and duties
G00ds AN SENVICES taX, TADIE 3.3 ... vttt bbb 38,221 36,751
Energy taxes
Excise tax—Gasoline 4,483 4,501
Excise tax—Aviation gasoline and diesel fuel.... 1,319 1,238
Total energy taxes 5,802 5,739
Customs import duties 6,881 5,416
Other excise taxes and duties
Excise duties 5,228 4,857
Air travellers security charge..... 872 823
Other miscellaneous excise taxes and duties, 223 233
Total other excise taxes and duties 6,323 5,913
Total other taxes and duties 57,227 53,819
TOTAL TAX TEVENUES .......vuiveisieiseisies ettt a1 888888ttt nr s 280,846 263,088

1 Additional details are provided in Table 4a in Section 1 of Volume 11 of the Public Accounts of Canada.

Personal income tax

Personal income tax is levied on personal income under the provisions of the Income Tax Act.
Corporate income tax

Corporate income tax is levied on corporate income under the provisions of the Income Tax Act.
Non-resident income tax

Non-resident income tax is levied on income earned in Canada by non-residents under the provisions of the Income Tax Act. This tax is
derived from tax withheld from dividends, interest, rents, royalties, alimony, and income from estates and trusts paid to non-residents.

Non-resident income tax revenues also include withholding taxes on income earned in Canada by non-resident life insurance companies
and income from trusts.
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Other taxes and duties

Other taxes and duties are collected under the Excise Act, the Excise Act, 2001, the Excise Tax Act, Customs Tariff (Act) and other acts.
They include the goods and services tax, energy taxes, customs import duties, as well as other excise taxes and duties.

Goods and services tax

The goods and services tax (GST) became effective January 1, 1991. It is applied at a rate of 5% on most goods and services consumed
in Canada, with only a limited set of exclusions that consists of certain medical devices, prescription drugs, basic groceries, residential
rents as well as most health and dental care services.

Table 3.3
Goods and services tax

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
{3 TSP ST P PP U O TOU SR PRT PP PI 45,392 43,687
Less: remission order for the GST paid and accrued by ministries on or for goods and services purchased
TTOM OUESIAR PAMTIES ...ttt ettt e bbbt b b b€ £ E e h b b€t e b A bbb e bbb et e b et et et et beb et nter e 2,494 2,357
Gr0SS GST fTOM OUESIAE PAITIES ...ttt 42,898 41,330
LeSS: QUANTETTY TAX CTEAITS ...ttt b bbb bbb 4,677 4,579
NEt GST frOM OULSIAE PAITIES. ......eveuiiiieeteetete etttk b bttt b b bt b b h e £ ek bt b bt et ee bbb ettt ab s 38,221 36,751

Energy taxes
Energy taxes primarily include the excise tax on gasoline, aviation gas and diesel fuel.
Customs import duties

Revenues from customs import duties consist mainly of ad valorem taxes on the importation of goods levied under the Customs Tariff
(Act).

Other excise taxes and duties

Excise taxes and duties are levied on alcoholic beverages and tobacco products. In addition, excise taxes are imposed on other items such
as passenger vehicle air conditioners. The Air Travellers Security Charge is collected by air carriers at the time of payment for the air
travel by the purchaser of an air transportation service.

Employment insurance premiums

Premiums from employees and employers are levied under the provisions of the Employment Insurance Act and are classified as part of
revenues. Additional details on employment insurance premiums are provided in Section 4 of this volume.
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Other revenues

Table 3.4
Other revenues

(in millions of dollars)

Other revenues
Enterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises
Share of annual profit ...
Interest and other

Total enterprise Crown corporations and other government business eNtErPriSes ...........ocovviiiiiiiiiiininniriieiriens

Other programs

REtUrn 0N iNVESEMENLS, TADIE 3.5 ...ttt et et e et et e et eeae et eeeteereeeteeseeebeebeeaeeereesreenseaneenns

Sales of goods and services
Rights and privileges..
Lease and use of public property
Services of a regulatory nature
Services of a non-regulatory nature
Sales of goods and information products®
Other fees and charges ...........cccoeue.
Total sales of goods and services

Miscellaneous

Total miscellaneous....

TOLAI ONEE PrOGIAMS ......cvvtttteiieiei ettt b bbb bbb bbb

Net foreign exchange
Exchange Fund Account
International Monetary Fund....

Total net foreign exchange...

TOUAl OTNET TEVEBNUES? ......voveisveieseisie e tseies et sse sttt a8t

2019 2018
Restated*
5,920 6,959
1,181 772
7,101 7,731
1,806 1,316
2,322 2,824
778 746
1,780 1,622
4,014 4,515
1,218 1,307
806 847
10,918 11,861
6,171 4,352
1,414 255
7,585 4,607
20,309 17,784
1,480 1,713
164 (212)
23 (28)
1,667 1,473
29,077 26,988

1 Details on the restatement are provided in Note 2 in Section 2 of this volume.
2 Additional details are provided in Table 4a in Section 1 of Volume 11 of the Public Accounts of Canada.

Enterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises

Revenues include interest earned on loans to enterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises as well as the
government’s share of the accumulated profits or losses of enterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises.

Other programs

Other program revenues include sales of goods and services, return on investments, and miscellaneous revenues. Details are reported by

individual ministry in VVolume 11 of the Public Accounts of Canada.

Net foreign exchange

Net foreign exchange revenues include the revenues from investments held in the Exchange Fund Account and the International Monetary

Fund, as well as the net gains or losses resulting from the translation of these investments to Canadian dollars as at March 31. Net foreign
exchange revenues also include the net gains or losses resulting from foreign debt and currency swap revaluations.
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Return on investments

Table 3.5
Return on investments®

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018

Cash and accounts receivable

INEErESE ON DANK GEPOSIES ...ttt b ettt bbb bt b st b s b bt e bbb ettt b bt e 738 418
Loans, investments and advances

National governments including developing COUNEIIES ..........ciiiiiiiriiiriieie e 24 11

International organizations 3 6

Other loans, investments and advances.... 964 908

Total 10ans, INVESTMENES ANT AAVANCES .........cueviviiiiiririsisirisiiiiette ettt 991 925
OFNBI BCCOUNES ..ottt s st s s8££t nn 1 - 2
Total Ministerial FELUIM 0N INVESIMENES ........cviirieiee ettt ettt et eteete et e eteeaeesteebeeseesteesseenseasseeseesseseeesseasseaseensesreesreeseasean 1,730 1,343
Net gain on exchange 25 (61)
Accrual of other revenues 52 38
Total return on investments 1,807 1,320
Elimination of return on investments internal to the Government (1) 4)
Total external return on investments 1,806 1,316

1 Additional details are provided in Table 4a in Section 1 of Volume 11 and in Section 10 of Volume 111 of the Public Accounts of Canada.

2 Less than $500,000.
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EXxpenses

Expenses consist of all charges which enter into the calculation of the annual deficit or surplus of the Government.
Accounting for expenses

The Government reports all expenses on an accrual basis.

Expenses for Government operations are recorded when goods are received or services are rendered. Transfer payments are recorded as
expenses in the year the transfer is authorized and all eligibility criteria have been met by the recipient. Public debt charges are recorded
when incurred. They include interest, servicing costs, costs of issuing new borrowings, amortization of premiums and discounts on market
debt, as well as interest on public sector pensions and other employee and veteran future benefits.

Table 3.6
External expenses by segment and by type

(in millions of dollars)

Major transfer payments® Other transfer payments?
2019 2018 2019 2018
Ministries
Agriculture and Agri-Food - - 1,397 1,258
Canadian Heritage and Multiculturalism?.... - - 1,182 1,257
Crown-Indigenous Relations - - 5,543 6,483
Democratic Institutions® ........ - - 1 2
Environment and Climate Change ... - - 429 222
Families, Children and Social Development 72,272 70,372 8,899 9,088
Finance 70,734 68,447 1,012 411
Fisheries, Oceans and the Canadian Coast Guard - - 182 127
Global Affairs*.... - - 4,679 4,300
Health 849 - 1,930 1,631
Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship.... - - 1,434 1,296
Indigenous Services - - 9,731 8,778
Infrastructure and Communities 4,341 2,072 3,330 1,536
Innovation, Science and Economic Development?.. . - - 2,636 2,851
JUSLICE . " - - 400 381
National Defence. - - 209 155
National Revenue..... 23,865 23,419 4,401 3,622
Natural Resources - - 1,717 909
Office of the Governor General's Secretary . " - - - -
Parliament - - 1 2
Privy Council® - - 7 -
Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness .... - - 1,132 918
Public Services and Procurement® .... - - - (1)
Science® . - - 2,106 1,917
Transport... - - 212 213
Treasury Board.... - - 1 1
Veterans Affairs .. - - 21 24
Women and Gender Equality® ... - - 29 21
Provision for valuation and other items.. . — — (204) (264)
TOtAl EXPENSEST ...ttt bbb 172,061 164,310 52,417 47,138

1 Includes transfer payments of $53,366 million ($50,644 million in 2018) for old age security benefits, the guaranteed income supplement and the spouse’s allowance;
$75,925 million ($70,519 million in 2018) to other levels of government; $18,888 million ($19,715 million in 2018) for employment insurance and $23,882 million
($23,432 million in 2018) for children’s benefits. Additional information is provided in Table 3.7 of this section.

Includes transfer payments of $664 million (nil in 2018) for fuel charge proceeds returned.

Comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Comparative figures have been restated. Details on the restatement are provided in Note 2 in Section 2 of this volume.

Additional information is provided in Table 2a in Section 1 of VVolume II of the Public Accounts of Canada.

Additional information is provided in Table 3.8 of this section.

o o » w N
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Expenses include provisions to reflect changes in the value of assets or liabilities, including provisions for bad debts, for loans, investments
and advances, as well as for inventory obsolescence. Expenses also include amortization of tangible capital assets, utilization of
inventories, as well as prepaid expenses and other.

Organizations within the Government’s reporting entity transact with each other on a day-to-day basis and thus contribute to the revenues
and expenses recorded in the accounts. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, these “internal transactions” are eliminated so
as to report on the basis of transactions with outside parties only.

Table 3.6 presents a comparative summary of external expenses by type. The table also discloses the external expenses by segment.

Total transfer payments Other expenses Public debt charges® Total expenses
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Restated*
1,397 1,258 1,175 1,167 - - 2,572 2,425
1,182 1,257 3,090 3,177 3 3 4,275 4,437
5,543 6,483 2,357 3,226 - - 7,900 9,709
1 2 178 123 - - 179 125
429 222 1,946 1,807 - 1 2,375 2,030
81,171 79,460 3,135 3,232 - - 84,306 82,692
71,746 68,858 539 527 23,012 21,623 95,297 91,008
182 127 2,402 1,954 - - 2,584 2,081
4,679 4,300 2,406 2,150 - - 7,085 6,450
2,779 1,631 2,269 2,223 - - 5,048 3,854
1,434 1,296 1,455 1,338 - - 2,889 2,634
9,731 8,778 1,816 1,868 - - 11,547 10,646
7,671 3,608 539 540 - - 8,210 4,148
2,636 2,851 2,632 2,540 - - 5,268 5,391
400 381 1,425 1,352 - - 1,825 1,733
209 155 31,714 32,077 74 79 31,997 32,311
28,266 27,041 8,529 7,798 - - 36,795 34,839
1,717 909 2,015 1,649 1 1 3,733 2,559
- - 22 24 - - 22 24
1 2 730 723 - - 731 725
7 - 348 342 - - 355 342
1,132 918 11,995 11,318 1 1 13,128 12,237
- 1) 4,730 4,918 133 139 4,863 5,056
2,106 1,917 93 83 - - 2,199 2,000
212 213 2,932 2,715 42 42 3,186 2,970
1 1 6,720 3,881 - - 6,721 3,882
21 24 1,120 960 - - 1,141 984
29 21 42 22 - - 71 43
(204) (264) 84 3,106 - - (120) 2,842
224,478 211,448 98,438 96,840 23,266 21,889 346,182 330,177
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Expenses by segment

The Government’s segmented information is based on the ministerial portfolio structure. It groups the activities of departments, agencies
and consolidated Crown corporations and other entities for which a Minister is responsible, as described in Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements in Section 2 of this volume.

Government’s cost of operations

Government’s cost of operations consists of three major types: transfer payments, other expenses, and public debt charges.
Transfer payments

The major transfer payments include payments to persons and payments to provinces and territories.

Payments to persons include payments for income support or income supplement. Assistance is based on age, family status, income, and
employment criteria.

Payments to provinces and territories are made under the following major programs:

— The fiscal arrangements allow for unconditional fiscal transfer payments to lower income provinces including subsidies under the
Constitution Acts; and

— The Canada Health Transfer and the Canada Social Transfer allow for the provision of the federal share in support of social
programs administered by the provinces.

The other transfer payments include various subsidies paid through federal programs to stabilize market prices for commaodities, to develop
new technologies, to conduct research, to establish new jobs through support for training and to promote educational and cultural activities.
Expenses of other consolidated entities and other miscellaneous payments are also included.

Other expenses

Other expenses include personnel, professional and special services, repair and maintenance, utilities, materials and supplies, as well as
amortization of tangible capital assets. Provisions to reflect changes in the value of assets or liabilities, such as provisions for bad debts,
loans, investments and advances and inventory obsolescence, as well as utilization of inventories and prepaid expenses, and other are also
included in other expenses. Public sector pensions and other employee and veteran future benefits are included in personnel expenses.

Public debt charges

Public debt charges include interest, servicing costs, costs of issuing new borrowings, amortization of premiums and discounts on market
debt including amounts arising on the extinguishment of debt, as well as interest on public sector pensions and other employee and veteran
future benefits.
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Table 3.7
Major transfer payments by province and territory

(in millions of dollars)

Old Age Canada Canada Other
Fiscal Security ~ Employment Fiscal Quebec Health Social major Children's
year benefits* Insurance  arrangements ~ Abatement?  Transfer ~ Transfer  transfers®  benefits Total
Newfoundland and Labrador.. 2019 1,086 1,169 10 - 535 202 45 - 3,047
2018 1,025 1,227 14 - 536 199 31 - 3,032
Prince Edward Island ............. 2019 263 270 419 - 158 58 20 - 1,188
2018 251 266 392 - 155 57 - - 1,121
Nova Scotia .......c.cccrviriennnnen 2019 1,723 917 1,954 - 1,000 367 158 - 6,119
2018 1,638 909 1,825 - 965 357 56 - 5,750
New Brunswick ..............c...... 2019 1,485 977 1,876 - 814 299 65 - 5,516
2018 1,405 1,003 1,768 - 770 285 46 - 5,277
QUEDEC......coviiiie, 2019 14,775 3,703 11,738 (5,046) 8,679 3,185 696 - 37,730
2018 14,024 3,876 11,155 (4,739) 8,487 3,144 481 - 36,428
ONtario.......cocovvviisiiieiens 2019 20,158 5,953 972 - 14,851 5,450 1,148 - 48532
2018 19,113 6,057 1,548 - 14,364 5,316 782 - 47,180
Manitoba..........ccooevviniiiiinin 2019 1,797 682 2,040 - 1,413 518 103 - 6,553
2018 1,712 658 1,834 - 1,354 501 69 - 6,128
Saskatchewan..............c.co.c..... 2019 1,537 647 2 - 1,203 442 89 - 3,920
2018 1,465 685 12 - 1,176 435 59 - 3,832
Alberta... 2019 4,544 2,336 2 - 4,461 1,638 328 - 13,309
2018 4,226 2,675 40 - 4,325 1,601 219 - 13,086
British Columbia.................... 2019 7,545 2,133 3 - 5,325 1,955 393 - 17,354
2018 7,108 2,261 43 - 4,868 1,807 266 - 16,353
Total provinces .........c.coeueeene. 2019 54,913 18,787 19,016 (5,046) 38,439 14,114 3,045 — 143,268
2018 51,967 19,617 18,631 (4,739) 37,000 13,702 2,009 - 138,187
Northwest Territories 2019 33 26 1,256 - 47 17 18 - 1,397
2018 94 33 1,233 - 45 17 63 - 1,485
Nunavut .... 2019 11 33 1,579 - 39 14 16 - 1,692
2018 10 27 1,530 - 39 14 - - 1,620
Yukon Territory 2019 32 34 950 - 43 16 17 - 1,092
2018 31 31 920 - 40 15 - - 1,037
International 2019 299 8 - - - - - - 307
2018 273 7 - - - - - - 280
Total expenses for
provinces and territories ... 2019 55,288 18,888 22,801 (5,046) 38,568 14,161 3,096 - 147,756
2018 52,375 19,715 22,314 (4,739) 37,124 13,748 2,072 - 142,609
Accrual and other
adjustments ... 2019 (1,922) - 174 - - - 2,171 - 423
2018 (1,731) - - - - - - - (1,731)
Subtotal.......cccceoirriiiiiis 2019 53,366 18,888 22,975 (5,046) 38,568 14,161 5,267 - 148,179
2018 50,644 19,715 22,314 (4,739) 37,124 13,748 2,072 - 140,878
Transfers made
through the tax system...... 2019 - - - - - - - 23,882 23,882
2018 - - - - - - - 23,432 23,432
Total major transfer
PaYMENtS ......covvevriviiiinins 2019 53,366 18,888 22,975 (5,046) 38,568 14,161 5,267 23,882 172,061
2018 50,644 19,715 22,314 (4,739) 37,124 13,748 2,072 23,432 164,310

Includes the guaranteed income supplement and the spouse’s allowance.
The Quebec Abatement is comprised of federal tax abated under the Alternative Payments for Standing Programs and the Youth Allowance Program of that province.
3 Includes the contributions under the federal Gas Tax Fund program of $4,341 million ($2,072 million in 2018).
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Public debt charges

Public debt charges include the interest on unmatured debt and on pensions, other future benefits and other liabilities, the amortization of
premiums and discounts on unmatured debt, and the servicing costs and the costs of issuing new borrowings.

Table 3.8 discloses the reconciling items between the total public debt charges, as reported in the ministerial section of the Department of
Finance in Section 8 of Volume Il of the Public Accounts of Canada, and the total expenses of the public debt indicated in Table 3.6
of this volume. The reconciling items include the interest expenses on capital leases as well as accrual and other adjustments.

Table 3.8
Public debt charges®
(in millions of dollars)
2019 2018
Unmatured debt
Interest on:
LAY oL G Lo L=l oo o TR SRORORT 12,952 12,440
Retail debt 16 27
Medium-term notes.... 49 32
13,017 12,499
Amortization of discounts on Canada and Treasury bills
Treasury bills 1,899 994
Canada bills 59 35
1,958 1,029
Amortization of premiums and discounts on all other debts
MAIKELADIE DONGS ... 340 119
Foreign bonds 5 7
Real return bonds (124) (126)
Consumer price index adjustments on real return bonds 865 970
1,086 970
Cross-currency swap revaluation (133) (282)
Servicing costs and costs of issuing new borrowings 8 13
Interest on capital lease obligations .. 175 185
Interest on obligations under public-private partnerships 80 81

Total public debt charges related to UNMATUIE DT ............uoiiiiiii bbb 16,191 14,495
Pensions and other future benefits
Interest on:
Public sector pensions—SUPErannUAtION BCCOUNTS..............uiiiiiiiitsiiie ettt 6,005 6,347

Allowance for pension adjustments (2,319) (2,169)
Consolidated Crown corporations and other entities pensions.. 177) (156)
3,509 4,022
Other employee and veteran future benefits
Public Service Health Care Plan and Pensioners' Dental Service Plan.. 800 826
Severance and other benefits 42 53
Accumulated sick leave entitlements... 37 42
Worker's compensation 37 36
Veterans' disability and other future benefits 2,021 1,869
Royal Canadian Mounted Police disability and other future benefits.... 326 281
Consolidated Crown corporations and other entities 9 9
3,272 3,116
Total public debt charges related to pensions and other future BENEFILS...........ccoiiiiii s 6,781 7,138
Other liabilities
Canada PENSION PIAN ........coiuiiiiiiii bbb 5 3
Government Annuities Account .... 7 8
Deposit and trust accounts 18 16
Other specified purpose accounts .. 153 159
Other liabilities T 111 70
Total public debt charges related t0 Other ADITTIES .........cc.i.eiiriiiiiie bbbttt 294 256
Consolidated specified purpose accounts
L =1 OO 8 6
Total public debt charges related to consolidated specified PUIPOSE ACCOUNLS ..........ceiviviiririiirieieririee ettt 8 6
Total public debt charges before consolidation adjustments 23,274 21,895
Less: consolidation adjustments 8 6
TOtAl PUDTIC BB CHAIGEST 2......visiiici etk 8 s sttt 23,266 21,889
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Table 3.8
Public debt charges'—concluded

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018

Comprised of:
Total public debt charges under statutory authorities before accrual and other adjustments
aNd CONSOIAALION AUJUSTIMENTS ........vevitieieitieieieiseetieteteter st ee st eh bbb e e e e e s e s e st h e bbb E bbbt Eeheh e s st s bbb bbb e ees 22,243 20,838

Accrual and other adjustments... 1,031 1,057
Consolidation adjustments (8) (6)
TOtAl PUDIIC AEIDT CRAIGES ...ttt b bbbt b bt bbb b b e b £ bbb e bttt b et ben et et e b bt nene 23,266 21,889

1 Asummary is provided in Table 2a in Section 1 of Volume Il of the Public Accounts of Canada.
2 Additional details are provided in Section 7 of Volume 111 of the Public Accounts of Canada.

Expenses by object

Table 3.9 reconciles the total net expenditures by object initially recorded by departments under the partial accrual method of accounting
to the total expenses which is based on the full accrual method of accounting. Reconciliation items represent the effect of consolidation
and full accrual accounting.

Table 3.9
Total expenses by object?

(in millions of dollars)

Total net Total
expenditures Reconciliation expenses
TrANSTEr PAYMENLS ...ttt bbbttt bbbt b bttt e b b 174,523 49,955 224,478
Other expenses
PEISOMNEL.......eiiieie ettt bbb bbbttt 46,132 11,550 57,682
Transportation and communications 3,070 (24) 3,046
Information ........cccceoevvviiicnnnenn. . 387 (16) 371
Professional and special services 12,940 (1,904) 11,036
ReNalS ......oovorveerreerreeenn 3,462 (745) 2,717
Repair and maintenance 3,608 (81) 3,527
Utilities, materials and supplies 3,050 262 3,312
Acquisition of land, buildings and works 2,378 (2,378) -
Acquisition of machinery and equipment .... 6,307 (6,307) -
Other subsidies and expenses 9,991 938 10,929
Amortization of tangible capital assets..... - 5,643 5,643
Net loss on disposal of assets - 175 175
Total other expenses 91,325 7,113 98,438
PUDIC DT CRAIGES ...ttt 22,454 812 23,266
TOLAl GrOSS EXPENSES ...ttt b bbb bbb bbb 288,302 57,880 346,182
Revenues netted against expenditures .... (11,461) 11,461 -
276,841 69,341 346,182

Total expenses

1 Additional details are provided in Table 3a in Section 1 of Volume 11 of the Public Accounts of Canada.
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Expenditures under statutory authorities

Spending authorities provided by statutory authorities are for specified purposes and for such amounts and such time periods as the acts
prescribe. These spending authorities do not generally lapse at the end of the year during which they were granted. Expenditures under
such authorities account for approximately half of the total program expenses each year.

Table 3.10
Expenditures under statutory authorities

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Old Age Security payments (Old Age SECUTILY ACE) ........viiiiiiiiiiiittt ettt 40,424 38,410
Canada Health Transfer (Part VV.1—Federal-Provincial Fiscal Arrangements Act)..... 38,567 37,124
Public debt charges 22,244 20,838
Fiscal Equalization (Part I—Federal-Provincial Fiscal Arrangements Act)... 18,958 18,254
Canada Social Transfer (Part VV.1—Federal-Provincial Fiscal Arrangements Act) 14,161 13,748
Guaranteed Income Supplement payments (Old Age Security Act) 12,404 11,658
Territorial Financing (Part I.1—Federal-Provincial Fiscal Arrangements Act) .... 3,785 3,682
Gas Tax Fund . 2,200 2,100
Canada Student Grants to quallfymg full and part-time students pursuant to the Canada Student Financial Assistance Act............ 1,538 1,323
Payments related to the direct financing arrangement under the Canada Student Financial Assistance ACt...........cccccuveieiciinnas 965 798
Canada Education Savings Grant payments to Registered Education Savings Plan (RESP) trustees on behalf
of RESP beneficiaries to encourage Canadians to save for post-secondary education for their children ... 911 899
Contribution payments for the Agrilnsurance program 665 652
DiStriDULION OF FUEBT CRAIGE ... 664 -
Judges' salaries, allowances and annuities, annuities to spouses and children of judges and lump sum payments
to spouses Of judges Who die WHile IN OFfICE. ........ciiiiiiiii bbb 583 556
Allowance payments (Old Age Security Act) 562 545
Payments to Canada Infrastructure Bank 553 11
Payments to International Development Association 442 442
Youth Allowances Recovery (Federal-Provincial Fiscal Revision Act, 1964).. (914) (857)
Alternative Payments for Standing Programs (Part VI—Federal-Provincial Fiscal Arrangements ACE) o (4,132) (3,883)
TOTAL oL 154,580 146,300
Superannuation, supplementary retirement benefits, death benefits and other pensions®
Public Service
Government's contributions to the Public Service Pension Plan and the Retirement Compensation
Arrangements Account 5,522 2,589
Government's contributions to the Canada and the Quebec pension plans ... 454 735
Government's contribution to the Employment Insurance Operating Account 308 290
Government's contributions to the Death Benefit Account 15 15

TOTAL oS h bbbt 6,299 3,629
Canadian Forces
Government's contribution to the Canadian Forces Pension Plan and the Retirement Compensation

ATTANGEMENTS ACCOUNT......veviititiit et bbb bbb bbb bbb bbb bbbt bbbt b et 1,007 2,870
Government's contribution to the Canada and the Quebec pension plans... 199 201
Government's contribution as employer to the Employment Insurance Operating Account 76 7
Statutory payments under the Supplementary Retirement Benefits Act... 1 1
Government's contribution to the Death Benefit Account 2 3
TOTAL e 1,285 3,152
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Table 3.10
Expenditures under statutory authorities—concluded

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Royal Canadian Mounted Police
Government's contribution to the Royal Canadian Mounted Police Pension Plan and the Retirement
Compensation Arrangements Account 269 276
Government's contribution to the Canada and the Quebec pension plans... 61 60
Government's contribution as employer to the Employment Insurance Operating Account .. 20 25
Statutory payments under the Supplementary Retirement Benefits Act 5 6
TOTAL e 355 367
Shared Services Canada
Government's contribution to the Canada and the QUEDEC PENSION PIANS ...........covviririririiii s 3 3
Government's contribution to the Employment Insurance Operation Account, the Royal Canadian Mounted Police
Pension Plan and the Retirement Compensation Arrangements ACCOUNT...........ovivivivirirereieiererirsisrerers e 1 1
TOAI 1.ttt b bR bR b bR e oAb e bR R b b e R bkt R koAt b e Rt et R b bRttt e bRt e b e bene s 4 4
All other statutory expenditures? 4,534 4,263
Total ministerial expenditures under statutory authorities®... 167,057 157,715

Details related to other pension accounts, such as the Members of Parliament Retiring Allowances Account, are not included.
Comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

3 Additional information on the ministerial expenditures under statutory authorities are provided in Table 7 in Section 1 of Volume II of the Public Accounts of Canada.
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Consolidated Crown corporations and other entities

This section provides all related information on consolidated Crown corporations and other entities. Consolidated entities rely on
Government funding as their principal source of revenue and are controlled by the Government.

Consolidation involves the combination of the accounts of these corporations and other entities on a line-by-line and uniform basis of
accounting and the elimination of inter-organizational balances and transactions. Consequently, the corporations and other entities’
accounts must be adjusted to the Government’s basis of accounting. All corporations and other entities follow either Canadian Public
Sector Accounting Standards or International Financial Reporting Standards. The financial information reported by all of the consolidated
Crown corporations and other entities in the following summary tables has been prepared and reported based upon Canadian Public Sector
Accounting Standards.

Consolidated Crown corporations are also categorized as being either agents or non-agents of the Crown. Agency status may be expressly
stated in the incorporating legislation or conferred under the provisions of the Government Corporations Operation Act.

Summary financial statements of consolidated Crown corporations and other entities

These tables present financial information on consolidated parent Crown corporations and other entities, as well as financial information
on wholly-owned subsidiaries that are considered “deemed parent Crown corporations” and thus consolidated directly in the consolidated
financial statements of the Government and excluded from the consolidated financial statements of their parent Crown corporations. The
annual Inventory of Federal Organizations and Interests includes a complete list of federal organizations and interests.

For those corporations and other entities having year ends other than March 31, the data are based on unaudited interim financial statements
which have been prepared on a basis consistent with the most recent audited financial statements.

Table 4.1 and Table 4.2 present summarized financial information of the consolidated Crown corporations and other entities. Balances
reported under Government, Crown corporations and other entities represent those between related parties. Of note, borrowings from third
parties represent long-term debts payable of the corporations and other entities. Revenues are broken down to identify revenues arising
from normal operations and financial assistance from the Government in respect of the current year’s operations. Equity adjustments
include prior period adjustments and other miscellaneous items recorded by the corporations and other entities. Remeasurement gains and
losses comprise certain unrealized gains and losses on financial instruments excluded from the annual surplus (deficit). Upon realization,
these gains and losses are included in the annual surplus (deficit). Equity transactions with the Government include dividends declared or
transfers of profits to the Government, as well as capital transactions with the Government. The line “Conversion to the Government
accounting basis for consolidation purposes” represents the adjustments required to bring the corporations and other entities” accounting
policies in line with those of the Government.
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Table 4.1

Financial position of consolidated Crown corporations and other entities

Assets, liabilities and equity as at March 31, 2019

(in thousands of dollars)

Consolidated Crown corporations and other entities

Crown corporations®
Atomic Energy of Canada Limited ...
Canada Council for the Arts ...
Canada Infrastructure Bank....
Canadian Air Transport Security Authority .
Canadian Broadcasting Corporation
Canadian Commercial Corporation ..
Canadian Dairy Commission
Canadian Museum for Human Rights...
Canadian Museum of History
Canadian Museum of Immigration at Pier 21
Canadian Museum of Nature.................
Canadian Race Relations Foundation
Canadian Tourism Commission........
Defence Construction (1951) Limited ..
International Development Research Centre...
Marine Atlantic InC. ...
National Arts Centre Corporation..
National Capital Commission.
National Gallery of Canada ...
National Museum of Science and Technology
Standards Council of Canada.....
Telefilm Canada.....................
The Federal Bridge Corporation Limited.
The Jacques Cartier and Champlain Bridges Inc....
VIA Rail Canada INC. .........coovvviiiiiiiiiciicine
Windsor-Detroit Bridge Authority....
Total—Crown corporations.
Conversion to the Government accounting basis for consolidation purposes.......
Net Crown corporations on the Government accounting basis ...........c.cccceveenne
Other entities?
Canada Foundation for Innovation
Canada Foundation for Sustainable Development Technology ...
First Nations Market Housing Fund
St. Lawrence Seaway Management Corporation
Capital Fund Trust
Employee Termination Benefits Trust Fund ....
Total—Other eNtities .........ccocviiiiiiiic s
Conversion to the Government accounting basis for consolidation purposes.......
Net other entities on the Government accounting basis .............ccocvervrrcnncennns

Assets
Financial
Government,
Third Crown corporations Total
parties and other entities Non-financial assets

172,731 85,802 841,978 1,100,511
445,136 311 29,473 474,920
491,914 1,362 1,629 494,905
101,382 141,068 489,797 732,247
1,631,439 163,527 1,096,841 2,891,807
84,670 1,533 2,929 89,132
9,568 - 158,182 167,750
11,657 92 292,016 303,765
79,133 11,109 228,279 318,521
13,397 332 13,628 27,357
24,030 274 177,131 201,435
28,093 2,383 37 30,513
43,017 1,889 2,737 47,643
30,325 21,321 2,247 53,893
72,117 1,708 6,612 80,437
157,428 13,404 443,708 614,540
37,568 1,345 227,253 266,166
191,177 4,724 669,247 865,148
14,447 1,037 87,425 102,909
49,613 3,426 256,139 309,178
8,970 1,047 2,585 12,602
7,443 56,644 7,179 71,266
33,167 368 396,254 429,789
51,353 1,750 590,807 643,910
462,528 38,339 1,072,117 1,572,984
264,004 14,049 1,123,963 1,402,016
4,516,307 568,844 8,220,193 13,305,344
(57,456) - (86,045) (143,501)
4,458,851 568,844 8,134,148 13,161,843
191,653 34,372 4,184 230,209
16,715 - 1,205 17,920
322,235 39,910 302 362,447
195,197 20,520 16,245 231,962
2,368 10,940 - 13,308
1,018 3 - 1,021
729,186 105,745 21,936 856,867
2,283 (191) - 2,092
731,469 105,554 21,936 858,959
5,190,320 674,398 8,156,084 14,020,802

1 All Crown corporations listed at the margin in this table are parent Crown corporations.

2 These entities, which are not Crown corporations or agents of the Crown, are considered other consolidated entities.
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Liabilities
Third parties
Government, Accumulated Equity Total
Crown corporations Total profits Contributed Capital of liabilities
Borrowings Other and other entities liabilities (losses) surplus stock Canada and equity
- 7,821,512 284 7,821,796 (7,185,997) 449,712 15,000 (6,721,285) 1,100,511
- 138,007 1,792 139,799 335,121 - - 335,121 474,920
- 2,901 1,604 4,505 490,400 - - 490,400 494,905
- 177,917 1,394 179,311 552,936 - - 552,936 732,247
291,846 598,867 (6,937) 883,776 2,008,031 - - 2,008,031 2,891,807
- 48,061 19,722 67,783 11,349 10,000 - 21,349 89,132
5,638 61,656 100,456 167,750 - - - - 167,750
- 157,065 137,101 294,166 9,599 - - 9,599 303,765
- 29,325 220,637 249,962 68,559 - - 68,559 318,521
- 9,457 13,670 23,127 4,230 - - 4,230 27,357
- 40,077 163,511 203,588 (2,153) - - (2,153) 201,435
- 439 - 439 30,074 - - 30,074 30,513
- 19,868 67 19,935 27,708 - - 27,708 47,643
- 43,721 718 44,439 9,454 - - 9,454 53,893
- 44,562 21,730 66,292 14,145 - - 14,145 80,437
- 105,975 2,994 108,969 505,571 - - 505,571 614,540
- 26,338 245,178 271,516 (5,350) - - (5,350) 266,166
- 191,952 4,143 196,095 669,053 - - 669,053 865,148
- 8,364 91,762 100,126 2,783 - - 2,783 102,909
- 21,495 274,240 295,735 13,443 - - 13,443 309,178
- 5,996 45 6,041 6,561 - - 6,561 12,602
- 57,344 111 57,455 13,811 - - 13,811 71,266
62,546 23,427 107,770 193,743 236,046 - - 236,046 429,789
- 76,583 1,431 78,014 565,896 - - 565,896 643,910
- 233,961 1,022,858 1,256,819 306,865 - 9,300 316,165 1,572,984
- 730,631 - 730,631 671,385 - - 671,385 1,402,016
360,030 10,675,501 2,426,281 13,461,812 (640,480) 459,712 24,300 (156,468) 13,305,344
- (12,160) (2,134,804) (2,146,964) 2,487,475 (459,712) (24,300) 2,003,463 (143,501)
360,030 10,663,341 291,477 11,314,848 1,846,995 - - 1,846,995 13,161,843
- 1,295 228,914 230,209 - - - - 230,209
- 3,906 14,014 17,920 - - - - 17,920
- 58,739 303,708 362,447 - - - - 362,447
- 107,822 9,207 117,029 114,933 - - 114,933 231,962
- 2 13,306 13,308 - - - - 13,308
- 3 1,018 1,021 - - - - 1,021
- 171,767 570,167 741,934 114,933 - - 114,933 856,867
- - (556,940) (556,940) 559,032 - - 559,032 2,092
- 171,767 13,227 184,994 673,965 - - 673,965 858,959
360,030 10,835,108 304,704 11,499,842 2,520,960 - - 2,520,960 14,020,802
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Table 4.2

Revenues, expenses and other changes in equity of consolidated Crown corporations

and other entities for the year ended March 31, 2019

(in thousands of dollars)

Revenues

Government, Crown corporations
and other entities

Third Financial
Consolidated Crown corporations and other entities parties assistance Other Total
Crown corporations
Atomic Energy of Canada Limited ...........ccccuiuiviiiiiieiniiissssssseeeeea 111,089 829,233 2,568 942,890
Canada Council for the Arts ... 16,743 292,991 1,100 310,834
Canada Infrastructure Bank.... 2,737 560,376 - 563,113
Canadian Air Transport Security Authority . 13,487 813,926 - 827,413
Canadian Broadcasting Corporation...... 488,211 1,210,831 1,935 1,700,977
Canadian Commercial Corporation 28,952 - 2,169 31,121
Canadian Dairy Commission 350,941 3,979 - 354,920
Canadian Museum for Human Rights... 11,456 30,282 - 41,738
Canadian Museum of History 20,128 81,029 1,129 102,286
Canadian Museum of Immigration at Pier 21 3,483 9,982 126 13,591
Canadian Museum of Nature 11,287 34,763 76 46,126
Canadian Race Relations Foundation 530 - 203 733
Canadian Tourism Commission..... 27,159 95,655 762 123,576
Defence Construction (1951) Limited .. 708 - 114,220 114,928
International Development Research Centre... 36,574 140,366 18,892 195,832
Marine Atlantic Inc. ........cc.ccceevee.. 111,818 125,668 - 237,486
National Arts Centre Corporation.. 33,587 49,047 2,855 85,489
National Capital Commission.... 35,796 109,309 10,621 155,726
National Gallery of Canada 17,584 51,586 527 69,697
National Museum of Science and Technology 14,187 36,583 2,050 52,820
Standards Council of Canada.. 10,199 17,974 829 29,002
Telefilm Canada........ 24,010 101,899 511 126,420
The Federal Bridge Corporation Limited. 42,783 3,395 - 46,178
The Jacques Cartier and Champlain Bridges Inc.... 1,703 161,330 - 163,033
VIA Rail Canada InC. ..........cccceuuen. 395,769 374,229 2,635 772,633
Windsor-Detroit Bridge Authority.... 5,045 345,052 5,948 356,045
TOtal—CrOWN COMPOTALIONS. .......cvvivirieiiiiiiiiis it 1,815,966 5,479,485 169,156 7,464,607
Conversion to the Government accounting basis for consolidation purposes.. 9,675 77,428 - 87,103
Total on the Government accounting basis 1,825,641 5,556,913 169,156 7,551,710
Consolidation adjUSEMENTS ..........cvireiiiiieiieiei e 967 (5,556,913) (169,156) (5,725,102)
Net amount—Crown COrPOTatioNS ..........cccciiiiiiiiiiiniiiei s 1,826,608 - - 1,826,608
Other entities
Canada Foundation for Innovation 5,465 394,462 608 400,535
Canada Foundation for Sustainable Development Technology .. 698 104,249 - 104,947
First Nations Market Housing Fund 10,287 - 977 11,264
St. Lawrence Seaway Management Corporation 82,505 1,799 47,294 131,598
Capital Fund Trust 91 52,000 (3,842) 48,249
Employee Termination Benefits Trust Fund .... 21 - 1 22
Total—Other entities 99,067 552,510 45,038 696,615
Conversion to the Government accounting basis for consolidation purposes.. (32,393) (75,317) (191) (107,901)
Total on the Government aCCOUNtING DASIS. ........c.vruiiiiiiiiiieceeeee e 66,674 477,193 44,847 588,714
Consolidation adjustments 1,394 (477,193) (44,847) (520,646)
Net amount—Other entities .. 68,068 - - 68,068
1,894,676 - - 1,894,676

The accompanying notes to Table 4.1 are an integral part of this table.
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Expenses Equity transactions
Government, with the
Crown Net Equity Equity Remeasurement Government Equity
Third corporations income beginning adjustments gains end

parties and other entities Total (loss) of year and other (losses) Dividends Capital of year
1,118,767 3,006 1,121,773 (178,883) (6,869,098) - 1,007 - 325,689 (6,721,285)
309,006 1,127 310,133 701 324,254 - 10,166 - - 335,121
72,755 - 72,755 490,358 42 - - - - 490,400
762,946 18,845 781,791 45,622 507,315 1) - - - 552,936
1,746,209 1,684 1,747,893 (46,916) 2,052,821 2,126 - - - 2,008,031
23,022 3,982 27,004 4,117 23,571 (6,339) - - - 21,349
356,216 2,374 358,590 (3,670) - 3,670 - - - -
39,222 2,085 41,307 431 9,168 - - - - 9,599
87,514 12,852 100,366 1,920 66,639 - - - - 68,559
10,219 2,621 12,840 751 3,810 (257) (74) - - 4,230
41,196 2,929 44,125 2,001 (4,154) - - - - (2,153)
1,066 - 1,066 (333) 29,452 - 955 - - 30,074
131,055 1,241 132,296 (8,720) 36,745 - (317) - - 27,708
115,137 (28) 115,109 (181) 9,808 - (173) - - 9,454
202,686 2,958 205,644 (9,812) 23,957 - - - - 14,145
238,534 - 238,534 (1,048) 508,704 - (2,085) - - 505,571
82,954 2,290 85,244 245 (5,595) - - - - (5,350)
126,597 7,976 134,573 21,153 646,900 1,000 - - - 669,053
61,812 7,388 69,200 497 2,358 (72) - - - 2,783
45,960 6,634 52,594 226 13,217 - - - - 13,443
26,656 71 26,727 2,275 4,286 - - - - 6,561
132,666 2,033 134,699 (8,279) 22,090 - - - - 13,811
47,758 - 47,758 (1,580) 237,424 (278) 480 - - 236,046
156,466 - 156,466 6,567 559,329 - - - - 565,896
726,696 9,321 736,017 36,616 279,549 - - - - 316,165
226,857 - 226,857 129,188 536,437 3) 5,763 - - 671,385
6,889,972 91,389 6,981,361 483,246 (980,971) (154) 15,722 - 325,689 (156,468)
(185,270) 5,565 (179,705) 266,808 2,077,912 154 (15,722) - (325,689) 2,003,463
6,704,702 96,954 6,801,656 750,054 1,096,941 - - - - 1,846,995
3,022 (96,954) (93,932) (5,631,170) - 5,631,170 - - - -
6,707,724 - 6,707,724 (4,881,116) 1,096,941 5,631,170 - - - 1,846,995
400,503 32 400,535 - - - - - - -
104,947 - 104,947 - - - - - - -
10,287 977 11,264 - - - - - - -
112,974 200 113,174 18,424 96,509 - - - - 114,933
2 48,247 48,249 - - - - - - -
2 20 22 - - - - - - -
628,715 49,476 678,191 18,424 96,509 - - - - 114,933
953 (953) - (107,901) 666,933 - - - - 559,032
629,668 48,523 678,191 (89,477) 763,442 - - - - 673,965
979 (48,523) (47,544) (473,102) - 473,102 - - - -
630,647 - 630,647 (562,579) 763,442 473,102 - - - 673,965
7,338,371 - 7,338,371 (5,443,695) 1,860,383 6,104,272 - - - 2,520,960
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Borrowings by consolidated agent Crown corporations

Table 4.3
Borrowings by consolidated agent Crown corporations

(in thousands of dollars)

Borrowings Repayments
and other and other
April 1, 2018 credits charges March 31, 2019
Canadian Broadcasting COrpOration............coeeeevrueeririeieisieieniseeiesesree s 316,580 19,778 44,512 291,846
6,253 82,676 83,291 5,638
70,903 - 8,357 62,546
TOMAD .t 393,736 102,454 136,160 360,030

This information is published to satisfy section 49 of the Financial Administration Act (FAA) which requires that an annual statement be
included in the Public Accounts of Canada. The borrowings are from lenders other than the Government. In accordance with section 54
of the FAA, the payment of all money borrowed by agent Crown corporations and interest thereon is a charge on and payable out of the

Consolidated Revenue Fund.

Contingent liabilities of consolidated Crown corporations and other entities

Contingent liabilities of consolidated Crown corporations are included in the Government of Canada’s financial statements as follows,

refer to section 2 for further details.

Table 4.4

Contingent liabilities of consolidated Crown corporations and other entities

(in thousands of dollars)

Pending and threatened litigation and other ClaimS—ProViSion ACCTUET...............uiiiiiiiiii bbb

Pending and threatened litigation and other claimS—DiSCIOSUIE ONIY ...........coviiiiiiiii bbb

2019

36,022
22,527
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Financial assistance under budgetary appropriations to consolidated Crown corporations

Table 4.5 presents charges to appropriations or authorities approved by Parliament. It should be read in conjunction with Table 4.2.
Differences in figures reported in Table 4.2 and those reported in Table 4.5 result from the use of different accounting policies and from
items in transit.

Table 4.5
Financial assistance under budgetary appropriations to consolidated Crown corporations
for the year ended March 31, 2019

(in thousands of dollars)

Financial assistance

Program Operating Capital under
expenditures expenditures expenditures budgetary
vote vote vote appropriations*
Agent Crown corporations
Atomic Energy of Canada Limited 829,233 - - 829,233
Canadian Air Transport Security Authority . 817,771 - - 817,771
Canadian Broadcasting Corporation - 1,097,822 113,009 1,210,831
Canadian Dairy Commission 3,979 - - 3,979
Canadian Museum for Human Rights 25,336 - - 25,336
Canadian Museum of History.... 76,247 - - 76,247
Canadian Museum of Immigration at Pier 21 .. 8,241 - - 8,241
Canadian Museum of Nature 31,115 - - 31,115
Canadian Tourism Commission 98,683 - - 98,683
National Capital Commission - 72,193 37,295 109,488
National Gallery of Canada ... - 43,461 8,000 51,461
National Museum of Science and Technology. 30,243 - - 30,243
Telefilm Canada 101,899 - - 101,899
The Federal Bridge Corporation Limited 3,464 - - 3,464
The Jacques Cartier and Champlain Bridges Inc 166,798 - - 166,798
Total—Agent CroWN COTPOTAtIONS ...........ourveirueririreeiesesiee ettt 2,193,009 1,213,476 158,304 3,564,789
Non-agent Crown corporations
Canada Council for the Arts .. 292,791 - - 292,791
Canada Infrastructure Bank ... 552,862 - - 552,862
International Development Research Centre.... 140,366 - - 140,366
Marine Atlantic InC. ............cccoovvvnne 125,945 - - 125,945
National Arts Centre Corporation 35,439 - - 35,439
Standards Council of Canada 17,974 - - 17,974
VIA Rail Canada Inc. ............ 496,247 - - 496,247
Windsor-Detroit Bridge Authority.... 330,500 — — 330,500
Total—Non-agent Crown COrPOTAtIONS ........c.eeieerrrrrrremireiiiiiieeeeneee e 1,992,124 - - 1,992,124
TOMAD ot 4,185,133 1,213,476 158,304 5,556,913

1 Excludes grants and contributions paid to consolidated Crown corporations where they qualify as members of a general class of recipients.
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Consolidated specified purpose accounts

Consolidated specified purpose accounts are particular categories of revenues and expenses whereby legislation requires that revenues
received for purposes specified in the legislation be credited to these accounts and that related payments be charged to the accounts. They
are principally used where the activities are similar in nature to departmental activities and the transactions do not represent future
liabilities to third parties but in essence constitute Government revenues and expenses.

Enabling legislation requires that the transactions in each of these accounts be accounted for separately. Table 4.6 presents a summary of
the balances and transactions of these accounts, in the manner required by legislation.

The financial statements of the Employment Insurance Operating Account, together with the Independent Auditor’s Report, are presented
at the end of this section.

Table 4.6
Consolidated specified purpose accounts
(in dollars)
Revenues and other credits Expenses and other debits
External Internal External Internal
April 1, 2018 transactions transactions transactions transactions March 31, 2019
Insurance accounts
Agriculture and Agri-Food
Department of Agriculture and Agri-Food
Crop Reinsurance Fund 576,801,678 571,763 - - - 577,373,441
Less: Interest-bearing loans .... 277,514,751 - - - - 277,514,751
299,286,927 571,763 - - - 299,858,690
Agricultural Commodities Stabilization
ACCOUNES ... 646,510 - - - - 646,510
299,933,437 571,763 - - - 300,505,200
Families, Children and Social Development
Department of Employment and Social
Development
Employment Insurance Operating Account,
Table 4.7 .o 2,951,357,681 22,378,165,486 403,478,641 19,172,505,680  1,644,849,123  4,915,647,005
Finance
Department of Finance
Investors’ Indemnity AcCount ...........cccveveveee. 45,303 - - - - 45,303
Health
Department of Health
Health Insurance Supplementary Account....... 28,386 - - - - 28,386
Natural Resources
Department of Natural Resources
Nuclear Liability Account 4,298,981 140,464 - - - 4,439,445
Transport
Department of Transport
Fund for railway accidents involving
designated goods 17,834,874 21,640,936 668,335 503,987 72,033 39,568,125
Ship-Source Oil Pollution Fund 412,203,667 2,234,410 7,567,430 2,406,554 8,134,233 411,464,720
430,038,541 23,875,346 8,235,765 2,910,541 8,206,266 451,032,845

Total insurance accounts 3,685,702,329  22,402,753,059 411,714,406 19,175,416,221  1,653,055,389  5,671,698,184
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Consolidated specified purpose accounts—concluded

(in dollars)

Public Accounts of Canada 2018-2019

Other consolidated specified purpose accounts
Canadian Heritage and Multiculturalism
The National Battlefields Commission
Trust FUNd........coovviviiicics
Crown-Indigenous Relations
Department of Indian Affairs
and Northern Development
Environmental Studies Research Fund ............
Environment and Climate Change
Department of the Environment
Court Award Deposits
Other than Environmental Damages Fund .
Environmental Damages Fund ..............cccc.o....
Parks Canada Agency
New Parks and Historic Sites Account.............

Finance
Department of Finance
Canadian Commercial Bank and
Northland Bank Holdback Account...........
Fisheries, Oceans and the Canadian Coast Guard
Department of Fisheries and Oceans
Supplementary Fines Account
Species at Risk Act
Supplementary Fish Fines Account

Natural Resources
Department of Natural Resources
Environmental Studies Research Fund.............
Public Services and Procurement
Department of Public Works
and Government Services
Seized Property Proceeds Account..................
Transport
Department of Transport
Fines for the Transportation of
Dangerous Goods

Total other consolidated specified purpose accounts........

Endowment principal
Environment and Climate Change
Parks Canada Agency
Mackenzie King Trust AcCOUNt......................
Health
Canadian Institutes of Health Research
Endowments for Health Research ...................
Innovation, Science and Economic development
National Research Council of Canada
H.L. Holmes FuNd...........ccccovvnnnnniiiiin
W.G. Schneider Fund..

Science
Social Sciences and Humanities
Research Council
Queen’s Fellowship Fund..........ccocovvviiiiiinnns

Total endowment prinCipal ...........cocoovviririniiiiiie

Revenues and other credits

Expenses and other debits

External Internal External Internal

April 1, 2018 transactions transactions transactions transactions March 31, 2019
919,243 270,092 - 14,606 - 1,174,729
768,984 - 286,103 - 768,984 286,103
418,566 102,196 - 11,569 - 509,193
25,320,133 4,387,028 3,207,416 3,411,716 267,590 29,235,271
39,843,447 1,240,681 44,298,158 27,643,695 133,150 57,605,441
65,582,146 5,729,905 47,505,574 31,066,980 400,740 87,349,905
246,223,464 - - - - 246,223,464
35,000 - - - - 35,000
1,618,899 802,275 - 120,414 - 2,300,760
1,653,899 802,275 - 120,414 - 2,335,760
4,637,019 2,855,958 - 1,140,153 618,586 5,734,238
27,107,832 24,460,860 - 24,823,409 - 26,745,283
4,113,754 - - - - 4,113,754
351,006,341 34,119,090 47,791,677 57,165,562 1,788,310 373,963,236
225,000 - - - - 225,000
75,000 - - - - 75,000
5,258,897 54,535 - - - 5,313,432
30,000 - - - - 30,000
5,288,897 54,535 - - - 5,343,432
250,000 - - - - 250,000
5,838,897 54,535 - - - - 5,893,432
4,042,547,567  22,436,926,684 459,506,083 19,232,581,783  1,654,843,699  6,051,554,852
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Public Accounts of Canada 2018-2019

Insurance accounts

Crop Reinsurance Fund

This Fund, continued in the accounts of Canada pursuant to subsection 13(1) of the Farm Income Protection Act, provides insurance to
participating provinces for deficits they might incur in their agriculture insurance funds. The Crop Reinsurance Fund currently operates
under the authority of the Farm Income Protection Act.

The revenues of the Fund come from a percentage of total premiums collected by provinces for the purpose of insurance of agricultural
production. Both the amount of revenue collected and expenditures from the Crop Reinsurance Fund paid to provinces are subject to the
terms of reinsurance agreements. When there are insufficient revenues in the Crop Reinsurance Fund to make payments, the Minister of
Finance may authorize an advance of additional funds to cover these obligations. These advances are recovered from future revenues.
Currently, the interest rate earned on surpluses in the Crop Reinsurance Fund and the interest rate charged to advances to the Fund have
been set by the Department of Finance at zero percent.

Agricultural Commodities Stabilization Accounts

The purpose of these accounts was to reduce income loss to producers from market risks through stabilizing prices. Premiums were shared
equally by the Government of Canada, the governments of participating provinces and participating producers.

These accounts are continued in the accounts of Canada pursuant to subsection 16(2) of the Farm Income Protection Act. Current activities
are limited to collection of accounts receivable. The Agricultural Stabilization Act, under which the commodity accounts formerly
operated, has been repealed and replaced by the Farm Income Protection Act effective April 1, 1991.

Employment Insurance Operating Account

The Canada Employment Insurance Commission (the Commission), a departmental corporation named in Schedule Il to the Financial
Administration Act, administers the Employment Insurance Act (the Act). The Commission is co-managed by Commissioners
representative of the Government, workers and employers. The objective of the Act is to provide employment insurance benefits,
employment programs and services to eligible workers. The financial transactions relating to this objective are reported through the
Employment Insurance Operating Account (the Account).

The Account was established in the accounts of Canada by the Act. All amounts received under the Act are deposited in the Consolidated
Revenue Fund and credited to the Account. The benefits and the costs of administration of the Act are paid out of the Consolidated
Revenue Fund and charged to the Account.

Employee premium rate for each $100 of insurable earnings was $1.66 from January 1, 2018, to December 31, 2018, for employees
without a Provincial Parental Insurance Plan and $1.30 for the others. From January 1, 2019, to March 31, 2019, the rate was $1.62 for
employees without a Provincial Parental Insurance Plan and $1.25 for the others. Employer premium rate is calculated at the rate of
1.4 times the amount of the employee’s premiums. The annual maximum insurable earnings for the 2019 calendar year is $53,100 ($51,700
in 2018).

Table 4.7
Transactions in the Employment Insurance Operating Account

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Revenues
Premiums

EMPIOYETS aNd EMPIOYEES. ..........oviiiiveiiiictiee ettt bbbttt nans 22,699 21,533
Penalties and INTErESE FEVENUE...........iiiiiiiiii bbb bbbt 83 81
22,782 21,614

Expenses
BENMETIES ...ttt h et b e h R £ bR bR E ek beh R £ £ bR b bRt et b e b bt bbbt e 16,717 17,666
Transfers 10 the PrOVINCES—PAIT 11 ..ottt b bbb 2,171 2,049
AUMINISTIALION COSES.....o.viiviiiiitieete et et e ettt et e et e ete et e eteeete et eteesteeteesaeesaeeaseeaseesesseesseesseasseassenseessesaeeeseensenseenseessesrsesreenseaneas 1,641 1,686
Administration CoSt transSfErred t0 PrOVINCES ........c.iuiuiiiiiiiriiiririieiei i ee et eb bbb 189 192
BaU GEDES. ... s 99 69
20,817 21,662
BT CRBNGE bbb 1,965 (48)
Balance at BEGINNING OF YEAI ...ttt 2,951 2,999
Balance at end of year 4,916 2,951

1 The difference between premium revenue presented here and the amount presented in the Government of Canada consolidated financial statements is due to the elimination
on consolidation of premiums incurred by the Government of Canada, for an amount of $403 million ($394 million in 2018).
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Public Accounts of Canada 2018-2019

Investors’ Indemnity Account

Section 57 of the Financial Administration Act provides for this account, and for the crediting thereto of the sum of $25,000, such further
amounts as are appropriated by Parliament for the purposes of this section, and any recoveries of the losses referred to in section 58 of the
Act. This sum was increased to $50,000 by Treasury Board Submission No. 817667 dated December 12, 1991.

Section 58 of the Act states that the Minister may, in accordance with and subject to regulations, pay out of the account, any losses
sustained by subscribers for securities who have paid all or part of the purchase price for those securities but have not received the security
or repayment of the amount so paid, and losses sustained by any person in the redemption of securities.

Health Insurance Supplementary Account

This account was established pursuant to Vote L16b, Appropriation Act No. 2, 1973, to record payments in respect of persons who,
through no fault of their own, have lost or been unable to obtain coverage for the insured health services under the Canada Health Act,
and in accordance with the Federal Provincial Agreement on Eligibility and Portability. Contributions are made by all provinces to the
account in proportion to population and are matched by the Federal Government.

Nuclear Liability Account—Department of Natural Resources

This account is a continuation of the Nuclear Liability Reinsurance Account under the previous Nuclear Liability Act. It is established
pursuant to sub-section 32(1) of the Nuclear Liability and Compensation Act, to record indemnity fees paid by operators and to provide
for payment of any claims arising under the indemnity agreements entered into between the Government and nuclear installation operators.

Fund for railway accidents involving designated goods

This account was established pursuant to the Safe and Accountable Rail Act to establish a compensation fund to cover the losses, damages,
costs and expenses resulting from a railway accident involving crude oil or other designated goods that exceed the minimum liability
insurance coverage. This account is financed by a levy on shipments of crude oil by rail.

Ship-Source QOil Pollution Fund

This account was established pursuant to subsection 2001, c.6 of the Marine Liability Act (previously the Canada Shipping Act), to record
levy tonnage payments for oil carried by ships in Canadian waters. Maritime pollution claims, the fee of the Fund Administrator, and
related oil pollution control expenses, are to be financed out of the Fund.
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Other consolidated specified purpose accounts
Trust Fund—The National Battlefields Commission

This account was established at the creation of The National Battlefields Commission for the purpose of acquiring various properties for
the development of the park. The funds are received by way of private contributions, from municipal corporations, provincial governments
and others, and deposited for the purposes of the Commission, as prescribed for in its incorporation Act. Following the land acquisitions
of the Commission, funds remained in the account and increased over a period of years as a result of interest earned, while the Commission
was listed in Schedule C of the Financial Administration Act, prior to September 1, 1984.

Environmental Studies Research Fund—Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development

This account was established pursuant to subsection 76(1) of the Canada Petroleum Resources Act. The purpose of the Fund is to finance
environmental and social studies pertaining to the manner in which, and the terms and conditions under which, exploration, development
and production activities on frontier lands, authorized under this Act or any other act of Parliament, should be conducted.

Court Award Deposits—Other than Environmental Damages Fund

This account was established for the management of court orders/awards or other financial compensation to the Department of the
Environment that are not under the legal authority of the Environmental Damages Fund.

Environmental Damages Fund

This account was established for the management of court orders/awards or other financial compensation to the Department of the
Environment for damages to the environment.

New Parks and Historic Sites Account

This account was established pursuant to the Parks Canada Agency Act primarily to make payments to be used to acquire real property or
immovables related to, or to develop or maintain, any national park, national historic site, national marine conservation area or other
protected heritage area that is being established, enlarged or designated.

Canadian Commercial Bank and Northland Bank Holdback Account

This account was established to record the amount held from the recovery of monies received from the winding up of Canadian
Commercial Bank and Northland Bank.

Supplementary Fines Account—Species at Risk Act

The account was established to record the deposit of funds received from persons declared guilty of offences under the Species at Risk
Act, under paragraph 105(h) of the Act.

Supplementary Fish Fines Account

The account was established to record the deposit of funds received from persons declared guilty of offences under the Fisheries Act,
under paragraph 79(2)(f) of the Act.

Environmental Studies Research Fund—Department of Natural Resources

This account was established pursuant to subsection 76(1) of the Canada Petroleum Resources Act. The purpose of the Fund is to finance
environmental and social studies pertaining to the manner in which, and the terms and conditions under which, exploration, development
and production activities on frontier lands, authorized under this Act or any other act of Parliament, should be conducted.

Seized Property Proceeds Account

This account was established, pursuant to section 13 of the Seized Property Management Act, to record the net proceeds received from
the disposition of seized and forfeited properties to Her Majesty or fines imposed and also funds received from the government of foreign
states pursuant to agreements for the purpose of the Act. The Act also provides that the following be charged to the Account: operating
expenses incurred in carrying out the purpose of the Act, amounts paid as a result of claims and repayments of advances from the Minister
of Finance, interest on drawdown from Seized Property Working Capital Account and distribution of the proceeds to the relevant
jurisdictions and the Consolidated Revenue Fund.

Fines for the Transportation of Dangerous Goods

This account was established, pursuant to the Transportation of Dangerous Goods Act, 1992 and related regulations, to record fines levied
by courts.
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Endowment principal

Mackenzie King Trust Account

The late The Right Hon W L Mackenzie King bequeathed Laurier House, Ottawa, and the sum of $225,000, to the Government of Canada.
This amount was credited to the account and earns interest, in accordance with the terms of section 3 of the Laurier House Act. The interest
is to be used to assist in the maintenance of the Laurier House, which is to be preserved as a place of historic interest, and also to provide
accommaodation for study and research.

Endowments for health research

This account was established pursuant to section 29 of the Canadian Institutes of Health Research Act to record various endowments
received from donors for the purpose of health research. The interest received is used for the payment of research grants.

H.L. Holmes Fund

This account was established, pursuant to paragraph 5(1)(f) of the National Research Council Act, to record the residue of the estate of
H.L. Holmes. Up to two thirds of the yearly net income from the fund shall be used to finance the H.L. Holmes Award on an annual basis.
These awards will provide the opportunity to post-doctoral students to study at world famous graduate schools or research institutes under
outstanding research persons.

W.G. Schneider Fund

This account was established pursuant to paragraph 5(1)(f) of the National Research Council Act, to record the residue of the estate of
W.G. Schneider. The yearly net income from the fund shall be used to finance the Schneider Medal. This award recognizes employees
who have made outstanding contributions to the National Research Council of Canada.

Queen’s Fellowship Fund

This fund is an endowment of $250,000 that was established by Vote 45a, Appropriation Act No. 5, 1973-74. The interest earned is used
for the payment of fellowships to graduate students in certain fields of Canadian studies.
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Supplementary statement

Employment Insurance Operating Account
Management’s responsibility for financial statements

The financial statements of the Employment Insurance Operating Account (the Account) are prepared in accordance with Canadian public
sector accounting standards by the management of Employment and Social Development Canada (ESDC). The Canada Employment
Insurance Commission (the Commission), through the officers and employees of ESDC, is responsible for the delivery of the Employment
Insurance program and the day-to-day administration of the Account. The Chairperson of the Commission, as the Accounting Officer,
and the Chief Financial Officer of ESDC are responsible for the preparation of these financial statements and the integrity and objectivity
of the information contained within, including the amounts which must, of necessity, be based on best estimates and judgement. The
significant accounting policies are identified in Note 2 to the financial statements.

To fulfill their accounting and reporting responsibilities, the management of ESDC has developed and maintains books of account,
financial and management controls, information systems and management practices. These systems are designed to provide reasonable
assurance that financial information is reliable, that assets are safeguarded and that transactions are properly authorized and recorded in
accordance with the Employment Insurance Act and regulations, as well as the Financial Administration Act and regulations.

The Auditor General of Canada, the external auditor of the Account, conducts an independent audit of the financial statements in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and provides a report to the Minister of Families, Children and Social
Development.

The financial statements of the Account are an integral part of the Public Accounts of Canada, which are tabled in the House of Commons
and are referred to the Standing Committee on Public Accounts for examination purposes.

Graham Flack

Deputy Minister

Employment and Social Development Canada

and Chairperson of the Canada Employment Insurance Commission

Mark Perlman, CPA, CMA
Chief Financial Officer
Employment and Social Development Canada

Gatineau, Canada
August 27, 2019
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Public Accounts of Canada 2018-2019

Employment Insurance Operating Account—continued
Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Minister of Families, Children and Social Development
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of the Employment Insurance Operating Account (the Account), which comprise the statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2019, and the statement of operations and accumulated surplus, statement of change in net financial
assets and statement of cash flow for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Account as at
31 March 2019, and the results of its operations, changes in its net financial assets, and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Canadian public sector accounting standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Account in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector
accounting standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Account’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either
intends to liquidate the Account or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Account’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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Employment Insurance Operating Account—continued

Independent Auditor’s Report—concluded

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Account’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Account’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Account to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Nathalie Chartrand, CPA, CA
Principal
for the Interim Auditor General of Canada

Ottawa, Canada
27 August 2019
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Employment Insurance Operating Account—continued

Statement of financial position
as at March 31

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018
Financial assets
Balance of the account with Receiver General for Canada . 2,698,319 1,039,001
Premiums receivable (NOte 7) .......ocoovrrrniiiiiee 2,120,052 1,857,496
Benefit overpayments and penalties receivable (Note 3) ... 494,891 460,539
Benefit repayments receivable from higher inCOME CIAIMANTS ... 432,284 437,907
5,745,546 3,794,943
Liabilities
BENETIS PAYADIE ... 784,384 781,323
Other acCoUNtS PAYADIE (NOLE 4).......oiuiuiiieeieiitet ettt bbb bbb b s bbb bbbt b e bt et bbb bt neas 45,515 62,262
829,899 843,585
Net financial assets and aCCUMUIATED SUIPIUS .........cuiviviiiiiiiiiieiei ettt 4,915,647 2,951,358

Contractual obligations (Note 10)
Contingent liabilities (Note 12)
The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.

Approved by:

Graham Flack

Deputy Minister

Employment and Social Development Canada

and Chairperson of the Canada Employment Insurance Commission

Mark Perlman, CPA, CMA
Chief Financial Officer
Employment and Social Development Canada
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Employment Insurance Operating Account—continued

Statement of operations and accumulated surplus
for the year ended March 31

(in thousands of dollars)

Budget 2019 Actual 2019 Actual 2018
(Note 6)
Revenues
Premiums (Note 7) 22,278,000 22,698,401 21,532,975
Penalties (Note 3) 61,000 62,021 64,357
Interest (Note 3) 22,000 21,222 16,637
22,361,000 22,781,644 21,613,969
Expenses
Benefits and support measures (Schedule 1)
INCOME DENETILS (NOTE 8) .....vieciieiieii et 18,850,000 16,866,292 17,855,630
Transfers to provinces and territories related to Labour
Market Development Agreements (LMDA)... 2,215,000 2,170,960 2,048,593
SUPPOIt MEASUIES ..ot 124,141 136,960 119,218
Benefit repayments from higher income claimants (265,000) (286,247) (308,560)
20,924,141 18,887,965 19,714,881
Administration costs (Note 9).... 1,676,390 1,830,404 1,877,823
Bad debts 50,000 98,986 69,262
22,650,531 20,817,355 21,661,966
Net surplus (deficit) for the year (289,531) 1,964,289 (47,997)
Accumulated surplus—beginning of year 2,951,358 2,951,358 2,999,355
Accumulated SUFPIUS—eNd OF YEAT .........ceiiiiiiiiiiisic e 2,661,827 4,915,647 2,951,358
The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
Statement of change in net financial assets
for the year ended March 31
(in thousands of dollars)
Budget 2019 Actual 2019 Actual 2018
(Note 6)
Net surplus (deficit) for the year (289,531) 1,964,289 (47,997)
Net financial assets—beginning of year. 2,951,358 2,951,358 2,999,355
Net financial assets—end of year 2,661,827 4,915,647 2,951,358

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Employment Insurance Operating Account—continued

Statement of cash flow
for the year ended March 31

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018

Operating activities
Cash receipts
Premiums 22,435,846 21,234,971

Recoveries of benefit overpayments, penalties and interest. 344,300 355,907
Benefit repayments received from higher income claimants 291,870 257,868
23,072,016 21,848,746

Cash payments
Income benefits (17,213,520) (18,282,948)

Transfers to provinces and territories related to LMDA. .. (2,188,798) (1,971,305)
Support measures (138,199) (119,729)
Administration costs (1,872,181) (1,832,830)
(21,412,698) (22,206,812)
Net change in balance of the account with Receiver General for Canada..............ccciiiiiiiiiceeeeeeeee e 1,659,318 (358,066)
Balance of the account with Receiver General for Canada
Beginning of year... 1,039,001 1,397,067
End of year .... 2,698,319 1,039,001

The accompanying notes and schedules are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Employment Insurance Operating Account—continued

Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2019

1. Authority, objective and responsibilities

The Canada Employment Insurance Commission (the Commission), a departmental corporation named in Schedule Il to the Financial
Administration Act, administers the Employment Insurance Act (the Act). The Commission is co-managed by Commissioners
representative of the Government, workers and employers. The objective of the Act is to provide employment insurance (EI) benefits,
employment programs and services to eligible workers. The financial transactions relating to this objective are reported through the
Employment Insurance Operating Account (the Account).

The Account was established in the accounts of Canada by the Act. All amounts received under the Act are deposited in the Consolidated
Revenue Fund and credited to the Account. The benefits and the costs of administration of the Act are paid out of the Consolidated
Revenue Fund and charged to the Account. In these financial statements, the Consolidated Revenue Fund is represented by the Balance
of the account with Receiver General for Canada.

The Commission, through the officers and employees of the Department of Employment and Social Development Canada (ESDC), is
responsible for the delivery of the Employment Insurance program and the day-to-day administration of the Account. The Commission
sets the EI premium rate, the annual maximum insurable earnings and the employer’s premium reduction in respect of wage-loss plans,
subject to the legislated parameters in the Act.

Starting with the 2017 EI premium rate, the Commission assumed responsibility for setting the EI premium rate for each year no higher
than needed to cover the projected costs of the EI program over a seven-year period and eliminate any cumulative surplus/deficit in the
Account.

The Minister of National Revenue is responsible for collecting premiums from employers and employees and for administering and
enforcing the provisions of the Act relating to benefit repayments receivable from higher income claimants.

The Act authorizes the Commission, with the approval of the Minister responsible for ESDC, to enter into Labour Market Development
Agreements (LMDA) with each province and territory. Under these agreements, the Government of Canada provides contributions to
provincial and territorial governments to be used to pay for all or a portion of the costs of their benefits and measures provided they are
similar to the employment benefits and support measures established under Part 11 of the Act. The contributions can also be used to pay
for any administration costs incurred in providing these similar benefits and measures.

The Act also requires the Commission to make regulations to provide a system to reduce employers’ and employees’ premiums when
payments under a provincial law would have the effect of reducing or eliminating the special benefits payable under the Act.

2. Significant accounting policies

The Account is a component of the Government of Canada reporting entity. In this context, its operations are consolidated with those of
the Government and are presented in the financial statements of the Government of Canada.

(a) Basis of accounting
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards (PSAS).
(b) Premiums

Premiums are recognized as revenue in the period in which they are earned, when workers, through their employment, generate these
premiums and the related employer’s contribution. Premiums earned in the period are measured from amounts assessed by the Canada
Revenue Agency (CRA) and from estimates of amounts not yet assessed. Premium revenue also includes adjustments between actual and
estimated premiums of previous years.

(c) Benefits and support measures

Benefits and support measures include income benefits (or benefits under Part I of the Act) and employment benefits and support measures
(benefits under Part 11 of the Act). Those benefit expenses are recorded when the recipients become entitled to the benefits. An estimate
of the benefits earned by the recipients related to the current fiscal year but not yet paid are recorded as benefits payable. This estimate is
based on actual payments made subsequent to year-end.

Income benefits provide temporary income support to claimants while they look for work. Income benefits includes self-employed fishers
and work-sharing agreements for temporary work shortages. It also includes special benefits such as maternity, parental, sickness, family
caregiver and compassionate care benefits. Income benefit expenses represent the amounts paid and payable to claimants for the period
relating to the fiscal year, for the weeks the claimants were entitled to the payments. Overpayments established during the year are deducted
from these expenses.
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Employment Insurance Operating Account—continued
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2019—continued

The rates for income benefits are set on a calendar year basis. The maximum rate is $562 per week for the period from January to
December 2019, and $547 per week for January to December 2018 ($543 per week for 2017). Benefits are paid at the lesser of 55% of
average insurable earnings and the maximum rate. For claimants who qualify as a low-income family with children, the rate may be
increased up to the lesser of 80% of average insurable earnings and the maximum rate.

Transfer payments to the provinces and territories under the LMDA are made pursuant to section 63 of the Act. Similar to the employment
benefits and support measures, these transfer payments are recorded as expenses in the year in which the provinces/territories met the
eligibility criteria and the transfers are authorized. Overpayments to provinces and territories are recovered and recorded as a reduction of
expenses.

Support measures provide financial assistance, through government transfers, to eligible persons to help them re-integrate into the labour
market and to third parties to help them provide employment assistance services to unemployed workers and employed persons if they are
facing a loss of their employment. These expenses include the direct costs of financial and employment assistance programs and related
measures provided to eligible persons and third parties. Government transfers are recognized in the year in which the recipient has met
the eligibility criteria or fulfilled the terms of a contractual transfer agreement and the transfer is authorized.

Claimants with income levels higher than those stated in the Act have to repay benefits received. Benefit repayments received and the
estimated benefit repayments receivable are assessed by the CRA based on tax returns assessed and an estimate of tax returns not yet
assessed. These benefit repayments are disclosed in the Statement of operations and accumulated surplus and Schedule | as benefit
repayments from higher income claimants.

(d) Administration costs

Administration costs are charged to the Account in accordance with various memoranda of understanding. The Account does not have
employees and ESDC administers the Act on behalf of the Commission. In addition to ESDC, other federal government departments also
provide services to the Account. Under all the various memoranda of understanding, the Account is charged at cost and transactions are
measured at the exchange value.

Also, the administration costs paid to provinces and territories to administer the LMDA are included in the administration costs for the
year according to the provisions of those agreements and are also measured at the exchange value.

(e) Balance of the account with Receiver General for Canada

The Account operates within the Consolidated Revenue Fund (CRF), which is administered by the Receiver General for Canada. All cash
received by and credited to the Account is deposited to the CRF, and all cash disbursements made by and charged to the Account are paid
from the CRF. The balance of the account with Receiver General for Canada is the difference between all cash receipts and all cash
disbursements, including transactions with departments of the Government.

(f) Related party transactions

Inter-entity transactions

Inter-entity transactions are transactions between commonly controlled entities. The Account is a component of the Government of Canada
reporting entity and is therefore related to all federal departments, agencies and Crown corporations. Inter-entity transactions are recorded
on a gross basis and are measured at the carrying amount, except for the following:

i. Inter-entity transactions are measured at the exchange value when undertaken on similar terms and conditions to those adopted if the
entities were dealing at arm’s length, or where cost provided are recovered.

ii. Goods or services received without charge between commonly controlled entities are not recorded.

Other related party transactions

Related parties include individuals who are members of key management personnel (KMP) or close family members of those individuals,
and entities controlled by, or under shared control of, a member of KMP or a close family member of that individual. KMP are individuals
having the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Account. Related party transactions,
other than inter-entity transactions, are recorded at the exchange value.
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Employment Insurance Operating Account—continued
Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2019—continued

(g) Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards requires that management makes
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as at the date of the financial statements and revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. At the time of preparation of these statements, management believes the estimates and
assumptions to be reasonable. The most significant estimates are related to premium revenues and receivable, administration costs, benefit
repayments, allowance for doubtful accounts, estimated overpayments and underpayments of benefits disclosed in Note 8, contingent
liabilities and the amounts presented in Schedule I1. Actual results could differ significantly from those estimates.

3. Benefit overpayments and penalties receivable

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018
Benefit OVErpayMENTS MECEIVANIE ... bbb 706,263 629,092
PENAIIES TECEIVADIE. .......viieeeieeeee ettt ettt ettt et et e et e et eeteeeteeate e st e eaeestesaeeseeeaeeaseeseeseesreesseesseseensesssesteesseansesnsensesseesreans 188,724 168,289
894,987 797,381
Less: allowance fOr AOUDTFUI BCCOUNTS ...........cuuuiuiriiiriiiiiiiiiiee it b bbbttt eb e 400,096 336,842
494,891 460,539

Overpayments on claims processed during the current and preceding years are detected through a verification process. These overpayments
are accounted for by reducing the benefit expenses during the year in which they are established.

Penalties may be imposed on a claimant or an employer that provided false or misleading information. The Act sets the maximum amounts
that may be imposed in these cases.

An allowance for doubtful accounts is recorded for benefit overpayments and penalties receivable. The allowance is estimated by aging

the balance of the accounts receivable outstanding and applying varying percentages based on past recovery experience to the aging
categories.

Interest is charged on outstanding El debts caused through misrepresentation. This includes overpayments and penalties. As per

section 56.1(3) of the Employment Insurance Regulations, the rate of interest charged to El claimants, employers or third parties on
outstanding debts is equal to 3% above the average bank rate.

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018
Benefit overpayments receivable—beginning Of YEAT ..o 629,092 576,444
Benefit overpayments established............cccccoeinine 394,395 391,632
Interest accrued ............coeevninnee 18,039 14,232
ReIMbBUIrSEMENE ........oveveiiiiicecc s (302,860) (318,777)
Uncollectible benefit overpayments receivable written off.. (32,403) (34,439)
Benefit overpayments receivable—end OF YEAT ..ot 706,263 629,092
Penalties receivable—bheginning OF YEAI ............ciiiiiiiii ettt 168,289 143,980
Penalties imposed 62,021 64,357
Interest accrued ... 7,735 5,734
Reimbursement ............cccovvvinnne (41,440) (37,130)
Uncollectible penalties WIHEEN OFF............co ittt b ettt n bbb (7,881) (8,652)
Penalties reCeiVabIE—NT OF YEAT ..........iiiiiiiiiii ettt 188,724 168,289

During 2019, the Account charged a total $25.8 million ($19.9 million in 2018) of interest. The interest revenue presented in the Statement
of operations and accumulated surplus ($21.2 million in 2019 and $16.6 million in 2018) is net of interest charged on accounts receivable
deemed unrecoverable ($4.6 million in 2019 and $3.3 million in 2018). The allowance for doubtful accounts was increased by this amount.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2019—continued

4. Other accounts payable

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018
Accounts payable—Related parties
Administration costs payable to federal government departments 12,612 49,657
Amounts payable to ESDC related to LMDA 1,018 5,751
Tax deductions on benefits due to CRA ...... 27,805 5,267
Other deductions 1,322 343
42,757 61,018
Accounts payable—External parties
Assignments of benefits due to social SErvices OrganiZations .............cceoeieiririeiiriie st 1,133 922
Tax deductions on benefits AU t0 QUEDEC. ........ciiiiiiiiiiiiee bbbttt b ettt retas 1,625 322
2,758 1,244
45,515 62,262

5. Financial assets and liabilities

The fair values of the premiums receivable, benefit repayments receivable from higher income claimants, benefits payable and other
accounts payable are considered by management to be comparable to their carrying values because of their short term maturity. These
financial assets and liabilities should either be received or paid in the next fiscal year.

Benefit overpayments and penalties are usually recovered over a period longer than one year. As interest is only applicable to
overpayments caused through misrepresentation and on penalties, and as the allowance for doubtful accounts reduces the carrying value,
the benefit overpayments and penalties receivable is assumed to approximate its fair value.

All of these financial assets and liabilities arose in the normal course of business.

6. Comparison of results against budget

The budget amounts included in the Statement of operations and accumulated surplus and Schedule I—Benefits and support measures are
part of the amounts reported in the Employment and Social Development Canada’s future oriented consolidated financial statements,
which are included in the 2018-2019 Departmental Plan.
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2019—continued

7. Premiums receivable and revenues

Premiums for the fiscal year are collected and measured by the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) based on amounts assessed and reassessed
at the time of preparation of its financial statements and an estimate of premiums earned in the period but not yet assessed or reassessed.
The Account holds a significant balance of premiums receivable and benefits repayments receivable from higher income claimants which
are due from CRA. CRA collects premiums from employers, employees and from higher income claimants on behalf of the Account. The
premiums receivable are cashed on a monthly basis based on the forecasted premium revenue and are adjusted when actual amounts are
known. The benefit repayments receivable are cashed on a monthly basis based on the actual amounts received by CRA from the higher
income claimants during the previous month.

Premium revenue of $22,698 million ($21,533 million in 2018) includes an estimate of premiums earned in the fiscal year but not yet
assessed or reassessed at the time of preparation of the financial statements. Fiscal year 2019 includes $7,750 million in forecasted
premium revenue for the 3-month period from January to March 2019 ($7,757 million in 2018), or approximately 34.40% (35.17% in
2018) of the total forecast premium revenue of $22,529 million for calendar year 2019 ($22,057 million for 2018), net of reductions and
refunds. This estimate is based on the forecasted total insurable earnings of $642,776 million in calendar year 2019 ($612,873 million in
2018). The total insurable earnings forecasts are mainly dependent upon the projected growth in both employment (0.85% in 2019 and
1.38% in 2018) and average wages (3.05% in 2019 and 1.74% in 2018).

A variation in these assumptions would have an impact on the total insurable earnings forecasted and consequently, forecasted premium
revenue. The sensitivity analysis below was determined based on changes to the respective assumptions while holding all other
assumptions constant:

Forecasted premium
revenue

Variable Variation January — March 2019

Employment growth +/- 0.1% +/- $8 million
AAVETAGE WAGES. ... vvttrseseststeesestatstststsestst ettt £ttt bbb bbb bbb bbb +/-0.1% +/- $3 million

Actual premium revenue for calendar years 2018 and 2019 will only be known once the CRA has processed all employer declarations of
premiums for these years. An adjustment for the difference between actual and estimated premiums will be recorded in the fiscal year in
which the actual assessment or reassessment results are known. The difference between estimated and actual premium revenue for calendar
year 2017, as known and recorded at the time of the preparation of these financial statements is a decrease in revenue of $103.4 million
($188.0 million decrease for calendar year 2016 in 2018 financial statements).

For the 2019 calendar year, premium rate for each $100 of insurable earnings was set under section 66 of the Act at 1.62 (1.66 in 2018
and 1.63 in 2017) for the employees who were residents of provinces without a provincial plan. For employees who were residents of
provinces with a provincial plan, the premium rate was set at 1.25 for 2019 (1.30 in 2018 and 1.27 in 2017). The employers must pay
1.4 times the amount of the employee’s premiums. The annual maximum insurable earnings for 2019 is $53,100 ($51,700 in 2018 and
$51,300 in 2017).

Employment Insurance premiums include the employer’s share of premiums paid by the federal government of $403.5 million
($393.4 million in 2018).
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2019—continued

8. Estimated overpayments and underpayments of benefits

The verification of claims is conducted both prior to and after claimants have begun to receive benefits, using a combination of up-front
and automated control measures and post-payment verification activities.

In order to measure the accuracy of benefit payments, ESDC has a program in place which establishes an annual payment accuracy rate
and estimates, through statistical extrapolation, the most likely value of incorrect benefit payouts.

For benefits paid during the twelve months ended March 31, 2019, these undetected overpayments and underpayments are estimated to
be $605.8 million and $135.3 million respectively ($677.5 million and $96.6 million in 2018). The annual payment accuracy rate (which
is comprised of three error sources: claimant, employer and administrative) and estimated value of errors are used by ESDC to assess the
quality of decisions and the need, if any, to improve its systems and practices of processing claims.

The overpayments established during the year, as indicated in Note 3, are not directly linked to the above noted estimated overpayments
and underpayments of benefits for the same period.

9. Administration costs

(in thousands of dollars)

2019 2018
Administration costs—Related parties
Employment and Social Development Canada
Personnel related costs 950,279 985,067
Non-personnel related costs 379,276 383,982
Canada Revenue Agency
Collection of PremiumS @N FUIINGS .......cviiiiii ettt 212,755 214,534
Treasury Board Secretariat
Health Insurance Plan and PUbIIC SErVIiCe INSUFANCE............ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiii s 83,323 92,639
Administrative Tribunals Support Service of Canada
S0CTAI SECUITY THDUNAL ...ttt 18,209 14,200
Courts Administration Services
Courts ADMINISTAtION SEIVICES .........vuiiiiiiiiiici bbb 1,007 1,017
1,644,849 1,691,439
Deduct: Recovery of costs from the Canada Pension Plan for maintaining the social insurance number registry............c.coccoeeerenene 4,140 5,255
1,640,709 1,686,184
Administration costs—External parties
Administration costs incurred by provinces and territories under the LIMDA ..........c.oiiiiiiniiinrecesee e 189,695 191,639
1,830,404 1,877,823
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10. Contractual obligations

The nature of the Account activities can result in some large multi-year agreements whereby the Account will be obligated to make future
payments. Significant contractual obligations that can be reasonably estimated are summarized as follows:

(in thousands of dollars)

2024 and
2020 2021 2022 2023 thereafter Total
Related parties
AdMINISLration COSES.........cccviviiiiiiiiisice s 1,885,512 - - - - 1,885,512
External parties
Transfers to provinces and territories, including administration
costs, related t0 LMDA..........ccooeiniiiiiiiics 2,327,740 - - - - 2,327,740
Other transfer PAYMENTS .........cccocirreieniiirreesee e 48,806 42,379 27,270 23,331 138,392 280,178
TOMAL . 4,262,058 42,379 27,270 23,331 138,392 4,493,430

Administration costs are charged to the Account in accordance with various memoranda of understanding (MOU) with related parties.
The MOUs require written notification for cancellation and one of the more significant MOUs require one year advanced notification.
Therefore, the administration costs disclosed are an estimation of the costs that will be charged to the Account in the next fiscal year.
Administration costs are expected to continue to be charged to the Account in the upcoming fiscal years, but cannot be reasonably
estimated at this time.

LMDA with eight of the provinces and one territory require a two year notice for cancellation of the agreements, other provinces and
territories require a one year notice. The obligations for 2021 cannot be reasonably estimated.

ESDC entered into agreements with recipients of the Indigenous Skills and Employment Training (ISET) Program designed to help
Indigenous people improve their skills and find employment. Contractual obligations related to the signed agreements have been included
in Other transfer payments in the table above. Agreements that were signed after March 31, 2019 have not been included. These agreements
will be ongoing for the next 10 years.

11. Related party transactions

The Account enters into transactions with federal government departments and entities in the normal course of business. Details of these
transactions are provided in Note 4, Note 7, Note 9 and Note 10.

There were no significant transactions with key management personnel and their close family members that have occurred at a value
different from which they would have been arrived at if the parties were unrelated.

The Account receives audit services without charge from the Office of the Auditor General of Canada. The value of these audit services
are not material for the purpose of the Account’s financial statements and have not been recorded.

12. Contingent liabilities

In the normal course of the operations, numerous appeals against or by the Commission are presently outstanding. The outcome of these
appeals is not presently determinable. Any claims resulting from the resolution of these appeals will be accounted for as an expense in the
period in which the outcome of the claim will be determinable. However, in the opinion of management, the result of these appeals should
not have a significant impact on the operations of the Account as the total contingent liability amount is estimated at $33.4 million as at
March 31, 2019 ($27.6 million in 2018).

A judicial review application to the Federal Court and a policy grievance were filed by the bargaining agent with respect to ESDC decision
not to pay retroactivity for certain employees. This may result in administration costs being charged to the Account. The judicial review
application and the grievance are seeking salary retroactivity following the classification grievance committee report and recommendation
and its application. The outcome of this claim is not determinable at this time.
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Schedule 1—Benefits and support measures
for the year ended March 31

(in thousands of dollars)

Budget 2019 Actual 2019 Actual 2018
(Note 6)
Part I—Income benefits

Income support
Regular 12,409,000 10,639,258 11,750,954
Fishing 332,000 332,784 326,940
Work-sharing ... 24,000 5,775 12,892
12,765,000 10,977,817 12,090,786

Special benefits
Parental 2,872,000 2,750,600 2,783,673
Sickness ... 1,716,000 1,781,315 1,681,642
Maternity 1,234,000 1,191,599 1,175,287
Family caregiver.. 164,000 80,982 31,649
Compassionate care 66,000 52,805 61,613
Adoption 22,000 21,273 21,319
Self-employment 11,000 9,901 9,661
6,085,000 5,888,475 5,764,844
Total income benefits 18,850,000 16,866,292 17,855,630
Less: benefit repayments from higher income claimants. 265,000 286,247 308,560
Total part | 18,585,000 16,580,045 17,547,070

Part 1l—Employment benefits and support measures
Employment benefits

Transfer payments to provinces and territories related to LMDA ..........ccccooevviiinneiennneenne 2,215,000 2,170,960 2,048,593
Support measures

Labour market partnerships ... 121,596 133,295 112,630
Research and innovation 2,545 3,665 6,588
124,141 136,960 119,218

TOTAI PATT Tl 2,339,141 2,307,920 2,167,811
Total benefits and SUPPOIrT MEASUIES ........c.curuiiiriiiiiiiiiiiiiee ettt 20,924,141 18,887,965 19,714,881
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Schedule 11—Statement of operations and accumulated surplus
for the period of January 1st to December 31st

(in thousands of dollars)

2018 2017
Revenues
Premiums 22,692,297 21,082,938
Penalties .. 62,547 65,594
Interest .... 19,971 15,368
22,774,815 21,163,900
Expenses
Income benefits 17,200,768 18,268,655
Transfers to provinces and territories related to LMDA, 2,140,484 2,067,610
Support measures 127,000 112,827
Benefits repayments from higher income claimants (298,854) (285,917)
19,169,398 20,163,175
Administration costs 1,842,056 1,852,450
Bad debts 91,555 59,927
21,103,009 22,075,552
Net SUrplus (AefiCit) TOr the PEIIOT ..........viiiiiiiieii ettt 1,671,806 (911,652)
Accumulated surplus—beginning of period 1,602,201 2,513,853
Accumulated surplus—end of period 3,274,007 1,602,201

The estimates provided in this Schedule for calendar year 2018 which is prepared in accordance with Canadian public sector accounting
standards are used by the Commission to establish the Employment Insurance premium rate for the following calendar year. The
mechanism for setting the Employment Insurance premium rate is designed to ensure that revenues and expenditures break even over a
seven year period.
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Public Accounts of Canada 2018-2019

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

This section contains information on accounts reported on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position under Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities. The establishment and operation of these accounts are authorized by Parliament in annual appropriation acts and other
legislation. In many cases, these accounts represent accounts payable, accruals and allowances set up at year-end under the authority
granted to the President of the Treasury Board under the Financial Administration Act.

Most tables in this section present the continuity of accounts, by showing the opening and closing balances. A narrative description is

provided for accounts reported in some tables. Such descriptions follow the same presentation order as their respective tables.

Table 5.1
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
(in dollars)
2019 2018
Restated *
Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities, TaDIE 5.2 ... 42,673,872,539 37,691,698,680
Deferred revenues, Table 5.5 ...........ccccccevee 7,500,380,171 8,220,306,659
Amounts payable related to tax, Table 5.6 .... 65,200,486,882 61,875,955,006
Provision for contingent liabilities 26,447,057,841 23,029,439,044
Environmental liabilities and asset retirement obligations, Table 5.7 13,192,330,277 12,291,069,498
Interest and matured debt, Table 5.9 ... 4,693,715,213 4,690,402,629
JLILC ] LT OO OSSOSO PO TP PO TTSOUE PPNt 159,707,842,923 147,798,871,516
1 Details on the restatement can be found in Note 2 of Section 2 of this volume.
Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Table 5.2
Other accounts payable and accrued liabilities
(in dollars)
2019 2018
Restated *
Accounts payable... 28,026,025,457 22,946,774,759
Add: consolidation adjustment? ... 1,460,940,143 1,348,374,360
29,486,965,600 24,295,149,119
Accrued salaries and benefits 5,215,246,318 5,104,848,495
Notes payable to international organizations, Table 5.3 .. 195,955,069 240,249,239
Provincial, Territorial and Aboriginal Tax Agreements Account, Table 5.4. 7,067,872,435 7,419,117,814
Miscellaneous paylist deductions.... 180,564,779 125,895,328
527,268,338 506,438,685
TOTAL 1.ttt bbbt 42,673,872,539 37,691,698,680

Details on the restatement can be found in Note 2 of Section 2 of this volume.
2 Additional information on the consolidated Crown corporations and other entities is provided in Section 4 of this volume.

Accounts payable

This account records amounts owing at year end pursuant to contractual arrangements, or for work performed, goods received, or services

rendered, accrued amounts to be paid from appropriations and statutory authorities, and accrued financial obligations of consolidated

Crown corporations and other entities.

Accrued salaries and benefits

This account records salaries and wages owing at year end, amounts owing for earned and unpaid annual vacation leave and compensation

time, and other accrued amounts relating to unpaid or retroactive salaries.
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Notes payable to international organizations

Share capital subscriptions, loans and advances are made to international organizations using cash, notes payable, or both, that are later
presented for encashment according to terms of agreements. These demand notes are non-interest bearing and are non-negotiable. The
subscriptions, loans and advances are recorded as assets and details are reported in Table 9.12 in Section 9 of this volume.

Table 5.3
Notes payable to international organizations
(in dollars)
Receipts and Payments and
other credits other charges
Note Note
April 1, 2018 issuances Revaluation* encashment Revaluation*  March 31, 2019
Department of Finance
Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank .............ccccceevveneenen. 205,216,352 - 7,847,009 53,440,909 - 159,622,452
International Bank for Reconstruction and
Development (World Bank)..........ccceoevieninciinnicinens 30,899,532 - 1,146,382 - - 32,045,914
Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency . 4,133,355 — 153,348 — — 4,286,703
240,249,239 - 9,146,739 53,440,909 - 195,955,069

1 Notes denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Canadian dollars at the year-end closing rates of exchange.

Provincial, Territorial and Aboriginal Tax Agreements Account

This account records taxes administered by the Government of Canada on behalf of provinces, territories, and aboriginal governments, in
accordance with agreements entered into by the Minister of Finance pursuant to the Federal-Provincial Fiscal Arrangements Act and, in
the case of First Nations Goods and Services Tax, pursuant to the First Nations Goods and Services Tax Act.

The Government of Canada, as represented by the Minister of Finance, has entered into agreements with all provinces and territories
(except Quebec) to collect and administer personal income tax, and with all provinces and territories (except Quebec and Alberta) to
collect and administer corporate tax, and to pay amounts assessed in respect thereof in accordance with the agreements.

Agreements have also been entered into with certain aboriginal governments, to collect First Nations Personal Income Tax as well as First
Nations Sales Tax levied on motive fuels, tobacco, and alcohol and First Nations Goods and Services Tax levied on the same range of
goods and services as the federal goods and services tax, and to make payments to the respective governments in accordance with the
agreements.

This account also records transactions relating to agreements that the Government of Canada has entered into with the provinces of
Ontario, New Brunswick, Nova Scotia, Newfoundland and Labrador and Prince Edward Island regarding the Harmonized Sales Tax, and
payments made to those provinces in accordance with the Comprehensive Integrated Tax Coordination Agreements between the
Government of Canada and the provinces. Effective April 1, 2013, the province of British Columbia returned to the provincial sales tax
regime.

In addition, the account records transactions related to the Coordinated Cannabis Taxation Agreements reached with all provinces and
territories (except Manitoba). Provinces and territories receive revenues from the cannabis excise duty imposed under the Excise Act, 2001.
The Government of Canada pays provinces monthly based on the duties assessed, in accordance with the agreements.

The Public Accounts of Canada reports information on an April to March fiscal year basis, while tax information is generally calculated
on a calendar year basis. Transactions related to several tax years can occur during a given fiscal year. For example, during a given fiscal
year, payments are made, based on estimates, in respect of two calendar years (April to December and January to March). During this
period, it is also necessary to make payments or adjustments related to tax revenues, rebates and credits for previous calendar years.

Section 5—Accounts payable and accrued liabilities | 143



Public Accounts of Canada 2018-2019

Table 5.4
Provincial, Territorial and Aboriginal Tax Agreements Account
(in dollars)
Receipts and Payments and
April 1, 2018 other credits other charges March 31, 2019
Total personal income tax administered by the Government of Canada 5,551,993,805 74,027,984,793 79,579,978,598
Less: payments to provinces, territories and Aboriginal governments
Newfoundland and Labrador ..........ccc.cceeiieiniieiiiseenesiesesee s 1,547,123,267 1,547,123,267
Prince Edward Island.... 404,390,525 404,390,525
Nova Scotia 2,746,001,479 2,746,001,479
New Brunswick 1,787,195,544 1,787,195,544
Ontario......... 38,787,890,130 38,787,890,130
Manitoba ..... 3,421,117,729 3,421,117,729
Saskatchewan . 2,248,817,946 2,248,817,946

Alberta
British Columbia ...

11,728,625,346 11,728,625,346
11,233,097,086 11,233,097,086

78,344,588 78,344,588

Northwest Territories.... 89,144,116 89,144,116

Nunavut 36,397,984 36,397,984

AbOriginal GOVEIMMENTS .....c.cvrviviriiiiiiiiieiiiiiiieiei e 26,551,801 26,551,801

74,134,697,541 74,134,697,541

Total personal income tax on hand 5,551,993,805 74,027,984,793 74,134,697,541 5,445,281,057

Total corporate income tax administered by the Government of Canada.... 4,932,478,405 22,708,776,898 27,641,255,303
Less: payments to provinces and territories

Newfoundland and Labrador ............cccceieeiiiiiiiiscseeees 283,825,484 283,825,484

Prince Edward Island.... 104,176,057 104,176,057

Nova Scotia 564,037,771 564,037,771

New Brunswick . 442,621,099 442,621,099

Ontario..... 16,241,216,486 16,241,216,486

Quebec.. 49,741,984 49,741,984

Manitoba ..... 554,515,363 554,515,363

Saskatchewan 729,363,923 729,363,923

Alberta 126,871,029 126,871,029

British Columbia ... 3,994,002,631 3,994,002,631

10,524,606 10,524,606

Northwest Territories.... . 22,576,552 22,576,552

NUNBVUL ... e 29,460,624 29,460,624

23,152,933,609 23,152,933,609

Total corporate income tax on hand............cccooieiiniiinicnnceee 4,932,478,405 22,708,776,898 23,152,933,609 4,488,321,694

Total harmonized sales tax administered by the Government of Canada.......... (3,065,354,396) 31,340,168,120 28,274,813,724
Less: payments to provinces and territories

Newfoundland and Labrador ... 1,062,709,905 1,062,709,905

Prince Edward Island.... 297,546,054 297,546,054

Nova Scotia .... 1,859,818,686 1,859,818,686

New Brunswick .. 1,520,748,143 1,520,748,143

Ontario 26,459,972,009 26,459,972,009

British COlUMDBIA ......vviieiiic s 7,143,403 7,143,403

31,207,938,200 31,207,938,200

Total harmonized sales tax 0N hand ..............cocooviiiniii e (3,065,354,396) 31,340,168,120 31,207,938,200 (2,933,124,476)
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Table 5.4
Provincial, Territorial and Aboriginal Tax Agreements Account—concluded
(in dollars)
Receipts and Payments and
April 1, 2018 other credits other charges March 31, 2019
Total cannabis tax administered by the Government of Canada - 76,040,081 76,040,081
Less: payments to provinces and territories
Newfoundland and Labrador ............cccocveeveeieieeieieeeeeeeee e 37,615 37,615
Prince Edward Island.... 69,222 69,222
Nova Scotia ........... 386,799 386,799
New Brunswick . 204,409 204,409
Ontario.... 2,490,180 2,490,180
Quebec.... 1,173,694 1,173,694
Saskatchewan .... 208,365 208,365
Alberta........... 2,678,221 2,678,221
British Columbia 1,339,775 1,339,775
Yukon.......oooeee. 39,928 39,928
Northwest Territories.... 10,892 10,892
NUNBVUL ..o 6,821 6,821
8,645,921 8,645,921
Total cannabis tax 0N hand ..o - 76,040,081 8,645,921 67,394,160
Total First Nations sales tax administered by the Government of Canada. - 7,803,173 - 7,803,173
Less: payments to Aboriginal goOVernMENtS ..........cccovveirreerineeinicenneiens - - 7,803,173 7,803,173
Total First Nations sales tax on hand...............ccccccoevveeieceececiece s - 7,803,173 7,803,173 -
Total First Nations goods and services sales tax
administered by the Government of Canada - 20,944,938 - 20,944,938
Less: payments to Aboriginal governments - - 20,944,938 20,944,938
Total First Nations goods and services sales tax on hand ... - 20,944,938 20,944,938 -
Total .... 7,419,117,814 128,181,718,003 128,532,963,382 7,067,872,435

Miscellaneous paylist deductions

Deductions from the salaries and wages of certain employees are credited to this account pending transmittal to related outside
organizations.

Other

Miscellaneous accounts payable and accrued liabilities such as provincial sales tax collected on sales are recorded in this account.
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Deferred revenues

This account records revenues received before the end of the current fiscal year for which the goods or services are to be delivered or
rendered in a subsequent fiscal year. It includes licence fees received for which access to the radio spectrum is being provided in subsequent
years. The major deferred revenues of $50 million or more are reported individually. It also presents separately revenues received which
have been recorded in a specified purpose account.

Table 5.5
Deferred revenues
(in dollars)
Receipts and Payments and
April 1, 2018 other credits other charges March 31, 2019

Deferred revenues
Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship
Department of Citizenship and Immigration
Service fees for immigration and Citizenship............ccoeovviiiiiiiiiccicnnns 478,097,111 1,086,586,441 1,024,449,769 540,233,783
Innovation, Science and Economic Development
Department of Industry

Canadian Intellectual Property Office Revolving Fund ............cccoccceinee 64,858,672 130,133,412 126,376,963 68,615,121
SPECLTUM TICENCE TEES ......cviviiirieiiiiiiiiec e 7,219,737,444 155,032,763 905,407,195 6,469,363,012
7,284,596,116 285,166,175 1,031,784,158 6,537,978,133

Other deferred revenues® 408,940,974 920,232,886 960,343,145 368,830,715

8,171,634,201 2,291,985,502 3,016,577,072 7,447,042,631

Other deferred revenues—Specified purpose accounts
Donation and bequest accounts
Agriculture and Agri-Food
Department of Agriculture and Agri-Food
Shared-cost agreements—RESEArch ...........cocecerrrerineiniseesecas 17,710,658 3,225,159 8,283,145 12,652,672
Canadian Heritage and Multiculturalism
Library and Archives of Canada

Special Operating ACCOUNT .........cvoviviviririeeieieieier e 2,089,757 695,452 1,722,935 1,062,274

National Film Board
Gift 10 the CrOWN.......cciiiiiii 12,850 52,000 14,638 50,212
2,102,607 747,452 1,737,573 1,112,486

Environment and Climate Change
Department of the Environment

Endangered species—Donations 8,948 986 - 9,934
Miscellaneous projects deposits 16,089,956 18,418,381 8,074,251 26,434,086
16,098,904 18,419,367 8,074,251 26,444,020

Families, Children and Social Development
Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety
DONALIONS ...ttt 113,152 - - 113,152
Fisheries, Oceans and the Canadian Coast Guard
Department of Fisheries and Oceans

ReStricted dONATIONS. ......c.cuiviiiririiiiiieie s 2,620 - 1,373 1,247
Health
Canadian Institutes of Health Research
DoNations fOr rESEAICN ........c..cveieeeeeeeeece e 2,892,018 926,895 1,001,567 2,817,346

Innovation, Science and Economic Development
Department of Industry

Deposits from non-government organizations.............ccccoeoveeininnens 3,165,718 1,780,135 1,099,431 3,846,422
Prime Minister's AWArdS............coeeeeeeeeieieeieeieeeeee e eee e seeenean 680 50,000 - 50,680
3,166,398 1,830,135 1,099,431 3,897,102
Canadian Space Agency
RADARSAT-2 5,058 - 2,860 2,198
RADARSAT-2—Data satellite... 27,803 1,837,205 1,865,007 1
32,861 1,837,205 1,867,867 2,199
3,199,259 3,667,340 2,967,298 3,899,301
National Defence

Department of National Defence

Corporate sponsorships and donations .............c.cceeeeeeeisnesnnas 39,130 134,711 150,922 22,919

146 | Section 5—Accounts payable and accrued liabilities



Public Accounts of Canada 2018-2019

Table 5.5
Deferred revenues—concluded
(in dollars)
Receipts and Payments and
April 1, 2018 other credits other charges March 31, 2019
Office of the Governor General's Secretary
Cost-sharing agreements and other collaborative agreements.... 144,822 1,114 1,184 144,752
Donations—Rideau Hall .... 25,163 - 5,342 19,821
169,985 1,114 6,526 164,573
Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness
Royal Canadian Mounted Police
Civil Remedies Grant Program ...........ccceeveeerereiesennrssrssseenenenns 1,005 - 576 429
Mounted Police Foundation 290,622 - - 290,622
Royal Canadian Mounted Police Pipe Band (NCR) 7,163 - - 7,163
Sponsorship Agreement—Contributions...... 168,653 - - 168,653
467,443 - 576 466,867
Science
Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council
TIUSE FUNG . 365,035 2,827 159,194 208,668
Transport
Department of Transport
Shared-cost agreements—Transportation research and development. 400,701 1,445,195 1,120,352 725,544
Veterans Affairs
Department of Veterans Affairs
Restricted donations
Canadian MemOrial..........cccoivirieiiiiieis s 800 - 800 -
Visitor Education Centre, Vimy Memorial.... 5,000,000 - 396,996 4,603,004
Wounded Warrior Fund 849 - 149 700
5,001,649 - 397,945 4,603,704
Total—Donation and bequest accounts 48,563,161 28,570,060 23,900,722 53,232,499
Endowment interest accounts
Environment and Climate Change
Parks Canada Agency
Laurier House—Interest (Mackenzie King Trust Account)................ - 4,388 4,388 -
Health
Canadian Institutes of Health Research
Endowments for health research ............cccocoeoiviiiiiiiiiiiiiiis 3,001 1,035 - 4,036
Innovation, Science and Economic Development
National Research Council of Canada
H.L. HOIMES FUND ..ottt - 100,000 100,000 -
Science
Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council
Queen's Fellowship FUNG...........ccoiiiiiiii s 106,296 4,709 10,000 101,005
Total—Endowment intereSt CCOUNTS.........c.evrviriiriiririiiiiiieee et 109,297 110,132 114,388 105,041
Total—Other deferred revenues—Specified purpose aCCoUNLS ............covverrerrnennns 48,672,458 28,680,192 24,015,110 53,337,540
Total—Deferred FEVENUES ..........ccvuiriiiriiiiiiiiteett ettt 8,220,306,659 2,320,665,694 3,040,592,182 7,500,380,171

1 Certain comparative figures have been restated. Details on the restatement can be found in Note 2 of Section 2 of this volume.
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Service fees for immigration and citizenship

This account was established to record fees, rights and privileges derived from the Citizenship Act and regulations and the Immigration
and Refugee Protection Act and regulations. Recognition of earned revenue related to fees, rights and privileges is deferred until the
application is finalized.

Canadian Intellectual Property Office Revolving Fund

This account was established to record funds reserved from sources such as patents, trademarks examination and registration fees which
are recognized as revenue in subsequent years.

Spectrum licence fees

This account was established to record: (a) funds received from spectrum auctions, which are recognized as revenues over the period of
the licences; and (b) funds received from spectrum licence fees that are received in the latter part of the fiscal year, but which are applicable
to the following fiscal year.

Shared-cost agreements—Research

This account was established to record amounts deposited by external parties for shared-cost projects, and any related future provincial
program payments to be made on a province’s behalf by the Department of Agriculture and Agri-Food as part of a related project. Funds
are disbursed on behalf of depositors as specific projects are undertaken.

Special Operating Account

This account was established, pursuant to section 18 of the Library and Archives of Canada Act, to record funds received by way of gifts
for the purposes of Library and Archives Canada. Amounts required for the purposes of the Act may be paid out of this account, or out of
funds appropriated by Parliament for such purposes.

Gift to the Crown
This account was established to record donations for the production of an animated film on immigration from the point of view of children.
Endangered species—Donations

This account was established to record donations, gifts or bequests received from individuals and organizations to finance various studies
related to endangered species.

Miscellaneous projects deposits

This account was established to record contributions received from organizations and individuals, for the advancement of research work
and clean-up efforts.

Donations—Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety

This account was established, pursuant to subsection 6(3) of the Canadian Centre for Occupational Health and Safety Act, to record funds,
securities or other property received by way of gift, bequest or otherwise, and to disburse such donations at the discretion of the Centre.

Restricted donations—Department of Fisheries and Oceans

This account was established to record directed donations to be used for research, development, management and promotion of fisheries
and oceans related issues.

Donations for research

This account was established, pursuant to section 29 of the Canadian Institutes of Health Research Act, to record donations and
contributions received from organizations and individuals for health research.

Deposits from non-government organizations
This account was established to record amounts deposited by customers to be used for payments of services provided by the department.
Prime Minister’s Awards

This account was established to record amounts deposited by external parties to be used in support of the Prime Minister’s Awards for
teaching excellence.
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RADARSAT-2

This account was established to record funds received for the configuration and layout of relocated MacDonald, Dettwiler and Associates
personnel.

RADARSAT-2—Data satellite

This account was established to record funds received from MacDonald, Dettwiler and Associates for the reception, archiving, cataloguing
and satellite acquisition services.

Corporate sponsorships and donations

This account was established by the Department of National Defence to administer funds received from various private companies, not
for profit corporations, associations, other levels of government, or individuals for the purpose of holding events, conducting operations
and constructing capital assets consistent with the Department’s mandate but not funded from its appropriations.

Cost sharing collaborate agreements and other collaborate agreements
This account was established to record amounts deposited by external parties for shared-cost projects.
Donations—Rideau Hall

This account was established to record gifts, donations or bequests to Rideau Hall from private organizations and individuals to fund
specific initiatives.

Civil Remedies Grant Program

This account was established to record grants received under the authority of the British Columbia Civil Forfeiture Act. These grants are
used for the procurement of specialized police equipment and training.

Mounted Police Foundation

This account was established to record funds received from the Mounted Police Foundation which will be used to cover expenses related
to community policing, educational, promotional and public relations projects throughout Canada.

Royal Canadian Mounted Police Pipe Band (National Capital Region)
This account was established to administer sponsorship funds to support the Royal Canadian Mounted Police Pipe Band.
Sponsorship agreement—Contributions

This account was established to record funds contributed to the Royal Canadian Mounted Police pursuant to sponsorship agreements for
use in community policing programs.

Trust Fund—Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council

This account was established to record funds available for social sciences and humanities research activities. The account is also used to
record receipts of private donations for the purpose of special projects.

Shared-cost agreements—Transportation research and development

This account was established to record, on a temporary basis; (a) funds received from cost-sharing agreements intended to strengthen and
improve the safety, security and efficiency of the Canadian transportation system; and (b) funds received from private sector and provincial
governments to directly support the departmental strategic objectives.

Restricted donations—Canadian Memorial

This account was established to record directed donations for the purpose of management and maintenance of the Canadian Memorial in
Green Park, London, United Kingdom.

Restricted donations—Visitor Education Centre, Vimy Memorial

This account was established to record directed donations for the purpose of providing assistance to the construction of a visitor education
centre at the Canadian National Vimy Memorial.

Restricted donations—Wounded Warrior Fund

This account was established to record directed donations for the purpose of providing assistance to support the pilot project designed to
assist disenfranchised Veterans in crisis.
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Laurier House—Interest (Mackenzie King Trust Account)

The late The Right Hon W.L. Mackenzie King bequeathed Laurier House, Ottawa, and the sum of $225,000, to the Government of
Canada. This amount was credited to the account and earns interest, in accordance with the terms of section 3 of the Laurier House Act.
The interest is to be used to assist in the maintenance of the Laurier House, which is to be preserved as a place of historic interest, and
also to provide accommodation for study and research.

Endowments for health research

This account was established, pursuant to section 29 of the Canadian Institutes of Health Research Act, to record various endowments
received from donors for the purpose of health research. The interest received is used for the payment of research grants.

H.L. Holmes Fund

This account was established, pursuant to paragraph 5(1)(f) of the National Research Council Act, to record the residue of the estate of
H.L. Holmes. Up to two thirds of the yearly net income from the fund shall be used to finance the H.L. Holmes Award on an annual basis.
These awards will provide the opportunity to post-doctoral students to study at world famous graduate schools or research institutes under
outstanding research persons.

Queen’s Fellowship Fund

This fund is an endowment of $250,000 that was established by Vote 45a, Appropriation Act No. 5, 1973-74. The interest earned is used
for the payment of fellowships to graduate students in certain fields of Canadian studies.

Amounts payable related to tax
Amounts payable related to tax are based on assessments as well as estimates of refunds owing for assessments not completed by year end.

Table 5.6

Amounts payable related to tax
(in dollars)

2019 2018

Personal and NON-TESIAENT INCOME TAX ........eiviiieiee et eee ettt et et ete et e et e et e et e ete et e eteeseeeeteesseaseesseeseesseeseeaneeaseensesssesreeaseenseasesnseanen 36,803,289,851 35,369,801,219
Corporate income tax 14,923,539,650 13,710,199,662
Goods and services tax.... 13,395,173,889 12,714,967,677
Customs import duties and excise taxes and duties ... 78,483,492 80,986,448
JLILC ] LT OO OSSOSO PO TP PO TTSOUE PPNt 65,200,486,882 61,875,955,006

Personal and non-resident income tax

This account records tax refunds payable to individual taxpayers as well as amounts payable to employers and other withholders of
personal income tax. This account also includes any interest owing on the balances.

Corporate income tax

This account records tax refunds payable and any interest owing to corporate taxpayers.

Goods and services tax

This account records refunds, rebates and any interest owing related to the goods and services tax.
Customs and excise

This account records refunds of customs import duties, excise taxes and duties, energy taxes and any interest owing on the balances.
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Environmental liabilities and asset retirement obligations

Environmental liabilities are based on the Government’s best estimate of the amount required to remediate the site to current minimum
environmental standards. Asset retirement obligations are the Government’s estimated costs related to obligations associated with the
retirement of tangible capital assets. These costs are normally capitalized and amortized over the asset’s estimated useful life. The liability
reflects the present value of estimated future cash flows required to retire the asset.

Table 5.7
Environmental liabilities and asset retirement obligations

(in dollars)

2019 2018

Remediation liabilities for contaminated sites
Agriculture and Agri-Food
Department of Agriculture and Agri-FOO ...ttt 5,978,858 6,630,455
Canadian Heritage and Multiculturalism

Canadian Broadcasting Corporation... 352,000 367,000
National Capital Commission 65,354,000 49,884,000
65,706,000 50,251,000

Crown-Indigenous Relations
Department of Indian Affairs and Northern DeVEIOPMENT ..........c.coviviiriiiiiicet e 3,772,146,710 3,343,532,437
Environment and Climate Change

Department of the Environment.. 213,611,159 194,163,433
Parks Canada Agency 76,892,665 58,050,670
290,503,824 252,214,103
Fisheries, Oceans and the Canadian Coast Guard
Department of Fisheries and Oceans 226,345,681 129,545,542
Global Affairs
Department of Foreign Affairs, Trade and DeVEIOPMENL ..........ocuiiiiiiiiiiiiict e 15,934 15,591
Health
DepartmMENt OF HEAIN..........ouiii bbb bbbttt bbbt b ettt b et - 38,713
Indigenous Services
Department of INAIgEN0US SEIVICES CANAUA ........cveueuirieiiiitetiiisiei ettt bbbttt b bt 38,534 -
Infrastructure and Communities
The Jacques-Cartier and Champlain Bridges Inc 26,592,000 24,402,000
Windsor-Detroit Bridge Authority 19,523,000 15,468,000
46,115,000 39,870,000
Innovation, Science and Economic Development
National Research CoUNCIl OF CANAUA.............eooiiiiiieee ettt et e et e et e e aeeeteeteeereeseeeseesseenteenneereens 3,458,402 3,224,044
National Defence
Department 0f NatioNal DETENCE..........c.eiuiuiiieiiiice et bbbt bbbttt e bt 526,425,304 491,413,076
Natural Resources
Department of Natural Resources 1,800,845 1,755,936
Atomic Energy of Canada Limited .... 1,054,978,000 988,243,000
1,056,778,845 989,998,936

Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness
CaNada BOAET SEIVICES AGEINCY .....cuvveuiriietetiteut sttt sttt ee et e b s et eb e st et b ebe £ et e b e e b eh et et e bt e ebeae e eb e b e s e e b es et et et e s b ene e eesbenes 1,317,794 1,187,743

Correctional Service of Canada 3,211,004 3,203,237
Royal Canadian Mounted Police 11,088,614 9,693,093
15,617,412 14,084,073

Public Services and Procurement
Department of Public Works and Government Services.... 239,334,375 218,431,732

Transport

Department of Transport... ST TP TSP P TP PPPTOPOPPPO 228,297,858 171,038,656
VIA Rail Canada Inc. 1,312,000 200,000
229,609,858 171,238,656
Gross remediation liability for contaminated sites 6,478,074,737 5,710,488,358
Less expected recoveries—Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development .. 23,161,964 23,431,315

Net remediation liability of contaminated sites 6,454,912,773 5,687,057,043

Other environmental liabilities
National Defence
Department of National Defence (unexploded explosive ordnance affected SiteS) ...........covrerireirncieieneereeesees 115,201,168 122,124,589

Asset retirement obligations
Natural Resources

Atomic Energy of Canada Limited (nuclear facility decommiSSioning) .........cocevierirriiinieirnieessee e 6,613,955,000 6,473,301,000
Others 8,261,336 8,586,866
Total asset retirement obligations .. 6,622,216,336 6,481,887,866

Total environmental liabilities and asset retirement ODIIGAtIONS ..........coveuiiiiuiiiiiieic s 13,192,330,277 12,291,069,498
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Changes in liability for remediation of contaminated sites

Table 5.8
Changes in liability for remediation of contaminated sites
(in dollars)
2019 2018
Opening balance 5,710,488,358 5,944,513,687
Less: Expenditures reducing opening liabilities 583,549,885 538,751,252
Add:
Changes in estimated remediation costs 1,127,718,946 253,777,187
New liability for sites not previously recorded... 223,417,318 50,948,736
Closing balance (gross) 6,478,074,737 5,710,488,358
Expected recoveries 23,161,964 23,431,315
6,454,912,773 5,687,057,043

Closing balance (net)

In addition to expenditures reducing liabilities previously recorded, the government spent another $36,910,534 ($30,987,709 in 2018)
remediation costs on its contaminated sites when these costs became known in the year.

Interest and matured debt

Table 5.9
Interest and matured debt
(in dollars)
2019 2018
Interest due 420,313,885 558,722,245
Interest accrued... 3,728,409,761 3,659,281,340
544,991,567 472,399,044

Matured debt

4,693,715,213 4,690,402,629

Interest due

Interest due is the interest on the bonded debt, which is due and payable but has not been redeemed by bond holders.

Interest accrued

Interest accrued is the interest accumulated as at March 31 on the bonded debt and certain other liabilities, that is not payable until a future
date.

Matured debt

This account records financial obligations represented by certificates of indebtedness issued by the Government that have become due but
that have not been presented for redemption. Unclaimed matured bonds are transferred to other revenues if they remain unredeemed
15 years after the date of call or maturity, whichever is earlier.
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Interest-bearing debt

This section contains information on the interest-bearing debt of the Government. Interest-bearing debt includes the unmatured debt and
pensions, other future benefits and other liabilities.

Some tables in this section present the continuity of accounts, by showing the opening and closing balances, as well as receipts and other
credits, and payments and other charges.

The financial statements of the Canada Pension Plan, the Government Annuities Account and the Royal Canadian Mounted Police
(Dependants) Pension Fund, together with the Independent Auditor’s Reports thereon, are presented at the end of this section.

Table 6.1
Interest-bearing debt
(in dollars)
Receipts and Payments and
April 1, 2018 other credits other charges March 31, 2019

Unmatured debt*
Payable in Canadian currency
Marketable bonds, Table 6.2.... 574,968,343,000 101,943,811,750 107,385,667,000 569,526,487,750
Treasury bills, Table 6.3 .. . 110,700,000,000 340,400,000,000 316,800,000,000 134,300,000,000
Retail debt, Table 6.4 ..........coeiiiiiie s 2,585,645,315 75,637,433 1,424,467,209 1,236,815,539
688,253,988,315 442,419,449,183 425,610,134,209 705,063,303,289

Payable in foreign currencies

Marketable bonds, Table 6.2.... 10,901,505,621 4,172,478,359 4,058,881,093 11,015,102,887
Canada bills, Table 6.5......... . 2,590,690,240 15,639,146,548 15,530,561,797 2,699,274,991
Medium-term notes, Table 6.6 ...........cocovrrrirniie 2,556,915,000 61,130,000 322,100,000 2,295,945,000
16,049,110,861 19,872,754,907 19,911,542,890 16,010,322,878
Total—Market debt 704,303,099,176 462,292,204,090 445,521,677,099 721,073,626,167
Unamortized discounts and premiums on market debt, Table 6.7 3,466,833,608 3,209,257,693 4,513,293,595 2,162,797,706
Total—Market debt including unamortized discounts and premiums........ 707,769,932,784 465,501,461,783 450,034,970,694 723,236,423,873
Cross-currency swap revaluation... 7,834,922,434 - 561,433,336 7,273,489,098
Obligation related to capital leases, Table 6.12 3,202,324,348 8,232,663 317,240,599 2,893,316,412
Obligation under public-private partnerships 2,393,208,872 1,130,088,663 12,071,135 3,511,226,400
Total—Unmatured debt ... 721,200,388,438 466,639,783,109 450,925,715,764 736,914,455,783
Pensions, other future benefits and other liabilities
Public sector pensions, Table 6.15 170,913,900,135 22,036,908,864 24,168,261,249 168,782,547,750
Other employee and veteran future benefits, Table 6.28..... 104,793,309,000 14,875,258,000 5,806,769,000 113,861,798,000
Other liabilities
Canada Pension Plan Accounts, Table 6.29 31,863,746 81,061,037,707 80,929,664,586 163,236,867
Government Annuities Account...... 134,645,885 6,878,459 18,581,822 122,942,522
Deposit and trust accounts, Table 6.30... 1,326,752,619 893,754,049 865,150,258 1,355,356,410
Other specified purpose accounts, Table 6.33 4,176,991,913 2,635,700,261 2,549,615,507 4,263,076,667
5,670,254,163 84,597,370,476 84,363,012,173 5,904,612,466
Total—Pensions, other future benefits and other liabilities .............c.ccoeeueee.. 281,377,463,298 121,509,537,340 114,338,042,422 288,548,958,216
TOTAL bbbt 1,002,577,851,736 588,149,320,449 565,263,758,186 1,025,463,413,999

1 This table includes unmatured debt issued by the Government of Canada, Borrowings of agent enterprise Crown corporations which are unconditional obligations of the
Government, but not included in unmatured debt, can be found in Table 6.11.
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Unmatured debt

Unmatured debt represents financial obligations resulting from certificates of indebtedness issued by the Government of Canada that have
not yet become due, cross-currency swap revaluation and unamortized discounts and premiums on market debt, obligations related
to capital leases and obligations under public-private partnerships.

The Government’s holdings of its own securities have been deducted from unmatured debt, to report the amount of the Government’s
liabilities to outside parties.

Marketable bonds

Marketable bonds are interest-bearing certificates of indebtedness issued by the Government of Canada, and have the following
characteristics:

— bought and sold on the open market;

— payable in Canadian or foreign currency;

— subject to redemption before maturity;

— fixed dates of maturity;

— interest payable either in coupon or registered form; and
— face value guaranteed at maturity.

Registered marketable bonds are transferable by endorsement and delivery by one holder to another. Bearer marketable bonds need not
be endorsed.
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The year-end balances of marketable bonds payable in foreign currencies were translated into Canadian dollars using the closing rates of

exchange at March 31, 2019.

Table 6.2
Marketable bonds

(in dollars)

Payable in Canadian currency
Matured 2018-2019 .......ccooiviiiiiiiiiinii
Maturing
2019-2020
2020-2021
2021-2022
2022-2023..
2023-2024..
2024-2025..
2025-2026
2026-2027
2027-2028..
2028-2029
2029-2030
2031-2032..
2033-2034..
2036-2037 ..
2037-2038
2041-2042
2044-2045..
2045-2046 ..
2047-2048..
2048-2049
2050-2051
2051-2052..
2064-2065..

Less:
Government holdings of unmatured debt
Consolidation adjustment?

Total marketable bonds payable in Canadian currency....
Payable in foreign currencies
Matured 2018-2019 ....
Maturing
2019-2020
2021-2022
2022-2023

Less: Government's holdings and securities
held for the retirement of unmatured debt®

Receipts and

Payments and

April 1, 2018 other credits® other charges* March 31, 2019
64,713,981,000 - 64,713,981,000 -
116,261,000,000 - 38,518,367,000 77,742,633,000
74,767,361,000 39,000,000,000 3,130,000,000 110,637,361,000
49,988,149,000 17,319,801,250 - 67,307,950,250
43,506,022,000 - - 43,506,022,000
16,558,552,000 24,000,000,000 - 40,558,552,000
13,800,000,000 - - 13,800,000,000
15,403,156,000 - - 15,403,156,000
21,370,957,500 114,922,500 - 21,485,880,000
19,035,975,000 - - 19,035,975,000
9,000,000,000 4,500,000,000 - 13,500,000,000
10,883,378,000 9,000,000,000 - 19,883,378,000
8,357,104,000 122,032,000 - 8,479,136,000
12,338,905,000 - 65,000,000 12,273,905,000
7,478,991,000 109,219,500 - 7,588,210,500
12,631,295,000 - 130,521,000 12,500,774,000
22,928,616,500 113,249,500 690,209,000 22,351,657,000
8,770,454,000 128,051,000 - 8,898,505,000
16,400,000,000 - - 16,400,000,000
8,223,369,000 120,120,000 - 8,343,489,000
14,900,000,000 - - 14,900,000,000
2,228,842,000 2,293,962,000 - 4,522,804,000
1,500,000,000 3,800,000,000 - 5,300,000,000
4,750,000,000 - - 4,750,000,000
575,796,108,000 100,621,357,750 107,248,078,000 569,169,387,750
1,220,000,000 (1,220,000,000) - -
(392,235,000) (102,454,000) (137,589,000) (357,100,000)
827,765,000 (1,322,454,000) (137,589,000) (357,100,000)
574,968,343,000 101,943,811,750 107,385,667,000 569,526,487,750
3,885,917,472 - 3,885,917,472 -
3,175,109,400 167,300 172,800,000 3,002,476,700

- 4,008,600,000 - 4,008,600,000

3,865,200,000 143,400,000 — 4,008,600,000
10,926,226,872 4,152,167,300 4,058,717,472 11,019,676,700
24,721,251 20,311,059 163,621 4,573,813
10,901,505,621 4,172,478,359 4,058,881,093 11,015,102,887
585,869,848,621 106,116,290,109 111,444,548,093 580,541,590,637

1 These columns include the translation of marketable bonds payable in foreign currencies to Canadian dollars using the closing rates of exchange at March 31.

2 Includes $2,930,000 of securities held by consolidated Crown corporations and other entities and $360,030,000 of borrowings by consolidated agent Crown corporations.

Additional information on consolidated Crown corporations and other entities is provided in Section 4 of this volume.

3 These securities were assumed by the Government of Canada on February 5, 2001, upon the dissolution of Petro-Canada Limited. These are presented as a deduction from

the foreign currency unmatured debt since they are held specifically for the repayment of the corresponding liabilities assumed upon the dissolution of the Corporation.
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Treasury bills

Treasury bills are short-term certificates of indebtedness issued by the Government of Canada to pay sums of money on given dates, and
have the following characteristics:

— issued at a discount in lieu of interest payments;

— issued in Canadian currency only;

— issued every 2 weeks;

— common terms: 3 months, 6 months and 12 months;
— transferable; and

— bought and sold on the open market.

The balance at March 31, 2019 consists of $41,900 million in three-month bills; $27,300 million in six-month bills; $59,600 million in
364-day bills; and $5,500 million in odd-issue bills.

Table 6.3
Treasury bills
(in dollars)
Receipts and Payments and
April 1, 2018 other credits other charges March 31, 2019
Three-month bills... 30,800,000,000 152,800,000,000 141,700,000,000 41,900,000,000
Six-month bills 21,900,000,000 59,600,000,000 54,200,000,000 27,300,000,000
Other bills 58,000,000,000 128,000,000,000 120,900,000,000 65,100,000,000
110,700,000,000 340,400,000,000 316,800,000,000 134,300,000,000
110,700,000,000 340,400,000,000 316,800,000,000 134,300,000,000

1 Represents securities held by consolidated Crown corporations and other entities. Additional information is provided in Section 4 of this volume.
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Retail debt

Retail debt includes Canada savings bonds and Canada premium bonds which are interest-bearing certificates of indebtedness issued by
the Government of Canada, and have the following characteristics:

— issued to Canadian residents;

— issued in Canadian currency only;

— registered in the name of the holder;

— fixed dates of maturity;

— not marketable;

— not subject to call before maturity;

— term to maturity of three years or more;

— Canada savings bonds are redeemable on demand by the holder, with accrued interest calculated to the end of the previous month
(no interest is paid if redeemed during the first 3 months following the date of issue); and

— Canada premium bonds are redeemable in full or partially on any annual anniversary of the issue date and during the 30 days
thereafter by the holder, with accrued interest if applicable.

Table 6.4
Retail debt
(in dollars)
Receipts and Payments and
April 1, 2018 other credits other charges March 31, 2019
Canada savings bonds (CSB)
Matured 2018-2019 ........ccovviiiiiiiniici 702,229,469 - 702,229,469 -
Maturing
2019-2020 607,533,130 - 158,114,764 449,418,366
2020-2021 .. . 137,629,599 - 20,990,949 116,638,650
2021-2022..... 180,996,747 37,654,111 35,233,910 183,416,948
1,628,388,945 37,654,111 916,569,092 749,473,964
Canada premium bonds (CPB)
Matured 2018-2019 ........cccooueierririirinieeereee s 415,887,808 - 415,887,808 -
Maturing
2019-2020..... 287,532,422 - 39,028,354 248,504,068
2020-2021.. 108,500,662 - 18,227,756 90,272,906
2021-2022 145,335,478 37,983,322 34,754,199 148,564,601
957,256,370 37,983,322 507,898,117 487,341,575
TOAl o 2,585,645,315 75,637,433 1,424,467,209 1,236,815,539
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Canada bills

Canada bills are short-term certificates of indebtedness issued by the Government of Canada in the United States money market under the
Government’s foreign currency borrowing program. Canada bills provide Canada with an additional source of short-term US funds and
have the following characteristics:

— issued at a discount in lieu of interest payments;
— term to maturity of not more than 270 days;

— transferable; and

— bought and sold on the open market.

The year-end balance of Canada bills payable in US dollars was translated into Canadian dollars using the closing rate of exchange at
March 31, 2019.

Table 6.5
Canada bills
(in dollars)
Receipts and Payments and
April 1, 2018 other credits other charges March 31, 2019
Canada bills before revaluation ............c.cococovvvnnniiiis 2,478,437,687 15,626,291,875 15,530,561,797 2,574,167,765
Exchange valuation adjustment... 112,252,553 12,854,673 - 125,107,226
2,590,690,240 15,639,146,548 15,530,561,797 2,699,274,991

Medium-term notes

Medium-term notes are issued by the Government of Canada in the foreign markets under the Government’s foreign currency borrowing
program, and thus provide Canada with an additional source of medium-term foreign funds.

The year-end balances of medium-term notes payable in US dollars and Euros were translated into Canadian dollars using the closing rate
of exchange of the appropriate currency at March 31, 2019.

Table 6.6
Medium-term notes
(in dollars)
Receipts and Payments and
April 1, 2018 other credits other charges March 31, 2019
Payable in foreign currencies
Matured 2018-2019 ........ccovviiiiiiiniic 322,100,000 - 322,100,000 -
Maturing
2019-2020 ......0coiiriiiiii e 1,191,770,000 44,215,000 - 1,235,985,000
2020-2021 978,625,000 14,525,000 - 993,150,000
2021-2022 64,420,000 2,390,000 - 66,810,000
TOAl o 2,556,915,000 61,130,000 322,100,000 2,295,945,000
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Unamortized discounts and premiums on market debt

The unamortized discounts and premiums on market debt have the following characteristics:

— unamortized discounts on Canada bills records the portion of the discounts on outstanding Canada bills which has not yet been
charged to expenses. Discounts are amortized over the life of the bills;

— unamortized discounts on treasury bills records the portion of the discounts on outstanding treasury bills which has not yet been
charged to expenses. Discounts are amortized over the life of the bills; and

— unamortized discounts and premiums on marketable bonds records the portion of the discounts and premiums on outstanding
marketable bonds which has not yet been charged to expenses. Discounts and premiums are amortized over the life of the bonds.

Table 6.7

Unamortized discounts and premiums on market debt

(in dollars)

Unamortized discounts on Canada bills
Unamortized discounts on treasury bills

Unamortized discounts and premiums on marketable bonds

Receipts and

Payments and

April 1, 2018 other credits other charges March 31, 2019
(6,593,399) 58,818,533 60,562,321 (8,337,187)
(436,281,323) 1,899,172,771 2,207,460,231 (744,568,783)

3,909,708,330 1,251,266,389 2,245,271,043 2,915,703,676

3,466,833,608 3,209,257,693 4,513,293,595 2,162,797,706

Cross-currency swap revaluation

This represents the unrealized gains or losses due to fluctuations in the foreign exchange value of the cross-currency swaps.

Interest rates

Table 6.8 sets out market debt as at March 31, for each of the years 2015 to 2019 inclusively, with the average rate of interest thereon. For
purposes of comparison, market debt is classified as marketable bonds, treasury bills, retail debt, Canada bills and medium-term notes.

Table 6.8

Market debt as at March 31, from 2015 to 2019, with the average rate of interest thereon

(in millions of dollars)

Total
Marketable Treasury Retail Canada Medium-term market
bonds bills debt bills notes debt
Average Average Average Average Average Average
Amount interest Amount interest Amount interest Amount interest Amount interest Amount interest

outstanding  rate %

outstanding

rate %

outstanding

rate %

outstanding

rate %  outstanding rate %

outstanding rate %

2019... 580,542 2.28
2018... 585,870 2.18
2017... 547,761 2.25
2016... 519,373 2.47
2015... 502,635 2.70

134,300
110,700
136,700
138,100
135,692

179
1.16
0.54
0.50
0.81

1,237
2,585
4,533
5,076
5,660

0.71
0.63
0.66
0.67
0.71

2,699
2,591
3,521
4,748
3,789

2.44
1.61
0.77
0.43
0.08

2,296
2,557
2,607
2,429
1,724

2.23
1.70
1.06
0.67
0.35

721,074 2.18
704,303 2.01
695,122 1.89
669,726 2.03
649,500 2.27

The interest rate in effect at March 31 is used where various rates of interest are applicable.
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Table 6.9
Treasury bills average yields at tender

(in percentage)

Year ended March 31 High Low Last issue

Three-month bills

2019.... 1.73 112 1.65
2018. 121 0.52 1.09
2017 . 0.55 0.46 0.51
2016. 0.67 0.37 0.46
2015.... 0.95 0.47 0.53
Six-month bills
1.93 1.33 1.68
1.37 0.56 1.28
0.58 0.51 0.55
0.69 0.37 0.51
2015.... 0.98 0.45 0.54
364-days bills
2019.... 2.17 1.64 1.70
2018.... 1.63 0.62 1.60
2017 .... 0.65 0.50 0.64
2016 .... 0.72 0.38 0.54
2015 .ttt ettt ene 1.02 0.43 0.53
Other bills
2019.... 1.76 1.10 1.71
2018. 1.20 0.48 1.20
2017 . 0.58 0.46 0.53
2016. 0.67 0.45 0.53
2015.... 0.98 0.68 0.71
Maturity of Government debt
Table 6.10
Maturity of Government debt
(in millions of dollars)
Total
Marketable Treasury Retail Canada Medium-term market
bonds bills debt bills notes debt
Average Average Average Average Average Average
interest interest interest interest interest interest

Amount  rate%  Amount rate%  Amount rate%  Amount rate%  Amount rate%  Amount rate %

2020... 80,745 1.61 134,300 1.79 698 0.71 2,699 2.44 1,236 2.36 219,678 1.73
2021... 110,637 1.60 - - 207 0.71 - - 993 2.04 111,837 161
2022... 71,316 1.76 - - 332 0.66 - - 67 2.65 71,715 1.76
2023... 47,515 1.88 - - - - - - - - 47,515 1.87
40,559 2.25 - - - - - - - - 40,559 2.25
2025-2029 83,225 2.56 - - - - - - - - 83,225 2.56
2030-2034 40,636 4.61 - - - - - - - - 40,636 4.61
2035-2039 20,089 4.25 - - - - - - - - 20,089 4.25
2040-2044 .... 22,352 3.30 - - - - - - - - 22,352 3.30
2045-2049 .... 48,542 2.52 - - - - - - - - 48,542 2.52
2050-2054 ... 9,823 1.31 - - - - - - - - 9,823 131
2065-2069 ........ccoceririreieiee 4,750 2.75 - - - - - - - - 4,750 2.75
580,189 2.28 134,300 1.79 1,237 0.71 2,699 2.44 2,296 2.23 720,721 2.18
Less: Government's holdings
and consolidation
adjustment®.........ccoorerrnnnns (353) - - - - (353)
TOtal o 580,542 2.28 134,300 1.79 1,237 0.71 2,699 2.44 2,296 2.23 721,074 2.18

This table includes unmatured debt issued by the Government of Canada. Borrowings of agent enterprise Crown corporations which are unconditional obligations of the

Government, but not included in unmatured debt, can be found in Table 6.11.

1 Includes government’s holdings and securities held for the retirement of unmatured debt (Marketable bonds — $4 million with an average interest rate of 9.0%) and
consolidation adjustments.
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Statement of all borrowing transactions on behalf of Her Majesty

Included in the following table are borrowings by the Government for general purposes and borrowings by agent enterprise Crown
corporations. Borrowings by non-agent enterprise Crown corporations and other government business enterprises are not included because
such borrowings are not on behalf of Her Majesty.

Table 6.11
Statement of all borrowing transactions on behalf of Her Majesty

(in millions of dollars)

Issues/

April 1, 2018 Borrowings Retirements March 31, 2019
Market debt of the Government of Canada® 704,303 462,293 445,522 721,074
Cross-currency swap revaluation ...............c.c....... 7,835 - 561 7,274
Unamortized discounts and premiums on market debt. 3,467 3,209 4513 2,163
Obligation related to capital leases®.............cc.ee... 3,202 8 317 2,893
Obligation under public-private partnerships 2,393 1,130 12 3,511
721,200 466,640 450,925 736,915

Borrowings of enterprise Crown corporations designated
as agents Of HEr MAJEStY ......ccvirrriiiiiiieieeieiei e 291,469 83,943 80,678 294,734
TOAL L 1,012,669 550,583 531,603 1,031,649

1 Details can be found in this section.

Obligation related to capital leases

A capital lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the benefits and risks inherent in ownership of the asset to the lessee. The net
obligation related to capital leases represents the present values of the remaining minimum lease payments under the capital lease
arrangements.

Table 6.12
Obligation related to capital leases
(in dollars)
April 1, 2018 Net changes March 31, 2019
Land . 2,598,591 (1,182,340) 1,416,251
Buildings . 2,343,473,195 (167,032,535) 2,176,440,660
Works and infrastructure.. 464,036,724 (24,047,853) 439,988,871
Machinery and equipment 286,540,349 (51,834,131) 234,706,218
Vehicles . 105,675,489 (64,911,077) 40,764,412
TOMAL s 3,202,324,348 (309,007,936) 2,893,316,412
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Table 6.13
Details of obligation related to capital leases

(in thousands of dollars)

Public Accounts of Canada 2018-2019

Canadian Heritage and Multiculturalism
Canadian Broadcasting Corporation
7067 Chebucto Rd, HalifaX...........ccccoeviiiiiiiiiiiiiiinne
Canadian Museum of Nature
Natural Heritage Building, Gatineau...............c.cooev.e.
Canadian Race Relations Foundation
Capital leases less than $10,000,000...........ccccervrmennnnns
National Film Board
Capital leases less than $10,000,000...........ccccervrmennnnns
Environment and Climate Change
Department of the Environment
Carleton University, Ottawa—
National Wildlife Research Centre...
Parks Canada Agency
Capital leases less than $10,000,000
National Defence
Department of National Defence
Edmonton Armoury—North....
Edmonton Armoury—South....
Longue Pointe Supply Depot
Milit-Air Capital Lease (NFTC) (Lease 1 of 2)
Milit-Air Capital Lease (NFTC) (Lease 2 of 2)
Montfort Hospital—Health Services............
Other capital leases less than $10,000,000...

Natural Resources
Department of Natural Resources
183 Longwood Drive, Hamilton ...........ccccccoveienicinenn.
Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness
Royal Canadian Mounted Police
RCMP Detachment, Cornwall ....
Other capital leases less than $10,000,000

Public Services and Procurement
Department of Public Works and Government Services
111 Lombard Avenue, Winnipeg
1550 d'Estimauville Avenue, Quebec
1600 Star Top Road, Ottawa....
181 Queen Street, Ottawa ...
2 Victoria Avenue, Miramichi .
22 Eddy Street, Gatineau .........
2575 Sainte-Anne Boulevard, Quebec ...
269 Laurier Avenue, Ottawa....
30 Victoria Street, Gatineau.....
351 Saint-Joseph Boulevard, Gatineau (Lease 1 of 3)....
351 Saint-Joseph Boulevard, Gatineau (Lease 2 of 3)....
351 Saint-Joseph Boulevard, Gatineau (Lease 3 of 3)....
395 Terminal Avenue, Ottawa
455 de la Carriére Boulevard, Gatineau .
90 Elgin Street, Ottawa...................
Canada Place Building, Edmonton..
Canada Post Place, OttaWa...........cc.cceveeveeeeeeeeieeeeereennns

Total Less: Net
estimated imputed obligations
Lease Discount remaining interest using under capital

Inception termin rate minimum the discount lease
date years %* lease payments rate arrangements
June 2015 7 3.23 6,112 352 5,760
Sept 1996 35 9.88 43,750 18,742 25,008
3 - 3
111 3 108
May 2002 25 5.63 10,400 2,208 8,192
2,504 468 2,036
Dec 2000 20 5.62 2,358 112 2,246
May 2001 20 6.07 4,365 269 4,096
Nov 1994 35 7.74 36,021 11,488 24,533
Dec 1999 20 5.78 31,453 883 30,570
Oct 2003 17 5.87 10,798 604 10,194
Oct 2003 17 5.26 28,703 3,738 24,965
65 - 65
113,763 17,094 96,669
Nov 2010 25 1.65 72,646 9,146 63,500
Aug 2009 25 5.54 17,668 5,804 11,864
1,779 328 1,451
19,447 6,132 13,315
Nov 2014 20 2.69 18,024 3,314 14,710
Nov 2011 20 8.24 54,909 20,800 34,109
July 2004 15 7.15 765 9 756
March 2004 20 10.65 18,872 4,228 14,644
Jan 2018 20 3.46 57,248 15,179 42,069
March 2013 25 7.89 228,540 111,102 117,438
April 2015 20 10.32 35,222 18,011 17,211
Sept 2005 15 4.18 8,276 254 8,022
June 2013 25 7.89 229,515 111,876 117,639
July 2011 25 5.28 62,429 21,581 40,848
Dec 2011 25 7.33 16,159 7,068 9,091
Aug 2014 12 2.45 7,322 626 6,696
Jan 2013 15 2.67 38,977 4,256 34,721
Nov 2012 25 6.86 171,810 75,886 95,924
Nov 2014 25 7.23 402,134 193,236 208,898
Oct 2007 25 4.44 268,789 69,656 199,133
Dec 2004 15 491 2,046 37 2,009
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Table 6.13
Details of obligation related to capital leases—concluded

(in thousands of dollars)

Total Less: Net
estimated imputed obligations
Lease Discount remaining interest using under capital
Inception termin rate minimum the discount lease
date years %* lease payments rate arrangements
Fontaine Building, Gatineau Jan 2008 15 5.82 12,424 1,287 11,137
Guy Favreau Complex, Montreal.... Jan 2004 30 3.17 37,103 7,495 29,608
Harry Hays Building, Calgary Oct 2007 25 4.44 266,158 68,984 197,174
Joseph Shepard Building, Toronto .. Oct 2007 25 4.44 184,039 47,703 136,336
Judicial Complex, Toronto April 2006 20 11.40 45,103 14,406 30,697
Library Square (Block 56), Vancouver .. May 1995 25 9.68 7,222 392 6,830
Maritime Centre, Halifax .. Jan 2010 15 6.26 9,438 1,538 7,900
Mercury Centre, Ottawa.... Jan 2007 25 4.50 82,891 19,918 62,973
Montcalm Place, Tower II, Gatineau April 2012 15 2.64 14,416 1,433 12,983
Queen Square, Dartmouth.... Sept 2011 10 3.18 3,223 125 3,098
RCMP Building, Montreal... Oct 2007 25 4.44 46,340 12,039 34,301
Revenue Canada Building, Montreal Oct 2007 25 4.44 94,128 24,404 69,724
Skyline Complex, Ottawa Oct 2007 25 4.44 208,366 54,063 154,303
Thomas D'Arcy McGee Building, Ottawa Oct 2007 25 4.44 162,290 42,046 120,244
Trusco Building, Ottawa...........cccccovvrnnns Sept 2006 20 4.28 51,519 7,443 44,076
Other capital leases less than $10,000,000 141,480 22,642 118,838
2,987,177 983,037 2,004,140
Defence Construction (1951) Limited
Capital leases less than $10,000,000...........cccccverrvrvinnnnns 152 5 147
Shared Services Canada
IBM—Mainframes ..........ccccoivrririiieinineessens Jan 2018 4 1.89 76,500 1,871 74,629
Supercomputer—Meteorological Service of Canada....... July 2017 8 1.44 165,859 6,657 159,202
242,359 8,528 233,831
Transport
Department of Transport
Confederation Bridge, Borden-Carleton................c.c..... May 1997 35 6.16 913,023 473,034 439,989
Other ministries
Capital leases less than $10,000,000...........cccccverermiiiinennns 637 19 618
TOMAD o 4,412,084 1,518,768 2,893,316

1 For lessors and lessees, the financing rate of a lease agreement is subject to change over the term of lease.
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Minimum lease payments related to capital leases

Table 6.14
Minimum lease payments related to capital leases

(in thousands of dollars)

Payments due by March 31
2025 and
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 subsequent Total
Canadian Heritage and
Multiculturalism
Canadian Broadcasting Corporation
Remaining payments................ 706 690 690 4,026 - - 6,112
Imputed interest.........ccooeeeniee 123 110 97 22 - - 352
583 580 593 4,004 - - 5,760
Canadian Museum of Nature
Remaining payments................. 3,500 3,500 3,500 3,500 3,500 26,250 43,750
Imputed interest.........ccooeeeniee 2,435 2,325 2,203 2,068 1,919 7,792 18,742
1,065 1,175 1,297 1,432 1,581 18,458 25,008
Canadian Race Relations
Foundation
Remaining payments................. - - 1 1 1 - 3
Imputed interest............cccceveee. - - - - - -
- - 1 1 1 - 3
National Film Board
Remaining payments 44 45 22 - - - 111
Imputed interest 2 1 - - - - 3
42 44 22 - - - 108
Environment and Climate Change
Department of the Environment
Remaining payments................. 1,300 1,300 1,300 1,300 1,300 3,900 10,400
Imputed interest.........cccoeceniee 461 414 364 312 256 401 2,208
839 886 936 988 1,044 3,499 8,192
Parks Canada Agency
Remaining payments. 508 403 403 403 402 385 2,504
Imputed interest 115 94 74 52 29 104 468
393 309 329 351 373 281 2,036
National Defence
Department of National Defence
Remaining payments................. 49,837 14,248 7,636 7,561 7,561 26,920 113,763
Imputed interest.........c.ccovevnees 4,481 2,746 2,276 1,986 1,677 3,928 17,094
45,356 11,502 5,360 5,575 5,884 22,992 96,669
Natural Resources
Department of Natural Resources
Remaining payments.. 4,372 4,372 4,372 4,372 4,372 50,786 72,646
Imputed interest 1,023 967 910 853 794 4,599 9,146
3,349 3,405 3,462 3,519 3,578 46,187 63,500
Public Safety and Emergency
Preparedness
Royal Canadian Mounted Police
Remaining payments................ 1,774 1,490 1,206 1,206 1,206 12,565 19,447
Imputed interest........ccccoeeenieee 699 651 617 583 548 3,034 6,132
1,075 839 589 623 658 9,531 13,315
Public Services and Procurement
Department of Public Works and
Government Services
Remaining payments 237,735 217,060 207,643 204,479 204,918 1,915,342 2,987,177
Imputed interest 107,812 101,209 95,207 89,135 82,686 506,988 983,037
129,923 115,851 112,436 115,344 122,232 1,408,354 2,004,140
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Table 6.14
Minimum lease payments related to capital leases—concluded

(in thousands of dollars)

Payments due by March 31
2025 and
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 subsequent Total
Defence Construction (1951)
Limited
Remaining payments ................. 83 48 19 2 - - 152
Imputed interest..........ccoveeinene 3 2 - - - - 5
80 46 19 2 - - 147
Shared Services Canada
Remaining payments 57,788 62,390 47,091 28,090 26,857 20,143 242,359
Imputed interest 3,292 2,329 1,418 874 495 120 8,528
54,496 60,061 45,673 27,216 26,362 20,023 233,831
Transport
Department of Transport
Remaining payments 66,999 63,871 64,835 65,815 66,809 584,694 913,023
Imputed interest 41,856 37,583 37,351 37,080 36,766 282,398 473,034
25,143 26,288 27,484 28,735 30,043 302,296 439,989
Other ministries
Remaining payments...........c.cccoev.... 280 201 118 37 1 - 637
Imputed interest ...........ccovveveennnns 11 7 1 - - - 19
269 194 117 37 1 - 618
TOtal oo 262,613 221,180 198,318 187,827 191,757 1,831,621 2,893,316
Summary
Remaining payments 424,926 369,618 338,836 320,792 316,927 2,640,985 4,412,084
Imputed interest 162,313 148,438 140,518 132,965 125,170 809,364 1,518,768
Net obligation............cccccvvieniiininnns 262,613 221,180 198,318 187,827 191,757 1,831,621 2,893,316
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Pensions and other future benefits

The obligations arising from public sector pensions and other employee and veteran future benefits, sponsored by the Government or
some of the consolidated Crown corporations and other entities, are measured on an actuarial basis and are presented net of pension assets
and unrecognized net actuarial gain or loss, as well as contributions and benefits paid by some of the consolidated Crown corporations
and other entities after their measurement date of December 31 up to March 31.

Public sector pensions

The Government sponsors a number of defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all its employees, principally members of the
federal public service, the Canadian Forces (including the Reserve Force) and the Royal Canadian Mounted Police, as well as employees
of certain Public Service corporations and territorial governments. The Government also sponsors several other pension plans; the two
most significant ones being for Members of Parliament and federally appointed judges. The Government has a statutory obligation to pay
the pension benefits it sponsors.

The liabilities for public sector pension plans sponsored by the Government are initially recorded through pension accounts, which are
generally established pursuant to legislation. The pension accounts track transactions such as contributions, interest credits, benefit
payments, transfers and administrative expenses. Any adjustments required under the Government’s accounting policies are then recorded
through allowance for pension adjustment accounts. The allowance accounts reflect the differential between accrual and cash accounting
recognized through the years. They also reflect the accumulated difference in interest calculations and consolidation adjustments related
to refundable tax amounts remitted to or refunded from the Canada Revenue Agency.

The Government’s pension plans are generally financed from employer and employee contributions or from Government and
member contributions. The contributions are either part of general funds or transferred to the Public Sector Pension Investment
Board (PSPIB) for investment. Since April 1, 2000, amounts equal to contributions less benefit payments and other charges related to the
public service, Canadian Forces—Regular Force and Royal Canadian Mounted Police pension plans, and since 2007 for the Canadian
Forces—Reserve Force pension plan, that fall within the Income Tax Act limits are transferred to the PSPIB. The goal of the PSPIB is to
maximize returns on investments without undue risk of loss, while having regard to the funding, policies and requirements and financial
obligations of each of the pension plans. The PSPIB, a Canadian Crown corporation established under the Public Sector Pension
Investment Board Act, reports the results of the investments in an annual report tabled in Parliament. Contributions for all the other pension
plans sponsored by the Government are part of general funds.

More information on the above-mentioned plans can be found in the respective annual report on the administration of the plans tabled in
Parliament.

In addition, some of the consolidated Crown corporations and other entities maintain their own defined benefit pension plans covering
substantially all of their employees. The majority of the defined benefit pension plans are contributory plans. Employer and employee
contributions are made in accordance with the provisions of the plans. Pension plans’ funds are held in external trusts that are legally
separate from Crown corporations and other entities.

i. Pension plans

Public Service Pension Plan, Canadian Forces Pension Plan including the Reserve Force Pension Plan and Royal Canadian Mounted
Police Pension Plan

The pension plans for the public service, Canadian Forces—Regular Force and the Royal Canadian Mounted Police provide for the
payment of a lifetime pension and a temporary bridge benefit payable normally until age 65, the age at which members generally
become eligible for the Canada Pension Plan (CPP) or Quebec Pension Plan (QPP). The annual lifetime pension is based on the average
salary of five consecutive years of highest-paid service and the years of pensionable service. For the Canadian Forces—Reserve Force
pension plan, the annual lifetime pension is based on a percentage of indexed pensionable earnings with a temporary bridge benefit
payable normally until age 65, the age at which members generally become eligible for the CPP or QPP. Pension benefits are indexed
annually on January 1 to take into account the cost of living.
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Pension benefits accrue at a rate of 2% per year of pensionable service up to a maximum of 35 years, the exception being the benefits
offered under the Canadian Forces—Reserve Force pension plan which accrue at a rate of 1.5% up to a maximum of 35 years. Pension
benefits are coordinated with those of the CPP or the QPP. Pension benefits for the public service pension plan members will accrue under
either Group 1 for employees who were plan members prior to January 1, 2013, or Group 2 for employees joining the public service
pension plan on or after that date. The normal retirement age for Group 1 members is 60. For Group 2 members, the normal retirement
age is 65 and other age-related thresholds were increased by 5 years.

Public service Group 1, Canadian Forces—Regular Force and Royal Canadian Mounted Police members contribute at different rates than
public service Group 2 members. The member contribution rates are as follows:

Public service Group 1, Canadian Forces—Regular Force and Royal Canadian Mounted Police pension plan members contributed:

— for the first nine months of the 2019 fiscal year, 9.8% (9.5% in 2018) of salary up to the Yearly Maximum Pensionable Earnings
(YMPE) for the CPP or QPP and 12.1% (11.7% in 2018) of salary above the YMPE; and

— for the last three months of the 2019 fiscal year, 9.6% (9.8% in 2018) of salary up to the YMPE and 11.8% (12.1% in 2018)
of salary above the YMPE.

Public service Group 2 pension plan members contributed:

— for the first nine months of the 2019 fiscal year, 8.8% (8.4% in 2018) of salary up to the YMPE for the CPP or QPP and 10.5%
(9.9% in 2018) of salary above the YMPE; and

— for the last three months of the 2019 fiscal year, 8.7% (8.8% in 2018) of salary up to the YMPE and 10.2% (10.5% in 2018) of
salary above the YMPE.

Contribution rates for Group 2 members were lower than for Group 1 members due to the lower cost of the benefits related to increasing
the normal age of retirement from 60 to 65.

Members of the Canadian Forces—Reserve Force contribute 5.2% on pensionable earnings up to 66-2/3 times the defined benefit limit as
determined under the Income Tax Regulations.

Employer contributions are made monthly to provide for the cost (net of employee contributions) of the benefits that have accrued in
respect of that month at a rate determined by the President of the Treasury Board. For 2019, the employer contribution rates were about
1.0, 1.5 and 1.2 (1.0, 1.4 and 1.2 respectively in 2018) times the current year’s employee contribution for the plans under the Public
Service Superannuation Act, the Canadian Forces Superannuation Act (Regular Force pension plan) and the Royal Canadian Mounted
Police Superannuation Act, respectively. For 2019, the employer contribution rate was about 2.2 (2.1 in 2018) times the current year’s
employee contribution for the Reserve Force pension plan.

The superannuation accounts, which record the transactions that pertain to pre April 1, 2000 service, are credited with interest at rates that
are based on the Government of Canada long-term bond rate. The average interest rate credited to the superannuation accounts was
approximately 4.0% (4.2% in 2018).

The pension fund accounts, which record the transactions that pertain to service since April 1, 2000, are flow through accounts used to
transfer funds to the PSPIB. The balance in the pension fund accounts at year-end represents the amounts awaiting transfer to the PSPIB.

The retirement compensation arrangements (RCA) accounts record transactions for those pension benefits above the pension limits set
under the Income Tax Act. The RCA accounts No. 1 and No. 2 are registered with the Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) and a transfer is
made annually between these RCA accounts and the CRA, either to remit a 50% refundable tax in respect of the net contributions and
interest credits or to receive a refund based on the net benefit payments.
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Members of Parliament retiring allowances

Members of Parliament are eligible at a certain age to receive a basic allowance upon termination of membership and after having
contributed to the plan for at least six years. Retirement age is set at 55 for pensionable service accrued before January 1, 2016 and at 65
for pensionable service accrued on or after January 1, 2016, with the option of reduced benefits for early retirement at age 55. The basic
allowance accrues at a rate of 3% per year of pensionable service for both Members of the House of Commons and for Senators. For
service accrued before January 1, 2016, the accrual rate is multiplied by the average of the best five consecutive years of sessional
indemnity up to a maximum of 75% of the plan member’s average sessional indemnity. For service accrued after December 31, 2015, the
accrual rate is multiplied by the average of the best five consecutive years of pensionable earnings up to a maximum of 75% of the plan
member’s average pensionable earnings. Basic allowances are indexed annually on January 1 to the cost of living once recipients reach
age 60. Pensionable service accrued on or after January 1, 2016, under the Members of Parliament pension plan, is coordinated with the
CPP or QPP at age 60.

The contribution rates have increased over time to bring the plan members’ share to 50% as at January 1, 2018. For the 2019 fiscal year,
plan members contributed at a rate of 19.4% (19.5% in 2018) of their salary for the first nine months and a rate of approximately 19.5%
(19.4% in 2018) for the last three months.

The Government contributions are made monthly to provide for the cost (net of plan member contributions) of the benefits that have
accrued in respect of that month at a rate determined by the President of the Treasury Board. The Government contributions, expressed as
a multiple of plan member contributions, are on average as follows:

2019 2018

Members of Parliament
RELIFING AIOWANCES ACCOUNT .....vvieiteiiteet ettt e b s st bbbt sb bbbt e bbbt b e b st et et et e bt nb e b e nabene 1.0 1.0
Compensation ArTaNGEMENES ACCOUN .......e.tuivtrtrtsrrirtsistsesieeseseseeeseeestseseees s eeeseseeeseseees e s eseseseseseseseseseeeb b eb bbb e b s ererees 1.0 1.0

Contributions are credited to the appropriate pension account, either the Members of Parliament Retiring Allowances Account or the
Members of Parliament Retirement Compensation Arrangements Account. The pension accounts are also credited with interest at a rate
determined by the Chief Actuary of Canada. The average interest rate credited to the pension accounts in 2019 was approximately 2.9%
(2.4% in 2018).

Pension plan for federally appointed judges

This plan provides fully indexed annuities to judges and to all eligible survivors providing they meet minimum age and service
requirements. The full benefit amount is generally payable when the member has completed 15 years of pensionable service and the sum
of the member’s age and years of service totals 80.

Judges appointed to the bench before February 17, 1975, make required contributions of 1.5% of salary. All other judges contribute 7%
of salary.

Legislation does not require a specific pension account to be maintained to record the transactions pertaining to this plan. Therefore, except
for the portion recorded in the Supplementary Retirement Benefit Account, the liability pertaining to this plan is recorded through an
allowance account. During the year, benefits paid are recorded as expenditures against the statutory payment authority. The expense is
adjusted at year-end through an allowance account, to bring the current year expense from cash to an accrual accounting basis, similar to
that of the other pension plans. During the year, the benefit payments charged to the expenditure authority amounted to $170 million
(%159 million in 2018). At March 31, 2019, the portion of the pension liability recorded through an allowance account for the judges’
pension plan amounted to $3,105 million ($2,732 million in 2018).

Consolidated Crown corporations and other entities pension plans

Pension benefits provided under consolidated Crown corporations and other entities defined benefit pension plans accrue depending on
the terms of the plans. Generally, they are based on a combination of an accrual rate per years of pensionable service and some type of
pensionable earnings average. Some of the consolidated Crown corporations and other entities defined benefit pension plans are closed to
new entrants.

Section 6—Interest-bearing debt | 169



Public Accounts of Canada 2018-2019

ii. Actuarial valuations

As required under the Public Pensions Reporting Act, actuarial valuations of the pension plans sponsored by the Government are
performed at least every three years for funding purposes. The actuarial valuations are performed by the Office of the Chief Actuary,
submitted to the President of the Treasury Board, and tabled in Parliament.

The most recent date of the actuarial valuation for funding purposes of each pension plan sponsored by the Government is as follows:
Canadian Forces—Regular Force—March 31, 2016;
Canadian Forces—Reserve Force—March 31, 2016;
Members of Parliament—March 31, 2016;
Federally appointed judges—March 31, 2016;
Public Service—March 31, 2017; and,
Royal Canadian Mounted Police—March 31, 2018, valuation currently in-progress.

The actuarial valuations for the public service, Canadian Forces, Royal Canadian Mounted Police and Members of Parliament pension
plans include the valuation of the Retirement Compensation Arrangements (RCA) component related to each plan.

Where applicable, the funding valuations provide the Government with recommendations for setting both employer and employee
contribution rates, as well as any actuarial adjustment to amortize deficiencies or excesses. These actuarial adjustments are made in equal
instalments over a period not exceeding 15 years commencing in the year in which the actuarial report is laid before Parliament.

To address actuarial deficiencies, no adjustment ($340 million in 2018) was made to the Public Service Pension Fund Account,
$3,107 million (nil in 2018) was credited to the Public Service Superannuation Account, $145 million ($145 million in 2018) was credited
to the Canadian Forces Pension Fund Account, no adjustment ($1,813 million in 2018) was made to the Canadian Forces Superannuation
Accounts, $5.3 million ($5.3 million in 2018) was credited to the Reserve Force Pension Fund Account, $9 million ($9 million in 2018)
was credited to the Royal Canadian Mounted Police Pension Fund Account, and no adjustment ($40.7 million in 2018) was made to the
Members of Parliament Retiring Allowances Account. To address actuarial excesses, no adjustment ($118.9 million in 2018) was debited
from the Members of Parliament Retirement Compensation Arrangements Account. The actuarial adjustments recorded in pension fund
accounts are transferred to the PSPIB for investment. To address deficiencies, the consolidated Crown corporations and other entities
made special funding payments of $8 million ($25 million in 2018).

Table 6.15 presents a summary of the balances and transactions for public sector pension plan liabilities. In particular, receipts and other
credits for the Government’s pension accounts consist of contributions from plan members, the Government of Canada, participating
Public Service corporations and territorial governments, as well as transfers from other pension funds, actuarial adjustments to amortize
deficiencies, refunds of refundable tax and interest. Payments and other charges for the Government’s pension accounts consist of annuity
payments, minimum benefits, cash termination allowances (lump sum payments to employees suffering a disability), returns of
contributions, pension division payments, transfer value payments, transfers to other funds, remittances of refundable tax, payments of
administrative expenses, actuarial adjustments to amortize excesses, and transfers to PSPIB. Adjustments to the Government’s allowance
accounts result from the differential with annual actuarial valuations performed for accounting purposes. These include differences
between benefits earned and contributions and interest calculations, as well as from other adjustments required under the Government’s
accounting policies such as recognition of actuarial gains and losses and consolidation adjustments related to refundable tax amounts.

Pension benefits funded by the Government relate to post March 2000 service that falls within the Income Tax Act limits for the three
main public sector pension plans and all service for the Canadian Force—Reserve Force pension plan, as funds are invested through the
PSPIB. Funded pension benefits also relate to consolidated Crown corporations and other entities where pension plans’ funds are held in
external trusts that are legally separate from Crown corporations and other entities. For unfunded pension plans, separate invested funds
are not maintained. These relate to all pre April 2000 service and only to post March 2000 service that falls above the Income Tax Act
limits for the three main public sector pension plans, all service periods for the pension plans of the federally appointed judges and
Members of Parliament, and some of the consolidated Crown corporations and other entities pension plans.
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Table 6.15
Public sector pensions

(in millions of dollars)

Receipts and Payments and
April 1, 2018 other credits other charges  March 31, 2019

Funded pension benefits

Public Service Pension Fund Account, Table 6.18 ...........cccoceeiviiiiniiiinics s 315 5,254 5,552 17
Allowance for pension adjustments .. 1,669 219 2,124 (236)
Subtotal 1,984 5,473 7,676 (219)
Canadian Forces Pension Fund Account, Table 6.20.... 165 1,551 1,605 111
Allowance for pension adjustments 790 17 226 581
Subtotal 955 1,568 1,831 692
Reserve Force Pension Fund Account, Table 6.21 (83) 66 107 (124)
Allowance for pension adjustments .. 120 43 82 81
Subtotal 37 109 189 (43)
Royal Canadian Mounted Police Pension Fund Account, Table 6.23 ... 2 499 500 1
Allowance for pension adjustments 141 18 97 62
Subtotal 143 517 597 63
Total pension fund accounts.... 399 7,370 7,764 5
Total allowance for pension adjustments 2,720 297 2,529 488
Net pension benefit liabilities related to funded plans sponsored by the Government 3,119 7,667 10,293 493
Pension benefit assets related to funded plans sponsored by consolidated
Crown corporations and Other ENTITIES. .........eovrveirririiriee e (2,124) 388 408 (2,144)
Net pension benefit liabilities related to funded plans ............ccccveiiiiiiiii s 995 8,055 10,701 (1,651)
Unfunded pension benefits
Public Service Superannuation Account, Table 6.17 ...........cccovrriinriiii 92,536 6,712 5,548 93,700
Allowance for pension adjustments .. 5,140 2,551 4,272 3,419
Subtotal 97,676 9,263 9,820 97,119
Canadian Forces Superannuation Account, Table 6.19 46,357 1,791 2,541 45,607
Allowance for pension adjustments 2,114 1,475 574 3,015
Subtotal 48,471 3,266 3,115 48,622
Royal Canadian Mounted Police Superannuation Account, Table 6.22 .... 13,116 509 708 12,917
Allowance for pension adjustments .. . 452 390 156 686
Subtotal 13,568 899 864 13,603
Members of Parliament Retiring Allowances Account, Table 6.24.... 558 31 29 560
Allowance for pension adjustments 69 33 - 102
SUBLOTAL ... 627 64 29 662
Members of Parliament Retirement Compensation Arrangements Account, Table 6.25........... 143 77 17 203
Allowance for pension adjustments .. 354 28 59 323
Subtotal 497 105 76 526
Retirement Compensation Arrangements Accounts, Table 6.26..... 2,395 199 192 2,402
Allowance for pension adjustments 1,499 177 35 1,641
Subtotal 3,894 376 227 4,043
Supplementary Retirement Benefits Account (Judges), Table 6.27 ... 234 13 - 247
Allowance for pension adjustments .. 2,732 373 - 3,105
Subtotal 2,966 386 - 3,352
Supplementary Retirement Benefits Account (Others), Table 6.27.... 1 - — 1
Total superannuation accounts 155,340 9,332 9,035 155,637
Total allowance for Pension adJUSTMENLS ..........ceririiriiiiiiee s 12,360 5,027 5,096 12,291
Pension benefit liabilities related to unfunded plans sponsored by the Government ................. 167,700 14,359 14,131 167,928
Pension benefit liabilities related to unfunded plans sponsored by consolidated
Crown corporations and other entities.... 95 9 5 99
Pension benefit liabilities related to unfunded plans........... 167,795 14,368 14,136 168,027
Net pension benefit IaDITItIES. ..........ccoviviiiiic s 168,790 22,423 24,837 166,376
The net pension benefit liabilities were recognized and presented in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as follows:
Public sector PeNnsion HADIILIES L...........c.eiurieiiirieeeie e 170,914 22,035 24,167 168,782
Public sector pension assets 2... (2,124) 388 670 (2,406)
Net pension benefit liabilities... 168,790 22,423 24,837 166,376

1 Other credits includes the reclassification of public sector pension assets at year-end related to funded plans sponsored by the Government.
2 Other charges includes the reclassification of public sector pension assets at year-end related to funded plans sponsored by the Government.
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Table 6.16 presents a summary of transactions in public sector pensions that resulted in charges to expenses. Interest is calculated based
on the accrued pension obligations under the various plans. The net interest expense represents interest of $6,005 million ($6,347 million
in 2018) credited to the superannuation accounts in accordance with the pension legislation, a provision of $4,841 million ($3,950 million
in 2018) and interest of $442 million ($436 million in 2018) on the consolidated Crown corporations and other entities’ obligations, shown
net of $7,779 million ($6,712 million in 2018) in expected return on pension investments.

Table 6.16

Summary of transactions in public sector pensions that resulted in charges to expenses

(in millions of dollars)

Funded pension benefits
Public Service Pension
Fund Account ............
Canadian Forces Pension
Fund Account ............
Reserve Force Pension
Fund Account ............
Royal Canadian
Mounted Police
Pension Fund
ACCOUNt ..
Consolidated Crown
corporations and
other entities ..............
Total funded
pension benefits

2019 2018
Govern-
ment
contri- Net Actu- Costs Actuarial ~ Valua-
butions bene- arial recorded in Plan losses tion Net Net
and Adjust- fits adjust-  previous curtail- (gains) allow- Pension interest Pension interest
other! ment  earned  ments? years® ments recognized ance  expense expense expense  expense
2,376 (355) 2,021 - - (108) (947) - 966 (495) 1,733 (187)
796 (26) 770 145 (145) - (26) - 744 (29) 792 39
40 (10) 30 5 ®) - (6) - 24 (€} 16 -
262 18 280 9 ) - (55) - 225 (33) 257 5)
86 9) 77 8 8) - (133) 311 255 (181) 49 (161)
3,560 (382) 3,178 167 (167) (108) (1,167) 311 2,214 (739) 2,847 (314)
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Table 6.16
Summary of transactions in public sector pensions that resulted in charges to expenses—concluded

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Govern-
ment
contri- Net Actu- Costs Actuarial  Valua-
butions bene- arial  recorded in Plan losses tion Net Net
and Adjust- fits adjust- previous curtail- (gains) allow- Pension interest Pension interest
other! ment earned  ments? years® ments recognized ance  expense expense expense  expense

Unfunded pension benefits

Public Service

Superannuation

ACCOUNt* ..., 5 (11) 6) 3,107 (3,107) (10) 2,551 - 25535 2,449 2,968 2,509
Canadian Forces

Superannuation

Account?
Defence Services

Pension

Continuation Act........ 2 - 2 - - - - - 2 - 2 -
Royal Canadian

Mounted Police

Superannuation

Account ...
Royal Canadian

Mounted Police

Continuation Act........ 7 - 7 - - - - - 7 - 8 -
Members of Parliament

Retiring Allowances

Account .........coceneeeee 8 12 20 - - - 21 - 41 15 41 15
Members of Parliament

Retirement

Compensation

Arrangements

ACCOUNt .. 7 9 16 - - - 11 - 27 12 27 12
Retirement

Compensation

Arrangement

ACCOUNES....vvvriiaae 53 51 104 - - (6) 81 - 179 96 178 96
Supplementary

Retirement

Benefits Account
Judges ACt.......ccccovvininns 170 74 244 - - - 202 - 446 102 262 85
Other (diplomatic

services, lieutenant

governors, etc.) .......... 2 - 2 - - - - - 2 - 2 -
Consolidated Crown

corporations and

2 (4) ) - - - 1,475 - 1,473 1,217 1,449 1,251

- o) o) - - - 390 - 389 353 440 363

other entities - 2 2 - - — 3 — 5 4 5 4
Subtotal 260 132 392 3,107 (3,107) (16) 4,734 - 5,110 4,248 5,385 4,335
Contributions from

the Judges' plan recorded

to revenues ... (15) - (15) - - - - - (15) - (15) -
Total unfunded

pension benefits 245 132 377 3,107 (3,107) - 4,734 - 5,095 4,248 5,370 4,335
Total reported in the

Consolidated Statement

of Operations and

Accumulated Deficit........ 3,805 (250) 3,555 3,274 (3,274) (124) 3,567 311 7,309 3,509 8,217 4,021

1 “Other” includes consolidated Crown corporations and other entities’ contributions to their pension plans, as well as statutory payments made to beneficiaries under the
Defence Services Pension Continuation Act, the Royal Canadian Mounted Police Continuation Act, the Judges Act, ant other acts regarding diplomatic services, lieutenant
governors, etc.

2 Represents actuarial adjustments to amortize deficiencies and excesses.

3 Represents the reversal of costs already recorded in the allowance for pension adjustments of previous years.

4 Includes payments under the Supplementary Retirement Benefits Act and various acts.
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Public Service Superannuation Account

This account, established by the Public Service Superannuation Act, is used to record all transactions (contributions, benefit payments,
transfers and interest credits) in respect of service accrued by public service members up to March 31, 2000.

Table 6.17
Public Service Superannuation Account

(in dollars)

2019 2018
Opening balance .... 92,536,360,415 94,209,273,550
Receipts and other credits
Employee contributions
Government employees ... 970,947 1,315,935
Retired employees 4,560,109 6,815,848
Public Service COrporation EMPIOYEES ............c.eiiiiuiiiieiiiriitcie sttt 102,235 173,134
Employer contributions
GOVEITIMENT ...ttt ettt b e bbbt et h bt E e b e bt e bt e b e b e et b e et st e b e bt s bt e st et e e bt et ne e nnan 4,597,075 6,835,107
Public Service corporations 30,348 242,136
Actuarial adjustment.................. 3,107,000,000 -
Transfers from other pension funds .. 811,542 166,299
Interest ...... 3,592,782,645 3,829,428,464
Other?.... 655 -
Total receipts AN OB CTEAILS .......c.eveeeiieiei ittt bbbttt bbb n et 6,710,855,556 3,844,976,923
ST1 o] (0] - 1 IS OO TSSO OSSOSO PSR TEPRTPPTN 99,247,215,971 98,054,250,473
Payments and other charges
Benefit payments
Annuities 5,455,468,734 5,413,342,616
Minimum benefits..... 14,876,476 15,545,715
Pension division payments .... 16,527,961 17,052,340
Pension transfer value payments.... 10,226,553 13,257,051
Return of contributions
Government employees 158,122 317,101
Public Service corporation employees - 19,162
Transfers to other pension funds.... 3,567,649 3,460,193
Administrative expenses 46,206,677 54,895,880
Total paymeNts ANA OtNET ChAIGES. ........cuiuiuiiiiiiiiiiitiit ettt 5,547,032,172 5,517,890,058
ClOSING DAIANCE. ...t 93,700,183,799 92,536,360,415

1 Includes the return of contributions from Public Service corporation employees.
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Public Service Pension Fund Account

This account is used to record the transactions in respect of service accrued on or after April 1, 2000, under the Public Service
Superannuation Act. An amount equal to contributions less benefit payments and other charges is transferred to the PSPIB for investment.
The closing balance in this account represents the net cash position prior to the transfer to the PSPIB.

Table 6.18
Public Service Pension Fund Account
(in dollars)
2019 2018
OPENING DAIANCE ...t b et b b bt £ bbb stk e bt b e bt e bbb b sttt e b bt 314,775,347 322,529,984
Receipts and other credits
Employee contributions
GOVEINMENE BMPIOYEES ...ttt ettt b bbbttt b b bt e b e b b st eb st beb et st et e e bbb s ebenea 2,376,806,578 2,169,100,496
Retired employees 51,260,689 45,516,546
Public Service corporation employees ... 199,311,621 199,435,058
Employer contributions
Government 2,375,589,814 2,175,183,716
Public Service corporations 194,603,113 196,270,115
Actuarial adjustment - 340,000,000
Transfers from other pension funds 56,599,226 50,661,941
Total receipts AN OB CTEAILS .......c.evieeuiieie ittt bbbttt bbb en bt 5,254,171,041 5,176,167,872
Payments and other charges
Benefit payments
Annuities 2,255,301,448 2,001,624,358
Minimum benefits..... 18,908,212 15,266,575
Pension division payments .... 41,588,334 36,665,209
Pension transfer value payments.... 287,919,644 218,599,278
Return of contributions
Government employees 11,147,567 10,757,037
Public Service corporation employees ... 4,576,716 3,886,809
Transfers to other pension funds.... 42,850,913 36,975,930
Administrative expenses 51,730,323 45,960,045
Total paymeNts ANA OtNET ChAIGES. ........c.iuiiiiiriiiiiii ittt 2,714,023,157 2,369,735,241
Receipts and other credits less payments and other charges ... 2,540,147,884 2,806,432,631
Transfers to PSPIB. 2,838,324,652 2,814,187,268
Closing balance 16,598,579 314,775,347
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Canadian Forces Superannuation Account

This account, established by the Canadian Forces Superannuation Act, is used to record all transactions (contributions, benefit payments,
transfers and interest credits) in respect of service accrued by Canadian Armed Forces members up to March 31, 2000.

Table 6.19
Canadian Forces Superannuation Account
(in dollars)
2019 2018
Opening balance .... 46,356,962,588 45,208,526,862
Receipts and other credits
CONtribULIONS FrOM PEISONMEN .......vviiiiiiiiiiiiii i 2,295,691 2,593,086
Contributions by the Government.. 2,295,691 2,593,087
Actuarial adjustment - 1,813,000,000
Interest 1,786,411,646 1,844,155,903
Other?.... 270,124 1,244,799
Total receipts and other credits 1,791,273,152 3,663,586,875
Subtotal... 48,148,235,740 48,872,113,737
Payments and other charges
Benefit payments
Pensions and retiring allowances ... 2,500,576,410 2,470,377,868
Minimum benefits 357,871 231,493
Pension division payments 22,572,164 26,164,978
Pension transfer value payments 1,660,893 1,302,378
Return of contributions - 13,574
Administrative expenses 15,596,130 17,060,858
Total payments and other charges 2,540,763,468 2,515,151,149
ClOSING DAIANCE ...ttt bbb s b b £ bbb st e bbbt e bt bbbt b st et e b bt e 45,607,472,272 46,356,962,588

1 Includes returned annuity payments upon joining a Government pension plan.
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Canadian Forces Pension Fund Account

This account is used to record the transactions in respect of service accrued on or after April 1, 2000, in accordance with Part | of the
Canadian Forces Superannuation Act. An amount equal to contributions less benefit payments and other charges is transferred to the
PSPIB for investment. The closing balance in this account represents the net cash position prior to the transfer to the PSPIB.

Table 6.20
Canadian Forces Pension Fund Account
(in dollars)
2019 2018
OPENING DAIANCE ...t b et b b bt £ bbb stk e bt b e bt e bbb b sttt e b bt 164,762,178 173,590,110
Receipts and other credits
Contributions from personnel 541,458,641 574,119,574
795,607,851 824,984,261
145,000,000 145,000,000
68,887,607 69,220,900
173,747 189,660
1,551,127,846 1,613,514,395
Payments and other charges
Benefit payments
Pensions and retiring allowances 684,683,610 598,050,639
Minimum benefits............ 1,038,703 1,240,522
Pension division payments .... 36,256,577 36,689,423
Pension transfer value payments.... 186,434,101 138,445,541
Return of contributions.............. 2,027,083 1,830,807
Transfers to other pension funds 1,799,316 5,361,322
Administrative expenses............ .. 13,998,044 13,734,914
Total payments and other charges............cccovvvinnns . 926,237,434 795,353,168
Receipts and other credits less payments and other charges ... 624,890,412 818,161,227
TrANSTEIS 10 PSPIB.......oiiiiiiiic bbb 678,866,684 826,989,159
CIOSING DBIANCE ... bbb bbb bbbttt 110,785,906 164,762,178

1 Includes unclaimed cheques.
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Reserve Force Pension Fund Account

This account is used to record the transactions in respect of service accrued on or after March 1, 2007, in accordance with Part 1.1 of the
Canadian Forces Superannuation Act. When the closing balance of this account is in a positive net cash position, an amount equal to
contributions less benefit payments and other charges is usually transferred to the PSPIB for investment.

Table 6.21
Reserve Force Pension Fund Account

(in dollars)

2019 2018
OPENING DAIANCE ..o (83,308,325) (63,015,318)
Receipts and other credits
Contributions from personnel.... 20,983,502 28,277,446
Contributions by the Government.. 40,748,802 45,847,929
Actuarial adjustment 5,300,000 5,300,000
Total receipts ANA OtNET CrEAITS .........iveviiiiiiiiiriiie ittt 67,032,304 79,425,375
Payments and other charges
Benefit payments
Pensions and retiring @IIOWANCES ...ttt 9,151,423 8,407,011
Minimum benefits 195,791 194,293
Pension transfer value payments 21,562,942 13,801,972
Return of contributions 95,017 87,817
Transfer to other pension funds 68,887,607 69,218,021
Administrative expenses 7,396,261 8,009,268
Total paymeNts ANA OtNET ChAIGES. ........cuiuiiiiiriiiiiii ettt 107,289,041 99,718,382
CIOSING DBIANCE ... bbb bbb bbbttt (123,565,062) (83,308,325)
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Royal Canadian Mounted Police Superannuation Account

This account, established by the Royal Canadian Mounted Police Superannuation Act, is used to record all transactions (contributions,
benefit payments, transfers and interest credits) in respect of service accrued by Royal Canadian Mounted Police members up to
March 31, 2000.

Table 6.22
Royal Canadian Mounted Police Superannuation Account
(in dollars)
2019 2018
OPENING DAIANCE ...t b et b b bt £ bbb stk e bt b e bt e bbb b sttt e b bt 13,116,767,456 13,274,926,951
Receipts and other credits
Contributions from personnel (current services and arrears). 493,645 491,287
Contributions by the Government " 348,738 376,420
Actuarial adjustment - -
Transfers from other pension funds - 1,589
Interest 508,103,714 540,781,523
Total receipts and other credits 508,946,097 541,650,819
Subtotal... 13,625,713,553 13,816,577,770
Payments and other charges
Benefit payments
Annuities and allowances 698,978,733 683,392,357
Cash termination allowance and gratuities.... 358,101 791,429
Pension division payments 4,589,142 8,207,049
Pension transfer value payments 302,988 2,266,551
Return of contributions 17,621 6,716
Transfers to other pension funds.... - 11,468
Administrative expenses 4,833,153 5,134,744
Total payments aNd OTNET CAIGES. .........c.iiriiiiriiiiiiei ettt bbbttt bbb en b e e 709,079,738 699,810,314
ClOSING DAIANCE ...ttt bbb s b b £ bbb st e bbbt e bt bbbt b st et e b bt e 12,916,633,815 13,116,767,456
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Royal Canadian Mounted Police Pension Fund Account

This account is used to record the transactions in respect of service accrued on or after April 1, 2000, under the Royal Canadian Mounted
Police Superannuation Act. An amount equal to contributions less benefit payments and other charges is transferred to the PSPIB for
investment. The closing balance in this account represents the net cash position prior to the transfer to the PSPIB.

Table 6.23
Royal Canadian Mounted Police Pension Fund Account
(in dollars)
2019 2018
OPENING DAIANCE ...ttt bbbt £ bbb h e bt b et et e btk b et b st eb e b bt 2,690,544 16,302,316
Receipts and other credits
Contributions from personnel (current services and arrears). 222,850,535 225,701,871
Contributions by the Government 262,313,115 269,614,295
Actuarial adjustment 9,000,000 9,000,000
Transfers from other pension funds 4,896,742 8,741,656
Total receipts and other credits 499,060,392 513,057,822
Payments and other charges
Benefit payments
Annuities and allowances 216,577,954 189,646,992
Minimum benefits 515,246 551,037
Pension division payments .... 11,629,861 15,111,613
Pension transfer VAlUE PAYMENTS. ...ttt 35,127,212 36,783,191
Return of contributions
Personnel 220,697 241,224
Interest 58,057 18,033
Transfers to other pension funds.... 445,793 617,458
Administrative expenses 3,653,508 3,516,889
Total payments and other charges 268,228,328 246,486,437
Receipts and other credits less payments and 0ther Charges ...........oiiiiiiiiiiicceeee s 230,832,064 266,571,385
TrANSTEIS 10 PSPIB.......oiiiiiiiic bbb 232,041,704 280,183,157
CIOSING DBIANCE ... bbb bbb bbbttt 1,480,904 2,690,544
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Members of Parliament Retiring Allowances Account

This account was established by the Members of Parliament Retiring Allowances Act to provide pension benefits to eligible Members of
Parliament who contributed to the plan. “Member” means a Member of the Senate or the House of Commons. Benefits are also available
to eligible surviving spouses or eligible dependent children of Members who served on or after a certain date and contributed under the Act.

Table 6.24
Members of Parliament Retiring Allowances Account

(in dollars)

2019 2018
OPENING DAIANCE ...t b et b b bt £ bbb stk e bt b e bt e bbb b sttt e b bt 557,559,308 509,482,465
Receipts and other credits
Members’ contributions
Current services 8,004,846 7,963,652
Avrrears of principal, interest and mortality insurance... 20,865 21,664
Government contributions (current services)... 8,004,846 7,952,077
Actuarial adjustment.... - 40,700,000
Interest 15,497,108 20,997,205
Total receipts and other credits 31,527,665 77,634,598
SUDTOTAL ...t b bbbt E e h R bR R bR e b £ R R bR e bRt bttt e bt 589,086,973 587,117,063
Payments and other charges
Benefit payments
ANNUAT QIIOWANCES ...ttt ettt e ettt et e et e st e eteeete et e eseeteesseereeeaesseeseensessaesaeenseansesssessesreeseeaneeas 29,047,966 29,347,104
PenSioN diVISION PAYMENTS ........c.viiiiiiiisiet ettt 33,927 108,047
Return of contributions
WVIERGTAWALS . ... bbbt 47,499 100,989
Interest 1,631 1,615
Total payments and other charges.. 29,131,023 29,557,755
Closing balance 559,955,950 557,559,308
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Members of Parliament Retirement Compensation Arrangements Account

This account was established by the Members of Parliament Retiring Allowances Act to provide for benefits in respect of pension credits
accrued by Members of Parliament which are not payable out of the Members of Parliament Retiring Allowances Account. Benefits are
also available to eligible surviving spouses or eligible dependent children of Members.

Table 6.25
Members of Parliament Retirement Compensation Arrangements Account

(in dollars)

2019 2018
OPENING DAIANCE ...t b et b b bt £ bbb stk e bt b e bt e bbb b sttt e b bt 142,829,500 254,929,605
Receipts and other credits
Members’ contributions
Current services 7,037,944 6,689,218
Avrrears of principal, interest and mortality insurance... 40,472 41,545
Government contributions (current services)... 7,037,944 6,718,264
Refundable tax .... 58,588,621 3,500,000
Interest ...... 3,959,231 10,865,768
Total receipts and other credits 76,664,212 27,814,795
SUDTOTAL ...t b bbbt E e h R bR R bR e b £ R R bR e bRt bttt e bt 219,493,712 282,744,400
Payments and other charges
Benefit payments
ANNUAT QIIOWANCES ...ttt ettt e ettt et e et e st e eteeete et e eseeteesseereeeaesseeseensessaesaeenseansesssessesreeseeaneeas 16,829,886 16,041,484
PenSioN diVISION PAYMENTS ........c.viiiiiiiieet ittt 19,418 105,941
Return of contributions
WVIERGTAWALS . ... bbbt - 133,586
Interest - 4,105
Refundable tax .... 510 4,729,784
Withdrawal of surplus - 118,900,000
Total payments and other charges 16,849,814 139,914,900
CIOSING DBIANCE ... bbb bbb bbbttt 202,643,898 142,829,500
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Retirement Compensation Arrangements Accounts

The Retirement Compensation Arrangements (RCA) Accounts were established by the Special Retirement Arrangements Act to provide
supplementary pension benefits to certain federal employees.

The RCA Account, No. 1 (RCA No. 1) provides for pension benefits in excess of those permitted under the Income Tax Act for the
pensions paid under the Public Service Superannuation Act, the Canadian Forces Superannuation Act and the Royal Canadian Mounted
Police Superannuation Act. The RCA No. 1 was created effective December 15, 1994.

The RCA Account, No. 2 (RCA No. 2) provides for pension benefits to public service employees who were declared surplus as a result
of a three-year early retirement incentive program that ended on March 31, 1998. It pays the difference between an unreduced pension
and the reduced pension for early retirement payable from the Public Service Superannuation Account. The RCA No. 2 was created
effective April 1, 1995, and is funded entirely by the Government.

Table 6.26
Retirement Compensation Arrangements Accounts
(in dollars)
RCA No. 1 RCA No. 2
Royal Canadian
Public Service Canadian Forces Mounted Police Public Service Total
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Opening balance ................. 1,241,175,803  1,193,245,712 430,166,136 409,218,089 34,456,839 33,996,630 688,734,759 717,522,186  2,394,533,537  2,353,982,617
Receipts and other credits
Employee contributions
Government
employees........ 10,658,710 8,980,064 3,398,549 3,727,817 331,161 85,125 - - 14,388,420 12,793,006
Retired employees.. 549,149 569,949 - - 764 53,980 - - 549,913 623,929
Public Service
corporation
employees........ 2,363,356 2,374,935 - - - - - - 2,363,356 2,374,935
Employer contributions
Government ........... 33,859,345 67,312,931 18,123,360 33,523,618 1,069,921 571,571 - - 53,052,626 101,408,120
Public Service
corporations..... 7,602,054 17,247,731 - - - - - - 7,602,054 17,247,731
Transfers from other
pension funds.. 55,091 356 - - - - - - 55,091 356
Refundable tax... - - - - - - 28,921,208 27,459,101 28,921,208 27,459,101
Interest 48,511,115 50,240,945 16,999,413 17,565,432 1,357,796 1,410,248 26,271,701 28,510,933 93,140,025 97,727,558
103,598,820 146,726,911 38,521,322 54,816,867 2,759,642 2,120,924 55,192,909 55,970,034 200,072,693 259,634,736

1,344,774,623  1,339,972,623 468,687,458 464,034,956 37,216,481 36,117,554 743,927,668 773,492,220  2,594,606,230 2,613,617,353

Payments and other

charges
Benefit payments

Annuities................ 49,076,877 45,045,351 9,514,294 7,825,900 1,366,090 1,195,081 84,797,589 84,757,461 144,754,850 138,823,793

Minimum benefits... 165,060 39 - - - - - - 165,060 39
Pension division

payments................ 891,847 271,949 626,341 1,682,583 - - - - 1,518,188 1,954,532
Pension transfer

value payments....... 865,081 634,514 2,504,578 1,224,987 709 2,424 - - 3,370,368 1,861,925
Return of contributions

Government

employees........ 3,271 69,079 - - - - - - 3,271 69,079

Public Service
corporation

employees........ 18,322 7,769 - - - - - - 18,322 7,769

Transfers to other
pension funds......... 238,368 1,038,273 - - - - - - 238,368 1,038,273
Refundable tax... 27,876,968 51,729,846 13,468,020 23,135,350 662,312 463,210 - - 42,007,300 75,328,406
79,135,794 98,796,820 26,113,233 33,868,820 2,029,111 1,660,715 84,797,589 84,757,461 192,075,727 219,083,816

Closing balance.... 1,265,638,829 1,241,175,803 442,574,225 430,166,136 35,187,370 34,456,839 659,130,079 688,734,759  2,402,530,503  2,394,533,537
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Supplementary Retirement Benefits Account

This account was established by the Supplementary Retirement Benefits Act to provide for pension benefit increases resulting from changes
in the Consumer Price Index. The account continues to provide for increased pension benefits resulting from indexation for pensions of
federally appointed judges, and recipients of pensions under various continuation acts and other related acts.

Table 6.27
Supplementary Retirement Benefits Account
(in dollars)
Judges Otherst Total
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Opening balance ..........cccooveneiine 234,358,307 223,713,819 897,280 815,777 235,255,587 224,529,596
Receipts and other credits
Employee contributions
Government ..o 3,806,630 3,656,523 36,317 38,503 3,842,947 3,695,026
Employer contributions
Government ..o 3,806,631 3,656,524 36,317 52,782 3,842,949 3,709,306
INErest ..c.ooveiciiieircccee 4,694,442 3,331,441 19,086 13,129 4,713,528 3,344,570
Total receipts and other credits... 12,307,703 10,644,488 91,720 104,414 12,399,424 10,748,902
Subtotal......ccoceeriiieee 246,666,010 234,358,307 989,000 920,191 247,655,011 235,278,498
Payments and other charges
Return of contributions............... - - - - - -
ANNuities..............cc...e. - - 21,307 22,911 21,307 22,911
Closing balance 246,666,010 234,358,307 967,693 897,280 247,633,704 235,255,587

1 Includes lieutenant governors and other Governor in Council appointees.

Allowance for pension adjustments

This account records the accounting adjustments resulting from annual actuarial valuations of public sector pension plans sponsored by
the Government.

Actuarial losses of $3,697 million ($4,654 million in 2018), due to plan experience and changes in actuarial assumptions, were recognized
in this account and increased pension expenses for the year.

An amount of $3,266 million ($2,353 million in 2018) was recorded in this account to offset the amortization of deficiencies charged to
the pension fund accounts and superannuation accounts during the year but already accounted for in previous years’ expenses or in
actuarial gains and losses.

No amount ($119 million in 2018) was credited to this account to offset the withdrawal of surplus recorded in a superannuation account
during the year but already accounted for in previous years’ actuarial gains and losses.

An amount of $243 million ($92 million in 2018) was debited from this account and decreased pension costs to adjust for the difference
between the Government contributions and the net cost of benefits earned.

An amount of $124 million (nil in 2018) was debited from this account and decreased pension costs to adjust (not adjusted in 2018) for a
past service cost reduction related to a curtailment.

An amount of $4,841 million ($3,950 million in 2018) was credited to this account to adjust for the difference between interest based on
the accrued pension obligations and interest credited to the superannuation accounts. In addition, an amount of $7,160 million
(%6,119 million in 2018) was debited from this account to record the expected return on the pension investments.

As well, a consolidation adjustment of $46 million was debited ($49 million credited in 2018) from this account and credited (debited in
2018) against personal tax revenues to eliminate the effect of internal transactions resulting from tax amounts credited (debited in 2018)
from the RCA accounts that were previously recorded as tax revenues.

The unrecognized net actuarial loss of $19,178 million ($15,838 million in 2018) will be recognized in this account and will affect
expenses in future years.
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As a result of annual actuarial valuations for accounting purposes, the accrued pension obligations of $345,207 million ($328,497 million
in 2018) less the pension assets of $157,608 million ($141,840 million in 2018) were found to be $31,957 million ($30,918 million in
2018) higher than the balance of the pension fund accounts of $5 million ($399 million in 2018) and the superannuation accounts of

$155,637 million ($155,340 million in 2018). The excess or shortfall is made up of the following:

(in millions of dollars)

Public Service Pension Plan

Public Service Superannuation Account
Public Service Pension Fund .....
Retirement Compensation Arrangements ....

Total allowance for Public Service Pension Plan..............ccccoveiiiicinnciinnnene,

Canadian Forces Pension Plan
Canadian FOrces SUPEranNUATION ACCOUNL........c.tviurrirtrtststsistsisesesesesesesesesesesesesesesessseseseseses e s eeeseseseseseses e ebebebebebebeseeebeseseseseseeene
Canadian Forces Pension Fund
Reserve Force Pension Fund .........
Retirement Compensation Arrangements ....

Total allowance for Canadian Forces Pension Plan ...

Royal Canadian Mounted Police Pension Plan

Royal Canadian Mounted Police Superannuation Account
Royal Canadian Mounted Police Pension Fund
Retirement Compensation Arrangements

Total allowance for Canadian Mounted Police Pension Plan

Members of Parliament Pension Plan

Members of Parliament RELIFNG AITOWANCES .........ciririiiiiiiiiieieiietitet ettt bbbttt bens
Retirement Compensation Arrangements

Total allowance for Members of Parliament Pension Plan....

(Shortfall) excess

2019 2018
(23,459) (22,067)
14,109 10,244
(1,908) (1,667)
(11,258) (13,490)
(12,809) (10,246)
1,616 814
(439) (113)
(189) (331)
(11,821) (9,876)
(4,328) (3,270)
899 676
(43) (23)
(3.472) (2,617)
(190) (140)
(379) (391)
(569) (531)
(4,837) (4,404)
(31,957) (30,918)
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Other employee and veteran future benefits

The Government and the consolidated Crown corporations and other entities sponsor different types of future benefit plans with varying
terms and conditions. The benefits are available to employees and former employees (including military or Royal Canadian Mounted
Police members) during or after employment, or upon retirement. Some are considered retirement benefits, whereby benefits are expected
to be provided after retirement to employees and their beneficiaries or dependants. Others are considered post-employment benefits,
whereby benefits are expected to be paid after employment but before retirement. Benefits for veterans are paid to war veterans, as well
as to Canadian Forces retired veterans and Canadian Forces still-serving members. Benefits for members of the Royal Canadian Mounted
Police are paid to both current and former members. These are primarily post-employment benefits, but some benefits are also paid during
employment to still-serving members. They include disability and associated benefits paid to veterans or Royal Canadian Mounted Police
members, or to their beneficiaries and dependants.

The other major future benefits include health care and dental benefits available to retired employees and retired military and Royal
Canadian Mounted Police members, accumulated sick leave entitlements and post-employment benefits such as workers’ compensation
benefits and severance benefits that accumulate.

Table 6.28
Other employee and veteran future benefits

(in millions of dollars)

Receipts and Payments and
April 1, 2018 other credits other charges  March 31, 2019

Veterans’ disability and other future Benefits............coiiriiiiiniiciic e 60,047 9,658 4,295 65,410
Royal Canadian Mounted Police disability and other future benefits .... 7,981 1,824 295 9,510
Public Service Health Care Plan 27,156 2,198 422 28,932
Pensioners’ Dental Services Plan.... 4,046 440 101 4,385
Severance and other benefits 1,938 131 243 1,826
Accumulated sick leave entitlements 1,754 366 286 1,834
Workers’ compensation 1,536 232 141 1,627
Consolidated Crown corporations and Other eNtities .............cocovvviiiiini 335 27 24 338
TOTAL -ttt h bbb bbb 104,793 14,876 5,807 113,862

All of the Government and almost all of the consolidated Crown corporations and other entities’” sponsored plans are unfunded. The health
care and the dental plans are contributory plans. Contributions by retired plan members are made to the plans to obtain coverage. Therefore
the liabilities and costs are shown net of members’ contributions. The accrued benefit obligations related to these plans is determined
actuarially for accounting purposes. As at March 31, the recorded liabilities included the following components:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Accrued Other Unrecognized  Benefits paid after Future Future
benefit future benefit net actuarial measurement date benefit benefit
obligations assets (loss) gain up to March 31 liabilities liabilities
Veterans’ disability and other future benefits............ccoovevinicinnens 114,391 - (48,981) - 65,410 60,047
Royal Canadian Mounted Police disability and other future benefits . 19,885 - (10,375) - 9,510 7,981
Public Service Health Care Plan ..........c.coccoeveeeeeeeieceeeeeeeeee e 33,347 - (4,415) - 28,932 27,156
Pensioners’ Dental Services Plan.... 5,369 - (984) - 4,385 4,046
Severance and other benefits 2,043 - (217) - 1,826 1,938
Accumulated sick leave entitlements 1,824 - 10 - 1,834 1,754
Workers’ compensation 1,813 - (186) - 1,627 1,536
Consolidated Crown corporations and other entities ... 322 1) 19 ) 338 335
Total .... 178,994 (1) (65,129) (2) 113,862 104,793
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The cost of these benefits can accrue either during the service life of employees or upon occurrence of an event giving rise to the liability
under the terms of the plans. An interest component is charged to expense based on the average accrued benefit obligation.

During the year, expenses relating to these benefits were as follows:

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Actuarial
losses Net
Benefits Plan (gains) benefit Interest
earned curtailments recognized expense cost Total Total
Veterans’ disability and
other future benefits 3,897 - 3,740 7,637 2,021 9,658 12,510
Royal Canadian Mounted
Police disability and other
future benefits 856 - 642 1,498 326 1,824 1,510
Public Service Health Care Plan 1,279 (28) 234 1,485 685 2,170 2,121
Pensioners’ Dental Services Plan.... 193 - 132 325 115 440 400
Severance and other benefits.... 56 - 33 89 42 131 67
Accumulated sick
leave entitlements 329 - 1) 328 37 365 342
Workers’ compensation .... 179 - 16 195 37 232 374
Consolidated Crown corporations
and other entities ... 18 — (2) 16 9 25 26
TOtal i 6,807 (28) 4,794 11,573 3,272 14,845 17,350
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Other liabilities

Other liabilities include general liabilities established under section 64 of the Financial Administration Act as well as specified purpose
accounts opened under section 21 of the Financial Administration Act or of other legislation. Specified purpose accounts are an accounting
classification used to record transactions and expenditures in respect of money payable out of the Consolidated Revenue Fund under
statutory authorities, pursuant to legislation, trusts, treaties, undertakings or contracts. Legislation relating to some of these accounts
permits investments to be made and, in certain cases, the balances of the accounts earn interest.

Canada Pension Plan

The Canada Pension Plan (CPP) is a federal/provincial social insurance program established by an Act of Parliament in 1965. The CPP
began operations in 1966. It is compulsory and in operation in all parts of Canada, except for the Province of Quebec. The objective of
the program is to provide a measure of protection to workers and their families against the loss of earnings due to retirement, disability or
death. The CPP is financed from employees, employers and self-employed workers contributions, as well as investment earnings. The
CPP’s investments are held and managed by the Canada Pension Plan Investment Board (CPPIB).

The CPP is administered by the Government of Canada and the provinces. As such, CPP’s financial activities are not part of the
Government of Canada’s reporting entity because changes to the CPP require the agreement of at least two thirds of the provinces,
representing at least two thirds of the population of all the provinces and it is therefore not controlled by the Government.

The Minister of Families, Children and Social Development is responsible for the administration of the CPP under the Canada Pension
Plan Act; the Minister of National Revenue is responsible for collecting contributions. The Minister of Finance and his provincial
counterparts are responsible for setting CPP contribution rates, pension and benefit levels and funding policy. The CPPIB is responsible
for managing the amounts that are being transferred under Sections 108.1 and 108.3 of the Canada Pension Plan Act. It acts in the best
interests of the beneficiaries and contributors under the Act.

Legislation to implement the CPP Enhancement came into force on March 3, 2017, amending the Canada Pension Plan, and took effect
on January 1, 2019. The CPP Enhancement will increase the amount of pensions and post-retirement benefits that will be paid on CPP
contributions made after 2018, with a corresponding increase to the contribution rate. Effectively, the CPP Enhancement will serve as a
“top-up” of the benefits calculated under the existing CPP. Unlike the existing CPP, the CPP Enhancement will be fully funded per the
legislative requirement.

The existing CPP Account and the Additional CPP Account for the CPP Enhancement, collectively referred to as the CPP Accounts, were
established in the accounts of Canada pursuant to the Canada Pension Plan Act. The transactions of each component of the CPP are
recorded in the Account to which they relate. CPP’s revenues and expenses such as contributions, interests, investment income or loss
from CPPIB, pension benefits and operating expenses, are reported as increases and decreases to this liability. The CPP Accounts also
record the amounts transferred to or received from the CPPIB. The CPPIB operates at arm’s length from the Government and invests in a
diversified portfolio of securities.

As administrator of the CPP, the Government’s authority to provide benefits is limited to the assets available for benefit payments of the
CPP. At March 31, 2019, the fair value of the CPP’s assets available for benefit payments is $396,480 million ($360,997 million in 2018)
for the CPP Account and $536 million (nil in 2018) for the Additional CPP Account.

The detailed revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities of the CPP financial activities are reported separately in the CPP consolidated
financial statements. The CPP’s deposit with the Receiver General for Canada of $163 million ($32 million in 2018) corresponds to the
balance in the CPP Accounts and is reported as the Government’s liability to the CPP at March 31, 2019. The CPP’s deposit with the
Receiver General for Canada is comprised of the CPP Account balance of $152 million ($32 million in 2018) and the Additional CPP
Account balance of $11 million (nil in 2018).
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Table 6.29 presents a reconciliation between the assets available for benefit payments shown in the CPP’s consolidated financial
statements and the CPP Accounts, as well as a summary of the balances and transactions in the CPP Accounts which result in the deposit
with the Receiver General for Canada.

Table 6.29
Canada Pension Plan Accounts
(in dollars)
Receipts and Payments and
April 1, 2018 other credits other charges March 31, 2019
Canada Pension Plan balance per audited consolidated financial statements
Assets available for benefit payments...........ccooveiiieniceinceeeee 360,997,056,575 83,833,589,657 48,350,931,231 396,479,715,001
Less:
Receivables, net of liabilities 4,831,364,150 4,770,535,627 4,831,364,150 4,770,535,627

Accumulated net income from Canada Pension Plan
Investment Board’s OPerations ..............oceeeerueiririeeininenisesieesee e 215,614,000,000 33,202,000,000 1,194,000,000 247,622,000,000

140,551,692,425 45,861,054,030 42,325,567,081  144,087,179,374

Less: transfers to Canada Pension Plan Investment Board .............ccccovviiiviinininnns 140,519,828,679 34,744,550,750 38,159,660,995 143,934,938,924
Total Canada PENSION PIaN........c.couiieiriiviiriieiesssese e 31,863,746 80,605,604,780 80,485,228,076 152,240,450

Additional Canada Pension Plan balance

per audited consolidated financial statements

Assets available for benefit payments...........ccooveiiienicinc s - 568,600,628 32,278,757 536,321,871
Less:

Receivables, net of labilities ..........c.ccoveeeiiiiieeeceee e - 102,167,701 - 102,167,701
Accumulated net income from Canada Pension Plan

Investment Board’s OPerations ..............oceoeeerueirinieeineenineseesee e - 11,000,000 9,000,000 2,000,000

- 455,432,927 23,278,757 432,154,170

Less: transfers to Canada Pension Plan Investment Board .............cccccovviiviiiinnnnns - - 421,157,753 421,157,753

Total Additional Canada Pension PIan ... - 455,432,927 444,436,510 10,996,417

Deposit with the Receiver General for Canada.............cccceueveviiiiiieiieecccceeeens 31,863,746 81,061,037,707 80,929,664,586 163,236,867

Receipts and other credits include:

@
(b)
(©
(d)
Q)

contributions from employees, employers and those who are self-employed;

income from the average daily operating balance deposited with the Receiver General for Canada;
funds received from the CPPIB;

gains on investments held by the CPPIB; and

payments received on overpayments established.

Payments and other charges include:

@

(b)

(©
(d)
(©
®

pensions and benefits paid under the CPP as retirement pensions and post-retirement benefit, survivors’ pensions and benefits paid
to spouse or common-law partner and orphans, or as lump sum death benefits, disability pensions and benefits to eligible contributors
and their children, and post-retirement disability benefits;

pensions and benefits paid and recovered from the CPP, in accordance with an agreement with a province providing a comprehensive
pension plan;

payments that are required to be charged to the CPP, in accordance with reciprocal agreements with other countries;
costs of administration of the CPP;
funds transferred to the CPPIB; and

losses on investments held by the CPPIB.

For additional information, the consolidated financial statements of the CPP are included with the supplementary statements at the end of
this section. Additional information on the funding of CPP may also be obtained from the 27th, 28th and 29th Actuarial Report on the
Canada Pension Plan prepared by the Chief Actuary of the Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions.
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Government Annuities Account

The purpose of the Government Annuities Act was to assist individuals and groups of Canadians to prepare financially for their retirement
by purchasing Government annuities. In 1975, the Government Annuities Improvement Act discontinued future sales of Government
annuity contracts. Annuities are deferred until their maturity date, at which time payments to annuitants begin.

The pension obligations are initially recorded through the Government Annuities Account, which was established by the Government
Annuities Act. The account is valued on an actuarial basis each year, using prescribed mortality and interest rates, with the deficit or surplus
charged or credited to the Consolidated Revenue Fund. Any adjustments required under the Government’s accounting policies are then
recorded through an allowance adjustment account. The allowance account reflects the adjustment to the obligations due to the differential
between prescribed rates and best estimates of experience-adjusted mortality tables and discount rates. The discount rates used to measure
the present value of accrued benefits are based on the Government’s cost of borrowing derived from the yields on the actual zero-coupon
yield curve for Government of Canada bonds which reflect the timing of the expected future cash flows.

Receipts and other credits recorded in the account consist of premiums received, funds reclaimed from the Consolidated Revenue Fund
for previously untraceable annuitants, prescribed interest of 7% calculated on the accrued benefits and any credit needed to cover the
actuarial deficit. Payments and other charges recorded in the account represent payment of matured annuities, the commuted value of
death benefits, premium refunds and withdrawals, and actuarial surpluses and unclaimed annuities, related to untraceable annuitants,
transferred to non-tax revenues and allowance for adjustments to the pension obligations.

At the end of the year, an actuarial surplus of $798,632 was transferred to the Government’s revenues to reduce the balance of the account
to $96.3 million and the allowance account was adjusted at $26.6 million to increase the pension obligations to $122.9 million as at
March 31, 2019.

As of March 31, 2019, over 23,212 annuitants held 24,628 active contracts, a decrease of 2,816 annuities compared to previous year as a
result of annuitant deaths and Consolidated Revenue Fund transfers.

190 | Section 6—Interest-bearing debt



Public Accounts of Canada 2018-2019

Deposit and trust accounts

Deposit and trust accounts are a group of liabilities representing the Government’s financial obligations in its role as administrator of
certain funds that it has received or collected for specified purposes and that it will pay out accordingly. To the extent that the funds
received are represented by negotiable securities, these are deducted from the corresponding accounts to show the net liability. Certain
accounts earn interest which is charged to interest on the public debt.

Table 6.30
Deposit and trust accounts
(in dollars)
Receipts and Payments and
April 1, 2018 other credits other charges March 31, 2019
Deposit accounts
Agriculture and Agri-Food
Department of Agriculture and Agri-Food
Contractor security deposits—Certified cheques............ccccocovevennene. 56,760 - 56,760 -
Canadian Dairy Commission
Canadian Dairy Commission ACCOUN..........ccceerireerenieererenieennenes - 3,486,576 3,486,576 -
56,760 3,486,576 3,543,336 -
Crown-Indigenous Relations
Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development
Field British Columbia and Yukon Operations of the
Northern Canada Power Commission 992,587 - - 992,587
Guarantee deposits .. 9,174,587 381,938,958 381,926,892 9,186,653
Guarantee deposits—Oil and gas.. 465,805 - 465,805 -
10,632,979 381,938,958 382,392,697 10,179,240
Environment and Climate Change
Department of the Environment
Contractor security deposits—Cash and cheques..............cccccvviinns 1,035,224 - 1,035,224 -
Parks Canada Agency
Contractor security depoSits—Cash..........cccuovieiiiiiiiieeiiens 604,214 1,328,205 473,540 1,458,879
1,639,438 1,328,205 1,508,764 1,458,879
Families, Children and Social Development
Department of Employment and Social Development
Canada Labour Code—Other ...........ccccccviiiiiiiiiiniicicnsis 81,797 910,426 938,819 53,404
Canada Labour Code—Wage recovery request
for review or appeal ... 4,564,921 540,522 756,410 4,349,033
4,646,718 1,450,948 1,695,229 4,402,437
Finance
Department of Finance
Canada Development Investment Corporation
Holdback—Privatization 16,872,208 218,897 5,000,000 12,091,105
Canada Hibernia Holding Corporation
Abandonment ReServe FUNd............cccoooeeeeeieceeceeee e 99,098,558 1,308,616 - 100,407,174
Swap collateral guarantee depoSItS.........ccovvrieiiiiieceeeneens 96,432,440 196,282,261 128,153,092 164,561,609
212,403,206 197,809,774 133,153,092 277,059,888
Fisheries, Oceans and the Canadian Coast Guard
Department of Fisheries and Oceans
Contractor security deposits—Cash 288,015 529,369 447,357 370,027
Guarantee deposits—Fish habitat preservation 360,106 - - 360,106
648,121 529,369 447,357 730,133
Health
Canadian Food Inspection Agency
Contractor security depoSits—Cash..........ccceovreerrriernneirseene 73,672 - - 73,672
Indigenous Services
Department of Indigenous Services Canada
GUATANEEE AEPOSIES .....eeeeeeeeenirieteest e 2,105,571 7,848,104 7,772,107 2,181,568
Innovation, Science and Economic Development
Department of Industry
Deposits from SPeCtrum aUCLIONS..........cc.cveirrieenieeirereeeeeee e 16,373,000 266,960 7,730,960 8,909,000
Justice
Courts Administration Service
SECUNILY O COSES....veuiiiiiiiiieiriet s 24,569 40,703 - 65,272
Registrar of the Supreme Court of Canada
SECUNILY O COSES....veuiiiiiiiiieiriet s 391,890 291 - 392,181
416,459 40,994 - 457,453
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Table 6.30
Deposit and trust accounts—continued

(in dollars)

National Defence
Department of National Defence
Contractor security depoSits—Cash..........cccccereerreiernneirseennes

National Revenue
Canada Revenue Agency
Guarantee deposits
Less: securities held in trust....

Natural Resources
Department of Natural Resources
Contractor security depoSits—Cash...........cceviriiiiiiceieiiens
Guarantee deposits—Oil and gas.........ccocorerireerneiiieeseeee
National Energy Board
GUATANEEE AEPOSIES .....veeeeeerieiririeieest et

Privy Council
Office of the Chief Electoral Officer
Candidates’ and committees’ deposits—Election
and referendUM ...

Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness
Canada Border Services Agency
General security deposits....
Guarantee deposits .............
Immigration Guarantee Fund.....
Temporary deposits received from importers ...

Royal Canadian Mounted Police
Contractor security depoSits—Cash...........ccuviiiiriiiiieiiiinns

Public Services and Procurement
Department of Public Works and Government Services
Contractor security deposits—Cash
Deposits on disposals ..
Seized property—Cash...

Transport
Department of Transport
Contractor security deposits—Bonds ..
Less: securities held in trust

Contractor security depoSits—Cash..........cccecvreerrrieinneirseeenes

TOtal—DEPOSItS ACCOUNTS ......vvviieiiiiieieieieieeee ettt
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Receipts and

Payments and

April 1, 2018 other credits other charges March 31, 2019
3,803,948 6,356,309 6,857,466 3,302,791
223,156,331 71,656,132 33,885,864 260,926,599
40,000 5,000 - 45,000
223,116,331 71,661,132 33,885,864 260,891,599
36,865 12,625 32,525 16,965
13,804,507 3,198,545 1,565,000 15,438,052
151,306 - - 151,306
13,992,678 3,211,170 1,597,525 15,606,323
106,000 - 4,000 102,000
7,528,687 265,010 - 7,793,697
8,712,722 2,342,467 335,845 10,719,344
22,684,171 6,032,337 5,537,006 23,179,502
1,096,710 175,443 229,997 1,042,156
40,022,290 8,815,257 6,102,848 42,734,699
181,266 222,005 117,993 285,278
40,203,556 9,037,262 6,220,841 43,019,977
5,816,272 2,932,207 1,997,209 6,751,270
240,539 1,144,124 386,353 998,310
39,816,544 24,113,175 19,924,591 44,005,128
45,873,355 28,189,506 22,308,153 51,754,708
52,500 - - 52,500
52,500 - - 52,500
122,707 5,404 1,703 126,408
122,707 5,404 1,703 126,408
576,214,499 713,160,671 609,119,094 680,256,076
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Table 6.30
Deposit and trust accounts—concluded
(in dollars)
Receipts and Payments and
April 1, 2018 other credits other charges March 31, 2019
Trust accounts
Families, Children and Social Development
Department of Employment and Social Development
Indian Residential Schools Settlement Agreement
Common eXPErience PAYMENTS ........c.ovrrrererrrrririiiereieeeeerereeeeees 82,977,285 361,045 64,901,545 18,436,785
Indigenous Services
Department of Indigenous Services Canada
Indian band funds
Capital accounts, Table 6.31 414,383,748 46,349,050 60,431,144 400,301,654
Revenue accounts, Table 6.32 176,982,079 82,309,583 79,992,096 179,299,566
591,365,827 128,658,633 140,423,240 579,601,220
Indian estate accounts 27,740,700 7,090,433 5,721,963 29,109,170
Indian savings accounts 26,834,997 2,660,523 3,958,051 25,537,469
645,941,524 138,409,589 150,103,254 634,247,859
Innovation, Science and Economic Development
Department of Industry
Restitutions under the Competition ACt ..........ccccoverirrerinicciiineens 4,353 - - 4,353
National Defence
Department of National Defence
EStateS—ArMEd SEIVICES. ......cviveuiirieiiiiieirieesie s 702,431 1,585,672 1,308,039 980,064
Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness
Canadian Security Intelligence Service
SChOIASEIC AWAITS ......ccvveeveeeieieeecie ettt 26,737 353 500 26,590
Correctional Service of Canada
INMates TrUSt FUND ..o 17,298,763 39,908,355 39,474,677 17,732,441
Royal Canadian Mounted Police
Benefit Trust Fund 2,278,020 229,727 113,079 2,394,668
19,603,520 40,138,435 39,588,256 20,153,699
Veterans Affairs
Department of Veterans Affairs
Administered accounts ... 215,349 54,849 31,889 238,309
Estates FUNG.........ocovivvrriiiiiee s . 14,750 158 14,908 -
Veterans Administration and Welfare Trust Fund 1,078,908 43,630 83,273 1,039,265
1,309,007 98,637 130,070 1,277,574
TOtAl—TTUSE ACCOUNLS. ...ttt 750,538,120 180,593,378 256,031,164 675,100,334
Total—Deposit and truSt ACCOUNLS .......c.ccveueiririeerieieirieie e 1,326,752,619 893,754,049 865,150,258 1,355,356,410

Contractor security deposits—Certified cheques—Department of Agriculture and Agri-Food

This account was established to record contractor security deposits that are required for the satisfactory performance of work in accordance
with Government Contracts Regulations.

Canadian Dairy Commission Account

The Canadian Dairy Commission is a Crown corporation listed in Part | of Schedule 111 of the Financial Administration Act. This account
was established for banking purposes using the Consolidated Revenue Fund pursuant to section 15 of the Canadian Dairy Commission Act.

Field British Columbia and Yukon Operations of the Northern Canada Power Commission

This account was established to record amounts deposited by the Northern Canada Power Commission to reimburse liabilities pertaining
to Field, British Columbia and Yukon Operations of the Northern Canada Power Commission.

Guarantee deposits—Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development

This account was established to record cash and securities deposited as guarantees for performance as required by permits, leases,
authorizations and water licences, pursuant to section 8 of the Arctic Waters Pollution Prevention Act, the Nunavut Waters and Nunavut
Surface Rights Tribunal Act as well as various regulations under the Territorial Lands Act and the Mackenzie Valley Resource
Management Act. Interest is not allowed on cash deposits.
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Guarantee deposits—Oil and gas—Department of Indian affairs and Northern Development

This account was established to record securities in the form of cash, letters of credit or other acceptable instruments which are required
to be issued to, and held by the Government of Canada pursuant to an interest issued in accordance with the Canada Petroleum Resources
Act. These securities are a performance guarantee or refundable rental that the agreed exploration work will be performed in the manner
and time frame specified. Interest is not paid on these deposits.

Contractor security deposits—Cash and cheques—Department of the Environment
This account was established for the management of deposits of money belonging to third parties.
Contractor security deposits—Cash—Parks Canada Agency

This account was established to record contractor security deposits that are required for the satisfactory performance of work in accordance
with Government Contracts Regulations.

Canada Labour Code—Other

This account was established to record amounts received under the provisions of section 251 of the Canada Labour Code Part I1l. The
receipts are payment of wages or other amounts prescribed under the Code that a Labour inspector determined to be owed following a
complaint or an inspection. Employers can pay the amount owed to the Minister of Employment, Workforce Development and Labour
instead of paying them directly to the employee. These amounts are then paid out to the employees.

Canada Labour Code—Wage recovery request for review or appeal

This account was established to record amounts following the issuance of a payment order under section 251.1 of the Canada Labour
Code Part I1l. This account contains amounts that were remitted by an employer or a director who request a review or an appeal of a
payment order issued by a Labour Program inspector regarding wages or amounts that are owed to employees. One of the conditions to
allow for a review or an appeal is that the employer or director must pay the amounts indicated in the payment order to the Minister of
Employment, Workforce Development and Labour for deposit. This amount is held until the revision or the appeal is completed after
which it will be remitted to the employee, the employer, the director or both where applicable. The deposits in this account are interest-
bearing at the rate set by the Minister of Finance for contractor’s deposits.

Holdback—Privatization—Canada Development Investment Corporation

This account was established pursuant to subsection 129(1) of the Financial Administration Act. This special purpose money is to be used
to meet costs incurred on the sale of Crown corporations and demand for payment by purchasers pursuant to the acquisition agreement
and costs incurred by the Canada Development Investment Corporation in connection with their sale.

Abandonment Reserve Fund—Canada Hibernia Holding Corporation

This account was established to record funds which will be used to defray the future abandonment costs that will occur at the closure of
the Hibernia field.

An amount of $115.4 million USD is held in this account at year-end.

Swap collateral guarantee deposits

This account was established to record cash received as credit support under a collateral agreement with financial institutions.
An amount of $46.6 million US is held in this account at year-end.

Contractor security deposits—Cash—Department of Fisheries and Oceans

This account was established to record contractor security deposits that are required for the satisfactory performance of work in accordance
with Government Contracts Regulations.

Guarantee deposits—Fish habitat preservation

This account was established to record cash and securities deposited as guarantees for preservation of fish habitat as required by permits,
leases or authorizations, pursuant to Section 35 of the Fisheries Act. Interest is not allowed on cash deposits.

Contractor security deposits—Cash—Canadian Food Inspection Agency

This account was established to record contractor security deposits that are required for the satisfactory performance of work in accordance
with Government Contracts Regulations.
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Guarantee deposits—Department of Indigenous Services Canada

This account was established to record cash and securities deposited as guarantees for performance as required by permits, leases,
authorizations and water licences, pursuant to section 8 of the Arctic Waters Pollution Prevention Act, the Nunavut Waters and Nunavut
Surface Rights Tribunal Act as well as various regulations under the Territorial Lands Act and the Mackenzie Valley Resource
Management Act. Interest is not allowed on cash deposits.

Deposits from spectrum auctions
This account was established to record amounts deposited by external parties to be eligible to participate in an auction of spectrum licences.
Security for costs—Courts Administration Service

This account was established to maintain accounts on behalf of litigants before the Tax Court of Canada. These accounts record the funds
paid into the Tax Court of Canada, pursuant to an order of the Court, rules of the Court or statutes, to be held pending payment of such
funds, in accordance with an order/judgment of the Court.

Security for costs—Registrar of the Supreme Court of Canada

This account was established to record security to the value of $500 deposited by an Appellant with the Registrar of the Supreme Court
of Canada in accordance with paragraph 60(1)(b) of the Supreme Court Act. As per section 87 of the Rules of the Supreme Court of
Canada, interest is paid on money deposited as security.

Contractor security deposits—Cash—Department of National Defence

This account was established to record contractor security deposits that are required for the satisfactory performance of work in accordance
with Government Contracts Regulations.

Guarantee deposits—Canada Revenue Agency

This account was established to record cash securities required to guarantee payment of goods and services tax/harmonized sales tax
(GST/HST) as it relates to non-resident registrants and, certain licensees as it relates to excise taxes, which are both payable pursuant to
the Excise Tax Act.

Securities held in trust by the Canada Revenue Agency are made up of cash deposited to the Consolidated Revenue Fund.
Contractor security deposits—Cash—Department of Natural Resources

This account was established to record contractor security deposits that are required for the satisfactory performance of work in accordance
with Government Contracts Regulations.

Guarantee deposits—Oil and gas—Department of Natural Resources

This account was established to record securities in the form of cash, which are required to be issued to, and held by the Government of
Canada pursuant to an Exploration Licence in accordance with section 24 of the Canada Petroleum Resources Act. These securities are a
performance guarantee that the agreed exploration will be performed in the manner and time frame specified. Interest is not paid on these
deposits.

Guarantee deposits—National Energy Board

Under Bill 46 of the Pipeline Safety Act, the National Energy Board requested to set up a specified purpose account to maintain funds or
security that it considered necessary for pipeline abandonment costs and expenses.

Candidates’ and committees’ deposits—Election and referendum

This account was established to record candidates’ election and committees’ referendum deposits received in respect of an election or a
referendum that took place prior to October 25, 2017.

Pursuant to the Canada Elections Act or the Referendum Act, amounts received were either refunded to candidates or committees, or were
transferred to non-tax revenues. This provision has since been repealed from the Canada Elections Act.

General security deposits

This account was established to record general security deposits from transportation companies in accordance with section 148 of the
Immigration and Refugee Protection Act.
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Guarantee deposits—Canada Border Services Agency
This account was established to record cash required to guarantee payment of customs duties on imported goods pursuant to the Customs Act.
Immigration Guarantee Fund

This account was established to record amounts collected and held pending a final disposition, either by refund to the original depositor,
or forfeiture to the Crown pursuant to sections 14, 26, 44, 56, 58 and 148 of the Immigration and Refugee Protection Act.

Temporary deposits received from importers

This account was established to record temporary security deposits received from importers to ensure compliance with various (Customs)
regulations regarding temporary entry of goods.

Contractor security deposits—Cash—Royal Canadian Mounted Police

This account was established to record contractor security deposits that are required for the satisfactory performance of work in accordance
with Government Contracts Regulations.

Contractor security deposits—Cash—Department of Public Works and Government Services

This account was established to record contractor security deposits that are required for the satisfactory performance of work in accordance
with Government Contracts Regulations.

Deposits on disposals

This account was established to report transactions associated to deposits on disposals for the Department of Public Works and
Government Services (PWGSC), security deposits and revenues of leased space belonging to PWGSC.

Seized property—Cash

This account was established pursuant to the Seized Property Management Act, to record seized cash. These funds will be deposited to
the Consolidated Revenue Fund and credited to the account until returned to the owner or forfeited.

Contractor security deposits—Bonds—Department of Transport

This account was established to record contractor security deposits that are required for the satisfactory performance of work in accordance
with Government Contracts Regulations.

Contractor security deposits—Cash—Department of Transport

This account was established to record contractor security deposits that are required for the satisfactory performance of work in accordance
with Government Contracts Regulations.

Indian Residential Schools Settlement Agreement—Common experience payments

This account was established pursuant to section 21 of the Financial Administration Act, to record amounts received and paid under
article 5 of the Indian Residential Schools Settlement Agreement. It was established on September 19, 2007, and provides for the payment
of Common Experience Payments (CEP) to eligible former students of recognized Indian Residential Schools and personal credits for
educational programs and services to CEP recipients or to certain family members. The account is credited with interest pursuant to
section 21(2) of the Financial Administration Act. The Designated Amount Fund is co-administered by the Trustee, the Government of
Canada, represented jointly by the Minister of Families, Children and Social Development and the Minister of Crown-Indigenous
Relations.
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Indian band funds

This account was established to record funds belonging to Indian bands throughout Canada pursuant to sections 61 to 69 of the Indian Act.

Table 6.31
Indian band funds—Capital accounts
(in dollars)
2019 2018
OPENING DAIANCE ...ttt bbbttt b bbb bbbt b bbbt et b s 414,383,748 465,418,716
Receipts and other credits
Claim settlements..... 498,500 -
Gas royalties 23,737,635 26,743,716
Oil royalties 18,287,897 21,221,550
Sundries 3,825,018 1,881,955
46,349,050 49,847,221
460,732,798 515,265,937
Payments and other charges
Per capita cash distribution.... 3,673,139 6,154,350
Transfer pursuant to section 64 of the Indian Act 56,758,005 94,727,401
Sundries - 438
60,431,144 100,882,189
CIOSING DBIANCE ... bbbttt 400,301,654 414,383,748
Table 6.32
Indian band funds—Revenue accounts
(in dollars)
2019 2018
OPENING DAIANCE ...ttt bt b s bbb bbbtk b b b st b eb et bbb bt et b neben 176,982,079 179,659,952
Receipts and other credits
Court AWArd and SBHIEMENS. .......eeiui ettt ete e et et e et e e teeteereeeseeteeneenteessesteesseenseansesseeeeaes - 1,500
Government interest 13,906,031 13,563,256
Land and other claim settlements .. 50,000 14,838,842
Sundries 68,353,552 49,017,627
82,309,583 77,421,225
259,291,662 257,081,177
Payments and other charges
Per capita cash distribution - 650,860
Transfer pursuant to section 69 of the Indian Act ... 71,032,208 55,750,616
SUNAIIES ..ot bbb bbb bbb bbb 8,959,888 23,697,622
79,992,096 80,099,098
ClOSING DAIANCE ...ttt 179,299,566 176,982,079

Indian estate accounts

These accounts were established to record funds received and disbursed for estates of deceased Indians, dependent adult Indians and
missing Indians pursuant to sections 42 to 51 of the Indian Act.

Indian savings accounts

These accounts were established to record funds received and disbursed for individual Indians pursuant to sections 52 to 52.5 of the
Indian Act.

Restitutions under the Competition Act

This account was established to facilitate judgements rendered under section 52 of the Competition Act, and account for funds received in
trust for restitution and for subsequent payment.

Section 6—Interest-bearing debt | 197



Public Accounts of Canada 2018-2019

Estates—Armed services

This account was established to record payments made to settle the service estates of officers and non-commissioned members who die
during their service in the Canadian Armed Forces in accordance with section 42 of the National Defence Act. Under the administration
of the Judge Advocate General, who has been appointed as the Director of Estates by the Minister of National Defence, the net assets of
a deceased member’s service estates are distributed to the legal representative of the member’s estate.

Scholastic awards

This account was established to record donations of $26,000 to be used for the presentation of scholarship awards to children of
employees of the Canadian Security Intelligence Service to encourage university studies.

Inmates Trust Fund

Pursuant to section 111 of the Corrections and Conditional Release Regulations, this account is credited with all moneys brought into the
institution by an inmate on admission or readmission, and all moneys that are received on the inmate’s behalf while in custody, including,
monetary gifts from a third party, payments for program participation, pay earned while on work release or conditional release in the
community, moneys received from a third party for work performed in an institution or a Correctional Service of Canada approved inmate
operated business enterprise, sale of hobby craft or custom work, a payment, allowance or income paid by either a private or government
source. Deductions may be made from this account for issues such as debts to the Crown, the Inmate Welfare Fund, canteen expenditures,
telephone calls, payments to assist in the rehabilitation of the inmate, and any other payments for which the inmate is liable.

Benefit Trust Fund

This account was established by section 23 of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police Act, to record funds received by personnel of the Royal
Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP), in connection with the performance of duties, over and above their pay and allowances, including
forfeitures of pay. The money paid to the Benefit Trust Fund is used for the benefit of RCMP members, former members and their
dependants; use of the funds is governed by the Royal Canadian Mounted Police Regulations, 2014.

Administered accounts

Pursuant to section 41 of the Pension Act, section 15 of the War Veterans Allowance Act, section 55 of the Veterans Treatment Regulations
and section 8 of the Guardianship of Veterans Property Regulations, these accounts are under the jurisdiction of the Department of
Veterans Affairs. Funds held in these accounts include: (a) pensions, war veterans allowances and treatment allowances placed under the
administration of the Department of Veterans Affairs; and (b) benefits from other sources such as Old Age Security, Guaranteed Income
Supplement or Canada Pension Plan, placed under administration with the consent of the client. These persons have demonstrated their
inability to manage their own affairs.

Payments are made out of the accounts to provide food, shelter, clothing, comforts and other necessities.
Estates Fund

This account was established to record the proceeds from the estates of those veterans who died while receiving hospital treatment or
institutional care, and for those veterans whose funds had been administered by the Government, in accordance with sections 5, 6 and 7
of the Veterans’ Estates Regulations. Individual accounts are maintained and payments are made to beneficiaries pursuant to the
appropriate legislative authority.

Veterans Administration and Welfare Trust Fund

This account was established to record donations, legacies, gifts, bequests, etc., received, to be disbursed for the benefit of veterans or
their dependants under certain conditions, and for the benefit of patients in institutions, in accordance with section 9 of the Guardianship
of Veterans’ Property Regulations.
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Public Accounts of Canada 2018-2019

There are a number of other specified purpose accounts operated by the Government, such as insurance, death benefit and pension

accounts. Certain accounts earn interest which is charged to interest on the public debt.

Table 6.33
Other specified purpose accounts

(in dollars)

Insurance and death benefit accounts
Families, Children and Social Development
Department of Employment and Social Development
Civil Service INSUraNCe FUND .........ccooeiiiiiiiiceceeeene

National Defence
Department of National Defence
Regular Force Death Benefit Account, Table 6.34 ...............ccovevne.

Treasury Board
Treasury Board Secretariat
Public Service Death Benefit Account, Table 6.35...........cccoeevinnne

Veterans Affairs
Department of Veterans Affairs

Returned Soldiers’ Insurance Fund...

Veterans’ Insurance Fund

Total—Insurance and death benefit aCCOUNES .........cccoviiiiiiiiicccccecns

Pension accounts
Global Affairs
Department of Foreign Affairs, Trade and Development
Contributory Pension Account—Locally engaged staff....................

Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness
Royal Canadian Mounted Police
Royal Canadian Mounted Police (Dependants) Pension Fund...........

Total—Pension accounts

Other accounts
Agriculture and Agri-Food
Department of Agriculture and Agri-Food
Agrilnvest Program
AgriStability Program.....
Federal/provincial collaborative agreement—Dam transfer.. .
Foreign missions to advance Canadian agriculture ...............c.cocceune

Canadian Heritage
Department of Canadian Heritage
Miscellaneous projects depPoSits ..........ccueirrerereeriierieesseiseeieeas
Shared-cost/joint Project agreeMEeNTS .........cvveeeireiiiieeeeeeeees
Library and Archives of Canada
Special Operating Account....
Telefilm Canada
AAVANCE ACCOUNT.......cviiiiiiiiii e

Environment and Climate Change
Parks Canada Agency
Miscellaneous projects depPOoSItS ...

Receipts and Payments and

April 1, 2018 other credits other charges March 31, 2019
1,563,155 136 243,358 1,319,933
185,203,386 27,976,596 33,669,263 179,510,719
3,714,705,845 270,662,397 185,503,518 3,799,864,724
5,739 772 2,052 4,459
1,104,268 45,663 183,945 965,986
1,110,007 46,435 185,997 970,445
3,902,582,393 298,685,564 219,602,136 3,981,665,821
82,075 - 1,509 80,566
14,055,572 531,927 1,724,768 12,862,731
14,137,647 531,927 1,726,277 12,943,297
5,436,212 264,708,518 261,871,808 8,272,922
47,594,104 30,643,014 27,593,601 50,643,517
364,106 695,595 571,036 488,665
27,786 105,858 133,644 -
53,422,208 296,152,985 290,170,089 59,405,104
290,467 256,809 270,214 277,062
55,000 - 32,807 22,193
127,419 41,944 22,624 146,739
66,339,515 32,589,027 42,341,075 56,587,467
66,812,401 32,887,780 42,666,720 57,033,461
5,130,546 7,540,735 6,393,012 6,278,269
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Table 6.33
Other specified purpose accounts—continued

(in dollars)

Families, Children and Social Development
Department of Employment and Social Development

Federal/provincial collaborative agreement............ccccovveernciennines

Federal/provincial shared-Cost Project...........cccovieiiiiiicccennns
Federal/provincial/territorial shared-cost project

Interprovincial Computerized Examination
Management System
Labour Standards Suspense Account ...

Finance
Department of Finance
Common school funds—Ontario and QUEDEC ...........cccvvveereriiieninien,
Foreign Claims Fund
War Claims Fund—World War I1..

Fisheries, Oceans and the Canadian Coast Guard
Department of Fisheries and Oceans
Federal/provincial cost-sharing agreements
Miscellaneous projects deposits
Sales Of Seized SSELS ........cccoveiviiriiiicii

Global Affairs
Department of Foreign Affairs, Trade and Development
Canada Foundation ACCOUNE ............ccovviiiriniiiniii e
Less:
Deposits in a special bank account.
Securities held in trust

Financial assistance to Canadians abroad
Funds from non-governmental organizations
Shared-cost projects
Shared-cost projects—Support to various programs...

Health

Department of Health
Collaborative research projects
Miscellaneous federal/provincial projects..................
World Health Organization...............cocovvvrnnniies

Canadian Food Inspection Agency
Shared-Cost grEEMENLS. .........cviviviverriireieieieiri e

Public Health Agency of Canada
Collaborative research projects
Miscellaneous federal/provincial projects.....

Immigration, Refugees and Citizenship
Department of Citizenship and Immigration
Immigrant INVEStOr Program ............couceeeienincisniecinenieereneneens

Indigenous Services
Department of Indigenous Services Canada
Fines—Indian Act

Indian band funds—Shares and certificates..

Less: securities held in trust...

Indian Moneys SUSPENSe ACCOUNL..........cueiireererrsieirieeeieersieeseseeeeas
Indian special accounts
Miscellaneous federal/provincial projects............

Less: securities held in trust...........cocccovviiiiiinic

Treaty Land Entitlement (Saskatchewan) Fund
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Receipts and

Payments and

April 1, 2018 other credits other charges March 31, 2019
535,571 93,340,775 88,934,020 4,942,326
348,103 68,111 50,887 365,327

2,336,947 811,298 661,815 2,486,430
1,699,554 88,990 3,125 1,785,419
4,920,175 94,309,174 89,649,847 9,579,502
2,677,771 - - 2,677,771
179,020 - - 179,020
4,236 - - 4,236
2,861,027 - - 2,861,027
4,278,135 5,248,334 3,576,287 5,950,182
22,559,385 6,820,373 8,231,996 21,147,762
1,463,202 396,331 357,881 1,501,652
28,300,722 12,465,038 12,166,164 28,599,596
390,820 38,618 19,341 410,097
7,013 - 127 7,140
383,807 19,342 38,492 402,957

- 57,960 57,960 -

90,428 829,608 802,216 117,820
1,694,273 39,377,376 37,844,536 3,227,113
11,105,122 19,121,152 21,448,009 8,778,265
230,505 - - 230,505
13,120,328 59,386,096 60,152,721 12,353,703
3,093,422 967,825 442,118 3,619,129
1,425,983 344,179 88,061 1,682,101
105,908 - - 105,908
1,442,939 913,081 1,149,769 1,206,251
665,624 279,284 386,382 558,526
972,870 - - 972,870
7,706,746 2,504,369 2,066,330 8,144,785
24,827,995 738,372,000 743,599,995 19,600,000
426,165 1,384 4,338 423,211
20,000 - - 20,000
20,000 - - 20,000
42,091,034 7,533,831 7,352,478 42,272,387
- 3,202 - 3,202

99,256 4,750,000 - 4,849,256

- - 4,750,000 4,750,000

99,256 4,750,000 4,750,000 99,256

- 45,555 45,555 -
42,616,455 12,333,972 12,152,371 42,798,056



Table 6.33
Other specified purpose accounts—concluded

(in dollars)

Public Accounts of Canada 2018-2019

Innovation, Science and Economic Development
Department of Industry
Income from securities in trust—Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act.....
Petro-Canada Enterprises Inc.—Unclaimed shares...
Shared-cost projects
Unclaimed dividends and undistributed assets
Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act
Canada Business Corporations Act
Winding-up and Restructuring Act
Atlantic Canada Opportunities Agency
Federal/Provincial agreement—Advance account ............ccceocveenas
Federal Economic Development Agency for Southern Ontario
Canada/Provinces Service Agreement .........cccoveervreererieereresierennenes
Statistics Canada
ProJECt BPOSIES ....uveviiieieieicset e

Justice
Courts Administration Service
SPECTAL ACCOUNT ...ttt

National Defence
Department of National Defence
Joint research and development Projects...........oeveeverirneienneicrines
NON-gOVErNMENt geNCIES ........cvovuiviiiiiiirieie s
Communications Security Establishment
Foreign partners—Security ...

National Revenue
Canada Revenue Agency
Deposits/Disbursements—Workers” Compensation Board...............

Natural Resources
Department of Natural Resources
Market development incentive payments—Alberta..............c.c.......
Newfoundland and Labrador Offshore Petroleum Revenue Account
Nova Scotia Offshore Revenue Account....
Shared-cost agreements—Research
Shared-CoSt PrOJECES ......c.cvivrvirirrririririiiieieieiei e

Office of the Governor General’s Secretary
Cost-sharing collaborate agreement ...........cccoveeirnerinneienisceeseees

Privy Council
Privy Council Office
Shared-cost projects—Media travel eXpenses...........ccceeerreernienes

Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness
Royal Canadian Mounted Police
Joint research and development Projects...........oeveeverirncienneicninns

Public Services and Procurement
Department of Public Works and Government Services
Military purchases excess funds deposit

Less: securities held in trust

Transport
Department of Transport
Shared-cost agreements—Security projects

Receipts and Payments and

April 1, 2018 other credits other charges March 31, 2019
52,031 - - 52,031
686,867 - - 686,867
2,033,626 204,935 391,333 1,847,228
31,644,864 2,100,632 893,871 32,851,625
8,980,603 586,587 64,933 9,502,257
4,916,652 101,666 - 5,018,318
391,744 3,789,501 3,176,618 1,004,627
49,960 250,455 300,415 -
626,866 143,874,086 143,882,237 618,715
49,383,213 150,907,862 148,709,407 51,581,668
8,321,174 1,686,665 3,226,812 6,781,027
3,125,998 - 748,533 2,377,465
2,247,597 2,590,690 2,466,047 2,372,240
146,251 - 146,251 -
5,519,846 2,590,690 3,360,831 4,749,705
2,001,454 295,845,837 294,823,418 3,023,873
752,282 - 194,457 557,825

- 305,324,487 305,324,487 -

- 333,160,259 333,160,259 -

5,786,109 3,010,268 2,994,043 5,802,334
1,586,454 994,136 1,126,905 1,453,685
8,124,845 642,489,150 642,800,151 7,813,844
1,768 3,475 5,243 -
414,507 381,928 5,175 791,260
940,633 60,408 - 1,001,041
128,904,896 - 17,653,633 111,251,263
128,904,896 17,653,633 - 111,251,263
- 17,653,633 17,653,633 -

2,185,345 1,500,000 1,026,250 2,659,095
326,611,388 2,369,071,797 2,370,628,169 325,055,016
66,339,515 32,589,027 42,341,075 56,587,467
260,271,873 2,336,482,770 2,328,287,094 268,467,549
4,176,991,913 2,635,700,261 2,549,615,507 4,263,076,667

1 Additional information on consolidated Crown corporations and other entities is provided in Section 4 of this volume.
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Civil Service Insurance Fund

This account was established by the Civil Service Insurance Act, introduced to enable the Minister of Finance to contract with a person
appointed to a permanent position in any branch of the Public Service, for the payment of certain death benefits. No new contracts have
been entered into since 1954, when the Supplementary Death Benefit Plan for the Public Service and Canadian Forces was introduced as
part of the Public Service Superannuation Act and the Canadian Forces Superannuation Act, respectively.

The number of policies in force as at March 31, 2019, was 127 and the average age of the policyholders was 93.7 years. During the year,
premiums of $124 were received. Death benefits, settlement annuities and premium refunds of $148,393 were paid during 2019.

According to the actuarial valuation and with the prescribed actuarial assumptions, the liabilities in respect of the benefits provided under
the Act are estimated at $1,319,933 as at March 31, 2019. The surplus as at March 31, 2019, is $94,953. Pursuant to subsection 16(4) of
the Civil Service Insurance Regulations, an amount of $94,953 has therefore been debited from the account in 2019.

Regular Force Death Benefit Account

This account was established by the Canadian Armed Forces Superannuation Act to provide life insurance to contributing members and
former members of the Canadian Forces.

Receipts and other credits consist of: (a) contributions by participants; (b) Government’s contribution paid in respect of participants;
(c) single premiums payable by the Government in respect of participants who became entitled to a basic benefit of $5,000 without
contribution; and (d) interest.

Payments and other charges consist of: (a) benefits paid in respect of participants; (b) benefits paid in respect of elective; and (c) the
portion of benefits payable for which the Government has paid a single premium.

Table 6.34
Regular Force Death Benefit Account
(in dollars)
2019 2018
OPENING DAIANCE ...ttt bt bbbt £ bbb st e b st bbb e btk b et b st eb et eb et 185,203,386 189,500,082
Receipts and other credits
EMPIOYEE CONIIIDULIONS ...ttt bbb 19,030,607 18,837,428
Employer contributions
Government
GBNBTAL ..t bbbt bbb bR e R b R £ E R R bRt bt ben ettt b et 1,969,319 2,109,450
Single premiums payable by the Government in respect of Regular Force participants
who became entitled to a basic benefit of $5,000 without contribution............ccccccevvveevieeiceiiecceecees - 474,791
TNEETESE ...t bbb 6,976,670 7,725,389
Total receipts anNd OTNET CrEAIES .........eviueuiietei ittt bbbtk b bttt en b nene 27,976,596 29,147,058
SUDTOTAL ...ttt bbb s b bbb bR bR bR £ bR h bRt b et b bt b et en et 213,179,982 218,647,140
Payments and other charges
Benefit payments
Benefits paid in respect of participants who, at the time of death, were members
of the Regular Force, or who were elective Regular FOrce partiCipants ... 33,669,263 33,443,754
ClOSING DAIANCE......... et b bbb bbb h etk b bt b e bttt b et b sttt e b eb et 179,510,719 185,203,386
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Public Service Death Benefit Account

This account was established under the Public Service Superannuation Act to provide life insurance to contributing members of the Public
Service.

The account is credited with: (a) contributions by employees; (b) contributions by the Government and Public Service corporations;
and (c) interest. Payments and other charges represent: (a) benefits paid in respect of participants who, at the time of death, were employed
in the Public Service, or were in receipt of an annuity under Part | of the Public Service Superannuation Act; and (b) benefits of $10,000
paid in respect of participants who, at the time of death, were employed in the Public Service, or were in receipt of an annuity under
Part | of the Public Service Superannuation Act, and on whose behalf, a single premium for $10,000 death benefit coverage for life has
been made.

Table 6.35
Public Service Death Benefit Account

(in dollars)

2019 2018
OPENING DAIANCE ...ttt bt bbbt £ bbb st e b st bbb e btk b et b st eb et eb et 3,714,705,845 3,626,907,397
Receipts and other credits
Employee contributions
Active members
Public Service employees 76,189,811 70,796,414
Public Service corporations... 5,959,531 5,763,401
RELITEA BMPIOYEES ...ttt bbb bbb bbb b b £t b bbb et e bt ee et b ens 26,950,643 26,329,958
Employer contributions
PUDIIC SEIVICE COMPOFALIONS .......viuiiieieiiteteiriet ettt bbbttt bttt n bt 1,569,400 1,514,931
Death benefit—general............ . 12,016,107 11,899,531
Death benefit—single premium for $10,000 3,131,353 3,058,443
Interest 144,845,552 149,738,670
Total receipts and other credits 270,662,397 269,101,348
SUDTOTALL ...t 3,985,368,242 3,896,008,745
Payments and other charges
Benefit payments
(7= 01T LSOO TSP TSP UPSRTRPTPTPOPPOOE 146,637,157 142,436,539
Life coverage for $10,000 38,508,525 38,508,525
Other death benefit payments... 357,836 357,836
Total payments aNd OTNET CRAIGES..........c.iiriiiriiieirieteereet ettt bbbt bbb en b e e 185,503,518 181,302,900
ClOSING DAIANCE........ ettt b bbb bt b st ekt e bt b e bt bbbt b sttt eb et 3,799,864,724 3,714,705,845
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Returned Soldiers’ Insurance Fund

This fund was established by the Returned Soldiers’ Insurance Act to provide life insurance to contributing veterans of World War I. The
account is credited with premiums and is charged with disbursements for death benefits and cash surrender values. The account is
actuarially maintained and an actuarial liability adjustment as at March 31, 2018, of $772 was credited to the account during the year and
was charged to expenditures. The final date on which application for this insurance could have been received was August 31, 1933.

Veterans’ Insurance Fund

This fund was established by the Veterans Insurance Act to provide life insurance to contributing veterans of World War Il. The account
is credited with premiums and is charged with disbursements for death benefits and cash surrender values. The account is actuarially
maintained and an actuarial liability adjustment as at March 31, 2018, of $45,663 was credited to the account during the year and was
charged to expenditures. The final date on which application for this insurance could have been received was October 31, 1968.

Contributory Pension Account—Locally engaged staff

This account was established to record benefits paid to locally engaged staff hired prior to March 1, 2009, at the Canadian High
Commission in Guyana upon termination of their employment. The specified purpose account was established following the liquidation
of CLICO Life and General Insurance Company (South America) Limited.

Royal Canadian Mounted Police (Dependants) Pension Fund

This fund, which pertains to Part IV of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police Pension Continuation Act, provides pension benefits to
certain widows and other dependants of Constables of the Royal Canadian Mounted Police, who purchased pension benefits between
October 1, 1934, and March 1, 1949. There are no longer any active members amongst the contributors.

Agrilnvest Program
The Agrilnvest Program is a savings account designed to help producers cover small margin declines.

The Agrilnvest Program is cost-shared with provinces and territories on a 60/40 basis. The provinces and territories are invoiced for their
share of the contributions, which are held in the specified purpose accounts until they are applied and transferred to the producer accounts.
The funds in the producer’s specified purpose accounts are then drawn down as the funds are transferred to a financial institution of the
producer’s choice.

AgriStability Program

The AgriStability Program is designed to cover larger margin declines caused by circumstances such as low prices, production losses, and
rising input costs.

The AgriStability Program is cost-shared with provinces and territories on a 60/40 basis. Producers are charged a fee in order to participate
in the program, which covers a portion of the program expenditure. The provinces and territories as well as producers are invoiced for
their share of the contributions, which are held in the specified purpose accounts. These funds are drawn down as applications are processed
and henefits are paid out.

Federal/Provincial collaborative agreement—Dam transfer

This account was established to record the funding from the Water Security Agency/Province of Saskatchewan related to the Federal Dam
Transfer Agreement. The Department of Agriculture and Agri-Food will use the funds to procure goods and services as prescribed in the
Operating and Maintenance Agreement.

Foreign missions to advance Canadian agriculture

This account records deposits made by Canadian agri-food industry organizations towards the costs of hosting incoming government-to-
government foreign missions that advance Canadian agri-food commercial interests, or for costs related to outgoing foreign missions in
support of incremental agri-food market development activities, for which there is a collaborative agreement with the Federal Government.
The costs incurred by the Federal Government to undertake these missions are charged to this account and any unspent deposits are
returned to the relevant Canadian agri-food industry organizations at the completion of each mission.

Miscellaneous projects deposits—Department of Canadian Heritage
This account was established to record contributions received from organizations and individuals for various projects.
Shared-cost/joint project agreements—Department of Canadian Heritage

This account was established to record monies received from other governments and organizations in order to cover expenditures incurred
under various shared-cost/joint project agreements.
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Special Operating Account

This account was established pursuant to section 18 of the Library and Archives of Canada Act, which also directed that: (a) the account
be credited with funds received for the purpose of the Library and Archives of Canada by way of donation, bequest or otherwise; and (b)
any amounts required for the purpose of the Act may be paid out of the account or out of money appropriated by Parliament for such
purposes.

Advance Account—Telefilm Canada

This account was established pursuant to section 19 of the Telefilm Canada Act to reserve for use in future years the revenues and
recoveries generated from projects funded by Telefilm Canada.

Miscellaneous projects deposits—Parks Canada Agency
This account was established to record contributions received from organizations and individuals for various projects.
Federal/provincial collaborative agreement

This account was established to record amounts received by the Department of Employment and Social Development from a province as
funding under the provisions of a collaborative agreement with the province.

Federal/provincial shared-cost project—Department of Employment and Social Development

This account was established to record the deposit of advance payments made by provinces towards the costs of projects and programs
for which there is a cost-sharing agreement with the Federal Government. Disbursements are made to pay the provinces’ share of costs as
per official agreements or to refund unused amounts.

Federal/provincial/territorial shared-cost project—Interprovincial Computerized Examination Management
System

This account was established to record advance payments received from provinces and territories to pay for the development and annual
operating costs of the Interprovincial Computerized Examination Management System (ICEMS). Advance payments are made pursuant
to the Agreement on the Joint Project for the ongoing operations of the ICEMS. The costs incurred are charged to the account and any
unexpended funds will be allocated according to the common will of the Parties and shall be in accordance with applicable legislation.

Labour Standards Suspense Account

This account was established under the authority of section 23 of the Canada Labour Standards Regulations to record wages received by
the Minister of Employment, Workforce Development and Labour from employers who cannot locate employees. Efforts are then made
to locate employees. Wages are paid out when employees are located or when employees contact the department for payment.

Common school funds—Ontario and Quebec

This account was established under 12 Victoria 1849, Chapter 200, to record the proceeds from the sale of lands set apart for the support
and maintenance of common schools in Upper and Lower Canada, now Ontario and Quebec. Interest of $133,889, apportioned on the
basis of population, is paid directly to these provinces on a semi-annual basis, at the rate of 5% per annum, and is charged to interest on
the public debt.

Foreign Claims Fund

This account was established by Vote 22a, Appropriation Act No. 9, 1966, to record: (a) such part of the money received from the
Custodian of Enemy Property, proceeds of the sale of property and the earnings of property, and (b) all amounts received from
governments of other countries pursuant to agreements entered into after April 1, 1966, relating to the settlement of Canadian claims,
and also records payment of claims submitted, including payment of the expenses incurred in investigating and reporting on such claims.

War Claims Fund—World War |1

This account was established by Vote 696, Appropriation Act No. 4, 1952, to record funds received from the Custodian of Enemy Property
or from other sources, and payments: (a) to eligible claimants for compensation in respect of World War I1; (b) of a supplementary award
amounting to 50% of the original award (PC 1958-1467, October 23, 1958); and (c) of expenses incurred in investigating and reporting
on claims.

A War Claims Commission was established to enquire into and report on claims made by Canadians arising out of World War 11 for which
compensation may be paid from this or any other fund established for the purpose. The expenses of the Commission are chargeable hereto.
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Federal/provincial cost-sharing agreements

This account was established to record the deposit of funds received from the provinces for cost-shared programs according to official
signed agreements.

Miscellaneous projects deposits—Department of Fisheries and Oceans
This account was established to record contributions received from organizations and individuals for the advancement of research work.
Sales of seized assets

The account was established to record the proceeds of the sale of seized items by the Department of Fisheries and Oceans from a person
contravening the Fisheries Act. Funds so received are held in the Consolidated Revenue Fund pending final resolution of the case by the
Minister of Fisheries and Oceans or the courts.

Canada Foundation Account

This account was established by VVote 6g, Appropriation Act No. 2, 1967, to record funds received in connection with the Civilian Relief
Agreement of 1950, and the Cultural Agreement of 1954 between Canada and lItaly, and disbursements for the purposes of the said
agreements.

Financial assistance to Canadians abroad

This account was established to record funds received from families or friends as prepayment for financial assistance to distressed
Canadians abroad.

Funds from non-governmental organizations

This account was established to record funds received as prepayment for services to be performed by the Department of Foreign Affairs,
Trade and Development on behalf of third parties.

Shared-cost projects—Department of Foreign Affairs, Trade and Development

This account was established to record funds received from organizations outside the Government of Canada reporting entity for
shared-cost projects.

Shared-cost projects—Support to various programs

This account was established to record deposits received and payments made in accordance with authorities for shared-cost projects to
support various development programs.

Collaborative research projects—Department of Health
This account was established to record funds received from client groups for cost-shared and joint project research agreements.
Miscellaneous federal/provincial projects—Department of Health

This account was established to record transactions relating to the provinces/territories share of costs incurred under federal/provincial
cost-sharing agreements for joint federal/provincial/territorial projects which address health issues that are national in scope.

World Health Organization
This account was established to record funds received from the World Health Organization for scientific projects.
Shared-cost agreements—Canadian Food Inspection Agency

This account was established to record amounts deposited by external parties for shared-cost research projects. Funds are disbursed on
behalf of depositors as specific projects are undertaken.

Collaborative research projects—Public Health Agency of Canada
This account was established to record funds received from client groups for cost-shared and joint project research agreements.
Miscellaneous federal/provincial projects—Public Health Agency of Canada

This account was established to record transactions relating to the provinces/territories share of costs incurred under federal/provincial
cost-sharing agreements for joint federal/provincial/territorial projects which address health issues that are national in scope.
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Immigrant Investor Program

This account was established to record the receipt and disbursement of amounts received under the Immigrant Investor Program in
accordance with section 12(2) of the Immigration and Refugee Protection Act and section repealed 91(d) of the Immigration and Refugee
Protection Regulations. This program allowed qualified immigrants to gain permanent residence in Canada by making an investment in
the Canadian economy.

The Economic Action Plan 2014 Act, No. 1 (Bill C-31) terminated the program and any application in the backlog for which a selection
decision was not made before February 11, 2014. While the program has been terminated, outstanding investments will continue to be
returned to investors approximately over the next 5 years.

Fines—Indian Act

Fines collected as defined in section 104 of the Indian Act, are credited to this account for the benefit of the bands or members of the
bands. Expenditures may be made per the direction of the Governor in Council to cover certain costs in the administration or promotion
of the purpose of the relative law. This account is non-interest bearing.

Indian band funds—Shares and certificates

This account was established under the Indian Act, to record the historical value of TransAlta Utilities Corporation shares received as
compensation for a power line right-of-way on the Blood Indian reserve. These shares are held in the name of the Receiver General for
Canada for the credit of the Blood Indian Band.

Indian Moneys Suspense Account

This account was established to hold moneys received for individual Indians and bands that cannot be disbursed to an Indian, or credited
to an Indian Band Fund or Individual Trust Fund account, pending execution of the related lease, permit or licence, settlement of litigation,
registration of the Indian or identification of the recipient.

Indian special accounts

Indian special accounts represent a number of non-interest bearing accounts which are maintained for specific purpose. These accounts
include Quebec fur account which was established to record funds received from the sales of pelts trapped on reserves in the Abitibi
District in Quebec, to defer charges for tallymen’s wages, freight costs, etc. No activity was reported in the current year.

Miscellaneous federal/provincial projects—Department of Indigenous Services Canada

This account was established to record transactions relating to the provinces/territories share of costs incurred under federal/provincial
cost-sharing agreements for joint federal/provincial/territorial projects which address health issues that are national in scope.

Treaty Land Entitlement (Saskatchewan) Fund

This account was established as per Article 5.08 (a) (ii) of the Saskatchewan Treaty Land Entitlement Framework Agreement to collect
Provincial mineral revenues on behalf of the Province of Saskatchewan and remit the same in the manner as described in an agreement
between the two parties.

Income from securities in trust—Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act

This account was established by sections 78, 84, 154 and 194 of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act, to record dividends paid on stocks
originally held by a bankrupt stockbroker but subsequently sold to clients. As the stocks were not registered in the clients’ names, the
dividends must be paid to the last registered owner, in this case, the stockbroker. The dividends are forwarded to the Superintendent of
Bankruptcy for safekeeping.

Petro-Canada Enterprises Inc.—Unclaimed shares

This account was established by Section 227 of the Canada Business Corporations Act to record the liability to shareholders who have
not presented their shares for payment.

Shared-cost projects—Department of Industry

This account was established to record funds received from other governments and organizations in order to cover expenditures incurred
under various shared-cost/joint project agreements.
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Unclaimed dividends and undistributed assets—Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act

This account represents amounts credited to the Receiver General in accordance with the provisions of section 154 of the Bankruptcy and
Insolvency Act, pending distribution to creditors.

Unclaimed dividends and undistributed assets—Canada Business Corporations Act

This account was established in accordance with sections 227 and 228 of the Canada Business Corporations Act for the purpose of
recording liabilities to creditors and shareholders who have not been located. The account is charged when funds are paid to them.

Unclaimed dividends and undistributed assets—Winding-up and Restructuring Act

This account records amounts credited to the Receiver General, in accordance with sections 138 and 139 of the Winding-up and
Restructuring Act, pending distribution.

Federal/provincial agreement—Advance Account

This account was established to record deposits from non-federal partners for their share of costs under various projects. Funds are
disbursed on behalf of contributors as projects are undertaken. Unused funds are to be returned to contributors.

Canada/Provinces Service Agreement

This account was established to record funds received from provinces under cost-sharing agreement for the Canada Business Ontario
Service Centre.

Project deposits—Statistics Canada
This account was established to record deposits received from outside parties to secure payments for special statistical services.
Special Account—Courts Administration Service

This account was established to maintain accounts on behalf of litigants before the Federal Court and Federal Court of Appeal. These
accounts record the funds paid into the Federal Court and Federal Court of Appeal, pursuant to an order of the Courts, rules of the Courts
or statutes, to be held pending payment of such funds, in accordance with an order/judgment of these Courts.

Joint research and development projects—Department of National Defence

This account was established to record funds received from other governments and organizations through collaborative relationships where
the work is shared between the Government of Canada and other laboratories.

Non-government agencies

This account was established to record funds received for expenditures made on behalf of non-government agencies, for which specific
accounts have not been established.

Foreign partners—Security

These accounts were established to record funds received from foreign partners to cover expenditures to be made on their behalf, in
accordance with the provisions of agreements with the Government of Canada.

Deposits/Disbursements—Workers’ Compensation Board

This account was established under the authority of the Canada Revenue Agency Act and the Workers’ Compensation Act, to enable the
Canada Revenue Agency (CRA) to record and forward on daily basis, funds received from Nova Scotia employers to the Workers’
Compensation Board of Nova Scotia (Board), as part of a partnership arrangement between the CRA and the Board.
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Market development incentive payments—Alberta

This account records funds received from the Government of Alberta to encourage the expansion of natural gas markets in Alberta
and provinces to the East, in accordance with an agreement between the Government of Canada and the Government of Alberta
dated September 1, 1981, and pursuant to section 39 of the Energy Administration Act. The original term of the agreement was from
November 1, 1981, to January 31, 1987. As a result of the Western Accord of March 25, 1985, payments from the Government of Alberta
terminated as of April 30, 1986; however, payments continued to be made from the account for selected programs, which encouraged the
use of natural gas for vehicles.

In 2009-2010, a strategy for the expenditure of these funds was agreed upon. This strategy consists of expending the remaining funds in
support of expanding the use of natural gas in transportation and combined heat and power applications across Canada. It is anticipated
that all remaining funds will be spent by March 31, 2020.

Newfoundland and Labrador Offshore Petroleum Revenue Account

This account was established pursuant to section 214 of the Canada-Newfoundland and Labrador Atlantic Accord Implementation Act
to facilitate the transfer of funds to the province of Newfoundland and Labrador equal to revenues from oil and gas activities in the
Canada-Newfoundland and Labrador offshore. Through statutory provisions of the Act, an amount equal to certain offshore revenues
(taxes, royalties and miscellaneous revenues) is credited to this account and subsequent payments to the Province of Newfoundland and
Labrador are charged thereto.

Nova Scotia Offshore Revenue Account

This account was established pursuant to section 219 of the Canada-Nova Scotia Offshore Petroleum Resources Accord Implementation
Act to facilitate the transfer of funds to the province of Nova Scotia equal to revenues from oil and gas activities in the Canada-Nova
Scotia offshore. Through statutory provisions of the Act, an amount equal to certain offshore revenues (taxes, royalties and miscellaneous
revenues) is credited to this account and subsequent payments to the Province of Nova Scotia are charged thereto.

Shared-cost agreements—Research—Department of Natural Resources

This account was established to facilitate the retention and disbursement of funds received from private industries and other governments
for joint research projects or shared-cost research agreements.

Shared-cost projects—Department of Natural Resources

This account was established to facilitate the retention and disbursement of funds received from private organizations and other
governments for cost-sharing scientific non-research projects.

Cost-sharing collaborate agreement

This account was established to record amounts deposited by external parties for shared-cost projects.

Shared-cost projects—Media travel expenses

This account records medias’ (non-governmental organizations) reimbursements for travel arrangement services rendered to them.
Joint research and development projects—Royal Canadian Mounted Police

This account was established to record funds received from foreign national police agencies and other government organizations in order
to share costs incurred under various research project agreements, technical requirements and system improvements.

Military purchases excess funds deposit

This account was established by a written agreement between Canada and the United States, to record temporarily unused funds paid to
the United States Government under contracts for purchases of military equipment. The funds are invested by the Federal Reserve Bank
of New York to earn interest for the Government of Canada.

Shared-cost agreements—Security projects

This account was established to record funds received from external parties in order to cover expenditures incurred under shared-cost
security projects.
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Supplementary statements
Canada Pension Plan
Management’s responsibility for financial statements

The consolidated financial statements of the Canada Pension Plan are prepared in accordance with the Canada Pension Plan by the
management of Employment and Social Development Canada. Management is responsible for determining that the applicable financial
reporting framework is acceptable and is responsible for the integrity and objectivity of the information in the consolidated financial
statements, including the amounts which must, of necessity, be based on best estimates and judgment. The significant accounting policies
are identified in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. The financial information presented throughout the Annual Report is
consistent with the consolidated financial statements.

To fulfill its accounting and reporting responsibilities, management has developed and maintains books of account, financial and
management controls, information systems and management practices. These systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance that
financial information is reliable, that assets are safeguarded and that transactions are properly authorized and recorded in accordance with
the Canada Pension Plan, the Canada Pension Plan Investment Board Act and the Financial Administration Act and their accompanying
regulations.

The Auditor General of Canada, the external auditor of the Canada Pension Plan, conducts an independent audit of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and provides a report to the Minister of Families,
Children and Social Development.

Graham Flack
Deputy Minister
Employment and Social Development Canada

Mark Perlman, CPA, CMA
Chief Financial Officer
Employment and Social Development Canada

Gatineau, Canada
August 27, 2019

210 | Section 6—Interest-bearing debt



Public Accounts of Canada 2018-2019

Canada Pension Plan—continued

Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Minister of Families, Children and Social Development
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of the Canada Pension Plan, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2019, and the consolidated statement of operations, consolidated statement of changes in financial assets available
for benefit payments and consolidated statement of cash flow for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Canada Pension Plan for the year ended 31 March 2019 are
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the basis of accounting described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Canada Pension Plan in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of Matter-Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, which describes the basis of accounting. The consolidated financial
statements are prepared to assist management of the Canada Pension Plan in complying with the financial reporting provisions of the
Canada Pension Plan legislation. As a result, the consolidated financial statements may not be suitable for another purpose. Our opinion
is not modified in respect of this matter.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the basis of accounting
described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Canada Pension Plan’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
management either intends to liquidate the Canada Pension Plan or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Canada Pension Plan’s financial reporting process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.
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Canada Pension Plan—continued
Independent Auditor’s Report—concluded

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

— ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Canada Pension Plan’s internal control.

— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by management.

— Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Canada
Pension Plan’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Canada Pension Plan to cease to continue as a going concern.

— Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities within the
Canada Pension Plan to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision, and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

Marise Bédard, CPA, CA
Principal
for the Interim Auditor General of Canada

Ottawa, Canada
27 August 2019
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Canada Pension Plan—continued

Consolidated statement of financial position
as at March 31

(in millions of dollars)

2019 2018
Financial assets
CASN (NOLE 4) ...tttk b bbbttt h b eh e b s E b bt £ bbb bR et eb R et b et e bbb bt et 251 115
Receivables (Note 5) 5,415 5,377
Investments (Note 7) ...... 494,567 428,827
Pending trades receivable (Note 7) 4,692 2,613
75 -
505,000 436,932
Liabilities
Payables and accrued liabilities (Note 9) 1,168 1,214
Investment liabilities (Note 7) 102,864 72,641
Pending trades Payable (NOTE 7) ........cviiiiiiiieet ettt 4,401 2,477
108,433 76,332
Financial assets available for benefit PAYMENTS ............coiiiiiiii s 396,567 360,600
Non-financial assets
Premises, equipment and others..... 449 397
Assets available for benefit payments 397,016 360,997

Actuarial obligation in respect of benefits (Note 14)

Contractual obligations and commitments (Note 15)

Contingent liabilities (Note 16)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Approved by:

Graham Flack
Deputy Minister
Employment and Social Development Canada

Mark Perlman, CPA, CMA

Chief Financial Officer
Employment and Social Development Canada
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Canada Pension Plan—continued

Consolidated statement of operations
for the year ended March 31

(in millions of dollars)

Budget Actual Actual
2019 2019 2018
(Note 10)
Revenues
CONEIIDULIONS ...ttt bbbttt bbb b et n s 49,903 51,184 48,435
Net investment income
Realized gains - 33,046 7,301
Unrealized (losses) gains - (8,875) 25,036
Interest income ...... - 3,261 3,074
Dividend income.... - 6,358 3,391
Other income - 1,491 1,132
Investment management fees - (1,586) (1,738)
TTANSACLION COSES ...ttt ettt ettt bbbttt bbbttt b s - (477) (401)
16,008 33,218 37,795
65,911 84,402 86,230
Expenses
Pensions and benefits
RELITEMENT ..o 37,051 36,286 34,560
Survivor 4,578 4,586 4,493
Disability .... 4,457 4,263 4,133
Disabled contributor's child . 338 320 3
366 377 368
Orphan.... 223 211 209
Post-retirement - 553 440
Net overpayments (Note 5).... - (54) (54)
47,013 46,542 44,460
Operating eXPENSES (NOTE 12) .......cvviiiiiiiiiiitett ettt 1,769 1,841 1,668
48,782 48,383 46,128
Net increase in assets available for benefit PaymMents ...........cccoviiiiiiiii 17,129 36,019 40,102
Assets available for benefit payments, beginning of year ... 360,997 360,997 320,895
Assets available for benefit payments, end of year 378,126 397,016 360,997
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
Consolidated statement of changes in financial assets available for benefit payments
for the year ended March 31
(in millions of dollars)
Budget Actual Actual
2019 2019 2018
(Note 10)
Net increase in assets available for benefit payments... 17,129 36,019 40,102
Changes in non-financial assets — (52) (1)
Increase in financial assets available for benefit payments............ccooveiiiiiinnciisc e 17,129 35,967 40,101
Financial assets available for benefit payments, beginning of year 360,600 360,600 320,499
Financial assets available for benefit payments, end of year 377,729 396,567 360,600

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flow
for the 